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March against the bank debt and 
austerity at Merrion Square, Dublin on 
Saturday, 9th February 2013.
Photo: Jim Weldon.
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During Conference 2013 in
Dublin’s historic Mansion
House, we commemorated the
heroism of those who resisted
the attempt to smash our
Union in the Great Lockout of a
century earlier. We were still
firmly embedded in a rear-
guard strategy in face of a
Troika imposed one-sided aus-
terity programme in the Repub-
lic of Ireland. The country was
still immersed in the throes of
the fallout from the implosion
of the domestic credit fuelled

property bubble against the background of the global
financial crisis of 2008.

The collapse experienced here was the most extensive
in any developed economy in the world since the Wall
Street Crash of 1929, apart from the Baltics and
Greece. The State’s budget deficit was the highest in
the Eurozone, higher even than that of Greece. In par-
allel with this, our debt/GDP ratio was the third worst
in Europe after Greece and Italy.

The recession in the UK did not compare in terms of
debt or severity. Nonetheless, the Tory/Lib Dem Gov-
ernment availed of the opportunity to impose a penal
austerity policy so that the most vulnerable and those
dependent on public services bore the lion’s share of
the burden. It entailed taking Stg£4 billion out of the
economy of Northern Ireland with the attendant losses
of tens of thousands of jobs across the public and pri-
vate sectors. 

Across the Eurozone, a brutal one-sided austerity
recipe has been ruthlessly pursued throughout the pe-
riod under review. The objective, which reflects the in-
terests of those at the top of the financial system and
in the creditor countries, remains a comprehensive in-
ternal devaluation. Essentially, this entails cutting
labour costs, public expenditure and attacking the so-
cial infrastructure. It has translated into the most ag-
gressive assault on the collective bargaining systems,
employment and trade union rights, pensions and pub-
lic provision, especially, but not exclusively, in the in-
debted countries, since before the Second World War.
Accomplishing this requires an outright assault on the
trade union movement and the parties of the Left, ir-
respective as to whether they are Social Democrats,
Socialists or Left Republicans. The implications are
manifestly evident in unprecedented levels of mass un-
employment (especially among the young), emigration
and misery.

When one side in a war situation recognises that it is
not strong enough to charge the enemy lines without
getting slaughtered, it does the next best thing. It

erects whatever fortifications it can and tries to organ-
ise behind them, holding as much ground as possible
to await better conditions for advancing again. That is
precisely what we did in the Autumn of 2009 into the
Spring of 2010 when it became clear that the odds
against success in an open, direct confrontation would
result in misery on an awesome scale for our own
members and for Irish society generally. The fortifica-
tions we and others in the trade union movement built
were; the Protocol with the employers in the Private
Sector, the Croke Park Agreement and its successors
in the Public Sector and we urged Labour to go into
Government despite its minority position, to try and
mitigate Fine Gael’s austerity agenda. 

The objectives were to shore up core pay and condi-
tions as much as possible, to stave off the outsourcing
of decent jobs on an industrial scale, to protect the
“threshold of decency” in organised workplaces, to
preserve the basic infrastructure of our social welfare
system and public health services, as well as to min-
imise the extent of the privatisation of our strategically
important State owned companies and public assets.
We never endorsed, agreed with or went along with
one-sided austerity. We retained the option to fight
where we had to or where we could win e.g. Vita Cor-
tex, Lagan Brick, Greyhound and in the public transport
system. 

Others in the trade union movement and on the Left
took a different view. At its very core, this was
premised on the basis that small countries could force
the creditor nations to adopt a more benign approach
through threatening unilateral default or exiting the Eu-
rozone. The essence of this theory is that those at the
top of the system would be so petrified by the potential
domino effect that they would relent and roll over. We
never subscribed to this view, because capitulation
would immediately result in the demand for similar re-
lief by big countries like Spain and Italy. This most cer-
tainly would bring about the collapse of the entire
system. By the end of 2014 the issue had not yet been
tested in any country, as it was to be in Greece during
the spring and into the summer of 2015.

Ultimately, the Republic of Ireland emerged from reces-
sion in 2013 recording real GDP growth of 1.4% and
going on to achieve 5.2% in 2014. This was reflected
in some recovery in employment. Average annual em-
ployment grew by 43,300 over the four quarters of
2013 (or 2.4%). In 2014, it grew by an average of
32,800 (or 1.7%). Budget 2015 was the first to provide
a small economic stimulus after seven continuous
years of austerity. However, by the end of 2014 there
was no real sense of any improvement being felt by
the great majority of working people and the less well
off.

A major protest movement developed around the con-

SIPTU General President 
Jack O’Connor
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troversial issue of water charges. Our position has
been that every household should receive an adequate
supply of water to meet its normal domestic needs
without incurring costs with a tariff on waste thereafter,
as a conservation measure. Simultaneously, we have
sought to make the case for co-ordinated increased in-
vestment in our crucially important water infrastruc-
ture, through Irish Water, which should ultimately be
designated as a Non-Commercial Semi-State Company.
We firmly adhere to the line that all related works
should continue to be carried out in the public sector
on the basis of collectively agreed terms and condi-
tions of employment. In parallel with this, we have pro-
moted the concept of a constitutional referendum to
prohibit the privatisation of the public water supply.
This policy has been unanimously endorsed by the Irish
Congress of Trade Unions.

In the North, a vigorous trade union campaign against
the Tory/Lib Dem austerity policies ultimately resulted
in a major political crisis in the political institutions
there. This appeared to be resolved by the controver-
sial Stormont House Agreement of December 2014.
The year ended with trade unionists there looking to
the prospect of possible respite through the election
of a Labour or Labour minority administration in the im-
pending UK General Election in May 2015. 

The year 2014 ended in a spirit of growing optimism
in the trade union movement on the island despite all
that had been endured. A growing progressive Left was
emerging in Europe with parties like Syriza in Greece
and Podemos in Spain. The tantalising prospect of a
profoundly better world presented, if only the various
factions on the Left from Social Democrats to Social-
ists and Left Republicans in Ireland and in Europe
could agree a platform which outlines what they stand
for as distinct simply from that which they are against.

Trade unionists in the North ended the year embold-
ened by the relative success of their campaign against
austerity. In the Republic, we were already chalking up
successes with pay increases particularly in manufac-
turing and to some degree elsewhere in the private
sector. We looked forward to a negotiation early in
2015 which would commence the process of recover-
ing lost ground in the public service. In the wider con-
text of the workplace, we also looked forward to
utilising the recently created Low Pay Commission and
impending legislation on Collective Bargaining rights to
go back on the offensive on pay and conditions and to
mounting campaigns to challenge the growing culture
of exploitation in the workplace.

Jack O’Connor
General President
August 2015

SIPTU  • Annual Report 2013/2014
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Motions 1 and 2 – Recognition and Protection
of Shop Stewards
In conducting a Review of the Restructuring of the
Union, the National Executive Council established a
Shop Steward Forum Group to review the issues 
impacting on the role of Shop Stewards and Activists
having particular regard to:

• Education and Training

• Support and Assistance

• Workplace Facilities

• Communication

• Resource Facilities

• Recognition of the Voluntarist Role

The Report of the Group was adopted by the National
Executive Council which decided to establish a further
sub-group to give effect to the recommendations and
findings which were put forward arising from the work
of the Forum.

As part of its work the Forum engaged with Shop 
Stewards and Activists attending AGM’s in 2014 by
means of a Survey.

The results of this Survey were the key drivers in many
of the findings and recommendations of the Group.

Some of the Key Recommendations being actioned 
include:

• The education and development of the Shop 
Stewards and Activists including the publication of
a Shop Steward manual to support the union’s 
Workplace representatives.

• The production of a guide to Labour Law similar to
the TUF Guide in hard copy and on-line formats.

• The matter of Shop Steward facilities in the work-
place to become part of the Collective Bargaining 
agenda at individual firm and at industry level.

• The further development of the union’s on-line 
capacity to ensure that Shop Stewards, Activists 
and Members are communicated with on platforms
where they get and interact with their media and 
messages. 

• This to include an examination of the building of a
Shop Stewards only area on the SIPTU Website to
provide a forum for networking and mentoring 
supports and to ensure the website acts as a 
support and a resource for Shop Stewards.

• The examination of ways to provide for greater 
social interaction and networking for Shop 
Stewards and Activists. This Social interaction 
and networking would be done at times of union 
activity, to support participation at times such as -

• National Conference

• Divisional Conference

• Sector AGM’s and Meetings

• Sub-Sector AGM’s and meetings

• District Committees

An examination of each of the Divisional Campaign
funds is recommended for exploring what options exist
under this heading. 

• That consideration be given to prioritise the 
development of those Shop Stewards and 
Activists who give of their time, energy and 
commitment to an exceptional level for the union.
These representatives, when trained, could be 
used and deployed in the key industries and 
sectors so as to enable them utilise their full 
capacity as representatives on behalf of the 
union.

Also:
We worked to ensure the strengthening of the 
Anti-Victimisation provisions of the amended 
Industrial Relations Act which was still pending at 
the end of 2014.

Motion 3 – Health and Safety Representation
1. SIPTU trains Safety Representatives to QQI levels

6 & 7 on a continuous basis each year across all 
Divisions. Situations can and do arise where, 
although SIPTU members in a workplace are in 
the majority the Safety Representative could be a 
member of another union. Therefore, SIPTU works
on a multi-union forum to ensure education and 
training is delivered with quality consistency to all
trade union safety representatives. A salient part 
of Safety and Health training is the importance of 
consultation with workers.

2. Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) is 
recognised as a strong tool for organising workers
and this is taught at every opportunity, including 
to SIPTU Organisers, and particularly at the “New 
Organisers Training Programme”.

Progress on BDC 2013 

Resolutions
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The importance of Union Organising is taught to 
Safety Representatives.

3. On a multi-union basis, the “Safety Representa-
tives Resource Book” was produced and later 
published by the Health and Safety Authority 
(HSA). This is an excellent production and will be 
a very useful aid for Safety Representatives 
dealing with OSH issues in their workplaces. This 
is available free of charge on the internet.

In addition to, and to complement, the Safety 
Representatives Resource Book, on a multi-union 
basis, we also produced a document entitled 
“Occupational Safety and Health and Trade Union 
Organising”. This is designed to bring together 
and demonstrate the strong and binding links 
between OSH and trade unions which enables the
use of OSH as a practical organising tool.

4. Also on a multi-union basis a series of OSH 
seminars are organised to be run nationwide to 
promote the role of Safety Representatives and 
the connection with trade unions. The title of this 
series of Safety and Health seminars is “Safety 
Begins with Your Union”. The purposes of this 
series is to:

i. Debunk the notion that Safety and Health has 
nothing to do with trade unions, which some 
organisations and employers are proffering.

ii. Encourage more workers to take up Safety 
Representative positions, as there is only a 
relatively small proportion of workplaces with one.

iii. Show the potential strength of OSH and the 
Safety Representative and its link with organising.

Motions 4, 5 and 6 – Jobs, the Economy and 
opposing one-sided austerity
The union has worked, through the Irish Congress of
Trade Unions, utilising the combined resources of our
own Research Department and the assistance of the
Nevin Economic Research Institute, to promote an al-
ternative economic model prioritising jobs and wage
led growth. This would entail optimising the potential
of the maximum fiscal space allowed by the Intergov-
ernmental Treaty of 2012 (“The Fiscal Compact
Treaty”) and EU budget rules, off-balance sheet invest-
ment and expansion of the tax base requiring a greater
contribution from the better off. Most of this work has
been conducted through direct representation with the
Government and political system, pre-budget submis-
sions, public statements etc.

Motions 7 & 8 – Young Workers and the needs
of Young People
SIPTU played an active role in the negotiations 
between the Social Partners at EU level of the Euro-
pean Framework of actions on youth unemployment.
As part of the EU youth guarantee, the Ballymun Pilot
Youth Guarantee was established to develop an acti-
vation approach tailored to the needs of young people
in a deprived area, pilot it and extract the learning from
it to inform the further development and implementa-
tion of the Irish National Youth Guarantee. A partner-
ship approach was adopted involving key stakeholders
including trade unions, employer organisations, 
government departments and agencies, education and
training providers and local development and youth 
organisations.

SIPTU made a formal submission to the Apprentice-
ship Review Group on Apprenticeship Training in 
Ireland. We argued for the strengthening of the current
apprenticeship system and its extension into a range
of new industries including childcare, hospitality and
administration. Specifically in respect of the construc-
tion industry, we proposed a new dedicated three-year
apprenticeship scheme in green economy sectors in
order to provide quality, skilled work and career 
progression for young people. The scheme we pro-
posed would comprise a mix of classroom learning and
on the job training. While work was contracted for con-
struction workers in new house building, it is feasible
to transfer and adapt the skills base to growth areas
in the industry such as wind energy, bio-mass pro-
grammes and energy saving insulation programmes.

The Minister for Education then established the 
Apprenticeship Council of Ireland and P King and E Devoy
were appointed to it. A substantive list of new apprentice-
ships, outside of those which are construction related,
was promoted for submission to the Government for 
approval. 

Also directly and through the Congress of Trade Unions,
the union has argued for the reinstatement of the 
standard Job-Seekers Allowance for those under 26. 

ICTU youth, which includes SIPTU representatives, 
engaged in executing a plan which includes research-
ing levels of participation, organising an awareness
campaign for young workers, campaigning on precari-
ous work and establishing a youth focused education
programme. 

It was also agreed in principle that ICTU Youth would
have observer status at the Executive Council.

Motions 9, 10, 11 and 12 – Taxation and Income
Inequality
The union has actively worked within the Irish 
Congress of Trade Unions through direct representa-
tions to Government to promote tax reform and fair 
taxation entailing expansion of the tax base so as to
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ensure a significantly greater contribution from capital,
wealth and those on higher incomes. These demands
were concisely articulated in the Congress Pre-Budgets
submissions in respect of Budgets 2014 and 2015.

The union has specifically promoted the demand that
a minimum 2:1 ratio should apply on the distribution
of resources now becoming available in a recovering
economy. Specifically, at least two-thirds should go to-
wards improving healthcare, education and training,
childcare and eldercare as well as providing for the
housing needs of all the population. The remaining
one-third should go towards tax reform, exclusively tar-
geting low and middle earners. 

We have availed of every opportunity to promote the
concept of wage led growth through Collective Bargain-
ing, pressing the case for an increase in the Minimum
Wage and promoting the principle of the “Living Wage”.
We have also argued that the fiscal space available to
the Government, which is limited by EU rules, should
be expanded through the introduction of new taxes on
capital, the wealthy and those on high incomes.

The union has called for a policy for a progressive al-
ternative to the Universal Social Charge (USC).

Motion 13 – State Owned Forests – Harvesting
Rights
Representations were made directly to Government
and through the Labour Party as well as through ICTU.
Any plans to sell off harvesting rights on State forests
have been shelved.

Motion 14 – Financial Stability – CIE Companies
From 2012-14 state funding for the CIE companies fell
from €292.3m to €211.8m. This followed on from
year on year cuts to PSO funding since 2008. This cut
to subvention coupled with declining passenger num-
bers from the time of the economic collapse until 2013
compounded the reduction in revenue for the CIE com-
panies. Across the CIE Group, SIPTU negotiated tem-
porary measures to adjust conditions of employment
given this backdrop. However, in doing so we sought
to exploit the opportunity to put the issue of under-
funding of the CIE companies centre stage. In both the
Irish Rail dispute over conditions of employment which
led to rail stoppages in 2014 and in the bus tendering
dispute, SIPTU consistently articulated through our
media communications the need for a stabilisation in
the PSO funding and a year on year incremental in-
crease in investment into public transport. We sought
to develop the narrative that the crisis being faced by
the CIE companies was ultimately down to underfund-
ing. We also promoted and lobbied on this matter
through various other forums including, 

• A detailed SIPTU presentation at the Joint 
Oireachtas Committee on Transport and 
Communications in January 2014.

• Through direct engagement with the National 
Transport Authority, the regulator.

• Through two meetings with the Minister for 
Transport, (Minister Varadkar) in 2013 and 
(Minister Donohue) in 2014. 

Budget 2015 was the first budget in eight years
whereby the PSO funding has remained the same as
the previous year and the Minister for Transport 
announced in December 2014 an additional €110m
allocation for transport which included €45m for 
railways and €50m for bus renewal. SIPTU will 
continue to articulate the need for increased funding
for public transport in order to serve the needs of the
society and economy.

Motion 15 & 28 – Investment in Arts and 
Culture/Maintain Quality Employment in the
Film Industry
The motion concerned investment in the Arts, the 
creation of quality jobs that are sustainable for the 
future and compliance issues concerning adherence
to collective agreements and to Section 481 require-
ments. To this end, we met with the then Minister for
Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht to emphasise the
need for the following:

1. A re-focus on the recommendations arising from 
the Creative Capital Report on quality job 
creations.

2. Tracking and enforcement requirements to ensure
that production companies are adhering to 
industry agreements and are meeting all of the 
requirements necessitated by Section 481 and in
particular the requirements in relation to 
supporting training in the industry.

3. Amending legislation to deal with the Competition
Authority ruling on Collective Bargaining for 
certain categories of workers.

There were also a number of engagements with the
Film Board through the consultative committee on the
issues around the creation of sustainable quality jobs
and training in the film and entertainment industry.
Arising from this there were further engagements with
Screen Training Ireland on developing initiatives to cer-
tify certain categories of workers with industry qualifi-
cations and to create an apprenticeship type
relationship between production companies and
trainees in the industry.

The Sector Committee recognises that certain aspects
of the Arts will always be considered to be “failures”
in a strict economic sense and that cultural space is
wider than the economic space created by a traded
economy. Consequently, they are developing a set of
policies that will foster a public understanding of the
central importance of cultural space so that there is
an understanding that at times of economic contrac-
tion, more, not less, provision for the Arts is neces-
sary, so as not to add a cultural deficit for citizens to
the experience of unemployment.
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Motion 16 – Remembering the Lockout 
(Collective Bargaining Legislation)
And Motions 18 & 19 – Composited as Motion
(i) in Standing Orders Report No. 2
Extensive engagement continued with a view to the en-
actment of legislation to amend the Industrial Rela-
tions Act 2001. The new Act would give effect to a
commitment which was given to the union by the then
Leader of the Labour Party, Eamon Gilmore on 12th
December 2008. This latter arose in the context of the
debate on the second referendum on the Lisbon
Treaty. The union had withheld support for the propo-
sition to approve the Treaty in the first Referendum
which took place in June 2008. This was due to the re-
fusal of the then Fianna Fáil/Green Party government
to undertake to enact legislation giving effect to the
right to Collective Bargaining, as envisaged in Article
28 of the Charter of Fundamental Rights which forms
part of the Treaty. In the context of a possible second
referendum, the Labour Party undertook to insist on
the inclusion of such legislation in any Programme for
Government, in which that party might participate, if
the union supported the Treaty and if it was approved
in a referendum. On that basis, the union supported
the Treaty in the second referendum and Labour in-
cluded the commitment in its manifesto for the 2011
General Election. 

The negotiations on the formulation of the Programme for
Government resulted in the inclusion of the following:

“We will reform the current law on Employees’ right to
engage in Collective Bargaining (the Industrial 
Relations (Amendment) Act 2001), so as to ensure
compliance by the State with recent judgements of the
European Court of Human Rights.”

One of the major problems obstructing progress in this
area, apart from the political weakness of the Left in
Ireland, thusfar, is the manner in which the Supreme
Court has chosen to interpret the Constitutional enti-
tlement to Freedom of Association. In most democratic
jurisdictions this is seen as protection for the right to
organise. However, here it has been interpreted as a
right on the part of employers to withhold recognition
of trade unions for the purpose of Collective Bargain-
ing, notwithstanding the wishes of their employees.

This interpretation was explicitly re-iterated in the 
Decision in Ryanair Limited (applicant/appellant) v
Labour Court (respondent) 2005 No. 377, Supreme
Court, 1 February 2007, [2007] 18 E.L.R. 57;  
“It is not in dispute that as a matter of law Ryanair is
perfectly entitled not to deal with trade unions nor can
a law be passed compelling it to do so”.

It was envisaged that the new Act would reinstate the
Registered Employment Agreement mechanism which
was struck out as a result of the Judgement in the
Benedict McGowan and Others v the Labour Court, 
Ireland and Attorney General (2013) IESC 21. 

It would also provide for a new system - “Sectoral 
Employment Orders” to underpin a Statutory Minimum
Framework governing pay and terms of employment in
individual Sectors.

Motion 17 – Global Collective Bargaining Strategies
The union remains affiliated to Global Affiliates such
as Uni-Global, IndustriALL, BWI, IUF, EPSU, EFBWW,
EFFAT, ITF, FIA, and ETT. The union continues to utilise
the opportunities that these affiliations present to 
demand and campaign for decent employment 
standards, training opportunities and the rights of
workers to form trade unions for collective bargaining
purposes.

The union does this at an industry level through 
various social dialogues in sectors such as Cleaning,
Security, Retail and increasingly with the affiliate
groups such as Uni-Global where there are now over
fifty global agreements with multi-national companies
in the Services Sector covering ten million workers aim-
ing to set fair employment standards.

The Services Division also invited the Clean Clothes
Campaign to address its Divisional Conference in
2014 bringing awareness of the fatal consequences
of the unrelenting race to the bottom in order to 
maximise profits, as evidenced in the Ramada Plaza
tragedy.

Motion 20 – Joint Labour Committees
Several meetings took place both at ministerial and
departmental levels where we advocated that the
power of the Labour Court should be enhanced so as
to ensure full participation by all nominated Sectors in
this legislation. 

Motion 21 – Unsocial Hours/Shift Allowance
Since 2011, wage discussions have developed across
the private sector and are conducted at the level of the
enterprise. In most cases, the issues to be discussed
as part of the union claims involve the conducting of a
survey of the issues identified by our general member-
ship in each section. Issues such as unsocial hours
and shift allowance can and are identified and these
issues will form part of the bargaining process. In the
absence of a centralised Social Dialogue system, the
best way to protect terms and conditions of employ-
ment including unsocial/shift allowance is through col-
lective bargaining at local level. There are health and
safety issues around working night shifts, and the 
impact of shift working on pregnant employees is also
of particular concern SIPTU has made representations
to the H&S Authority on this matter.

Precarious work conditions are the subject of Govern-
ment review. We are working through ICTU to achieve
amendments to the Organisation and Working Time Act
in order to deal with the issues as set out in the 
motion.
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Motion 22 – Amendment to Private Security 
Authority Act 2004
The Sector with responsibility for the Security industry
and the Contract Cleaning industry over the period
under review concluded negotiations at Joint Labour
Committee level for the establishment of an Employ-
ment Regulation Order that includes legal definitions
around the scope and functions of both Static Guards
and Contract Cleaners. 

The effect of these definitions and scope will serve to
give legal definitions to our members against such ex-
ploitative behaviour by employers.

Motion 23 – Ambulance Service within the
Health Service
Since this motion was passed we took our case for a
fully resourced Ambulance Service to the Government.
We secured a public hearing of the Joint Oireachtas
Committee on Health, in January 2014, on the de-
mand for a capacity review of the National Ambulance
Service. This demand was made in response to public
concern about the Public Ambulance Service providers
not meeting Key Performance Indicators (KPI) as rec-
ommended by HIQA.

Our demand for a “Capacity Review” was acceded to
on the grounds that no such study had ever been un-
dertaken in the history of the State’s Ambulance Serv-
ices, (which included Dublin Fire Brigade Ambulance
Service), even before HIQA set KPIs based on the
United Kingdom model and best global practice. The
executive review of the Report, undertaken by Lightfoot
Consultancy in December 2014, confirmed that addi-
tional personnel, additional vehicles and also the in-
troduction of Strategic Deployment Points to assist
response times are required.

Interestingly, the Capacity Review did confirm that KPIs
for rural areas would not be economically viable thus
focusing on a greater utilisation of “First Responders”.
Despite our calls, we still await the publication of the
full Capacity Review which remains with the Minister
for Health.

Motion 24 – Frontline Support Workers’ 
Registration System
In response to our campaign for the registration of
Frontline Healthcare Support workers, in which we li-
aised with the European Public Services Union (EPSU)
and Uni-Global, two major developments were initiated.
The Department of Health has commissioned a major
study into the possibility of developing a Registration
Scheme for Healthcare Assistants. The EU Commis-
sion has initiated two studies on the future of Health
Care Assistants and other Support Staff workers pro-
viding hands-on care to patients in institutions and the
community. One is reviewing the mobility of these
health workers which are identified as an Occupational

Group by the International Labour Organisation. The
other study is to review the feasibility of a Europe wide
Registration System for Healthcare Assistants entailing
a trans-national education and training qualification.

The Department of Health in its project to establish
Nurse and HCA ratios in Emergency Departments and
Surgical Wards have included a proposal to the 
Minister for a total review of the roles and responsibil-
ities of Health Care Assistants (HCA). This proposal 
is also intended to apply to other areas of Health 
Provision in the future. 

Motions 25 & 26 – Maintain/Create 
Jobs in the Health Service
Depletion of Staff in Frontline Health Services

Our activity in this area has seen the successful 
implementation of the Support Staff Intern 
Programme. We set the objective of securing a 
commitment that these workers will qualify for a 
permanent appointment on completion of eighteen
months satisfactory service from date of entry. 

The moratorium on employment in the Public Service
has been effectively lifted. Individual Departments now
have qualified responsibility for recruitment and staff
intake. We continue to work actively for direct 
employment on collectively bargained terms, in place
of outsourced Contractors or Agency Workers.  

Motion 27 – Maintain/Create Jobs in the 
Community Sector
No tangible progress was made in relation to the
exact text of the Motion by the end of 2014. We 
set the objective of achieving the establishment of 
a Community and Voluntary Forum to be convened 
by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform 
involving affiliated Unions of the ICTU Community
and Voluntary Sector Committee and Management
comprising various Government departments and
Statutory Agencies.

The purpose of this High Level Forum would be to:

• Ensure an effective exchange of information and 
relevant issues.

• Receive updates on public expenditure levels in 
the Sector.

• Provide regular information updates on service 
delivery and best outcomes.

• Address issues such as pensions and terms and 
conditions of employment. 
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Motions 29 & 30- Privatisation of Local Author-
ity functions - Employment Standards/Privati-
sation of Local Authority functions.
Following the BDC Conference in consideration of
this Motion, the union commissioned NERI to carry
out research in relation to the question of outsourc-
ing of public services, including the value for money
issue in addition to efficiency and effectiveness on
the delivery of the public services.

The final paper produced by Dr. Micheál Collins and Dr.
Aoife Ní Lochlainn of NERI was intended to form the
basis of our approach when dealing with the issue of
the service delivery option (outsourcing) during discus-
sions on a new Public Service Pay Agreement towards
the objective of strengthening protection against out-
sourcing. 

Motions 31 & 32 on Global Solidarity Composited
as Motion (ii) in Standing Orders Report No. 2
A Global Solidarity Committee has been established
under the auspices of the Equality Sub-Committee of
the National Executive Council.

Motion 33 - Building Social Solidarity Between
Generations
The union has continued to support and resource the
work of the Retired Members’ Section and assigned
supporting responsibility to the National Campaigns
and Equality Organiser.

Additionally, we have supported the extension of this
work in the ICTU by way of promoting the status of Re-
tired Members in the trade union movement. 

The issue was the subject of a Working Group estab-
lished by the Executive Council of ICTU under the Chair-
manship of Congress Treasurer and SIPTU General
Secretary, Joe O’Flynn. 

Motions 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39 & 40 - Matters
Related to Pensions
We have continued to advocate for a comprehensive
national strategy on pensions, entailing the develop-
ment of a new mandatory second pillar provision.
Meanwhile, through direct representations to Govern-
ment, the Labour Party and ICTU, we have argued for
a mechanism to offset the effect of the loss of the
State Transitional Pension, either by increasing Job
Seekers Benefit at age 65 or the introduction of a
Supplementary Scheme, to apply in cases where
workers have been denied extensions of their Con-
tract of Employment to age 66. This demand has
also been included in our pre-budget submissions.
Simultaneously, work has been underway in our In-
dustrial Divisions to promote extension of employ-

ment contracts to age 66 in circumstances where in-
dividual workers might wish to exercise such an op-
tion.

Motion 41 – Maintaining existing Social 
Welfare Payments
We have worked through direct engagement with Gov-
ernment, the Labour Party and through the Irish Con-
gress of Trade Unions to oppose Social Welfare cuts.
Overall, some limited progress has been made
against the background of the Troika imposed auster-
ity agenda on foot of the biggest economic collapse
in a developed country, apart from the Baltics and
Greece, since the Wall Street crash of 1929. The
original Troika prescription envisaged spending cuts
of €440m in Budget 2014. This was limited to
€226m and €19.6bn was spent in that year on so-
cial protection. Budget 2015 saw €198m of targeted
welfare increases and new incentives. A new back to
work family dividend to help lone parent and long-
term unemployed families return to work provided for
an additional €1,550 per child to be made available
in the first year of employment or self-employment.
Overall, €1.1bn in total is to be spent on employ-
ment supports in 2015. However, these steps in a
good direction have to be viewed in the context of
the cuts affecting the Lone Parent’s Allowance.

Motions 42 – Amending the Personal 
Insolvency Guidelines
Representations were made directly and through
ICTU.

Motions 43 & 44 – Universal Healthcare 
System/Hospital Trusts
We continued to promote the objective of a fully com-
prehensive and resourced National Health Service,
freely available at the point of use and to oppose pri-
vatisation in its various guises.
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Membership & 

Organisation

Introduction

The annual reports on SIPTU’s
activities during 2013 and 2014
can provide only a summary of
key events in the work and de-
velopment of the union. While
the reports endeavour to pro-
vide as much information as
practicable, it would not be pos-
sible to provide a comprehen-
sive report on all the activities
undertaken by the union’s mem-
bers, voluntary representatives

and staff during the period. Readers seeking more de-
tailed information are invited to consult the reports of
the Sections, Sectors or the Divisions concerned. 

The work undertaken by the union during 2013 and
2014 and its many achievements in protecting and ad-
vancing the interests of its members and their families
was made possible by the individual commitment and
collective voluntary participation of very many mem-
bers of the union. Central to all of this was the day-to-
day involvement of the union’s Shop Stewards, Section
Committee Members and Activists in all areas of the
union’s organisation who, with the support of the
union’s staff, steered the union through a challenging
period in the economic and social history of the island
of Ireland and through the internal organisational re-
structuring of the union. While individual contributions
are rarely itemised in these reports, they are neverthe-
less vital to the achievements of the union and are
very much appreciated. 

Membership 
The financial membership of the union at the end of
2013 was 154,733 and 154,078 at the end 2014.
The decline in membership resulted mainly from union
members falling victim to developments in the econ-
omy resulting in job losses and non-replacement poli-
cies of employers. Nevertheless, the effective decline
in employment on union membership was offset to
some extent by the organising initiatives undertaken
by individual sectors, and the work of the Strategic Or-
ganising Department. 

Financial Membership by Division 
at the end of 2013
Health 38,959

Manufacturing 33,607

Public Administration and Community 30,652

Services 31,178

Utilities and Construction 20,337

Financial Membership by Division 
at the end of 2014 
Health 38,975

Manufacturing 33,221

Public Administration and Community 30,210 

Services 30,659

Utilities and Construction 21,013 

Summary Overview of Union Finances 
2013 and 2014 
Contributions from members in 2014 was €32,497,271
compared with €32,679,030 in 2013. Expenditure in
2014 was €32,758,110 compared with €32,569,170
in 2013. The co-operation of the activists and staff in
maintaining the financial resources of the union for use
in defending the interests of the members from attacks
on their pay and conditions is acknowledged and appre-
ciated. 

The fixed assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet Rev-
enue Account for the year ended 31st December 2014
were €15,350,072 compared with €15,796,947 in
2013. These assets are deployed at various locations
throughout Ireland and are used for the direct benefit of
the members. When current assets and current liabilities
are accounted for, the net assets at the end of 2014
were valued at €44,844,761. The financial accounts for
each of the two years reflect the attention paid by the
National Trustees, the National Executive Council and
the National Executive officers to the financial manage-
ment of the union on behalf of its members. The ac-
counts also reflect the commitment and contribution of
the Shop Stewards, activists and staff to ensuring that
the organising and representation work of the union was
undertaken as cost effectively as possible at every level
in the union.

The audited accounts of the Union for the period under
review are set out in Appendix No. 1.

SIPTU General Secretary
Joe O’Flynn



Activists
During 2013 and 2014 the union continued to rely on its
approximately 9,000 activists in organising and represent-
ing members in the private, public and community sectors.
Activists made vital contributions to the interests of union
members through their activities as Shop Stewards, Sec-
tion Representatives, Safety Committees/European
Works Councils Representatives, Pension Trustees,
Worker Directors, Retired Members Section, the Equality
Sub-Committee, District Committees, Sector Committees
and Divisional Committees. The union continued to de-
velop its communications information system and with the
installation of activists’ mobile phone numbers and e-mail
addresses onto the union’s membership information sys-
tem, and with the development of the website, communi-
cations with activists has been improved very significantly,
particularly following the appointment of Social Media spe-
cialists. At the end of 2014, the union was making exten-
sive use of electronic communications with activists,
keeping them up-to-date on developments. 

Building Industrial Leverage 
Over the past two years SIPTU has begun the greatest
transformation in its history in order to become an organ-
ising union. Significant progress has been made and les-
sons learnt that ensure a greater participatory role for
shop stewards and other union activists. A major aspect
of the programme has been updating the data basis to
improve communications with members, so that SIPTU
now has direct contact with almost 80% of activists elec-
tronically. The restructuring process has strengthened the
capacity of industrial sectors to carry out the three primary
functions of each Division:

1) Collective Bargaining

2) Density Building

3) Activist Development 

Individual queries, representation in grievance/ discipli-
nary procedures and Legal Rights Matters are being dealt
with by a specialist Workers Rights Centre, which has in-
corporated MISC (Membership, Information and Support
Centre). Other administrative functions undertaken by the
former Branches were centralised, freeing up Industrial
Staff to focus on the new Sectors. This was particularly
timely as the economic collapse resulted in the loss of
thousands of our members’ jobs and severe pressure on
the pay and conditions of those still employed, which
meant slower than anticipated progress in achieving our
objectives. 

Nevertheless, significant progress was made in establish-
ing who the activists are, how the union communicates
and interacts with them in their employments and then
establishing the opportunities for growth within existing
employments. In the process, SIPTU is also establishing
where the gaps and shortfalls exist within each sector and
how best to address these. 

This will facilitate the building of a powerful industrial
union within each sector where we represent workers. In-
deed, the tasks of improving communications, identifying
activists and shortcomings in our organisation are inter-
related activities at the very core of the work being under-
taken by SIPTU’s reconfigured Sectors and Divisions.

Staff
During 2013 and 2014 the union continued to deploy
staff in line with the actual and anticipated needs of
members. This deployment included the continued 
implementation of decisions regarding the restructur-
ing of the union. The commitment of the staff to 
implementing these changes and their continued 
cooperation in the new structures is acknowledged
with the full appreciation of the union.

Staff Numbers and Grades
During the period 2013 -2014 the union continued to 
deploy staff throughout the organisation as required to 
organise and support members. 

The number of staff and grades at the end of each year
was as follows:

Grade 31/12/2013 31/12/2014
General Officers 3 3

Divisional Organisers/
Departmental Heads 12 12

Sector Organisers 26 25

Industrial Organisers/
Tutors/Researchers/
Industrial Engineers/
Lead Organisers/IT 54 50

Assistant Industrial 
Organisers/Organisers 99 101

PA 8 8

Location Based 
Organisers 10 10

Administration/
Clerical Staff 96 95

Porters 9 9

Total: 317 313

Staff Recruitment
A number of internal and external competitions were held
during 2013 and 2014. Applications were invited for in-
clusion in a panel from which Assistant Industrial Organ-
isers were to be selected. A Lead Organiser panel was
also formed. A number of other competitions were held
for positions in various Divisions/Departments.

Staff Development
Training and Development for staff continued during 2013
and 2014. The development of new technology was sup-
ported by on-going training and familiarisation with the
data and process requirements of the new systems. 

Staff continued to update and enhance their competen-
cies and the National Executive Council maintained the
education grants scheme to support staff in externally ac-
credited courses consistent with the needs of the union
and the personal development of the staff. 

Staff who participate in external courses in their own time
are to be commended and are acknowledged with thanks
by the union.

SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/201414
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Report 2013 and 2014
The Membership Information and Support Centre
(MISC) advised and represented individual SIPTU mem-
bers when they encountered workplace problems.
It was a product of the re-structuring process within
the union and commenced operations in September
2010. The concentration of individual representation
in a specialist department allowed the five SIPTU 
Divisions to concentrate on their primary task of 
Density Building and Organising. 

Activity
Since its inception in September 2010 to the end of
2014, just over 20,500 cases were logged on the
MISC system. Some of these cases were resolved
through advice over the phone, and others were 
resolved at the enterprise/employment level. Cases
that could not be resolved at local level were referred
to a third party for adjudication.

Activity Index
In the Calendar years January 2013 to December
2014 the figures for activity representing members
and compensation recovered were as follows: 

The Organising Mission
MISC also plays a role in the overall Organising 
mission of the union. Besides freeing up Divisions so
that they can build membership density and organise
MISC has an important role to play in organising mem-
bers. It assists and supports the organising mission
in the following ways: 
• Acting as a bridge to connect with younger 

workers. In a survey carried out by the Young 
Workers Network, the protection of employment 
rights was seen as a priority. The age profile for 
present online joiners suggests that those 
seeking individual protection and knowledge on 
employment rights have a younger age profile 
than the union average. 

• The service presently provided by MISC can be 
promoted as one of the incentives for people to 
retain union membership who might otherwise 
resign in a post redundancy situation and take 
up employment in a non-union company. 

• Having a specialist advisory and representational
unit complements the organising efforts in that it
is a tangible union premium. 

• MISC provides up to date intelligence on various 
companies and the problems affecting employ-
ees in non-traditional sectors and companies.

• It is planned to expand MISC to be a shop front 
for SIPTU offices. This will encourage greater use
by members of the union offices, will lead to 
greater connectivity with the local community 
and, by incorporating a “joiners desk” at these 
locations, will allow the union to contact and 
advise potential members on the benefits that 
membership provides.

Education and Training
Given the nature of the MISC operation and the respon-
sibility attached to protecting members’ rights and
livelihoods, it is imperative that there is a consistent
process of quality training and education. 

On-going training for advocates includes a monthly
audio conference where log-in or attendance in person
is mandatory. This is broadcast from Liberty Hall on a
given day each month and PowerPoint presentations
are sent out beforehand to participants. Active discus-
sion is centred on developments in employment law
and the forum also allows advocates to give feedback
on experiences at Tribunals and other employment law
bodies. Developments in employment law, which hap-
pen at least on a weekly basis, are communicated
from the Legal Rights Unit to MISC staff. There are
also monthly meetings with information assistants,
and bi-monthly training sessions and updates. Six 

Membership Information 

and Support Centre
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information assistants completed a specialised HETAC
accredited course organised by SIPTU College on 
Industrial Relations and Employment Law in 2014.

Most of the Advocates in MISC have a legal qualifica-
tion. In 2014 two advocates commenced the barrister-
at-law degree at the Kings Inns and it is projected that
at least two more will commence similar studies in
2015. Seven advocates graduated together in the
summer of 2014 at UCD in the Post Graduate Profes-
sional Diploma in Employment Law. This is not a move
towards creating a more legalised environment within
SIPTU. Instead it is to ensure that SIPTU members are
ensured the best quality advice and representation
when they encounter problems at work. This goes
some way towards addressing the fundamental ‘in-
equality in arms’ when it comes to employment rights
vindication. MISC Advocates are more than a match
for the well-resourced legal teams that employers in-
creasingly engage for hearings. 

It still remains the case that a non-union worker would
either have to engage expensive legal advice or in the
alternative he/she would have to download many
pieces of law and attempt to piece together how they
interact in order to establish what their legal position
may be. The fact that SIPTU members can avail of ad-
vice and representation from MISC Advocates who are
competent in employment law and trained for the new
structures, is a strong union premium. 

Data Protection and Case Tracking Systems
At MISC proper tracking systems are in place to com-
plement the internal case recording application. Mem-
bers’ details and case outlines are inputted and then
updated after any further contact or correspondence
in the case to ensure that no cases are followed up. A
formulated system exists whereby no case is taken
without the sanction of the Division. This ensures sit-
uations are avoided whereby individual cases are
taken and discovered subsequently to be detrimental
to collective agreements. Likewise, individual cases re-
ferred externally by members directly have to be veri-
fied online by Divisional staff. All systems operate
according to the guidelines as set down by the Office
of the Data Protection Commissioner. A satisfactory
audit was carried out by that Office in 2014.

Advocates provide monthly reports on electronic tem-
plates which allow statistical information to be built up
showing the intensity of activity, the attendance levels
at third party bodies and the amount of compensatory
sums recovered by MISC. This system is constantly up-
dated and developed in conjunction with the Informa-

tion Technology Department. Qualitative changes intro-
duced in the autumn of 2013 included a facility to iden-
tify the legislation and types of cases being taken on
behalf of members. Such information allows the Cen-
tre to identify trends in the workplace which affect our
members and allow us to ascertain the training needs,
amongst other things.

Future Plans:
It is envisaged that role of MISC will evolve to become
a one stop shop for members and potential members
when they are seeking advice or representation on
work issues. A core piece of this strategy is the open-
ing up of centres in various locations where SIPTU has
offices, initially on a pilot basis. This will facilitate
greater connections with the local community and en-
sure that the local union office is seen as the first port
of call for local workers who encounter workplace prob-
lems.

Part of this expansion will see the development of a
Workers Rights Centre, a mobile friendly website where
employment rights guidance will be given. This website
will also promote the Centre as a place where workers
can source empathetic and professional advice on em-
ployment rights issues. 

The Legal Rights Unit
The Legal Rights Unit is linked to MISC but it’s work
and responsibility go beyond giving legal advice to
MISC Advocates in the field. It extends to advice on In-
dustrial Relations Law and it counsels on strategic
legal issues to Officers and Divisional and Strategic
Organising Staff. The Unit presents specialist legal ed-
ucation for staff with the cooperation of SIPTU College.
While the Legal Rights Unit specialises in employment
and industrial relations law, it has expanded services
to advise on company law, data protection and defama-
tion (initial examination only in the latter area), where
this impacts on union activity.

The Legal Rights Unit does not give independent legal
advice. It gives primacy to the collective interest of the
union membership. Advice will not be given, for exam-
ple, in situations where there is a conflict between an
individual interest and a collective agreement, partic-
ularly where the net result could have a detrimental ef-
fect on the interests of fellow union members. All
advice therefore has to be filtered through an official
in order to ensure that the collective interest is the
overarching consideration. 



As well as giving general advice, the unit is tasked with
giving advice in individual cases to MISC Advocates.
The advice and support includes assistance in the en-
forcement of third party determinations, company in-
solvencies and pension law.

The unit has assisted in preparing cases for the High
Court in defence of points of law applications where
SIPTU members’ awards were at stake. The Legal
Rights Unit also has a broader strategic function with
regard to legal reform and developments which may
impact upon working people generally. The unit is part
of the ICTU Legal Strategy Committee and has con-
tributed to various campaigns on the protection of
REAs and JLCs, the maintenance of union representa-
tion in the Reform of the Employment Rights bodies,
protecting the rights of undocumented workers, com-
bating human trafficking and campaigning for effective
whistleblowing and collective bargaining rights. 

In the sphere of Industrial Relations the Unit assists
in the drafting of ballot papers, advises on the conduct
of disputes and gives support in injunctions cases. 

The Legal Rights Unit has given many presentations
on employment law, not alone to SIPTU staff and ac-
tivists but externally, for example to non-union mem-
bers in various third level institutions as part of the
organising mission. The Unit also drafts the monthly
“Know Your Rights “column for Liberty.
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Members of the MISC team (from left to right) Chris Rowland, Mary Nolan, Barnaba Dorda, Tom O’Driscoll, Carol Murphy
and Kate O'Malley. Photo: William Hederman.
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SIPTU College in its operation and function has been
working the new structures of the union over the past
years, as part of the process of transforming it into an
‘Organising Union’ where an essential change has
been from a Branch to a Sector based structure.

SIPTU College contains three back-up support func-
tions (i) Education and Training, (ii) Industrial Engineer-
ing and (iii) Occupational Safety and Health.

Education and Training
Following the ratification/accreditation of SIPTU College
as a second and third level institution, staff developed
a range of courses at Quality and Qualifications Ireland
at level 5 & 6 courses. All of these were developed and
delivered at SIPTU College by SIPTU Staff. All such ed-
ucation and training is focused on providing activists
and staff with the necessary skills for an organising
union to assist in growing and building union density to
the maximum extent possible.

SIPTU College is QQI accredited. Students participate
in programmes that lead to awards which can subse-
quently lead to progression to other Colleges and Uni-
versities. Students who are successful and are
conferred with our ICTU / SIPTU QQI Level 6 Certificate
in Business Studies (Trade Union Studies) are then el-
igible to progress to:

i. Bachelor Degree in Industrial Relations & Human
Resource Management in the National College of
Ireland (NCI) or

ii. Diploma and Honours degree Bachelor in Business
Studies in University College Dublin (UCD)

Where there is a demand for Education and Training
courses they will be organised and delivered based on
employment types, e.g. Sectors, where participants
are broadly from the same, or a similar background of
workplace. To ensure all of the education and training
programmes are relevant to the various functions of
workplace activists and the overall needs of Division
and Sectors a procedure is in place whereby the ap-
propriate Sector Organiser and Tutor consult in ad-
vance so that the course can be tailored to suit
specific requirements.

Traditionally, education and training courses were de-
livered during working hours with participants getting
paid release from normal work duties. During the cur-
rent economic crisis in Ireland the experience has
been that paid release for activists is proving more dif-
ficult to achieve. In an effort to counteract this, SIPTU
College will deliver courses outside of normal working
times. Outside normal training times, courses are
being developed and delivered as and when there is a
demand for them – some have already been organised
on evenings and at weekends.

Funding workers representative 
Education and Training
Education and Training courses for worker representa-
tives were grant aided by the State through FÁS (now
SOLAS), Further Education and Training Authority, until
February 2010. The withdrawal of these grants consti-
tutes shameful treatment of workers and their repre-
sentatives by the Irish Government. It ignores:

i. The inestimable value that trained and competent
shop stewards, safety representatives, pension
trustees, equality representatives, etc., bring to
Irish workplaces in terms of change management,
industrial peace, saving lives and limbs, pension
protection, equality treatment, etc.

ii. It compares unfavourably with European Union
member states and others which have strong leg-
islation and practices that provide state funding for
Education and Training, as well as paid-release for
workers representatives to attend such courses.

iii. That the Irish state does not provide funding/grant
aid for trade union activist training casts a dark
shadow on the vision that we are a progressive na-
tion.

Amongst the range of Courses available in SIPTU 
College, provided there is sufficient demand, are:
1. Induction for new Union Representatives 

and new officials
2. Shop Steward courses –

basic and advanced
(FETAC / HETAC)

3. Effective meetings
4. Safety, Health and Welfare at Work – 

basic and advanced (QQI levels 5 and 6)

SIPTU College
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Pictured at the first LGBT rights in the workplace training course at SIPTU College are
front row (left to right): Vanessa Lacey, (TENI), Tom O’Driscoll (Head of Legal Rights
Unit), Chris Rowland (MISC), Rachel Mathews-Mckay (SIPTU LGBTQ Network). Back
row: Dr Judy Walsh (School of Social Justice, UCD), Ethel Buckley (National Campaigns
& Equality Organiser), Mags O’Brien (Tutor), Dr Aideen Quilty (School of Social Justice
UCD), Richie Keane (SIPTU LGBTQ Network), in June 2014. 
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5. Trade Union organising
6. Computer training
7. Communications
8. Certificate Course in Trade Union 

Studies (QQI Level 6)
9. Sector Committee training
10. Team-working
11. Continuous development for Union 

Officials and Administrative staff
12. Union Learner Representatives
13 Occupational Pensions

In addition to the above and in line with the require-
ments of the new union structures, SIPTU College will
design and tailor education and training programmes
to suit particular needs, in consultation with relevant
Divisional and Sector Organisers.

SIPTU College co-operates and collaborates with other
trade unions in sharing resources and facilities in an
effort to optimise our collective effectiveness on be-
half of members.

SIPTU College is actively participating in the develop-
ment of sharing Education and Training facilities with
other Trade Unions affiliated to the ICTU.

Industrial Engineering Department
The downward spiral of our economy has meant that
all companies are now more focused than ever on their
operating costs. Labour costs and efficiencies are con-
stantly under review as managers and external consult-
ants implement changes to combat costs. These
changes have a direct impact on members as their cur-
rent work practices are scrutinised and changed. 

Traditionally, the main service provided by the Indus-
trial Engineering Department was to help implement
and maintain various types of Bonus Scheme. These
schemes included Profit Sharing Schemes, Gain Shar-
ing Schemes, Piecework Schemes and the traditional
Bonus Scheme. Over the past number of years, there
has been a noticeable shift from these schemes as
members’ jobs have become more important to them
rather than their job conditions.

The Industrial Engineering Department is more involved
in work measurement, determining correct staffing levels
and Job Evaluation/Grading. The on-going changes in var-
ious employments has meant that the Industrial Engineer-
ing Department spends more time in “watchdog mode”
to ensure that any changes or demands made are fair and
reasonable to Members.

The internal changes within SIPTU and its new struc-
ture are now starting to have an impact on the Indus-

trial Engineering Department. It is becoming apparent
that not everyone in the union is aware of the backup
supports provided by Industrial Engineering Depart-
ment.

Our continuing objectives are to provide the best pro-
fessional service to members in the pursuit of fairness
and justice so that working conditions and stan-
dards can be protected, advanced and sustained.

Occupational Safety and Health
Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) backup support
is provided to Activists (including Safety Representa-
tives, Shop Stewards, etc.) and staff, by the Safety and
Health Unit. This includes the provision of information,
written and oral, advice and representation. Occasion-
ally, this may involve a workplace visit where direct ad-
vice is provided to safety representatives and union
Organisers.  This is in addition to the provision of ed-
ucation and training courses for Safety Representa-
tives.

The main challenges facing workplace safety and
health standards is unscrupulous cost cutting in the
broad area of OSH at the level of the workplace in the
mistaken belief by some employers that such cuts will
amount to real savings. Many studies have shown that
monies spent on the prevention of work-related acci-
dents, illnesses and diseases saves multiples of the
spend amounts.

One of the more serious developments is at European
level under the duplicitous title of ‘Better Regulation’
which is a euphemism for De-Regulation. The European
Commission set-up a ‘High Level Group of Independent
Stakeholders on Administrative Burdens’, which pro-
duced recommendations that included less workplace
inspection and no requirement to have a written risk
assessment for certain small employers. These ele-
ments are essential requirements for proper OSH stan-
dards at workplace level so that lives and limbs can
be saved. SIPTU continues to lobby against moves to
erode the safety and health protection legislation that
already exists.

One of the greatest threats facing workers at present
is the European Commission’s reluctance to produce
a new European Strategy for Safety and Health, as the
previous one expired at the end of 2012. There is no
good reason for this delay as the European social part-
ners are in favour of a new strategy.

Sadly, despite the efforts of trade union activists,
worker-related deaths, injuries, illnesses, diseases are
all too high when they are all preventable. Without the
work of very dedicated trade unionists, statistics would
be even worse.

SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014
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A declaration on workplace innovation aimed at creating positive organisational change in manufacturing 
companies through dialogue between employees and management was launched in the Green Isle Hotel in Dublin
on 1st May, 2013. e ‘Dublin Declaration’ was a joint statement of purpose by the SIPTU Manufacturing 
Division, IDEAS Institute and EUWIN, a European Commission initiative to promote workplace innovation.
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IDEAS supporting SIPTU policy in 2013 
and 2014
The Institute for the Development of Employee 
Advancement Services (IDEAS) is a training company
established by SIPTU. IDEAS Institute provides train-
ing to SIPTU activists and members, with the aims of
sustaining members’ employment and union member-
ship, reducing job losses, helping to create new jobs,
enhancing activists’ and members’ skills, and pro-
moting union organisation while also assisting com-
pany competitiveness.

The training programmes that IDEAS provides include
team-working, train-the-trainer, CV and interview skills,
and computer training. Many of these training 
programmes are certified by FETAC/QQI.

During 2013 and 2014, IDEAS working closely with
SIPTU’s Divisions, provided the following training 
programmes and other support activities for our mem-
bers.

2013 - Manufacturing Division
• Manufacturing Division Workplace Innovation (WIN)
Conference 30th April 2013: IDEAS presentation of the
Joint Union Management Steering Group (JUMSG)
process.

• As part of the Division’s WIN campaign, 11 
Joint Union Management Steering Group courses 
(JUMSG) and team-working courses were 
completed by IDEAS in the following companies –

• Theo Benning, Wexford

• BD, Drogheda

• BD, Dublin

• THK, Dublin

• The JUMSG training programme is of six days 
duration and is certified by FETAC/QQI.

• The training programmes were delivered by 
agreement between SIPTU and the companies 
in normal working time.

• 25 other companies were visited, and meetings
were held with shop stewards, members, 
management, and with other unions to explain
the JUMSG process.

2013 - Utilities and Construction Division
Lisheen Mines, Co. Tipperary, is due to close in 2015.
IDEAS developed and provided a two day training pro-
gramme for all members on our new course called
‘Crossroads’. This training programme will help our
members to identify their strengths and competences
for new employment, and other alternatives. In addi-
tion, a further one day training programme will also
equip them with the basic skills in word processing, in-
ternet and e-mailing. The training programme will be
continued in 2014.

2013 - Services Division
In SAICA, Ashbourne, Co. Meath, a new Single Minute
Exchange of Die (SMED) course was designed and 
delivered by IDEAS Institute.

2013 - Train the Trainer
• Ballon, Carlow – 2 ‘Train the Trainer’ courses 

delivered, all FETAC certified.

• Kilkenny – 9 ‘Train the Trainer’ courses delivered,
all FETAC certified.

2013 - European Trade Union training
IDEAS is also working with a number of trade unions
in Germany, Spain and Poland in a number of European
Union funded projects concerned with developing pilot
training programmes for workers in the food, engineer-
ing and other sectors across Europe.

During 2013, one such project approved by the Euro-
pean Commission concerning young workers was com-
pleted. This project was entitled ‘Decent Working
Conditions for Youth’.The aim of the project was to
train a number of youth organisers in the Danish ‘Jobs
Patrol’ method. This Danish approach involves young
union activists visiting other young workers in factories,
and checking with them to see if they are getting
treated fairly and legally by the employer. Any breaches
are reported to the union and the national authorities.
The Danes have been operating the ‘Jobs Patrol’
method for over 30 years very successfully. During the
year, a number of SIPTU Youth activists visited Den-
mark and successfully completed the training pro-
gramme.

IDEAS Institute
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Report for 2014

2014 - Manufacturing Division
• As part of the Division’s WIN campaign, 15 Joint

Union Management Steering Group courses
(JUMSG) and team-working courses were 
completed by IDEAS in the following companies:

• Theo Benning, Wexford

• BD, Drogheda

• THK, Dublin

• The JUMSG training programme is of 6 days 
duration, and is certified by FETAC/QQI.

• 13 other companies were visited, and meetings
were held with shop stewards, members, 
management, and other unions to explain the
JUMSG process.

2014 - Utilities and Construction Division
Lisheen Mines, Co. Tipperary is due to close in 2015.
IDEAS developed and provided 15 one day training pro-
grammes in 2014 for all members called the ‘Cross-
roads’ programme. This training programme will help
our members to identify their strengths and compe-
tences for new employment, and other alternatives. In
addition, a further one day training programme will also
equip them with the basic skills in word processing, in-
ternet and e-mailing. During 2014, four computer pro-
grammes were delivered. The training programme will
be continued in 2015.

2014 - Train the Trainer
Kilkenny – 5 ‘Train the Trainer’ 
programmes delivered

Lisheen Mines - 1 ‘Train the Trainer’ 
programme delivered.

2014 - European Trade Union training
IDEAS is also working with a number of trade unions
in Germany, Spain, France and Slovenia in a number
of European Union funded projects concerned with 
developing pilot training programmes for workers in the
mining, food, engineering and other sectors across 
Europe.

During 2014, one such project approved by the Euro-
pean Commission concerning workers about to made
redundant was completed. This project was entitled
‘Profillpass’. The aim of the project was to develop a
pilot training programme for workers about to be made
redundant to assist them in identifying their current
strengths and competencies that they could transfer
to other new employments or activities. This pro-
gramme was based on the German ‘Profillpass’ train-
ing programme. This project was helpful to our
members in Lisheen Mines (referred to above) in
preparing them for new employment after the closure
of the mine.
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There have been significant developments in SIPTU’s
Information, Communication and Technology infrastruc-
ture in the last two years. They range from new hard-
ware and software, to new telephony, advanced
networks and security, document management, web-
sites and the further development of our internal infra-
structure.

Citrix Farm – A new set of Citrix servers was 
purchased to replace the old Citrix Farm. The impetus
for this came from the end-of-life of our desktop PCs
and the need to replace them. Instead of replacing all
the desktop PCs we converted them to terminals 
connected to the Citrix servers and this resulted in the
union making significant savings while also centralising
software access and systems. 

Telephony – At the last Biennial Delegate Conference,
it was agreed that we would seek the best possible
mobile phone package for Shop Stewards. This proved
more difficult than we had anticipated. The difficulty in
finalising a package was twofold. Firstly, given the na-
ture of this market, offers from mobile phone opera-
tors were constantly changing and as soon as one
offer was on the table, another provider was offering
a deal. By far the biggest difficulty was that mobile
phone operators who offer cheaper deals are non-
union, making their profits at the expense of workers.
We will only offer Shop Stewards a package from an
operator that supports unionised jobs with decent pay
and conditions of employment.

As a result, we concentrated on two unionised mobile
phone operators, Eircom and Vodafone. We engaged
with both companies and secured the best possible
deals available. Given that Shop Stewards have differ-
ent requirements (e.g., more data, more texts, SIM
only etc.), we asked each company to provide a range
of options. The union presented both offers to Shop
Stewards in order to give the widest possible range of
options.

By and large we received positive feedback and mem-
bers appreciated that while there might be cheaper
deals out there, the offers put forward support com-
panies who provide unionised jobs. New locations were
added to our VoIP system.

Network Infrastructure - A new 100MB capacity line
has been installed in Liberty Hall which gives improved
speed and resilience to our Internet access.

Network Security – The original firewall, Sonicwall,
has now been replaced with a much improved Fortigate
firewall system. A VPN (Virtual Private Network) site to
site installation was also undertaken. New WiFi access
points have been installed in our offices nationally.

Centralised Document Management – Alfresco:
an Administrative Assistant was appointed to the 
Alfresco system to provide assistance to industrial
staff using document management and centralised
storage of files. A new add-on for Microsoft Outlook
was also installed.

Door Opening System – This has been installed in
the Waterford, Tralee, Kilkenny and Ennis offices. It
enables staff and members to book rooms in these lo-
cations and gain access to the buildings via a text mes-
sage alarm code.

SIAS Development – The development of the SIPTU
Internal Administrative System (Intranet) site continues
in order to improve the functionality of the modules.

Educate to Organise website - This site has been
set up to support the work of the Educate to Organise
team.

SIPTU College Materials - A centralised storage site
has been set up for course materials available for all
tutors and course participants.

SIPTU Health website – A dedicated website for the
Health Division has been set up.

Backup System - A comprehensive backup system
was put in place to ensure all data is backed up daily
in a secure environment. This includes all emails, the
membership system and Citrix Farm.

Information 

Technology
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Property
The number of premises, including Liberty Hall, is 36,
of which 33 are owned by the union. As part of the re-
structuring a number of designated hubs were estab-
lished. It would appear that some of the local contact
connecting the union with communities is not as strong
as it had been previously and, to this end, the estab-
lishment of Workers’ Rights Centres around the coun-
try is under active consideration.

The property stock requires constant management and
maintenance. Investment in the union’s infrastructure
is undertaken in line with available resources. During
the period under review the refurbishment of our prem-
ises in Tralee was completed.

Goods and Services
The union continued to monitor contracts and arrange-
ments for goods and services to ensure value for
money was achieved, while at the same time support-
ing suppliers who provide decent jobs in unionised em-
ployments.

Liberty Hall Project
Following a protracted planning process, the application
for the redevelopment of Liberty Hall received permission
from the City Council planners but was subsequently 
appealed to An Bord Pleanála.

Following the appeal, An Bord Pleanála overturned the
decision of Dublin City Council to grant planning 
permission. This decision was a great disappointment
to the union, which was anxious to see the Liberty Hall
site redeveloped to provide a first class iconic facility
for members, staff and the citizens of the greater
Dublin area. At the time of writing, a number of 
alternative options are being evaluated.

Liberty Hall Banners
During the period under review, a variety of banners
was placed on the façade of Liberty Hall. This included
a three-sided banner celebrating the 1913 Lockout. In
general, the facility to allow banners is only made avail-
able to charitable and not for profit organisations. No
charge is made by the union to the organisations in-
volved. The process of design, production and place-
ment of banners is undertaken by Big Picture Media
on the union’s behalf.

Premises
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Political Overview
2013 and 2014 were dominated by the issue of ‘Wel-
fare Reform’ and the ongoing reduction in the Block
Grant by an estimated £1.5 billion. As a direct result
of this funding reduction, and the introduction of so
called Welfare Reform, the Assembly agreed the Stor-
mont House Agreement, part of which proposed a re-
duction of the numbers employed in the Public Sector
by 20,000. The agreement, if implemented in full,
would result in a major reduction in public services.
The cost of the proposed redundancies is to be funded
via a £700m government loan. In addition a modified
version of Welfare Reform was agreed. If Welfare Re-
form was introduced in the same manner as in England
the loss of income to the local economy was estimated
to be £750m, or £650 a year for every adult of working
age. 

Employment law in the North of Ireland is a devolved
issue, and the Stormont Assembly has it within its gift
to offer working people increased protection at work.
Employers’ groups lobby the Assembly to mirror the
deterioration of employment rights for British workers,
arguing that not to do so makes the North a less at-
tractive place than Britain to do business. SIPTU
through the NIC ICTU argues for the Assembly to do
the opposite and strengthen the rights of working peo-
ple. The worst aspects of the reduction in employment
rights introduced by the Conservative and Liberal De-
mocrat coalition government were not introduced by
the Assembly. However, we remain concerned that they
might be implemented after the election due in May
2016.

Economic Overview
Northern Ireland families have been hardest-hit by aus-
terity with average household incomes in 2014 £860
below their pre-downturn level, according to a new
study by the Resolution Foundation think-tank. Accord-
ing to the report, households in Northern Ireland ex-
perienced the biggest squeeze in living standards of
all 12 UK regions. While there has been a recent 
improvement in the numbers at work, this is mainly
due to zero hour and minimum wage employment. 
Currently, 28% of employees in NI earn less than the
living wage, and are forced to rely on Tax Credits.
Spending on Tax Credits has increased by almost 70%
in the last 10 years. 

Campaigns
SIPTU Activists continue to campaign for fairness at
work and a more equal society. As part of this cam-
paign the Northern Ireland District Committee met bi-
monthly to ensure our collective campaigning voice
more effectively shaped a better future.

Activists from the three section areas of Belfast,
Newry and Derry came together to discuss political de-
velopments and determine appropriate strategies and
direction.

Strengthening our collective voice
Due to the excellent work of our activists, and the addi-
tional resources placed in the Belfast office, SIPTU’s
membership density in Northern Ireland grew by over
12% between 2012 and 2014. Our on-going campaigns
led by key activists ensured improvements for members.
Ever growing numbers of workers are joining SIPTU to 
secure protection, a collective voice in the work place
and society and because of the unions’ record as a 
campaigning union. Many previously unorganised 
sections now enjoy the benefits of SIPTU membership,
one of which is Brinks.

Brinks
This section was organised in July 2013. The main
focus of our original campaign was the provision of air
conditioning units in the armoured vans. The second-
ary element pertained to terms and conditions of 
employment, some workers not having received a pay
increase for over six years.

We secured statutory recognition from this employer
in December 2014, with only one employee in the bar-
gaining unit voting against recognition. The employer
resisted unionisation, using every means available to
slow the process down. Following a ballot for strike 
action we secured a 5% increase in the rate of pay,
sick pay and overtime rates. 

Strike Action
SIPTU members joined hundreds of thousands of other
workers who, on Thursday, 10th July, 2014, took part
in strike action rallies, picket lines and marches across
Northern Ireland, England and Wales to protest over
pay and falling living standards. This was the biggest
public sector strike to take place since the end of
World War Two. Members voted in favour of the strike
action by 70% to 30%. The strike was in furtherance

Northern Ireland
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of a pay demand because the Government, as the em-
ployer, had only conceded 1%. Our members had suf-
fered a 20% reduction of their earnings in real terms
since the onset of the recession. Rallies attracting
thousands of school workers, firefighters and local gov-
ernment employees took place in cities from Newry to
Belfast and Derry. The next stage of the strike 
action in October was averted after a revised pay offer
was accepted by members.

Homecare Workers
Homecare workers who provide elder care are organ-
ising in growing numbers. Some of them are paid less
than the minimum wage when travel and waiting time
are taken into account. They are also required to pro-
vide their own uniforms, making further inroads into
their pay. Our activists were involved in a campaign to
build union density and end this exploitation.

Local Authorities
During the period coved by this report a process of 
reducing the 26 District Councils to 11 commenced.
Following 1st April, 2015, SIPTU will represent mem-
bers in 3 of the 11 Councils. We are engaged in a
process of ensuring that our members are 
protected during this process especially in situ-
ations where the “new” Council is seeking to
merge departments and services.

Translink/NIR 
We secured a 2.5% pay rise for members in 2014.
However, it proved a difficult period. The Assembly im-
posed £13 million in cuts on Translink; its funding was
slashed from almost £80m in 2012 to a little over
£64m during 2014. This resulted in trading losses of
£8.4m last year. The employer is now seeking to slash
costs, with around 65 workers to go under a voluntary
exit scheme and a further 100 expected to go in the
scheme's second phase. Despite this, passenger
numbers were up year-on-year, increasing by almost
500,000. The number of fare-paying journeys rose by
almost 7%. No SIPTU members have yet been targeted
but we are monitoring the situation carefully.

May Day march in Belfast on 
Saturday 4th May, 2013.
Photo: Andrew Flood.

SIPTU members involved in the public sector strike in Newry on ursday, 10th July 2014.

Over 3,000 trade unionists marched in Belfast
on Saturday, 3rd May 2014 as part of the city’s 
calendar of events to mark International 
Workers Day. Photo: Kevin Cooper.
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Overview
The Irish economy did seem to reach the long-
promised and long-overdue turning point towards the
end of 2013, growing strongly in 2014; driven mainly
by net exports and by a recovery in investment (albeit
from a low base). 

The economy’s performance in 2014 was much more
robust than many commentators had forecast. This
meant that the expected fiscal adjustment of €2 billion
for Budget 2015 became a modest fiscal expansion of
just over €1 billion by October 2014, the first such ex-
pansionary budget since December 2007. However, a
very considerable part of the resources made available
by the turnaround were taken up in cutting taxes for
higher income earners in Budget 2015.

The economic forecasts for the medium term are
broadly positive. GDP growth of approximately 3.5% is
expected for 2015 and 2016. Unemployment should
continue to fall, and may go below 9% by the end of
2015. The numbers at work could rise above 2 million
by the end of 2016. The public finances should also
continue to improve. Domestic demand is expected to
take over from net exports as the main driver of
growth. However continuing high levels of private debt,
though falling, are likely to act as a drag on private con-
sumption.

Rising net exports boost growth 
Strong GDP growth of 4.8% in 2014, compared to 0.2%
growth in 2013, was driven by strong growth in net ex-
ports and in investment. Ireland has long had a very
open economy, with exports exceeding 80% of GDP as
far back as the late 1980s. 

The growth in net Irish exports of goods and services
that began in 2010 and continued over 2011 and
2012 did ease somewhat during 2013 (just +1.1 %)
but rebounded strongly in 2014 (+12.6%). Irish ex-
ports reached €207.8 billion in 2014, an all-time high
and total employment in IDA-supported client compa-

nies reached 174,000 in 2014 (up from a low of
145,000 in 2009).

Ireland’s exporting sector benefited from dynamic
growth in the US and the UK over 2013 and 2014, the
fall in the euro against sterling (down approximately
10% between August 2013 and December 2014) and
against the dollar (down approximately 12% between
May 2014 and December 2014) and the decline in en-
ergy prices from mid-2014 (with oil prices falling by ap-
proximately one-third between mid-2014 and the end
of 2014). 

Net exports also rose on the back of the ‘improve-
ment’ in unit labour costs, with the Bank of Ireland es-
timating in August 2014 that unit labour costs had
improved in Ireland by about 20% vis-à-vis the Euro-
zone between 2009 and 2014 (based on a 10% fall in
average hourly earnings in Ireland compared to a 10%
increase across the Eurozone). 

But volatile national accounts
Ireland’s national accounts have become quite volatile
and difficult to interpret in recent years, with headline
GDP growth somewhat ‘decoupled’ from real activity in
the Irish economy. 

The main reason for this is the disproportionate impact
of a few multinationals on recorded economic activity.
For example, headline GDP figures were reduced over
2012 and 2013 as a result of the ‘patent cliff’ effect
when a number of major drugs which were produced
in Ireland, went ‘off-patent’. 

Concerns were also expressed during 2014 about the
potentially distortive impact of ‘contract manufactur-
ing’ on Irish GDP. Under such contracts, products man-
ufactured overseas for Irish-resident firms are
accounted as Irish exports once shipped to a third
country, even if they never transit through Ireland. In
November 2014, the Irish Fiscal Advisory Council
warned that estimates of Irish GDP growth in 2014

The Beginnings of an 

Overdue Recovery - 
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were ‘greatly flattered’ by such activity, which it said
may have accounted for nearly half of the reported
growth in Irish GDP in 2014. It remains to be seen
what effect this activity will have on growth figures in
2015 and in the years ahead.

Investment picked up – from a low base
The housing bust and the financial crisis that followed
caused a sharp fall in investment in Ireland, to around
15% of GDP over 2010-13. Ireland’s investment-to-
GDP ratio has been one of the lowest in the EU over
recent years and is well below its long-run historical
average. As business confidence recovered and the
economic outlook improved, investment did pick up
during 2014. It rose by 11.3%, and strong growth is
expected over 2015 and 2016 (albeit at lower levels
than in 2014). Investment should remain one of the
main drivers of growth. 

Construction is expected to continue its recovery from
very low levels and Ireland should continue to attract
investment from multinationals. If it comes to fruition,
the new European Investment Plan, including a new Eu-
ropean Fund for Strategic Investments, launched by
the European Commission in November 2014, may re-
sult in additional investment in Ireland over the
medium term.

Two-tiered economy persisted until late 2013
The two-tiered economy (i.e. rising exports but falling
or, at best, stagnant domestic demand) that emerged
after 2010 remained firmly entrenched until late 2013.
Domestic demand only began to rise in 2014, by 2.2%,
thus making its first positive contribution to economic
growth since before the onset of the crisis. 

After three successive years of decline, personal con-
sumption saw only modest growth in 2014 (+1.1%, still
weighed down by high (but declining) levels of private
debt. The number of mortgage accounts for principal
dwelling houses (PDH) in arrears has been falling since
early 2013; from 18.4% of total accounts in the first
quarter of 2013 to 14.5% of total accounts in the last
quarter of 2014. However, the number of mortgage ac-
counts in very long-term arrears (i.e. 720 days or
more) continued to increase (albeit at a declining pace)
over the period in question. 

Personal consumption is now expected to strengthen
over 2015 and rising domestic demand should take
over from net exports as the main growth driver in the
medium term; supported by rising employment, rising
real disposable household incomes and improving
household net worth. 

Risk of deflation eventually forces ECB to act
Annual inflation (as measured by the harmonised index
of consumer prices) remained low over the period
under review, amounting to 0.5% in 2013 and 0.2% in
2014. Ireland, along with most other euro zone mem-
bers in the euro zone as a whole, experienced deflation
towards the end of 2014 and early 2015, prompting
the European Central Bank (ECB) to eventually launch
in Spring 2015 a quantitative easing (or bond buying)
programme with the aim of boosting aggregate de-
mand. Inflation is forecast to remain subdued over
2015, largely as a result of the fall in oil prices in the
second half of 2014, which is slowly being reversed.
The ECB’s 2% inflation target is unlikely to be achieved
by the end of 2016.

Falling but still high levels of unemployment
Unemployment, which had risen almost four-fold from
an average of 4% between 2000-2007 to over 15% in
early 2012, continued to decline over 2013 and 2014
at a slow but steady pace, falling to 13.1% in 2013 to
11.3 % in 2014 (and to 10.6% by December 2014).
Long-term unemployment, which stood at 9.1% in
2012, fell to 7.9% in 2013 and to 7.0% in 2014. Youth
unemployment (i.e. aged 25 and under), which peaked
at 30.4% in 2012, fell to 26.8% in 2013 and to 23.9%
in 2014. Unemployment may fall below 9% by the end
of 2015, down almost 40% from its 2012 peak but still
leaving it at over twice the pre-crisis levels.

Rising employment but still below pre-crisis
peaks
Total employment stood at 2.17 million in the third
quarter of 2007, the highest level ever recorded. Over
the following almost five years, i.e., until early 2012,
nearly 345,000 jobs or 15% of the 2007 peak were
lost, bringing total employment down to 1.83 million. 

The numbers at work did start to recover from mid-
2012, with total employment reaching 1.94 million by
the end of 2014, up approximately 115,000 from the
early 2012 trough but still roughly 230,000 below the
2007 peak. Ireland’s employment rate (measured as
a percentage of all persons at work (as defined by the
International Labour Organisation: aged 15-64 as a
proportion of all persons aged 15-64) fell from 69.2%
in 2007 to 58.8% in 2012, before rising to 60.5% in
2013 and to 61.7% in 2014. Most of the jobs that are
now being created are full-time jobs as opposed to
mostly part-time jobs in the earlier stages of the recov-
ery. Employment is forecast to rise by over 2% in
2015, and should exceed 2 million by the end of 2016.
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No let-up in fiscal consolidation
December 2013 saw Ireland formally exit the three-
year Troika programme. This programme had been ne-
gotiated by the previous Fianna Fáil/Green Party
coalition with the European Commission, the European
Central Bank (ECB) and the International Monetary
Fund (IMF) in late 2010. It was largely implemented,
with some substantial modifications, by the Fine
Gael/Labour Party coalition that came to power in
Spring 2011.  

On the back of fiscal adjustments totalling over €9.2
billion in 2011 and in 2012, the two years under re-
view saw little let-up in the pace of cutbacks and tax
increases. Budget 2013 saw a total adjustment of
€2.7 billion, made up of €1.5 billion in spending cuts
and tax increases of €1.2 billion. Budget 2014 saw a
total adjustment of €3.1 billion, made up of public
spending cuts of €2.2 billion and tax increases of
€900 million. 

The stronger than anticipated growth in the Irish econ-
omy from late 2013 did mean that the planned €2 bil-
lion in cuts and tax increases for Budget 2015, which
had been expected right up to mid-2014, was replaced
by a moderate fiscal expansion of just over €1 billion
by the time budget day came around in October 2014.
Budget 2015 was thus the first ‘non-austerity’ budget
since the €1 billion in ‘special measures’ announced
in July 2008. 

However, tax ‘reform’ in Budget 2015 was skewed to-
wards cutting taxes for a small minority of higher in-
come earners. €640 million was taken up by reducing
the top rate of tax from 41 to 40% and in raising the
standard rate band by €1,000. In fact, the same
amount (i.e., €234 million) was allocated to reducing
the top rate of tax, which benefited a minority of tax
payers, as was allocated in total towards reforming the
Universal Social Charge (USC), which benefited a far
greater number. Budget 2015 also saw increases in
spending on housing and health, the first such in-
creases since before the crisis.

Over the period under review, the general government
balance fell to 5.8% of GDP in 2013 and to 4.1 % in
2014, i.e., below the agreed targets for both years.
The official forecast for 2015 remains 2.3%, which is
below the 3% target for 2015. Achieving or exceeding
this target would bring Ireland out of the ‘corrective’
arm of EU budgetary rules aimed at addressing exces-
sive budget deficits and into the ‘preventative’ arm,
aimed at preventing such deficits. This could have pos-
itive consequences for Ireland’s ability to have certain
growth-enhancing public investment recognised as ‘off-
balance’ sheet under EU rules.

Ireland’s general government debt/GDP ratio rose
from 121.7% of GDP in 2012 to 123.2% in 2013 and
fell to 109.7% in 2014. Part of the sizeable fall in
2014 could be attributed to changes in EU statistical
rules, which took effect that year.

Conclusion
Late 2013 onwards saw the long-promised and long
overdue economic recovery take hold. This recovery is
forecast to strengthen over the medium-term, with the
employment situation and the public finances set to
continue to improve. 

Taken together, Budgets 2013 and 2014 amounted to
nearly one-fifth of the total adjustment of approximately
€29.8 billion implemented over the 2008-14 period.
This equated to almost 17% of GDP (in 2014 terms)
and it was made up of €18.8 billion in current and cap-
ital spending cuts (i.e., 63%) and €11 billion in tax in-
creases (37%). 

The total fiscal consolidation of the 2008-14 years has
done enormous damage to public provision and to Ire-
land’s social fabric. Many of the public services that
were cut were well below what would be considered
the minimum requirement of public provision in other
European countries, particularly in the highly success-
ful social market economies of the Nordics and many
central European countries. 

There is now an enormous amount of ground to be re-
covered to provide the public services that the people
of Ireland not only want but need if we are to emulate
Europe’s most successful countries and to redress the
ongoing social fallout of the crisis and prepare for the
demographic change that is taking place around us. 

The resources that become available as the economy
recovers should be directed over the medium term in
a 2:1 ratio, with two-parts providing public services
and one-part towards tax reform, targeting low to mid-
dle income earners. This would reverse the 2:1 ratio
of the 2008 to 2014 years. Thereafter the focus
should exclusively be on strengthening public provi-
sion. If we are to truly put the stop-go years of boom
and bust behind us and achieve long-term sustainable
growth, we need first and foremost to focus on better
public provision. That is the challenge now facing Ire-
land.
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Panel 12 - Manchester Meeting.
From the 1913 Lockout Tapestry. 
Photo: Tommy Clancy.
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Overview
Wages in the Republic fell in absolute terms in both
2013 and 2014. The fall in nominal average weekly
earnings - of 0.7% in 2013 and of 0.1% in 2014 - was
compounded by positive inflation in both years, of 0.5%
in 2013 and 0.2% in 2014. Recent analysis of the
earnings distribution and of low pay by the Nevin Eco-
nomic Research Institute indicates that nearly one-
third of employees were low paid in 2013. Average
hourly wages did start to rise over the fourth quarter
of 2014 compared to the previous quarter but are fore-
cast to remain subdued across the economy over
2015, with variations between sectors. Provided un-
employment continues to fall, average hourly earnings
are forecast to increase across the economy in 2016.

Low Pay in Ireland in 2013
The Nevin Economic Research Institute (NERI)’s Quar-
terly Economic Observer (Spring 2015) included a com-
prehensive analysis of earnings distribution and of low
pay in the Republic of Ireland in 2013. This was con-
ducted using data from the most recent Central Sta-
tistics Office (CSO) Survey on Income and Living
Conditions (SILC), published in January 2015. 

The analysis used three earnings’ thresholds. First, the
minimum wage of €8.65 per hour, as set in July 2007
and as restored in July 2011. Second, the Living Wage
of €11.45 per hour, as established in July 2014 by the
Living Wage Technical Group (which included SIPTU),
as the amount required by a single person without de-
pendents, working full-time to meet their basic needs
(not wants). Third, the low pay threshold, as estab-
lished by the EU statistical agency Eurostat in their
most recent Structure of Earnings Survey in 2010,
published in December 2012. The low pay threshold
was estimated for those in firms of 10 or more em-
ployees and in all sectors of the economy (bar agricul-
ture, public administration and defence). It was
calculated as two-thirds of median hourly earnings, or
the earnings of the middle person in a distribution (i.e.
half are above this level and half are below). Eurostat
estimated median hourly earnings in Ireland in 2010 at
€18.25 and two-thirds of this amount was (rounded to)
€12.20. 

The analysis estimated that in 2013, 5.5% of employ-
ees (or 74,000) had an income below the statutory
minimum wage of €8.65 an hour. This included those
exempted from the rate such as young workers aged

under 18, persons employed by a close relative, ap-
prentices and those on structured training schemes. 

One quarter below living wage and almost one
third below low pay threshold
25.6% of employees (or 345,000) had an hourly rate
of less than the Living Wage of €11.45 per hour. In
2013, 30.3% (or 400,000) were below the (2010) low
pay threshold of €12.20 per hour. 12.5% had an
hourly rate of between €12.20 and €15.00, 41.6% be-
tween €15-€30, 8.6% between €30-€40, and 6.9%
above €40.

The analysis found that women represented 60% of
those who were earning less than €12.20 per hour.
More than one-third of those below the low pay thresh-
old were less than 30 years, and almost two-thirds
were less than 40 years, a group that represents
about half of all employees. Just over one-fifth of work-
ers below the threshold had not completed secondary
school. 

24% of those below the threshold were in the whole-
sale and retail sector, 17% were in the accommodation
and food sector, 13% were in health and social work
and 12% were in industry. 87% of low paid workers
were in the private sector and almost 10% were in the
public sector.

44% of low paid employees worked 35 hours or more
per week. Relative to overall employees, the low paid
were more concentrated on low hours, with one quar-
ter working less than 20 hours a week.

84% of low paid workers had a permanent contract of
employment, though there were more low paid workers
on temporary contracts (16%) than the proportion of
such workers among all employees (9%). Similarly, the
low paid were equally divided between full-time and
part-time work, despite the proportion of part-time
work among all employees being much less, at 28%.

While one in six of all employees were in the bottom
40% on the income distribution, one in three low paid
employees were in this income distribution. While al-
most one in six of all employees had a full medical
card, almost one in three low paid employees had one.
While nearly half of all employees said they would not
be able to meet an unexpected bill of €1,000, two-
thirds of low paid workers said they would be unable
to do so.

Wage Developments
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While 30% of all employees were below the low paid
threshold, one in three women were below the thresh-
old, compared to one in four men. The risk of being
low paid declined with age, with 60% of all workers
under 30 being low paid compared to 20% for workers
aged between 50 and 59. Risks also declined in line
with education, with over half of all employees who left
school after primary school low paid, compared to 12%
of all those with a third level qualification.

The highest risk of low pay was for employees in agri-
culture, forestry and fishing, and in the accommoda-
tion and food sectors, where approximately 70% of all
employees were low paid. The risk was also very high
for workers in administration and support services (60%)
and in the wholesale and retail trade (at over 50%). 

Analysis by occupation indicated that almost two-thirds
of sales employees and over half of all those employed
in personal and protective services were low paid. 
Almost 40% of private sector employees were low paid,
compared to 10% of public sector employees. Over half
of all workers on low hours (i.e. less than 20 hours a
week) were low paid, with the risk declining for workers
on longer working weeks (i.e. one-fifth of workers work-
ing 35 hours or more). Full-time workers (and those on
35+ hours per week) faced a one in five risk of being
low paid, while more than half of employees working
part-time were low paid. Risk was also higher for work-
ers on a temporary contract (52%).

The analysis found a strong relationship between low
pay and low incomes. Of all employees living in house-
holds whose overall income meant they were in
poverty, two-thirds were low paid. Of all employees with
a full medical card, 60% were in low-paid employment.
Almost 40% of employees whose household experi-
enced difficulty making ends meet were low paid, while
a similar number were in households that were not
able to afford an unexpected €1,000 bill.

The analysis concluded that low pay was clearly a sig-
nificant labour market phenomenon, one concentrated
by gender and located in certain sectors of the econ-
omy. Low pay also extended across age groups, reflect-
ing the reality that low pay is not a ‘transitory phase’
experienced principally by young workers starting out.
Its relationship with low hours, part-time work and tem-
porary contracts highlights the link with employees in
precarious work.

The 2012 Eurostat low pay survey found that 20.7%
of employees were low paid in 2010. This included
23.6% of women and 17.6% of men. The NERI analysis
of the 2013 SILC survey found that just over 30% of
employees surveyed were low paid in 2013. Analysis
of earnings over 2013 and 2014 does not give
grounds to suggest that this trend was reversed during
2014, despite sectoral variations,

Earnings over 2013-14
Average hourly earnings decreased from €22.20 per
hour in the first quarter of 2013 to €22.04 per hour
in the fourth quarter of 2014, a decline of 0.7%. 

Average hourly earnings increased in eight of the 13
main sectors over 2013 and 2014. The largest in-
crease (9%) was recorded in the construction sector,
with transportation and storage rising by 3.5%, and ac-
commodation and food service activities by 3.3%. The
public administration, defence and compulsory social
security sector fell by 3.8%, the professional, scientific
and technical activities sector by 3.2%, the human
health and social work activities sector by 2.9% and
the education sector by 2.5%. Wholesale and retail
saw an increase of just 0.2% over the two years.

Private sector average hourly earnings increased by
0.7% over 2013 and 2014, while public sector average
hourly earnings fell by 2.6% over this period. 

Over the two years under review, overall employment
numbers in the public sector (including semi-state bod-
ies) fell from 378,000 to 374,100 (-1%), with employ-
ment in health down from 123,600 to 118,600 (-4%),
in the Garda Síochána down from 13,300 to 12,800 (-
3.8%), and in the civil service down from 39,200 to
38,200 (-2.6%). Employment in semi-state companies
rose from 49,700 to 51,700 (+4%) and in education
rose from 110,300 to 110,800 (+0.5%). To recapitu-
late, over 409,000 were employed in the public sector
(including semi-state bodies) at the start of 2009.

Average hourly earnings did rise by 4.8% in the fourth
quarter of 2014 compared to the previous quarter, in-
creasing in all sectors (bar human health and social
work activities where they remained the same). The
largest rise was in financial, insurance and real estate
activities (+15.9%), and in administrative and support
services (+8.3%). Sectors where the risk of low pay is
higher, such as accommodation and wholesale and re-
tail, saw rises of 4.9% and 3.5% respectively.

The minimum wage
A Eurostat survey published in February 2015 indi-
cated that Ireland’s statutory minimum wage as a pro-
portion of median earnings (i.e., half of employees
earn above this level and half earn below), was joint
14th out of the 22 EU member states which have a
statutory minimum wage as of 1st January 2015. In
‘purchasing power standard’ terms (i.e. adjusted for
price differences), Ireland’s minimum wage was sixth
highest of the EU-22.

According to this survey, Ireland was one of just two
member states that saw no increase in its minimum
wage between January 2008 and January 2015. The
other member state was Greece, where the minimum
wage was cut by 14% during this period.
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NERI has made the point that minimum wages
(whether adjusted or not for prices) are not an ideal
measure of labour cost competitiveness as many ‘high
pay’ countries that do not have statutory minimum
wages do have de facto minimum wages. Furthermore,
minimum wages do not include other labour costs such
as social insurance. In this regard it is worth noting,
as the European Commission has done, that employ-
ers’ social contributions in Ireland are less than half
the EU average. 

Future prospects
NERI projects average hourly earnings to increase by
0.9% in 2015 and by 1.5% in 2016. The economy-wide
growth in earnings will depend on the changing com-
position of employment across the economy. The still
high rate of unemployment (forecast to average just
below 9% in 2016) combined with the absence of sig-
nificant inflationary pressure and weak labour demand
should continue to dampen the growth in average
hourly earnings across the economy. Earnings growth
will vary between sectors, reflecting sectoral differ-
ences in the tightness of labour supply. Should unem-
ployment continue to fall, as is currently forecast,
average hourly earnings should begin to rise from
2016 onwards, and should pick up momentum in
2017.

References:
European Commission (2015) Country Report Ireland
2015, SWD (2015) 27 final.

Eurostat (2012). One out of six employees in the EU27
was a low-wage earner in 2010. 

Eurostat (2015) National minimum wages in the EU 
(February 2015).

NERI (2015). Quarterly Economic Observer – Spring
2015. Dublin, NERI.
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Improved Terms & Conditions of Employment (Non-Pay)
Division Employment Details

Health Midland Reg Hosp, Portlaoise Allowance provided for radiographers who provide extended day 
service from 8am to 6pm agreed.

Health HSE Rate for sleepover increased from €3.37 to €8.65 per hour 
involving in excess of 4,500 workers in the Health Service.

Manufacturing Baxters, Castlebar & Swinford Improved annual leave for weekend workers - for every 40 
(8-hour) days that a weekend worker does as overtime, they will 
now receive one 12-hour day’s additional annual leave.

Manufacturing Kildare Chilling Improved hourly rates and overtime payments for agency workers 
achieved.

Manufacturing Kingspan, Kingscourt, Cavan Compensation for non-payment of 2009 Bonus - payment of €800 
agreed.

Manufacturing Covidien, Tullamore Improved Christmas bonus.

Manufacturing Covidien, Athlone Increase in Christmas voucher from €100 to €200.

Manufacturing Astellas, Killorglin Compensation for permanent loss of shift agreed.

Manufacturing Diageo Guinness Pay-for-Performance cash bonus paid this year.

Manufacturing Coca Cola HBC Irl Lump sum tax-efficient voucher of €250 paid in December 2013.

Manufacturing Rexam, Drogheda In lieu of a pay increase for 2014, members accepted a payment 
of €250 Christmas voucher 2013 and €250 voucher on 17th March.

Manufacturing Commscope Shift premium improved from 23% to 25%.

Manufacturing Dosco Ltd Christmas voucher increased to €50.

Manufacturing Nestle/Pfizer, Askeaton 1 extra day's annual leave.

Manufacturing Organic Lens, Ennis Christmas bonus payment increased by €140 to €250.

Manufacturing Connacht Gold Christmas bonus increased to max permissible Revenue 
limit of €250.

Manufacturing Shannonvale, Clonakilty €125 and €200 Christmas tax-free vouchers agreed for 2013 and 
2014 respectively.

Manufacturing Coca Cola HBC Irl Goodwill payment €250 voucher in December 2013.

Manufacturing Lee Strand Lunch allowance increased from €11.74 per day to €13.71 per day. 

Manufacturing Heineken Ireland Improved bonus agreed.

Manufacturing Liebherr Container Cranes, Killarney Service leave and shift premium improved.

Manufacturing Aurivo Co-Op (formerly Connacht Gold) Bonus increased to max permissible by Revenue Commissioners 
(€250).

Public Admin & Community Scamps & Scholars, Killorglin Reinstatement of incremental pay scales achieved after a 
1-year freeze.

Changes in Sick Pay Schemes and

other Working Conditions 2013-2014
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Division Employment Details

Manufacturing Athlone Extrusions Sick Pay Scheme signed off - contributory scheme.

Manufacturing Sulzer ABS Pumps, Wexford Enhanced Sick Pay Scheme achieved.

Public Admin & Community De La Salle, Waterford Improved Sick Pay and new Pension Scheme agreed.

Public Admin & Community Newtown School, Waterford New Sick Pay Scheme giving 3 months full pay and 3 months 
half in 4 years.

Services Ballymun Credit Union Sick Pay Scheme of 6 wks in 1 year introduced.

Utilities & Construction Hamilton Sundstrand, Shannon Improved Pension: company will contribute up to 5% to 
defined contribution scheme (was 3%).

Utilities & Construction Hamilton Sundstrand, Shannon Improvement in Sick Pay Scheme: 75% gross basic pay before 
deductions, less SW, for 15 days (3 weeks), then 90% for 35 
days (7 weeks).

Utilities & Const Centrica (BG Energy) Introduction of a DB Pension Scheme for employees who 
transferred from Bord Gáis.

Improved Terms & Conditions of Employment (Non-Pay) (continued)

Services                               Stobart                                                     Reinstatement of payment of lunch allowances for the non-CB 
                                                                                                           Group secured; also bonus payments and incorrect application 
                                                                                                           of Public Holiday payments for ex DHL drivers reinstated.

Services                               Ballymun Credit Union                              Additional 2 days annual leave.

Services                               Bar Council                                              1.5% lump sum in lieu of increments, plus 1 additional day's 
                                                                                                           annual leave for 2013.

Services                               Debenhams                                              Improvements deal included increment move, increase to 
                                                                                                           staff discount and undertaking to allocate extra Christmas 
                                                                                                           hours to existing staff before recruiting Christmas temps. 

Utilities & Construction         Veolia                                                       New rosters provided additional rest days to drivers and 
                                                                                                           Revenue Protection Officers and Supervisors.

Utilities & Construction         Veolia Transport                                       Improved Drivers' Rosters/Duties in place since 8th April 2013; 
                                                                                                           3% pay rise for Traffic Supervisors plus introduction of Shift 
                                                                                                           Leader Allowance.

Utilities & Construction         Emerald Star Lines,                                  3% pay increase, 4 additional days annual leave and 
                                           Carrick-on-Shannon                                  introduction of new on-call roster.

Utilities & Construction         O'Reilly Concrete Ltd                                2% pay increase from Jan 2014, leaving one more phase (4%) 
                                                                                                           to be applied in Jan 2015 in order to restore the full 10% pay 
                                                                                                           cut imposed in 2010.

Utilities & Construction         Bord na Móna, Parklands                         Improved pay, hours, weekend cover and pension contributions 
                                                                                                           achieved for Tour Guides.

Division Employment Details 

Improvements to Sick Pay & Pension Schemes
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Redundancies, Short Time Working & Lay Offs
Division Employment Details 

Manufacturing Kingspan, Kingscourt, Cavan The Company placed 15 to 20 workers on lay-off recently, but 
afterdiscussions with this union they were placed on 
working 5 out of 10 days a fortnight, it also envisaged that 
they will return to full time work by the end of April.

Manufacturing Quality Plastics Members currently in fourth year of short time working.

Manufacturing DIS Enbi Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Electronic Concepts Europe Members on short-time working (3-day week).

Manufacturing Irish Driver Harris Wexford has a history over the years of short-time working. Once 
again they have entered another period of short-time. 

Manufacturing Hasbro, Waterford Hasbro in Waterford are commencing a six week period of short-time.

Manufacturing MSD Rathdrum Company to cease operation at end 2015. All of our members (75) 
to lose their jobs along with another 200 workers on the site.

Manufacturing Covidien, Athlone 80 redundancies.

Manufacturing Abbott, Ballytivnan 140 redundancies by end of March 2013.

Manufacturing Dunbia Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Wesley Scott Contractors 1 voluntary redundancy, 6 on lay-off and 3-day week. 

Manufacturing Coca Cola HBC Irl 55 voluntary redundancies agreed.

Manufacturing Kerry Foods, Carrickmacross Members on 3-day week.

Manufacturing H J Nolan Members on 3-day week.

Manufacturing Glanbia, Fonthill 10 voluntary redundancies.

Manufacturing Balcas Short-time working for a 12 week period. 

Manufacturing Gypsum, Parkwest, Dublin Member made redundant on agreed package.

Manufacturing Pinewood, Clonmel 20 temporary workers on lay-off.

Manufacturing Teleflex, Limerick Members took 6 days off through annual leave 
and unpaid due to downturn in sales.

Manufacturing Mutares, Clonmel Members on temporary lay-off.

Manufacturing DIS Enbi Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Apple Computers, Cork 367 temporary employees on lay-off. 

Manufacturing Kirchoff 4 redundancies.

Manufacturing Fleetwood Paints, Virginia 8 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Wesley Scott 4 members on lay-off and 3 on 3-day week working.

Manufacturing Cootehill Co-Op Poultry 10 members on lay-off.

Manufacturing Kerry Foods, Carrickmacross Members on 3-day week.

Manufacturing Dunnes Seafare Ltd Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Henry Good, Kinsale Company closed with the loss of 50 jobs.
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Redundancies, Short Time & Lay Offs (continued)

Division Employment Details 

Manufacturing ITW Hi-Cone, Mallow Company closed with the loss of 50 jobs.

Manufacturing Dunbia, Kilbeggan Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Oldcaste Co-Op 1 redundancy.

Manufacturing Suir Pharma (Stada), Clonmel Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Tanco, Bagenalstown, Carlow 2 members on lay-off. 

Manufacturing Akzonobel, Dulux, Cork 3 redundancies. 

Manufacturing Graepel, Kinsale Members on lay-off - one week out of five.

Manufacturing Elastometal Members on short-time working and 3 redundancies.

Manufacturing John Player & Son 18 redundancies.

Manufacturing P J Carroll 1 member made redundant.

Manufacturing Pfizer, Pottery Road 42 redundancies

Manufacturing Dawn Dairies, Killarney 38 voluntary redundancies @ 3.75 wks pys + SE.

Manufacturing Lund International 6 members on lay-off.

Manufacturing Geith Int, Slane All manufacturing employees on short-time working

Manufacturing Trulife Members on short-time working (4-day week).

Manufacturing Yves Rocher, Cork 41 temporary contract members on lay-off.

Manufacturing Dominos Pizza, Naas 1 Team Leader opted for voluntary redundancy.

Manufacturing Old Town Bakery, Callan 8 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Kildorough Mushrooms 1 redundancy agreed

Manufacturing Draus & Naimer Short-time working introduced up to end of January 2014.

Manufacturing Lund Int, Athlone 5 members on lay-off.

Manufacturing Geith Int, Slane All members on short-time working (3-day weeks). 

Manufacturing Waterford Carpets Members on 2 weeks on, two weeks off system.

Manufacturing Pfizer, Pottery Road 45 redundancies by December 2013.

Manufacturing Glanbia, Ballytore, Kildare 19 members voluntarily made redundant.

Manufacturing Hasbro, Waterford 5 redundancies.

Manufacturing Abbott, Sligo 12 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Glanbia, Ballyragget 5 members made voluntarily redundant. 

Manufacturing Taravale, Naas Members on short-time working - 3 day week x 12 hours.

Manufacturing Munster Proteins, Tipperary 2 voluntary redundancies.

Manufacturing Anderson 166 members made redundant. 

Manufacturing Pfizer, Newbridge 50 voluntary redundancies.

Manufacturing Kraus & Naimer, Shannon Plant in Shannon closed with the loss of 42 members.

SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014
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Redundancies, Short Time & Lay Offs (continued)

Division Employment Details 

Manufacturing Waterford Carpets Members on 2 weeks on/2 weeks off short-time system 
moved to week on/week off.

Manufacturing Geith Int, Slane All SIPTU members on short-time working - 3-day week.

Manufacturing Aurivo Co-Op (formerly Connacht Gold) 3 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Sligo Dairies 6 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Novartis, Ringaskiddy 10 temporary members made redundant.

Manufacturing House of Donohue (Bottling), Waterford Short-time working here – one week in every four as a 
lay-off period.

Manufacturing Unilever 3 redundancies in June.

Manufacturing Mondelez Sales 17 voluntary redundancies.

Manufacturing Clona Dairies, Cork 4 redundancies.

Manufacturing Kerry Foods, Shillelagh 63 voluntary redundancies.

Manufacturing Honeywell Measurex, Waterford Company closed - all members made redundant.

Manufacturing Allsop Europe 5 redundancies.

Manufacturing Basta, Sligo 10 redundancies. 

Manufacturing Kraus & Naimer, Shannon 42 members redundant.

Manufacturing Bausch & Lombe, Waterford 139 redundancies @ 4 wks pys + SE (max 2.25 yrs salary).

Manufacturing Irish Distillers 18 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Unilever Irl 3 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Aurivo Co Op 29 members made redundant. 

Manufacturing Kerry Foods Sligo & Monaghan (Dist Depots) 8 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Unilever 3 members made redundant (without engagement with union).

Manufacturing Bausch & Lombe, Waterford 150 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Edward Dillons 1 member made redundant.

Manufacturing Coca Cola 3 members opted for Voluntary Redundancy.

Manufacturing Rexah, Drogheda, Co Louth 70 jobs lost as a result of closure of plant.

Manufacturing Lund Int, Athlone 9 members on lay-off.

Manufacturing Electronic Concepts Europe, Galway Company on week on/week off working.

Manufacturing Kirchoff, Donegal 5 redundancies.

Manufacturing ENBI, Portlaoise Company closed and all members made redundant.

Manufacturing Wexford Creamery (Glanbia) 10 redundancies here due to closure of Liquid Milk Plant.

Manufacturing Kerry Spring Water Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Kerry Food (Van Sales) 44 redundancies from depots in Tralee, Dublin, Monaghan, 
Waterford, Galway, Limerick, Sligo and Cork.

Manufacturing Mondelez Sales After 19 redundancies last year, a further 5 redundancies.
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Redundancies, Short Time & Lay Offs (continued)

Manufacturing Travale Foods, Naas Company on short time working (3-day, 12 hour shifts).

Manufacturing Kerry Foods & Monaghan (Distrib) 2 redundancies in Monaghan and 6 in Sligo.

Manufacturing Yves Rocher, Cork 28 members made redundant.

Manufacturing Commercial Mushroom Producers 1 redundancy.

Manufacturing Feldhues Foods Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Waterford Carpets Members on short-time working.

Manufacturing Novum Overseas Members on temporary lay-off.

Manufacturing Electronic Concepts Europe Members on week on/week off short time working.

Manufacturing Rettig 4 redundancies.

Manufacturing Arkopharma, Waterford 2 redundancies. 

Public Admin & Community Rainbow Childcare 1 member made redundant.

Public Admin & Community Wexford Local Development 1 member opted for voluntary redundancy.

Public Admin & Community The Donkey Sanctuary Welfare Officer members made redundant.

Public Admin & Community Ages & Stages Creche Members made redundant due to closure of Creche.

Public Admin & Community Society of St Vincent De Paul 2 members made redundant.

Public Admin & Community Sth Kerry Dev Partnership 2 Rural Development Officer members made redundant.

Public Admin & Community Newbury House Childcare 3 compulsory redundancies.

Services IMC, Dun Laoghaire/Galway 5 projectionists made redundant on severance terms 
of 2.5 wks pys + SE.

Services Print & Display 3 voluntary redundancies.

Services Multiprint Members on short-time working: 2 printers every 5 weeks, 
working one week on/one week off.

Services Arklow Golf Club Members on 3-day week.

Services Clerys 1 voluntary redundancy @ 1 wk pys + SE.

Services Killarney Golf Club 17 redundancies.

Services ALSAA Bar staff on 3-day week.

Services Mitie, Diageo Sites 40 redundancies of contract cleaners and security officers.

Services Chubb CIT 30 members made redundant.

Services G4S CIT 30 voluntary redundancies.

Services Clerys, Dublin Members on temporary lay off due to storm damage.
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Redundancies, Short Time & Lay Offs (continued)

Services Easons, Drogheda 7 redundancies as a result of closure of Drogheda store.

Services ALSAA Members on 3-day week.

Services Grosvenor Cleaning 6 members made redundant following closure of Mullingar shop.

Services Aramark - Kilkenny Brewing site 6 members made redundant.

Services Compass Catering, Clonmel 5 redundancies.

Services Sodexo 2 redundancies.

Services ISS Baxters, Swinford Members on 3-day week.

Services Easons 17 redundancies.

Services Texoil, Galway Members on a 3-day week.

Services Topaz Members on a 3-day week.

Services Noonans, UHL 1 redundancy.

Services Noonans, Dungarvan S C 1 redundancy.

Services Hodges Figgis 3 members made compulsorily redundant.

Services Arklow Golf Club 2 redundancies.

Services G4S 1 redundancy.

Services Imperial Hotel 3 members made redundant.

Services Ladbrokes 8 members made redundant.

Services Aramark Members on short-time working following TUPE from Compass.

Services Easons 4 members made redundant.

Utilities & Construction Coillte 3 voluntary redundancies @ 3 wks pys + SE (3-year cap).

Utilities & Construction Erin Peats 4 compulsory redundancies.

Utilities & Construction Servisair, Shannon 12 compulsory redundancies @ 2 wks pys + SE.

Utilities & Construction Irish Industrial Explosives 1 member made redundant - 6 wks pys + SE (capped at
€65,000).

Utilities & Construction Priority Drilling Company operating week on/week off short-time working.

Utilities & Construction Cemex Members made redundant.

Division Employment Details 
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Rationalisation/Restructuring Agreements

Manufacturing Glanbia Restructuring of van sales routes brought about buy-out 
formula of 1.5 loss of earnings to apply.

Manufacturing Britvic, Kylemore LCR 20449 recommended that terms and conditions of 
employment pertaining to 13 long-term casual members be
restored to their former T&Cs with full retrospection backdated 
to September 2012.

Manufacturing Murphy & O'Connor, Bantry Restructuring resulted in 1 redundancy.

Manufacturing ITW Crop, Gorey Voucher €250 in return for bringing maternity leave back into 
line with statutory entitlements.

Manufacturing Brett Bros Premium of 28% agreed for removal of 5 over 6 day working 
payment.

Public Admin & Newtown School, Waterford 5% pay cut under FEMPI - 2 years later than the due date.
Community

Public Admin & De La Salle, Waterford 7% pay cut (5% FEMPI plus additional 2%) applied.
Community

Services Brandon Hotel Members on lay-off due to downturn in business.

Services Easons, Drogheda Agreement reached on foregoing payment of 53rd week - 
Christmas Bonus for 2014 and 2015 on the basis of payment
of the outstanding 2013 Christmas bonus.

Utilities & Construction Calor Gas Annualised hours system introduced based on 48-hour 
week and 5-over-7 roster, with the threat of outsourcing 
removed.

Division Employment Details 
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Pay/Cost-of-Living Increases for Divisions other than Manufacturing*

Health Mowlam Healthcare 2% increase in rates of pay for household staff and care staff.

Services Ericssons, Athlone 2% pay increase.

Services Ballymun Credit Union 17% pay increase for those earning less than €14 per hour, 
2 extra days annual leave and introduction of sick pay scheme 
of 6 wks p.a.

Services Arnotts 2% pay increase.

Services Kraft Contract 2% pay increase agreed.

Services Dublin Street Parking Services 2.5% pay increase agreed.

Services TNT 1% pay increase from January and 0.5% in April 2014 agreed.

Services Conrad Hotel 1.2% pay rise applied prior to claim being made by SIPTU.

Services RTÉ Credit Union 2% pay increase paid with one year's retrospection.

Services AXA Increase ranging from 1.5% to 3% depending on existing salary 
and grading.

Services Bar Council Increases of between 1% and 3% depending on increments.

Services Ericssons, Athlone Performance based pay resulted in an amount equivalent to 4% in 
Athlone and 1.6% in Dublin being distributed to members.

Services DHL Supply Chain Irl Ltd Increases of between 1% and 2% with new pay rates achieved.

Services Pennys 3% increase achieved.

Services Athlone IT (Clean/Security) 3% increase in basic pay achieved.

Services BOC Gases 2% pay increase from 1 January 2014 for 19 months.

Services Finnings Irl 2.25% increase for 2015; and 2.5% for 2016 for 2 years agreed.

Services Martin Brower 2.5% pay increase from January 2015 for 12 months.

Services Toyota Services Logistics Irl 2% pay increase for 12 months from January 2014.

Utilities & Construction O'Reilly Concrete Ltd 2% increase from 1st January 2013.

Utilities & Construction Hamilton Sundstrand, Shannon 2.3% pay increase from 1 January 2013.

Utilities & Construction O'Reilly Concrete 2nd phase 2% increase of 4-year agreement applied with retrospection.

Utilities & Construction Graingers Sawmills 1.5% pay increase applied as 2nd phase of agreement. 

Utilities & Construction Fenit Dockers 3-5% pay increase achieved.

Utilities & Construction Calor Gas Pay deal gave 6% in two phases - 3% each, for 3 years, lower 
paid to get 8%. Plus vouchers of €250 in April 2014 and Jan 2015.

Utilities & Construction Hogans Concrete 2.5% increase achieved with retrospection to 1 December 2013.

Utilities & Construction Hamilton Sundstrand, Shannon 2.5% increase achieved alone with increase in service days for long 
service in the year of the award.

Utilities & Construction Lisheen Mine 2% pay increase for 12 months up to 31 March 2015 when the 
mine is scheduled to close.

Division Employment Details 



DIVISION/SECTOR SECTION ISSUE IN DISPUTE APPROVED BY

Public Admin & Community – Sfadco Failure of employer to give specific guarantees as Patricia King,
State Related sought by union in letter of 21 November 2012 Vice President

relating to break-up of company. January

Utilities & Construction – Bus Éireann Galway, 3 members had their hours cut and suffered Jack O'Connor,
Transport School Bus Drivers loss of earnings. A case was pursued for the General President

restoration of hours through new agreed procedures January
and loss of earnings in school year 2011/12 was 
secured. In a case to have the hours of work
restored, no decision was made in the workers favour.

Utilities & Construction - Bus Eireann (excl. School Bus Dispute in relation to company's plans to arbitrarily Jack O'Connor,
Transport Drivers). impose changes on members impose General President 

without utilising all procedures. January

Services - Hallmark Cards Company's unilateral implementation of pay for performance Patricia King
Wholesale & Retail Distribution without agreement with SIPTU and decision to divide sales Vice President
& Related force between north & south of border to circumvent January

mechanisms of State for disputes resolution despite single
Irish contract of employment.

Services - Johnson Brothers Outsourcing of warehouse operation to DHL; Patricia King,
Wholesale & Retail refusal to use Tupe; and redundancy Vice President
Distribution & Related terms or redeployment not agreed as yet. January

Services - Bcd Travel Company are closing their Tralee operation as part Patricia King,
Arts & Culture of restructuring to retain contract with Kerry group. Vice President 

They do not recognise union and are only paying statutory March
redundancy. Dispute is essentially to achieve better
redundancy terms.

Public Admin & Community – Newtown School Employer has instituted compulsory redundancies. Patricia King,
Education Vice President

April
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Pay/Cost-of-Living Increases for Divisions 
other than Manufacturing* (continued)

Utilities & Construction Warrenpoint Harbour Authority 5% pay increase over 2 years. First 2.5% backdated to 
1 January 2014.

Utilities & Construction Glennons 2% increase from 1 July 2014 for 2.5 year period.

Utilities & Construction Murray Timber 2% increase from 1 August 2014 for 12 months.

Utilities & Construction Stone Developments Ltd 11% pay increase achieved, plus an extra day's holidays and 
a service pay scheme. This makes up for the serious pay cuts 
suffered throughout the economic downturn.

Utilities & Construction Tara Mines New Boliden Increase of 1.5% in basic pay from June 2014.

Utilities & Construction Mainport (Pearl) 6% pay increase over 2 years, 3% per year, backdated to 
January 2014.

*Manufacturing Division increases listed under the Divisional Report

Division Employment Details 

Disputes Sanctioned in 2013
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Disputes Sanctioned in 2013 (continued)

DIVISION/SECTOR SECTION ISSUE IN DISPUTE APPROVED BY

Services – Killarney Golf & Fishing Management proceeding with compulsory redundancies Patricia King,
Hotels, Catering, Arts, without agreement, and prior to further Labour Court Vice President
Entertainment & Related hearing scheduled for 29 April. April

Utilities & Construction ICDS Constructors Ltd Refusal of company to meaningfully address the terms Jack O'Connor,
Construction and conditions of members. General President

April

Health – Ambulance Townsend St Ambulance Centre National plan to reconfigure Ambulance Control Centres Patricia King,
to have two in Ballyshannon and Tallaght. Vice President

May

Health - Dublin Health Beaumont Hospital Proposal to outsource security work and redeploy security Patricia King,
staff into porter department as of 31 May 2013. Vice President

May

Manufacturing – Milne Foods Ltd Company's refusal to engage as recommended by the Patricia King,
Agriculture, Ingredients, Labour Court in LCR 20480. Vice President
Food & Drink May

Services - St Colmcille's Kells Credit Union Ltd Union recognition, as recommended by LCR 20520. Patricia King,
Insurance & Finance, Vice President 
Print & Media and Related June

Health - Support Grades M.W.R.H., Dooradoyle, Porters Employer is attempting to effect change without discussion Patricia King,
and agreement. Also utilising third party contractors Vice President 
to carry out portering functions without any discussion/ July
agreement and in breach of the PSA.

Public Admin & Community – Tyndall Institute Pay inequity as compared to their Patricia King,
Education colleagues in the same or similar Vice President

work on the main campus of UCC. July

Public Admin & Community - St Joseph's National School Refusal to recognise/negotiate with SIPTU. Patricia King,
Education Vice President

July

Utilities & Construction - Dublin Bus Company introducing terms of LCR 20544 although Jack O'Connor,
Transport they were rejected by the members. General President 

July

Services - Blakes Pharmacy Ltd Company's unilateral implementation of changes to terms Jack O'Connor, 
Wholesale & Retail Distribution & conditions without agreement and refusal to engage in General President

mechanisms for dispute resolution. August

Services - Byrnes Pharmacy Ltd Company's unilateral implementation of changes to terms & Jack O'Connor,
Wholesale & Retail Distribution conditions without agreement and refusal to engage in General President

mechanisms for dispute resolution. August

Services - Crowley's Pharmacy Ltd Company's unilateral implementation of changes to terms & Jack O'Connor, 
Wholesale & Retail Distribution conditions without agreement and refusal to engage in General President

mechanisms for dispute resolution. August

Services - O'Rourkes Pharmacy Ltd Company's unilateral implementation of changes to terms & Jack O'Connor 
Wholesale & Retail Distribution conditions without agreement and refusal to engage in General President 

mechanisms for dispute resolution. August

Services - Marks & Spencer Irl Ltd Decision to close 4 stores without having meaningfully Jack O'Connor,
Wholesale & Retail Distribution engaged with union on compulsory redundancies. General President

August
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Disputes Sanctioned in 2013 (continued)

DIVISION/SECTOR SECTION ISSUE IN DISPUTE APPROVED BY

Services - Security & Cleaning ISS Ireland Ltd Company lost contract to provide security; cannot confirm Patricia King, 
that Tupe will apply; and have no alternative Vice President
employment for our members. New contractor advised August
that Tupe will not apply but that our members may become
'new employees'. 

Health - Tallaght, Adelaide & Meath Hospital Breach of roster from 5 over 5 to 5 over 7 day working in Patricia King,
Support (Portering) Staff Theatre (to cover sick leave). Vice President

September

Services - McAllister's Garage Unilateral changes implemented to members' terms and Patricia King,
Wholesale & Retail Distribution conditions employment. Vice President

September

Utilities & Construction - Servisair, Shannon Implementation of LCR 20505. Jack O'Connor,
Aviation General President 

October

Public Admin & Community – National College of Ireland Employer agreed to end pay freeze, pension freeze and Patricia King,
Education negotiate restoration of increments on expiry of Vice President

agreement with SIPTU. Now withholding all 3 elements. October

Manufacturing - UCB Manufacturing Irl Company removed cover shift fitter (CSF) role - without Patricia King,
Pharmaceuticals agreement from 30 Sept and without adherence Vice President

to plant disputes procedures. November

Manufacturing - Liebherr Container Cranes Non-payment of wage claim from 1/1/2009. Patricia King,
Electronics & Engineering Vice President 

November

Utilities & Construction - Woodfab Timber Ltd The company refuse to honour a Labour Court Jack O'Connor,
Construction Recommendation. General President

November

Public Admin & Community – UCC Student Exams & Pressure to desist from threat to outsource replacement Patricia King,
Education Records Section of student smart cards. Vice President

November

Utilities & Construction – ESB Unilateral changes to description of pension scheme from Jack O'Connor,
Energy DB to DC in ESB accounts 2011-2013. Unilateral declaration General President 

not to fund future deficits in any circumstances whatsoever. November

Services - Marks & Spencer Irl Ltd Decision by company to unilaterally close off defined benefit Patricia King,
Wholesale & Retail Distribution pension scheme without agreement with union. Vice President 

November

Services - Resource Facilities Services Ltd Company unilaterally cut members' Sunday premium - Patricia King,
Security & Cleaning Company wanted to reduce from double-time to t+1/3rd. Vice President

December
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DIVISION/SECTOR SECTION ISSUE IN DISPUTE APPROVED BY

Utilities & Construction - Shannon Aerospace Company closed its DB pension scheme Jack O’Connor, 
Aviation although it is fully funded to 107% and the General President

company is profitable. February

Services – Dublin Street Parking Services 2.5% pay claim. Patricia King,
Wholesale & Retail Distribution Vice President

March

Services – Premium Cleaning & Compulsory dismissal of 10 members due Patricia King,
Security & Contract Cleaning/ Facility Services to failure to apply IS 131/2003 Tupe. Vice President
Insurance & Finance March

Health – Louth/Meath Hospital Outsourcing of laundry services. Patricia King,
Support Grades Group (HSE) Vice President

April

Manufacturing – Suir Pharma Irl Company's intention to unilaterally impose Patricia King,
Pharmaceutical, Chemicals & changes to terms & conditions of our members Vice President 
Medical Devices from 5th May 2014. April

Public Admin & Community – Northern Ireland District Councils Worsening of members’ terms & conditions. Patricia King,
Local Authorities (NI ASID system differs from ROI). Vice President

April

Public Admin & Community –            National Gallery of Ireland                Management's decision to implement a Labour Court        Patricia King,
State Related                                                                                          Recommendation that would see members                  Vice President
                                                                                                               lose 7 days' annual leave. Our members balloted        April
                                                                                                               to reject the Recommendation.

Health –                                           Cheshire Homes                               Employer threatening to radically reduce terms and      Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                        conditions from 1st June without agreement, and to     Vice President
                                                                                                               reduce pension payment for 1 year from 7% to 1%.      May
                                                                                                               
Manufacturing –                               Brystol Myers Squibb                       Closure of defined benefit pension scheme to future     Patricia King,
Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals &         (BMS/Swords)                                  accruals from 31/05/2014.                                            Vice President
Medical Devices                                                                                                                                                                          May

Public Admin & Community –            The Donkey Sanctuary                     Organisation making welfare staff redundant.               Patricia King, 
S Community                                                                                           Refusing to engage with union and refused                  Vice President 
                                                                                                               invitation from LRC to attend conciliation                      May
                                                                                                               conference.

Public Admin & Community –            South Dublin Co Co                          Management refuse to consider regularisation of         Patricia King,
State Related                                                                                           long-term acting posts & have returned                       Vice President 
                                                                                                               2 of 3 members to substantive grade after                   May
                                                                                                               11 continuous years.                                                    

Services –                                        Noonan Services Group Ltd              Noonans have imposed unilaterally a new                   Patricia King,
Security & Contract Cleaning                                                                    work practice for security guard members by way        Vice President
                                                                                                               of contract cleaning detail without agreement              May
                                                                                                               with union.

Utilities & Construction –                  Roadstone Woods Ltd                      Payment of bonus.                                                       Jack O’Connor,
Construction                                                                                                                                                                                General President
                                                                                                                                                                                                   May

Public Admin & Community –            Muckross House, Killarney               The employer's consistent refusal to engage               Patricia King,
Local Authority                                                                                        meaningfully, or at all, regarding members' terms        Vice President
                                                                                                               & conditions of employment with reference to the        June
                                                                                                               Public Service Agreement-Haddington Road 
                                                                                                               Agreement, 2013-2016.

Disputes Sanctioned in 2014 
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Utilities & Construction –                  Irish Rail                                      Rejection of LCR 20741 on cost containment                   Jack O’Connor,
Transport                                                                                             in Irish Rail.                                                                      General President
                                                                                                                                                                                                   June

Utilities & Construction –                  Bord na Móna                              Introduction of new PBR system resulting in a                  Jack O’Connor,
Energy                                                                                                           substantial loss of earnings and an increased                        General President 
                                                                                                                      workload.                                                                                   June

Manufacturing –                                    Suir Pharma Ireland                         After rejection of Labour Court Recommendation by our          Patricia King,
Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals &                                                                      members, the company informed them that they were             Vice President
Medical Devices                                                                                             unilaterally imposing a 7% basic gross pay reduction               July
                                                                                                                      plus the removal of bonuses.

Public Admin & Community -                Longford Co Co                                The manner in which a senior executive planner vacancy        Patricia King, 
Local Authorities                                                                                            is being filled.                                                                            Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        July

Public Admin & Community –                Cistercian College, Roscrea            Employer is intending to transfer all catering & cleaning          Patricia King,
Education                                                                                                       staff to a private contractor.                                                       Vice President 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        July

Manufacturing –                                    Brystol Myers Squib –                     Rejection of LCR 20818 re proposed closure of defined          Jack O’Connor,
Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals                Swords, Labs                                   contribution pension scheme.                                                   General President
& Medical Devices                                                                                                                                                                                           August

Health –                                                 Beaumont Hospital                           1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Health –                                                 Mater Hospital                                  1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Health –                                                 National Maternity Hospital              1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Health –                                                 St Luke's Hospital                            1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Health –                                                 St Vincent's Hospital                        1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Health –                                                 Tallaght Hospital                               1) Misuse of staff intern programme;                                        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             2) Failure to agree support staff intern protocol.                       Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Public Admin & Community –                Adapt Kerry Ltd                               Changes to terms and conditions of employment without        Patricia King,
Community                                            (Women's Refuge)                           agreement.                                                                                Vice President 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        October

Public Admin & Community –                Dublin/Dun Laoire                            Staff (4) being ordered to relocate from Dun Laoghaire/           Patricia King,
Education/Ed                                        Train Board                                      Blackrock & Sallynoggin to Lucan & Templeogue -                  Vice President 
                                                                                                                      the terms of the HRA have not been complied with; and also      October
                                                                                                                      staff (2) working 4 hours per day would have a 3 to
                                                                                                                      3-and-a-half-hour round trip to work.

Utilities & Construction -                        Dublin Bus                                        Reduction/restructuring of night servicing operations.              Jack O’Connor,
Transport                                                                                                        Company implementing Labour Court Recommendation         General President
                                                                                                                      20825 without agreement.                                                         October

Manufacturing –                                    C & C Gleeson                                 Company unilaterally removed commission pay from sales     Patricia King,
Agri-Ingredients, Food & Drink                                                                      reps & imposed formula of compensation for period of 18        Vice President 
                                                                                                                      months, which has not been agreed or negotiated with the      November
                                                                                                                      union. Company does not recognise SIPTU.

Public Admin & Community –                Qqi Denzille Lane, Dublin                Refusal to implement LCR 20854.                                            Patricia King,
Education                                                                                                                                                                                                         Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        November

Health –                                                 Mill Street Comm Hosp, HSE Sth       Management's insistence on introduction of roster which        Patricia King,
Support Grades                                                                                             will have a negative financial effect on our members.               Vice President
                                                                                                                                                                                                                        December

DIVISION/SECTOR SECTION ISSUE IN DISPUTE APPROVED BY

Disputes Sanctioned in 2014 (continued)



51SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

Liberty Hall with the 1913 Lockout commemorative 
wrap in 2013. Photo: Photocall Ireland.
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Health Division

Biennial Delegate Conference

The SIPTU Health Divisional Biennial Conference, was
held on 16th October and 17th October 2014 in 
Liberty Hall, Dublin.

Sector                                      2013        2014

Ambulance                                  994        1,083

Allied Health Professionals       3,882        3,693

Support Grades                      29,470      29,891

Nurses and Midwives                4,613        4,308

                                             38,959      38,975

The Conference was addressed by:

Jack O’Connor, SIPTU General President

Joe O’Flynn, SIPTU General Secretary

Patricia King, SIPTU Vice President

Joe Cunningham, Head of Strategic Organising

Ethel Buckley, Head of National Campaigns and Equality

Guest Speakers:

Brendan Howlin, TD, Minister for Public Expenditure
and Reform.

Ged Nash, TD, Minister of State Department of 
Innovation and Jobs.

Billy Hayes, General Secretary, Communications 
Workers Union, UK.

Dr Mohammed Maqadma, Director, Field Medicine,
UNRWA, Gaza.

Gilberto Luis, General Secretary, Colombian Health
Workers’ Union.

Roger McKenzie, Organising Department, UNISON
UK, Organising Health Workers in the NHS.

Divisional Committee
Padraig Peyton (Division President)
Dermot Garett (Vice President)
Julie Bissett
Ann Burke
Anthony Gilligan
Brendan Fagan
Cathal Flood
Colette Regan
Joe Casey
Karena O’Brien
Marie Barry
Marion Kelly
Mary Curtin
Matt Reilly
Pat Lalor
Pat Lynch
Pat Murphy
Sally Vorr
Seamus Dillon
Sean MacGabhann

Support Staff Sector Committee
Broc Delaney (Sector President)
Gwen Flor Byrne (Vice President)
Peter Behan
Brian Condra
Jacqueline Cooke
Patrick Dingle
Michael Doherty
Mary Doyle
Kevin Doyle
Nellie Duffy
Liz Fahy
Martina Gilmartin
Damien Herlihy
Tom Keating
Jimmy Mackin
Willie McGuinness
Bernie Murphy
Denis Murphy
Marian O’Donnell
Willie O’Reilly
Dessie Reilly
Noel Ward
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Ambulance Sector Committee
Fintan Feerick (Sector President)
Siobhan Henry
Denis Kerin
Deborah Lacey
Pat Lynch
Greg Lyons
Frank Moran
Ciaran McCullagh
Brian O’Reilly
Ciaran Sheridan

Allied Health Professionals Sector Committee
Michelle Monahan (Sector President)
Brendan Fagan (Vice President)
Sally Corr
Marie Barry
David Noone
Gerard Noone
Colette Regan
Jonathan Woods

Nursing Sector Committee
Jim McGrath (Sector President)
Rebecca Donohoe (Vice President)
Anne Burke
Eamon Cluskey
George Cummins
Mary Durkin
Donie Doody
Dolores Fegan
Marie O’Donoghue

Standing Orders Committee
Dermot Garrett (Chairman)
Julie Bissett
Mary Curtin
Brendan Fagan
Tina O’Brien
Matt Reilly

National Executive Council
Broc Delaney
Padraig Heverin
Mary Dolan McLoughlin
Michelle Monahan
Lilly McConnon
Michael O’Sullivan

National Trustee
Padraig Heverin Staff Health Division

Divisional Organiser
Paul Bell

Sector Organisers
Marie Butler
Kevin Figgis
Tony Kenny
Sean Nolan

Industrial Organisers
Declan Ferry
Ted Kenny

Assistant Organisers
Liam Allen
David Field
Sandra Flanagan
Mark Lohan
Pat Flannery
Damien Ginley
John Hubbard
John McCamley
Dave Morris
Ray Stanley
Ben Weathers
Aideen Carberry
Ger Kennedy

Administrative Assistants
Mary Holmes
Celine O’Connor
Kathleen O’Shaughnessy
Mary Ogundipe
Laura Tucker

SIPTU support
grade staff.
Photo: Tommy
Clancy.
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SIPTU’s Health Division consists of four distinct sec-
tors catering for the broad spectrum of our members
serving our National Health Service:
• Ambulance Sector
• Allied Health Professional Sector
• Nursing Sector
• Support Staff Sector

During this period the division extended its work of or-
ganising members by creating a dedicated sector for
Health Care Assistants and related grades, and for
those working in Intellectual Disability.

The period was dominated by two major national bal-
lots on Public Service Stability initiated by the Fine
Gael/Labour Government in 2013.

The first attempt to reach agreement, under the um-
brella of the ICTU Public Service Committee, failed as
members of the SIPTU Health Division and other health
unions rejected proposals set out under Croke Park 2.
A return to the negotiating table achieved a national
agreement with sectoral negotiations securing some
movement on issues of concern to our members, es-
pecially in the area of protecting jobs and pay.

The agreement succeeded in ensuring members on low
and middle incomes did not suffer disproportionately
from concession bargaining under the new Public Serv-
ice Stability Agreement 2013-2016, (Haddington Road
Agreement). Our union leadership and members were
adamant that this would be the last such agreement.
With the assistance of the SIPTU Campaigns depart-
ment, the ‘Better Health Care Better Jobs’ campaign
continued and a ‘national conversation’ was organised
with shop stewards and activists throughout the coun-
try.

This ‘national conversation’ resulted in members set-
ting an agenda to recover lost pay and conditions. It
concentrated on job creation through the lifting of the
staff recruitment embargo and job protection by
strengthening the ‘External Service Delivery’ clause of
the Croke Park and Haddington Road Agreements.

The ‘Better Healthcare Better Jobs’ campaign gave
ownership of the recovery agenda to our shop stew-
ards and members which, in turn, empowered our Di-
vision in the creation of a strategic plan for future
public sector national negotiations. Our national con-
versation with members concentrated on political goals
in areas concerning pay justice and, in particular, the
rigid application of the Pension Levy (PRD) and the Uni-
versal Social Charge(USC). 

All the issues identified as core to our members were
endorsed by way of motions presented and debated at
the 2014 Health Division Biennial Delegate Conference.

The mandate complemented SIPTU’s overall recovery
agenda, aptly entitled ‘PROJECT 2015’.

With the continued reduction in health workers em-
ployed throughout the Health Service, including some
7,000 posts lost within a two year period, our col-
leagues in SIPTU Organising collaborated in creating
targeted Organising and Recruitment plans.

Up to year ending 2014 it had become obvious that
the Health Division membership had stabilised and
was beginning to show signs of modest growth.

Private health providers also sought to drive our mem-
bers pay and conditions down, initially by proposing to
break the existing pay link with the Public Sector.

Any short term gain from such an initiative would have
been short lived and our members in each major em-
ployment took the long term view and reaffirmed their
commitment to defending the established pay relation-
ship with their public sector comparators.

As the attrition of subscribers continued at an alarming
rate in the health insurance industry, with correspon-
ding rises in subscriptions, it was inevitable that at
least one of the major private Hospitals would cease
to exist. In January 2014 Mount Carmel Hospital in
Dublin closed its doors with the loss of 300 jobs. 
Liquidators took control of the business and facility.

It would be unfair to lay the blame for closure of the
hospital entirely at the door of the health insurers 
although they played their part. The problem was
losses due to property speculation that led to the 
handover of the facility to NAMA.

However SIPTU Health Division’s campaign to secure
employment for the redundant workers was success-
ful. All members eager to do so secured employment
in the HSE and Voluntary Hospital sector.

Our campaign to have Mount Carmel purchased by the
HSE also yielded a result with the hospital sold by
NAMA to the state for €11 million. The facility was orig-
inally sold to property developers for €60 million. 

Much of the Health Division’s daily work involved en-
gagement with the HSE and Voluntary Hospitals on is-
sues concerning implementation of the Croke Park and
Haddington Road agreements. All sectors in the Health
Division engaged with employers on issues concerning
payment of compensation, redeployment, recruitment,
the Support Staff Intern programme, recruitment and
other issues concerning the interpretation and imple-
mentation of the agreement.  
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Support Sector

Since our last report a number of significant develop-
ments have occurred in the Support Sector of our 
Division all of which have national implications and ap-
plication.

Home Helps
Home Helps employed by the HSE secured a landmark
Labour Court Recommendation in 2013 (LCR20312)
with the end of ZERO HOURS contracts for 10,000

members in the service.

Home Helps secured new permanent contracts with a
floor of basic hours which must be paid whether they

work or not.

Home Helps also won the right to be protected by the
Public Sector Agreement and any subsequent agree-
ment.

Sleepovers
As per the Haddington Road Agreement (HRA) mem-
bers employed in the Intellectual Disability Sector who
are contracted to work sleepover hours won the right
to have their long outstanding dispute heard on a 
collective basis by the Labour Court.

Following a protracted and frustrating set of engage-
ments with the HSE and Federation of Voluntary Bod-
ies, all issues at the centre of this dispute were
resolved. These covered payment for hours worked in
the Sleepover period, workers’ rights under the Euro-
pean Working Time Directive (EWTD), the phasing out
of Sleepovers and recruitment of staff to cover hours
left vacant as a consequence of Sleepover hours being
phased out.

It was also necessary to inform the EU Commission of
the failure of the Irish Government to comply with the
terms of the EWTD with regard to Care Workers em-
ployed for the Care of Children and those in charge of
caring for vulnerable citizens in the Intellectual Disabil-
ity services.

Subsequently, a Labour Court hearing was convened
in Autumn 2014 which resulted in LCR 20837. This
Labour Court recommendation awarded an hourly rate
of pay for Sleepover hours which replaced the “Sleep-
over Allowance”, which stood at €43.00 for an eight
hour period, with a minimum payment of €8.65 per
hour for sleeping periods of the night work, increasing
the Sleepover payment to €69.00.

This hourly payment excludes payment for members
who respond to the needs of clients during the night
whereby the normal hourly rate applies for night work.

The Labour Court recommendation also reaffirmed
that Sleepover time is working time as per several rul-

ings of the European Court of Justice, including Jaeger
and SIMAP. 

The HSE confirmed its acceptance of the Labour Court
Recommendation by way of Circular HSE HR
027/2014. This Circular confirmed that the new rate
applicable for Sleepover would be retrospective to Sep-
tember 18th 2014.

Health Care Assistants
In recognition of the evolving role of Health Care 
Assistants in the Irish and European Health Service,
SIPTU Health Division identified the need to work on
the creation of a HCA National Committee in the Health
Division.

This initiative adopted by the Health Division’s
Executive Council is aimed at delivering a focus on all
issues concerning Health Care Assistants and related
grades such as Care Assistants, Home Helps and
Multi Task Attendants.

The adopted aims of the HCA Sub Group centres on
recognition through the creation of a Registration 
System and re-evaluation of the responsibilities and
role of the HCA since its introduction in 2000,

Support Staff Intern Programme
Support Staff Interns were introduced in 2013 under
the terms of the Haddington Road Agreement. Initially
there were 1,000 posts. SIPTU Health Division
deemed it necessary to make a claim in 2014 for the
programme to cease as the objectives were not being
met. We sought to enter discussions on making all
Support personnel permanent on an agreed date.

This claim was in response to the announcement by
the Minister for Public Expenditure, Brendan Howlin, in
October 2014, that the 2015 Budget would end the
staff moratorium in the Health Service.

Our claim for permanency was also based on the fact
that Interns hired by the HSE were all qualified, mainly
in the HCA discipline and had no training requirement

as per the agreement reached under Haddington Road.

Communication and    

Campaigning

Following the success of the ‘Better Heath Care Better
Jobs’ campaign’s ‘national conversation’ in 2013 and
2014 it was deemed necessary to develop a dedicated
communication strategy for the Health Division using
website and social media communication platforms to
interact with members in real time.

This initiative became a reality in 2014 with the ap-
pointment of a website and social media professional
to the Health Division. 
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SIPTU nurses and midwives protesting at the head 
office of the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Ireland
in Blackrock, Dublin on Tuesday 18th November,
2014. Photo: Jim Weldon.
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This new communications strategy is yielding results
with increasing levels of interaction with members in
all Sectors of the Division.

We have also increased our level of contribution to Lib-
erty and Liberty Onine, thus using established commu-
nication resources to reach our members in their
workplace.

Our communications strategy has, with the support of
our Communications Department, created a greater
focus on producing dedicated information sheets and
posters targeting our message and information on is-
sues of specific interest to members in their work
grades.

An example of this was the fliers used to inform mem-
bers of the terms of the Haddington Road Agreement.

Ambulance National Sector 

Our membership has risen from 960 financial mem-
bers in 2013 to 1063 financial in 2014. Our member-
ship is growing year on year and our union continues
to engage locally, regionally and nationally on a huge
range of issues on behalf of all grades within the Am-
bulance Service.

We also met with the Joint Oireachtas Committee on
Health regarding the Ambulance Service, where our Di-
vision gave both a written and verbal submission. This
was aimed at allowing proper discussions to take
place on the need for a fully resourced ambulance
service in the interest of all our communities.

Our members demanded best international standards
to provide the best possible service to their communi-
ties and the public in general. Indeed, the reconfigura-
tion of hospital services throughout the country has
put greater demands on the service and the resources
required to run same.

Our members have made huge advances in upskilling
and have met the challenges with high professional
standards. The service requires proper funding and
staffing for all grades from government to keep this
standard up and continue to improve into the future.

The Ambulance service has three reviews going on at
present by HIQA, ‘an outside company Lightfoot’, and a
HSE Management review. The HIQA report was issued
in December 2014 with 12 recommendations and
brought clarity to a number of concerns raised by our
members over the years. The private company review
had the executive summary released but not the full re-
port. We have called for the release of the full report
and we are awaiting same. The HSE management 
review is at an early stage. No doubt these reviews
when all completed will create certain challenges for all
concerned.

We dealt with the following issues since our last 
conference:

•   Green hours where members work either over 156
hours or under depending on rosters over which
members have no control. We secured overtime
payments for hours over 156, but management is
seeking hours back if under 156 and this is going
to the Labour Court.

•   LEMT Panels; Nationally some movement is 
happening slowly with places been filled.

•   Loss of earnings  –Labour Court Recommendation
LCR20313 states that there has been a huge
amount of meetings about agreeing a process to
have the loss of earnings paid out to our members
under the PSA and HRA agreements.

•   Double time payment for ICO staff agreed.

•   Annualised hours talks continue on a system which
would work within the Ambulance Service.

•   Rapid response cars matter was referred to the
LRC. We are seeking a policy or protocol on the use
of same.

•   Practitioner deployment – numerous meetings have
taken place on this policy with nine drafts issued.
They are still ongoing.

•   National Transfer policy – a sub group was set up
to address this policy and progress was recorded
on same.

•   No non-implementation of Labour Court recommen-
dations 20456 and 20604, binding recommenda-
tions for control closures and patient transport
drivers. We advised management that we were bal-
loting for strike action due to the lack of progress.
With the help of the LRC and the oversight body we
eventually got management to agree a process to
implement the recommendations.

Allied Health Professionals

Sector

We would like to thank all of our activists throughout the
sector who have assisted and supported our members
over the past two years. In addition, a special thanks goes
to our national sector committee and the national radiog-
rapher and radiation therapist executive committee for
their continued commitment and support.

Standardisation of Annual Leave
Our sector pursued a national campaign arising from
the failure of the HSE to appropriately implement the
national circular pertaining to the standardisation of
annual leave for health professional grades. The re-
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vised allocation of annual leave was not being afforded
to some grades within radiography, radiation therapy
and clerical/admin grades. An agreement was
achieved, through the LRC, which addressed the im-
plementation of the circular (HSE 05/05A of 2009) in-
cluding retrospection.

In a similar, but separate case, agreement was also
reached through the LRC to implement the HSE circular
within the voluntary group of hospitals.

Privilege Days
As part of the national public service agreement within
health, traditional concession/privilege days were re-
turned to staff in locations which had traditionally re-
ceived them, subject to a limit of 32 days when
combined with annual leave as per the Minister’s de-
cision on ceilings for leave to be applied. In addition,
new staff/promotees would receive the traditional con-
cession/ privilege days subject to a limit of 30 days,
when combined with annual leave as per the Minister’s
decision on ceilings for leave to be applied. 

CORU
CORU is the regulator for specified health profession-
als within the service. They are currently opening reg-
istration boards for named professions which provide
a protected ‘grandparent’ period for staff already work-
ing within the system. Radiographers and radiation
therapists must be registered with CORU by the 31st
October 2015, or they will not be allowed to continue
working in either public or private settings. The annual
registration fee is currently €100 due to protections
provided within the public service agreement.

SIPTU has maintained close contact with the regulator
throughout this period and has regularly met with the
CEO receiving updates on progress by registration
boards for professions represented by our union.

LCR 20232 (Radiography)
This Labour Court recommendation is binding under
the terms of the public service agreement and pro-
vides for extended day working and revised payment
for on-call services within radiography. The savings ac-
crued from the implementation of the recommendation
were independently verified by Grant Thornton and
compensation payments approved by the Department
of Public Expenditure and Reform. SIPTU negotiated a
robust compensation process providing for initial pay-
ments to be made, followed by a national review of in-
dividual claims where members were dissatisfied with
the outcome of their personal claim and binding arbi-
tration through an agreed independent chairman.

Long Term Acting Haddington Road Agreement
A robust process to regularise long term actors was
agreed through the health specific commitments of the
public service agreement. As a result, the HSE con-

firmed that in excess of 4,000 staff received perma-
nency in the higher post they had held in an acting 
capacity.

Separately, a new system was put in place to provide
for temporary assignments to include payment on the
higher pay scale similar to the model used in the civil
service.

Taxation of Mileage
The HSE undertook a review of existing policy for the
payment of mileage to staff travelling to and from the
work place in cases of emergency. As a result, the ex-
isting policy was updated after advice was received
from the Revenue Commissioners. The national staff
panel of trade unions (including SIPTU) engaged
through this process to clarify any issues arising from
the advice received.

PRSI Misclassification
SIPTU engaged with the group of unions to address the
PRSI misclassification of some staff. The HSE commit-
ted to address any shortfall of PRSI not returned due
to the four year limit of the Department of Social Pro-
tection. 

St. Lukes Hospital (PRSI Misclassification)
SIPTU pursued a case in the Labour Court on behalf
of a small number of members within St Luke’s Hospi-
tal, Rathgar, Dublin, due to its failure to honour a pre-
vious commitment to offset any loss arising from the
misclassification of PRSI. The Labour Court upheld the
union’s claim and said the HSE must honour the com-
mitment made (LCR 20718).

Hospital Groups
In line with Government policy, the formation of hospi-
tal groups and community health organisations has
been slowly taking shape. It is expected that this work
will continue over the next number of years and will
form a major part of health service reorganisation.

National Recruitment Service
SIPTU has addressed a number of issues to the na-
tional recruitment service including members’ con-
cerns over the use of a national panel system. A
number of meetings took place at national level on the
concerns raised and a campaign for radiographers was
re-run due to issues arising.

Emergency Department
In line with Government policy, further closures of ac-
cident and emergency departments arose during
2013-2014. Arising from this, reorganisation of radi-
ography on-call services was necessary in some loca-
tions with hospitals moving to an off-site service (from
an on-site on-call system).
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March against the bank debt and 
austerity in Dublin on Saturday, 
9th February 2013. Photo: Jim Weldon.
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Public Analyst Laboratories
In line with LCR 20077, SIPTU has addressed pay
anomalies between the HSE public analyst laboratories
in Dublin, Cork and Galway. These are being pro-
gressed through direct negotiation with the HSE under
the auspices of the Labour Relations Commission.

Phlebotomy Training Course
SIPTU has raised at national level our concern at the
failure of the HSE to secure funding for the national
phlebotomy training course. This issue has been
raised over a number of years. Consistent issues arise
regarding guaranteed funding in 2013 and 2014. The
cost is approximately €150,000 per student for
around 60 phlebotomists each year. This process is
continuing.

Private Hospitals
There has been a lot of activity within private hospitals
over the implementation of the public service agree-
ment. The established pay link and restructuring of de-
fined pension schemes were the main issues. In
addition, it was with great sadness that the company
operating well-respected Mount Carmel Hospital was

liquidated and over 300 staff made redundant.

Radiation Therapy (LCR 20545)
The Labour Court issued recommendation LCR 20545
in order to provide for an extended day working and re-
vised payments for radiation therapy on-call. Currently,
members are working through the reference period re-
quired to calculate loss of earnings.

Holiday Premiums
SIPTU has pursued a claim through the Labour Rela-
tions Commission arising from the failure of the HSE,
in some regions, to use the correct national formula
for the calculation of holiday premia. In some locations
members may have payments reduced by up to 1/3
due to the incorrect formula being used. The formula
has been corrected in all regions but retrospection re-
mains outstanding.

Radiography Service Management
SIPTU has initiated an engagement with the HSE re-
garding radiography service management grades and
the proposed amendment of same within the revised
hospital group structures.

Nurse and Midwife Sector

We would like to thank all of our activists throughout
the sector who have assisted and supported our mem-
bers over the past two years. In addition, a special
thanks goes to our national sector committee and the
nurse and midwife local representative committee for
their continued commitment and support.

This is a brief synopsis of the main industrial issues
addressed by the sector over the past two years:

National Taskforce for Nursing & Midwifery
SIPTU is participating in a number of national task-
forces which have been established by the Department
of Health and, or the HSE. These include reviews of
midwifery, intellectual disability and care of the elderly.
It is expected that the work of these national task-
forces will progress through 2015 and examine staff
skill mix ratios, nurse to patient hours and nurse 
management structures.

In addition, SIPTU is party to a national taskforce which
is undertaking a national review of staff skill mix 
ratios, nurse to patient hours and nurse management
structures within surgical and medical settings. This
process is being chaired by the Chief Nurse, 
Dr Siobhán O’Halloran, and has included a number of
site visits and input from local and international 
experts. It is expected that this group will issue a 
report to the Minister for Health in 2015.

Nurse and Midwife Board of Ireland
SIPTU has met with the national regulator on a number
of occasions and contributed to all proposed policy
statements and documents issued by the Nurse and

Midwife Board of Ireland.

Fees
SIPTU played a major role in the successful campaign
against the proposed 50% increase in retention fees
for nurses and midwives. This proposed increase
would have raised the fee from €100 to €150. The
fee had already risen from €88 to €100 in 2013.

Agency
The HSE confirmed that expenditure on agency nurses
and midwives in 2013 and 2014 was approximately
€86 million per annum. This was equivalent to 750
whole time nursing personnel. The HSE also confirmed
that in excess of 5,000 nurses and midwives have
been removed from the service since 2009.

Mental Health Management Structures
SIPTU pursued a number of issues arising from the im-
plementation of the national agreement on revised
nurse management structures within mental health
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services. This included the failure to regularise long
term actors at nurse management level and honour
commitments for placements to those deemed to have
first call on location director of nursing posts.

Linking Service & Safety
SIPTU played an active part in progressing a revised
policy on ‘Linking Service and Safety’. This policy high-
lights the need to attain a safe work place for staff and
service users and pinpoints important steps in ad-
dressing violence in the workplace.

Additional Hours (HRA)
The public service agreement provides for an addi-
tional 1.5 hours for a fulltime nurse or midwife. Issues
have been raised as to how these hours are utilised
by the employer, such as banking them. SIPTU has
maintained the need to measure all attendance hours
to ensure that issues such as hand-over are calculated
and recognised.

Student Nurse/Midwife (4th Year Placement)
SIPTU has highlighted a number of issues arising for
student nurses/midwives during the 36 week 4th year
placement. These are: refusal to award incremental
credits, pay for the 36 week placement and pay during
the period of post qualification/pre-registration. These
issues are being progressed through a third party in-
dustrial forum.

Senior Staff Nurse
SIPTU secured the re-instatement of the Senior Staff
Nurse post within the terms of the public service
agreement for health. This resulted in all staff nurses
who were refused since 2009 receiving the higher
post, and a commitment that further staff nurses who
meet the qualifying criteria would be appointed each
year going forward.

Task Reallocation
National talks on the proposed reallocation of four
named tasks from medical to nursing staff is continu-
ing at national level. Parties are progressing site visits
in order to establish the effects/savings that would de-
rive should the proposal proceed.

Student Allocation Officers
SIPTU has engaged with the HSE at national level over
concerns from members within student allocation serv-
ices. This matter was progressed to the satisfaction
of our members, who had been requested to under-
take responsibility for Garda Vetting of students which
had not been part of their duty to date.

Nurse Management Structures
SIPTU is party to national engagement through the LRC
with regard to proposed changes to existing nurse
management structures within acute, primary care, so-
cial care and intellectual disability services. The HSE
has not tabled its proposals as it is awaiting clarifica-
tion re the proposed models for hospital groups and
community health organisations. We expect these to
be expedited in 2015.

SIPTU nurses and midwives.
Photo: Tommy Clancy.
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Group shot of delegates at the Health 
Division conference in Liberty Hall in October, 2014.

SIPTU Advanced 
Paramedics in the National
Ambulance Service.
Photo: Tommy Clancy.

SIPTU members were among those who marched in Navan on Saturday, 17th May 2014 in
support of the Save Navan Hospital Campaign. Photo: SIPTU Library.

Home Helps protest in 
Donegal, February 2013.
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Workers on picket duty outside Milne
Foods in Birr, Co Offaly on 11th July
2013. Photo: SIPTU Library.
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The Biennial Delegate Conference took place in Liberty
Hall, Dublin on the Friday, 7th November 2014. A total
of 200 accredited Delegates attended, representing
the three Sectors within the Division. The following five
Motions were considered at the Conference and
passed by the delegates present.

Sector                                   2013         2014
Agriculture, Ingredients,        12,510       12,522
Food & Drink

Electronics, Engineering 
& Industrial Production            9,945         9,703

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals 
& Medical Devices                 11,152       10,996

                                           33,607       33,221

1. PRSI Payment Campaign
That this Conference calls on the NEC to initiate a 
campaign for the graduation of PRSI payment, instead of
the current cut off point of €352 and then 4% after that.

Submitted by the Electronics, 
Engineering & Industrial Production Sector

2. Labour Legislation Publication
That this Conference calls on the union to publish an
updated Shop Stewards and Workplace Representative
manual. We further call on National Executive Council
to update and make available the TUF Guide To Labour
Law. These are essential tools for Shop Stewards and
Workplace representatives and are a key element of
the support required for activists in the reorganised
union Structure.

Submitted by the Agriculture Ingredients, 
Food and Drink Sector

3. Food & Drinks Industry
That the Division undertake research regarding the
terms and conditions of employment for non-unionised
workers in the Agri Food and Drinks Sectors of the
economy. There is anecdotal evidence that non-
unionised workers in this sector are being exploited
and used by employers to drive down terms and con-
ditions of this employment across these Sectors.  

Submitted by the Agriculture Ingredients, 
Food and Drink Sector

4. Social Media
That this Conference calls on the Divisional Committee
in conjunction with SIPTU College and the SIPTU Cam-
paigns Department to develop dedicated training mod-
ules on the use by union representatives of social
media as an effective trade union communication tool
with a view to enhancing our organising and campaign-
ing industrial work.

Submitted by the Pharmaceuticals, 
Chemicals & Medical Devices Sector

5. Secure Retirement Campaign
Conference recognises that after a lifetime of work,
members should look forward to their retirement from
paid work. But, increasingly workers above a certain
age are facing the prospect of approaching retirement
with fear and anxiety given the sudden drop in 
expected income and the uncertainty about their future
living costs, healthcare and public services.

SIPTU’s Secure Retirement Campaign demands that
every worker who retires in Ireland deserves the 
following: 
1) A living income 
2) A world class public health service 
3) Quality of life 
4) Decent public services 
5) Protection in the community 
6) The right to feel secure in their home. 

We call on Conference to support the Secure Retire-
ment Campaign and to promote it within the Division
and across the union. We further call on conference
to raise awareness among Activists and among mem-
bers approaching retirement of the National Retired
Members Section and to encourage members to retain
their membership and activity in the union.

Submitted by the Retired Members Section

The Conference was addressed by a number of
speakers including:
• Jack O’Connor, SIPTU General President 
• Patricia King, SIPTU Vice President 
• Joe O’Flynn, SIPTU General Secretary 
• Ethel Buckley, SIPTU Head of Campaigning and

Equality 
• John Douglas, President, Irish Congress of Trade

Unions
• Tony Murphy, IDEAS Institute

Manufacturing 

Division
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• Estelle Brentnall, EFFAT (European Federation of
Food, Agriculture and Tourism) Secretary 

The Conference broke into Forums to discuss and 
consider the ‘Manufacturing Division Internal Continu-
ous Improvement Programme’.

Delegates were asked to consider the following three
questions:

Q. 1 What is currently going well within the Manu-
facturing Division?

Q. 2 What is currently not going well, or what is a
problem, within the Manufacturing Division?

Q.3 What currently needs to be improved to in-
crease the overall effectiveness of the Manu-
facturing Division?

Following the Conference all Industrial staff, Sector 
Organisers and the Divisional Organiser met to 
consider the above three questions. Arrangements
have been made to meet with Divisional Administrative
Staff, Honorary Organisers and General Officers. When
this process is complete, we expect to have initial 
report to be finalised by the October 2015 Biennia
Conference.

Divisional Committee
The following were elected to the Divisional Commit-
tee for 2013-2014.

President: Noel Finn (Electronics, Engineering &
Industrial Production Sector)

Vice President: Rose O’Reilly (Agriculture, Ingredi-
ents, Food & Drink Sector)

Agriculture, Ingredients, Food & Drink Sector
Battie Doohan (1)/Michael Toolan 
Pat O’Flynn
Rose O’Reilly
Tom Fox
Tony Hogan

Electronics, Engineering & Industrial
Production Sector
Bill Blair(2)/Paudie Power
Breffni Monahan(3)/John Lenihan
Bridget Burrows
Fiona Doherty
John Montgomery
John Mortell
Kathleen Fitzpatrick(4)/Tim O’Connor
Noel Finn
Paul Kelly
Seamus Califf
Sean Clarke

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals & Medical 
Devices Sector
Brendan Cremin
Enda Mc Daid
Jemma Mackey
Margaret McNulty

Retired Member
Dick Duff

(1) Battie Doohan resigned in December 2014 and was
replaced by Michael Toolan.

(2) Bill Blair resigned in November 2013 and was 
replaced by Paudie Power

(3) Breffni Monahan resigned in March 2014 and was
replaced by John Lenihan.

(4) Kathleen Fitzpatrick resigned in January 2014 and
was replaced by Tim O’Connor.

Standing Orders
Tony Byrne
Eamonn Thornton
Pat O’Flynn

National Executive Council
Tim Fitzgerald (RIP)
Elizabeth O’Donohoe
Frank Fehilly
John Montgomery

National Trustee
Seamus Califf

Rules Revision Committee
Bill Blair
Seamus Califf

Equality Committee 
Seamus Califf
Bridget Burrows

Appeals Committee
Eithne Brady
Kieran O’Donnell
Pat O’Flynn

Sector Committees

Agriculture, Ingredients, Food & Drink Sector
Committee Members
Jack Donohue
Battie Doohan¹ 
Tim Fitzgerald (Chairperson) (RIP)
Tom Fox
Michael Hickey
Tony Hogan (Vice Chair)
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James Kennedy
John Montgomery
John Mortell
Tim O’Connor
Liz O’Donohue
Tom McPartlin
Pat O’Flynn
Rose O’Reilly
Leonard Tobin
Michael Toolan
Karl Spellacy ²
¹ Resigned from Sector Committee 03/12/14
² Co-opted to the Committee at meeting 07/05/14

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals & Medical 
Devices Sector Committee Members
Alec Coakley
Brendan Cremin
Brian Keating
Eamon Thornton
Enda McDaid (Vice President)
Jemma Mackey (President)
Margaret McNulty 
Pat Perry
Aidan McDonnell
Suzanne Kelly
Yolanda Hughes
Kieran O’Connor
Jim Fuery
Christopher Crowley
Paul Barry
Liz Dolan

Electronics, Engineering & Industrial 
Production Sector Committee Members
Bill Blair
Debbie Kenny
Anja Boeger
Paul Kelly
Bridget Burrows (Vice President)
Ray Thompson
Sean Clarke
Catherine Noonan
Noel Finn (President)
Gerry Byrne
Seamus Califf
John Lenihan
Fiona Doherty
Derry Blake
Tom Healy 
Shane O’Brien
Paudie Power
John Delaney

Divisional Staff
Divisional Head Office
Divisional Organiser: Gerry McCormack
Administrative Assistant: Tina Maguire Smith
Location Based Organiser: Evelyn McGuinness
Assistant Industrial Organiser: Rhonda Donaghey

Agriculture, Ingredients, Food & Drinks Sector
Sector Organisers: John Dunne/Andrew McCarthy¹.
Administrative Assistants: Pauline Gilmartin/
Joan McClean.
Industrial Organisers: John Cooney, Michael Browne,
Jim Finnegan.
Assistant Industrial Organisers: Terry Bryan, 
Colm Casserly, Denis Gormalley, Evelina Saduikyte.

Electronics, Engineering &
Industrial Production Sector
Sector Organiser: John McCarrick.
Administrative Assistant: Pat O’Malley.
Assistant Industrial Organisers: Marie
Kearney/Colleen Minihane², Karl Byrne³, Denis 
Sheridan, Mark Flynn, Ray Mitchell4, Jim Mc Veigh5.

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals & 
Medical Devices Sector
Sector Organiser: Alan O’Leary.
Administrative Assistant: Maire Sheehan.
Industrial Organisers: Michelle Quinn, 
Frank Jones.
Assistant Industrial Organisers: 
Paul dePuis, Allen Dillon.
Sector Organiser: Michael Kilcoyne6

Northern Ireland
Lead Organiser: Martin O’Rourke

¹    Andrew McCarthy resigned from the union to take
up a position as a Workers Representative on the
Labour Court.

²    Colleen Minihane transferred from MISC.
³    Karl Byrne was promoted to the Utilities & 

Construction Division
4    Ray Mitchell joined the staff in May 2014.
5    Jim McVeigh joined the staff in June 2013.
6    Michael Kilcoyne retired in September 2014.

Andrew McCarthy, Sector Organiser, AIF&D Sector 
now a Workers Representative on the Labour Court.
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Divisional Developments

2013-2014

The Division developed and implemented a strategy
across all three sectors during 2012 and continued
this into 2013/2014. The strategy covers the follow-
ing broad areas:

Internal Organising/Leverage 
The process of completing the task of identifying the
density in each employment for each official was com-
pleted at the end of 2014. The analysis indicates the
density in the three sectors are as follows:

The major density issues arise in the Agriculture Food
and Drink Sector and density levels across the other
two sectors are relatively high with over 80% of em-
ployments having 100% density. The analysis also
shows that the areas with lowest density are where
employments have the highest level of migrant/inter-
national workers.

The Division will concentrate on building density in
these specific areas and will develop a strategy for
organising migrant/international workers and ac-
tivists. 

Organising Campaigns

The union is involved in a joint initiative with the
Strategic Organising Department in C&D Foods, Long-
ford and Kerry Foods, Shillelagh. The Sectors have
also been very successful in organising a number of
key employments and this work continues during
2015.

In preparation for the Collective Bargaining legislation
each sub-sector has been charged with the responsi-
bility of compiling terms and conditions of employ-
ment in all employments for each official. This work
will continue during 2015.

Divisional Density 1%-49% 50%-75% 76%-99% 100%

No. of Sections 46 39 73 373
Percentage 8.66% 7.34% 37.4% 70.24%

PC&MD Sector
No. of Sections 8 3 4 91
Percentage 7.54% 2.83% 3.77% 85.84%

AIF&D Sector
No. of Sections 35 25 52 141
Percentage 13.83% 9.88% 20.55% 55.73%

EE&IP Sector
No. of Sections 46 39 73 373
Percentage 1.74% 6.39% 9.88% 81.97%

Total sections 548
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Wage Strategy

The number of wage agreements completed up to the end of December 2014 covering the years 
2013-2014 is 170.
The following is a summary of the agreements completed during 2013-2014.

Section Name Year Increase % or € Months Sector/Industry

Lee Strand Co-Operative Creamery Ltd 2013 6% 33 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Castlerea Co-Op Livestock Mart 2013 4.3% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Lakeland Dairies 2013 4% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Boherbue Co-Operative Society 2013 2% 17 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Lisavaird Co- Op 2013 2% 15 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Bandon Co-Op 2013 2% 15 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Dairygold 2013 4% 27 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
South East Cattle Breeding Dovea 2013 3% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Drinagh Co-Op 2013 2% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Brett Bros Co Kilkenny 2013 7% 36 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Glanbia 2013 1.5% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Queally Pig Slaughtering 
t/a Dawn Pork & Bacon 2013 3% 21 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Kerry Ingredients & Flavours Listowel 2013 6% 48 Agri Food and Drinks
Barry's Tea 2013 2% 24 Agri Food and Drinks
Coca Cola HBC 2013 3% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Kerry Foods Rye Valley 2013 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Pepsi Co Little Island Cork 2013 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
William Grant & Sons 2013 1.8% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Dew Valley Foods Thurles 2013 4% 36 Agri Food and Drinks
Centenary Co Op Thurles 2013 2% 20 Agri Food and Drinks
Pepsi Co Carrigaline Co Cork 2013 5% 27 Agri Food and Drinks
Arrabawn Nenagh 2014 5% 36 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Aurivo (Connacht Gold) 2014 4.05% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
C & D Foods 2014 5.5% 36 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Paul/Vincent Milling 2014 3% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Town of Monaghan Co-Op 2014 5% 36 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Lakeland Dairies 2014 4% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Carton Group 2014 3.25% 37 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Cork Co Op Marts 2014 3% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Goldcrop Cork 2014 2% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Kerry Agri Milk Drivers 2014 6% 48 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Newmarket Co-Op Agri Stores 2014 6% 48 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Newmarket Co-Op Society 
Milk Production Plant 2014 6% 48 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Dairygold 2014 5.5% 37 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Boherbue Co Op Society 2014 2% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Southern Mills Cork 2014 3% 24 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Bandon Co-Op 2014 2% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Lisavaird Co-Op 2014 2% 12 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Kildare Chilling 2014 4% 28 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Dan O'Connor Feeds Limerick 2014 5% 36 Agri Business Meat and Dairy
Glanbia (Fonthill & Belgard) 2014 3% 27 Agri Food and Drinks
Britvic 2014 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Monaghan Bottlers 2014 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Kabeyun (Mushrooms) 2014 1.5% 18 Agri Food and Drinks
Largo Foods 2014 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Ferrero 2014 4% 32 Agri Food and Drinks
Athy Concentrates 2014 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
Irish Ditillers Ltd 2014 3.75% 24 Agri Food and Drinks
Drinks Company * 2014 3.5% 18 Agriculture Food and Drinks
PepsiCo Carrigaline Cork 2014 5% 27 Agri Food and Drinks
Bulmers Clonmel 2014 2% 12 Agri Food and Drinks
ABP Nenagh 2014 4% 24 Agri Food and Drinks
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Panel 16 - Let Us Arise! 
From the 1913 Lockout Tapestry.
Photo: Tommy Clancy.
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Section Name Year Increase % or € Months Sector/Industry

Pepsi Co Little Island Cork 2014 4% 24 Agri Food and Drinks
Computer Manufacturing Company * 2013 5.5% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Borg Warner BERU 2013 2.6% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Bose of Ireland 2013 2% 15 Electronics/Engineering
Bruss 2013 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
BS & B Safety Systems 2013 2.5% 20 Electronics/Engineering
CG Power Systems 2013 3% 19 Electronics/Engineering
Commscope 2013 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Cork Plastics 2013 2% 15 Electronics/Engineering
Dosco 2013 2% 15 Electronics/Engineering
Dubarry Shoemakers 2013 2% 12 Industrial Production
Flextronics 2013 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Geith 2013 1% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Gerard Daniel Worldwide 2013 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
GKN Chep 2013 1.25% 12 Industrial Production
Glen Electric Newry 2013 3% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Gouldings Fertilisers Cork 2013 2% 12 Industrial Production
Grants Engineering 2013 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Henkel Ireland 2013 2.5% Industrial Production
Imperial Tobacco Mullingar 2013 3% 24 Industrial Production
ITWMima Waterford 2013 2% 18 Electronics/Engineering
L3 Communications 2013 7% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Rexam Beverage Can Ireland 2013 7.5% 48 Industrial Production
St Gobain PPL 2013 2% 12 Industrial Production
Thermo King 2013 6% 36 Electronics/Engineering
True Temper Ltd 2013 3% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Valeo Visions 2013 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Wellman's International 2013 3% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Wilo Pumps 2013 5.5% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Amari 2014 8% 24 Industrial Production
Analog Devices 2014 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Athlone Extrusion 2014 2.5% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Automatic Plastics Wicklow 2014 6% 48 Electronics/Engineering
Bijur Delimon 2014 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Borg Warner Beru 2014 2.5% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Burnside Engineering 2014 5% 36 Electronics/Engineering
Colour Communications 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Commscope 2014 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Galco Dublin 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Manufacturing Company * 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Glen Dimplex Dunleer Co Louth 2014 2.5% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Gypsum Kingscourt 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Hasbro 2014 1.5% 12 Industrial Production
Heyco Werk 2014 3.5% 30 Electronics/Engineering
Hitachi Koki Europe Ltd 2014 2% Electronics/Engineering
Hunter Apparel 2014 3% 12 Industrial Production
Hunter Apparel Solutions Ltd 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
John Crane Sealol 2014 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Kingspan, Kingscourt 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Kostal Mallow 2014 6% 36 Electronics/Engineering
L3 Essco Collins 2014 5% 30 Electronics/Engineering
Mergon International 2014 5% 36 Electronics/Engineering
Metal Process Clondalkin 2014 4% 24 Electronics/Engineering
Novum Overseas 2014 2% 24 Industrial Production
Parker Snaptite 2014 4.5% 36 Industrial Production
Manufacturing Company * 2014 9% 36 Industrial Production
PDM Kildare 2014 6% 12 Industrial Production
Punch Industries 2014 6% 36 Industrial Production
Radionics LTD 2014 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Rettig 2014 2% 12 Electronics/Engineering
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Section Name Year Increase % or € Months Sector/Industry

Rettig 2014 1% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Rusal Aughanish Alumina 2014 6.5% 36 Industrial Production
Sennheiser 2014 6% 36 Electronics/Engineering
Manufacturing Company * 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
THK Dublin 2014 6% Electronics/Engineering
True Temper 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Varians 2014 2% 18 Industrial Production
Vitabond 2014 2% 12 Industrial Production
Wellman International 2014 1.5% 12 Industrial Production
Wilo Pumps 2014 1.5% 12 Electronics/Engineering
Nestle Askeaton 2013 2% 12 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Yves Rocher Cork 2013 2% 12 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Proctor&Gamble Nenagh 2013 5.25% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Rowa Pharmaceuticals Bantry 2013 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
BASF Little Island 2013 4% 33 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Bausch and Lomb 2013 6% 34 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Leo Pharma Dublin 2013 4.5% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Pfizer Newbridge 2013 2% 12 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Proctor & Gamble 2013 5.25% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Stryker 2013 6.5% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Teleflex 2013 3% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Temmler Ireland 2013 4% 27 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Astellas Killorglin 2013 2% 14 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Janssen Pharmaceuticals Cork 2013 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Cara Partners Little Island, Cork 2013 4% 27 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Merck Brinny, Cork 2013 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
MSD Ballydine Clonmel 2013 6% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
MSD Brinny Cork 2013 6% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Coviden Tullamore 2013 0.45€ 30 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Yves Rocher Cork 2013 3.75% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Abbott Sligo 2013 7% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Nestle Askeaton 2013 8% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
FMC International Cork 2013 6% 42 Pharm Chem Medical devices
B Braun Hospicare 2014 3% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Essilor Organic Lens Manufacturing 2014 7% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Allergan Westport (5 Phases) 2014 9.4% 54 Pharm Chem Medical devices
BASF Little Island, Cork 2014 2% 12 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Phillips Medisize 2014 3% 20 Pharm Chem Medical devices
ABBVIE 2014 2.8% 17 Pharm Chem Medical devices
MSD Rathdrum 2014 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Astellas Killorglin 2014 4% 28 Pharm Chem Medical devices
GlaxoSmithKline GSK Cork 2014 6% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Coviden Athlione 2014 5.5% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Pfizer Little Island 2014 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Burgess Galvin 2014 2% 18 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Medisize Donegal 2014 2% 12 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Vitalograph Ennis 2014 6% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Pfizer Newbridge 2014 4% 18 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Teleflex Limerick 2014 4% 24 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Rowa / Rowex Bantry 2014 6% 42 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Leo-Pharma Cork 2014 6% 39 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Medtronic Galway 2014 6.2% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Novartis Cork 2014 1.5% 18 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Henkel Dublin 2014 6% 36 Pharm Chem Medical devices
Micro-Bio Fermoy 2014 8% 54 Pharm Chem Medical devices

*company name not public.
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Pay increases by sector

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals and Medical 
Devices Sector
Year 2013 4.51% 28.77 months
Year 2014 4.65% 29.27 months

Electronic, Engineering & Industrial Production
Sector
Year 2013 3.16% 18.88 months
Year 2014 3.44% 20.46 months

Agriculture, Ingredients, Food & Drink Sector
Year 2013 3.26% 21.47 months
Year 2014 3.59% 25 months

The strategy has been very successful with wage
agreements becoming more sophisticated in terms of
them now being negotiated. Issues include pensions,
sick pay, regulation of agency workers, extra holidays,
lump sum payments and flat rate increases. 

Sector Developments 

Pharmaceuticals, Chemicals and Medical 
Devices Sector
In 2013 organising progress was made in GE Health-
care through our involvement in the IndustriALL EU
Trade Union federation where pressure by our interna-
tional trade union colleagues led to the commence-
ment of direct dialogue between the union and Senior
HR management in GE Healthcare in the UK. This led
to the union being afforded the right to represent indi-
vidual members. We held 30 direct meetings in 2013
with GE management in Cork defending our members
against disciplinary charges and pursuing grievance
claims. The pending Collective Bargaining legislation
will assist our organising work in GE Healthcare and
our organising work within the sector.

There were a number of reorganisation and redun-
dancy announcements in the sector in 2013 where vol-
untary redundancies were proposed by Abbot,
Covidien, Amgen, and Pfizer in Newbridge. 

2014 was possibly one of the most challenging years
for our members in the PCMD sector since the adop-
tion of the new structures. A number of closure an-
nouncements occurred in the sector such as Beckman
Coulter Galway and Mondelez. The announcements
shocked the workers involved and the local community.
The sector also experienced some near closure situa-

tions in Bausch and Lomb and in both Pfizer plants at
Little Island and Ringaskiddy, Co. Cork. As a result of
major restructuring the jobs at both Pfizer plants were
secured. The most high profile restructuring and ratio-
nalisation negotiations experienced by the sector com-
menced in June 2014 at Bausch and Lomb, Waterford
where 1,200 jobs were at risk and many more thou-
sands of indirect jobs. The LRC survival proposal was
tabled in July and was endorsed by over 70% of the
members in Bausch and Lomb. Our members were not
impacted by compulsory redundancies. Compensation
of almost 3 years for loss of earnings was agreed and
a pay freeze, which will be lifted after two years, paving
the way for restoration of pay talks to commence.
Since the restructuring agreement Bausch and Lomb
parent company Valeant invested 115 million, which
will lead to 200 direct operator jobs, a 112,000 square
foot extension and 150 Construction jobs. All of these
new workers will be members of SIPTU.

Pension Issues 
A number of sections were involved in difficult Defined
Benefit Pension restructuring talks in Bristol Myers
Squibb (BMS/Swords Labs) Novartis, and Pfizer. Indus-
trial action was taken in BMS in order to protect pen-
sion benefits. Members’ pension schemes are under
attack by employers attempting to abandon Defined
Benefit schemes and this issue is now a major indus-
trial relations issue in the sector. 

The National Pharmaceutical and Chemical sub-sector
Committee has compiled almost 50 section profiles
containing key intelligence on terms and conditions of
employment within sections. Completion of section
profiles significantly assists officials in concluding pay
agreements and making improvements to other condi-
tions such as bonuses, sick pay schemes and increas-
ing the number of permanent jobs.  

Electronics, Engineering & Industrial 
Production Sector
Much if not all of the Sector work is in what can now
be described as old indigenous industries with a mi-
nority fitting into the multi-national criteria.

The Electronics side of the Sector has progressed with
most of the work being done for the car industry.
There has been a significant squeeze on prices in this
industry with many of the major manufacturers de-
manding year on year reductions in the prices charged
by the components manufacturers.

This has led to major efficiencies in the Sector with
many firms adopting ‘lean’ principles. We have used
the expertise of Tony Murphy to advise in regard to
these companies with varying degrees of success.
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(centre) IDEAS Institute along with Maire Madden, IDEAS Institute. 



We have managed to achieve pay increases averaging
2% in these companies.

Engineering: this sector has been badly hit by the col-
lapse in construction and the economy generally over
the two years concerned.

Many of these companies have not had pay increases
and some have not even retrieved the cuts imposed
during the crisis; the exception being Liebherr, where
a successful campaign secured significant pay in-
creases.

Steel and transport costs were a major issue up until
the recent reduction in fuel prices, which helps mem-
bers in the Sector.

We are seeing some movement on pay in this area as
a result of the oil price reduction and some recovery
in the building industry.

Industrial Production: This is a large and disparate
Sector, most of it traditional, where we have had vary-
ing experiences, some of them difficult.

The traditional weaving industry is now a small part of
our Sector, and one which has yielded no growth in
membership and less in terms of pay rises.

It is a similar story for our remaining members in the
needlework industry, with the exception of Hunter Ap-
parel where pay increases have been granted in this
Northern Ireland company.

All in all the last two years have been difficult with
signs of improvement/recovery coming along the east
coast in late 2014. We expect to see this trend con-
tinue in 2015 and spread slowly to the rest of the
country.

Agriculture, Ingredients, Food and Drink Sector
The Sector Organiser, Andy McCarthy, was appointed
to the Labour Court in February 2014. Andy gave over
30 years’ service to the union and helped establish
the new Division and sectors following the introduction
of the organising model in 2010.

Major developments over the

period 2013-14

Brewing/Distilling 
Consolidation of the Diageo Breweries in Waterford,
Dundalk and Kilkenny, and in the Dublin brewery at St
James Gate means there is now one major brewery in
Dublin and one in Cork. There has been a proliferation
of “Craft Breweries” around the Country which are
mostly small operations. In distilling Irish whiskey is
undergoing a transformation on the global drinks mar-
ket. The completion of the €140 million Irish Distillers
plant in Middleton, Co. Cork will hopefully ensure the
continued growth of the export potential of the product,
not alone in the U.S. but in Asia and Russia. Outsourc-
ing and agency work is a reality in this industry and our
efforts are directed at protecting direct employment
and promoting training and job retention measures
across the sector. Smaller distilleries are also being
established across the country. The industry itself
identifies many new plants being built in 2013-2014:
• Two main breweries
• 25 Craft and Micro Breweries
• 15 new distilleries 
• 63,000 directly employed 
• €885m Wage bill.
• 11,600 employed in associated jobs.
• Purchases of €1b in agri and other products.
• Overall the drinks industry supports 74,600 jobs

in Ireland.

Source: Tony Foley DCU

The Irish Food Industry
Despite the massive development of new industries,
food is still a major element of the economy and indus-
trial employment in Ireland. Food production in the Eu-
ropean Union is estimated to account for 14% of the
European Union’s manufacturing output with 4.8m em-
ployees.

The Irish Food industry in numbers:

• 230,000 employed directly or indirectly
• Sectors include – Processing, Production, 

Hospitality and Distribution
• 4,000 new jobs in last 4 years
• €10.3 billion revenue to the Irish economy
• 43% increase over the period of the recession
• Major government supports available
• Industry plans for expansion
• Potential for further growth in the 

export market
• Ireland has further potential for growth in 

the sector.

SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014 75



Meat Industry
The sector is a major challenge for the union. With the
growth of agency employment and non-unionised
labour, there is a threat to the good, hard won terms
and conditions secured by SIPTU. Nevertheless, a
number of sections within the meat sector have won
new pay agreements and a strategy is being developed
for dealing with the sector going forward.

The Meat Industry
•   Largest exporter of Beef in Europe
•   Fourth largest exporter in the World
•   National Herd 6.7m
•   Mainly Family Owned Processors
•   Lamb/Sheep
•   3m head slaughtered annually
•   France is the biggest market for Irish Lamb and

sheep products
•   One company is responsible for half the annual kill.

The rest is divided between 3 main processors. 

Pork 
•   The UK is the biggest market for Irish pork products
•   Exports of €360m
•   60% of slaughtering is controlled by one company.

Poultry
•   Domestic market cannot compete on price with the

imported poultry products which are primarily des-
tined for the catering industry.

•   Consolidation among producers.
•   4 producers account for 50% of production.

The Dairy Sector
The removal of the milk quota was identified by the
Dairy Sub sector as a good opportunity for the Sector
to look at the dairy industry over the coming year. A
TEAGASC representative participated in the inaugural
meeting of the Dairy sub sector Committee held in July
2014 and a number of initiatives have been developed
by the Sector which will be part of our work over the
coming years in the dairy sector.

Profile of the Irish Dairy Sector:
• 19,000 suppliers

Downward trend – fewer and larger units
• 5.2 million tonnes of milk

50% increase predicted
• 24 Co-ops/Plc

More segmented dairy sector than most EU states
• 4.5% of EU-15 milk supply

“Relatively” small players
• >80% exported

Unique features:
• 56% Butter/skim powder
• 31% cheese
• Large dependency on commodity products.

European Works Councils

(EWC’s)

We are embarking on a process to improve our EWC
representation and put in place a support mechanism
for EWC representatives, shop stewards and officials.
An EU project specifically designed for the training of
EWC representatives, officials and shop stewards will
be rolled out with the support of the IDEAS institute. 

Workplace Innovation

The Manufacturing Division has developed a practical
strategy that actively supports the union’s policy to re-
tain, maintain and sustain decent jobs in the Irish man-
ufacturing sector. This strategy seeks to ensure that
the potential creativity of the entire workforce is devel-
oped and valued within companies.  The critical role of
employee involvement in delivering continuous im-
provement is now better understood by employers. Our
unique approach to achieving this has been recognised
by both state agencies, such as Forfas, and progres-
sive companies.  

The new name for the philosophy which underpins our
unique approach is “Workplace Innovation” and the
IDEAS Institute is acknowledged as a leader in this
area. Tony Murphy has been working with a growing
range of companies across the country as they learn
more about our “joint union-management” approach to
introducing and implementing Workplace Innovation in
their organisations.  

The initial contact between IDEAS and the company is
always made by the SIPTU organiser. He/she may be
alerted by members to potential issues that threaten
the viability or competitiveness of the company. It is
clearly in everybody’s best interests that timely correc-
tive action is taken to avert possible redundancies
and/or plant closures. This is where our joint approach
can be most effective. The operator who runs the ma-
chine for eight hours a day knows exactly where the
problem is and has very practical suggestions about
how it might be resolved. In many companies this crit-
ical process information is never sought or valued. Our
approach seeks to ensure that the process knowledge
of the operator and the equipment knowledge of the
maintenance craftsman are seen as a critical ingredi-
ent in permanently fixing the problem.  This is real con-
tinuous improvement in action.
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The IDEAS Institute is currently working with ten com-
panies to implement this approach. In addition to
these, work has begun in the medical device manufac-
turer Becton Dickinson’s second Irish plant on Pottery
Road in Dublin after the stunning successes achieved
in its smaller Drogheda plant.  As a direct result of this,
major investment is now being made in Drogheda.
This has meant the installation of new plastic injection
moulding machines and the creation of approximately
20 new jobs. The IDEAS Institute has been asked to
introduce the process in the Pottery Road plant. This
work began in June 2014. This is another example of
what can be achieved jointly when workplace innova-
tion is enabled, encouraged and successfully imple-
mented.  

THK, a Japanese owned precision engineering com-
pany based in Tallaght has just completed the team-
work training for its entire staff - everybody from the
managing director to the cleaner has just finished their
FETAC accredited teamwork course. The Joint Union-
Management Steering Team (JUMST) is active and op-
erational teams have designed and built new checking
fixtures that will improve the inspection of precision
assemblies, as well as improving the layout of the pack-
ing/despatch area.

Enterprise Ireland encourages Irish owned firms to ex-
plore implementation of Lean Manufacturing and Work
Innovation models. The IDEAS Institute has been ac-
cepted as an approved supplier by this prestigious
state agency. This is something for us all to be proud
of.

FETAC has recently upgraded the contents and assess-
ment requirements of the Level 5 accredited teamwork
course. The IDEAS Institute has revised all its course
notes and assessment documentation to comply with
these changes and successfully “piloted” this material
in November 2014. 

The IDEAS Institute developed course material for im-
plementing SMED (Single Minute Exchange of Dies).
This is a team-based technique for reducing change-
over times between products.  It was successfully run
in SAICA and resulted in a 22% reduction in change-
over times.
Plans are currently in place to begin work during 2015
with several companies, including Bausch and Lomb
Waterford, Henkel (formerly Loctite) and Tara Mines
Navan.

Supporting Quality

The Supporting Quality campaign has increased mem-
bership to 67 brands. Since the last report Dulux,
Dublin Bus, Bord na Móna and Pfizer have joined.
Pfizer joined as a sponsorship partner, opening up the
Pharmaceutical Sector to the campaign. We envisage
that in the coming year we will actively engage with this
sector to bring additional companies on board.

All existing companies continue to support the cam-
paign and have renewed their membership this year,
which bears testimony to its relevance. In a recent sur-
vey about the value companies place on being part of
the campaign, the overall comment was that they see
the value of promoting their brands among the union
membership/consumers as key to establishing them-
selves as a quality company and, most importantly,
they see the benefit of strengthening their relationship
with union members in the workplace. The campaign
continues with shop stewards and organisers ap-
proaching companies in order to continue to increase
membership.

Other activities include monthly ads in Liberty, Liberty
Online and the Supporting Quality Christmas E-zine.
Since the last report, The Ethical Trade Initiative made
a presentation in Dublin endorsing the campaign in
principle and the Supporting Quality banner covered
Liberty Hall in September 2014. The campaign also
visited a number of companies throughout 2014, in-
cluding Standard Brands, Newbridge Silverware and ar-
ticles were produced for Liberty.

One of the major achievements of the campaign in
2014 was the production of the Supporting Quality film
featuring a number of companies – Britvic, Ballygowan,
Heineken, Avonmore and Newbridge Silverware. The
film was made in conjunction with members and shop
stewards, explaining in their own words the impact of
the campaign and why it is so important for fellow
members to support them and their quality jobs.

The film was screened at the SIPTU Divisional Confer-
ences, UNITE’s annual conference and at numerous
other events. 
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To view the film go to www.supportingquality.ie and
click the film link on the home page.

UNITE and the TEEU formally came on board as part-
ners to the campaign in November and December of
2014, developing it as a joint initiative. Communica-
tions packs have been sent to all shop stewards and
officials in UNITE. Some joint approaches have already
been made to companies who have both SIPTU and
UNITE members, inviting them to participate. 

Supporting Quality – protecting quality jobs in Ireland
by promoting quality products and services manufac-
tured in Ireland. 

Pensions

The Divisional Executive Committee agreed to com-
mence a process to support representatives, pension
trustees and officials negotiating major changes to
members’ pension schemes. 2013/2014 saw an up-
surge in attempts by employers to dismantle Defined
Benefit Schemes. Many of these schemes are fully
funded and have little or no funding issues. Major re-
structuring and negotiations have taken place during
the period under review and this is expected to con-
tinue during 2015. 

Joint Labour Committee

Agriculture Industry
The Government has agreed to the reintroduction of a
Joint Labour Committee and an ERO for workers in the
Agriculture Industry. It is expected that the legislation
will be implemented during 2015.

Major Disputes

The Division had 22 Industrial disputes during the pe-
riod under review, in six of which Industrial/Strike Ac-
tion took place. All of these disputes were resolved
successfully on behalf of our members.

The most protracted dispute occurred in Milne Foods
Limited, Birr, Co Offaly, where 19 workers were on
strike for eight months. Following the issuing of a
Labour Court recommendation the workers returned to
work.
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Public Adminstration and

Community Division

Biennial Delegate Conference

The Public Administration & Community Divisional 
Biennial Delegate Conference took place in Liberty
Hall Dublin on 5th and 6th November 2014. A 
total of 188 Delegates were entitled to attend 
representing the four Sectors within the Division. 

The Conference was addressed by a number of
speakers including:

•   Jack O’Connor, SIPTU General President

•   Joe O’Flynn, SIPTU General Secretary

•   Patricia King, SIPTU Vice President

•   Joe Cunningham, Head of Strategic Organising
Department.

•   Dr. Brian Hanley on “The role of the working class
in World War 1”

•   Mr. Ronald Janssen, Chief Economist ETUC on
“Social Europe after the Crisis”.

•   Dan O’Neill, SIPTU Young Workers Network.

•   Dr. Aoife Ni Lochlainn and Dr. Micheál Collins,
Nevin Economic Research Institute – Outsourcing
Public Sector.

Divisional Committee:

Sector Name

Education Maurice O’Donoghue (President)

Community Suzanna Griffin (Vice President)

Local Authority David Breen

Local Authority Denis Cooke

Local Authority Stephen Kelly

Local Authority Jim Byrne

Local Authority Willie Bagnell

Local Authority Jerry Crowley

State Related Thomas Walsh

State Related Danny Crowley

State Related Sandra Darley

Education Tommy Murtagh

Education Ciaran McKenna

Education Grainne Morahan

Community Lynda Scully

Community Elaine Harvey

Community Donie O’Leary

Community Derek Mulcahy

Retired Member John James McLoughlin
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Community Sector Committee as of 2014
Anne Carr
David Connolly
Suzanne Griffin
Elaine Harvey
Teresa Collins-Hinchey
Helena McNeill
Brendan McNulty
Kevin O’Connor
Peter O’Connor
Donie O’Leary
Orlaith Rowe
Lynda Scully
Caroline McDonagh
Donal Coffey
Grainne Griffin
James Mannion
Martin Collins
Ray Corcoran
Sian Muldowney

Education Sector Committee as of 2014
Kieran Allen
Jack McGinley
Tommy Murtagh
Owen Doherty
Michael Geoghegan
Paul Shields
Ciaran McKenna
Diarmuid O’Dwyer
Brian Bugler
Matt Hatton
Deirdre O’Connor
Grainne Morahan
State Related Sector Committee as of 2014
Charlie Ashe
Caroline Curraoin
Sandra Darley
Tom Gill
Aideen Kelly
Alan Lindley
Thomas Walsh
George Kiely
Jack Kehoe
Vivion Spain
Peter O’Sullivan

Local Authority Sector Committee as of 2014
Alan Daly
Ann Thompson
Brian McNamara
Damien Stirrat
Dave Breen
Dave Curtin
Denis Cooke
Denis Reen
Eamon McCauley 
Edward Goldrick
Emmanuel Millar
Eugene Caherly
Eugene Devlin
Frank Lee
Gerard Falsey
Gerry Concannon
Gerry Harris
James Loughlin
James Byrne
Leslie McNamara
Liam Maher
Martin Burke
Matthew Henry
Matthew O’Malley
Tony Collier
William Horrigan
William Bagnell

Standing Orders Committee as of 2014
James Mannion Community Sector
Tom Walsh State Related Sector
James Snee Education Sector
David Curtin Local Authority Sector
Nigel Dalton Local Authority Sector

Representation from Division on National Executive
Council and National Trustee

National Executive Council
Matt Henry Local Authority Sector
David Connolly Community Sector
Jack McGinley Education Sector
Tom Gill State Related Sector

National Trustee
Annette Donlon Local Authority Sector
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Divisional Staff

Divisional Organiser: Gene Mealy

Sector Organisers Sector
Brendan O’Brien Local Authority
Eddie Mullins Community
Jane Boushell State Related
Louise O’Reilly Education

Organisers Sector
Karen Smollen Community
Noreen Parker Community
Kevin McKinney Community
Gerry Flanagan Community/Local Authority
Michael Kiely Community/Local Authority
Anthony McCormack  Local Authority
Declan Ferry Local Authority
Ramon O’Reilly Local Authority
Con Casey Local Authority
Jason Palmer Local Authority/

State Related
John Judge Local Authority/

State Related
Maurice Hearne Local Authority/

State Related 
Noel Maguire Education
Bill Mulcahy Education
*Sharon Cregan Community
*David Connolly Honorary Branch Organiser

Administrative Assistants
Linda Murphy
Mary Smith
Bina Harte
Eleanor Walsh

*Not full-time – employed in the Division

Matters within the Division

Primary Responsibility
The Primary responsibility of the Division is:
•   Density Building
•   Collective Bargaining and Industrial Leverage

through the development of:
    - Workplace Organisation
    - Workplace Committees
    - Development of Shop Stewards

Industrial Issues
The Public Sector is governed by the Haddington Road
Agreement (HRA).

This includes three of the four Sectors within the Divi-
sion, Education, State Related and Local Authorities.

The Community Sector, while not governed by the HRA,
is subject to constraints imposed by the state of the
public finances. The HRA was an extension of the Pub-
lic Sector Agreement 2010-2014.

From the union perspective the questions of Propor-
tionality, Equality and Fairness formed the basis of our
approach to negotiations.

The HRA afforded protection from compulsory redun-
dancies, redeployment in excess of 45Km, and some
constraints on outsourcing. It also guaranteed a level
of security of income through a period of economic un-
certainty. SIPTU put particular emphasis on protecting
lower paid workers covered by the HRA.  

However, the moratorium continues to be problematic.

During the period under review a number of industrial
disputes took place including at the Tyndall Institute,
and over the terms under which Irish Water was to be
established. The achievements secured in the Service
Level Agreement between local authorities and Irish
Water should not be underestimated.

In relation to the Public Sector, outsourcing is covered
by Section (11) of the Service Delivery Option. This de-
termines that all Public Sector contractors must use
the LRC/Labour Court and stringent procedures must
be implemented before pursuing the outsourcing op-
tion. SIPTU initiated a proposal for a sunset clause on
the FEMPI legislation during negotiations on the HRA.
The ICTU Public Services Committee of Congress for-
mally requested the Department of Public Expenditure
and Reform (DPER) to repeal this legislation.

SIPTU is also committed to pay restoration and 
alleviation of the Pension Levy in the Public Sector.

The Community Sector has been the cornerstone of
support to the marginalised, disadvantaged and less
well off in society. It is now under sustained threat due
to funding cuts, the threat of privatisation and the
Alignment Process (AP).

At the time of this Review there were 50 Local Devel-
opment Partnerships (LDP) and Leader Companies
(LC). These administer programmes on behalf of the
Government, funded in the main through Pobal and
Leader funds from Europe.

The main programmes, are the Local Community De-
velopment Programme (LCDP), the Rural Development
Programme (RDP) and Rural Transport Schemes (RTS).
In 2012, a ministerial decision was taken to proceed
with an alignment process that would see the Local
Development, Partnership and LEADER Companies
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(LDCs) subsumed by local authorities nationally. The
implementation of the process had serious conse-
quences, with the withdrawal of funding and non-re-
placement of programmes, leading to reduced hours
of employment for staff and job losses in the various
initiatives.

Issues arising from the AP were referred to the LRC
and a process with Irish Local Development Network
(ILDN), the governing body of the LDCs was agreed.
However, the Department of the Environment, Commu-
nity and Local Government declined an invitation to at-
tend. IBEC only sent observers.

In addition to the Alignment process, a directive was
released which could result in LES being outsourced.
SIPTU continues to campaign vigorously against privati-
sation of Community Services nationally.

The threat of outsourcing is the single biggest issue
facing all sectors within the Division.

There were many other industrial relations issues dealt
with by SIPTU on behalf of members during the period
under review across the Division.

Membership and Organisation

As previously mentioned, the period under review in
the Public Administration and Community Division was
extremely problematic as a result of the chronic state
of the public finances and the moratorium on employ-
ment imposed by the Government. Notwithstanding
this, there was a determined effort to organise work-
ers and to maximise the membership in existing em-
ployments.

A Sectoral breakdown of the financial membership for
the period under review shows the following:

Sector                                              2013             2014
Community                              8,342         8,030
Education                               5,706         6,051
Local Authority                      12,274       12,031
State Agencies                        4,330         4,098

                                           30,652       30,210

Period under Review 2013/2014

State Related Sector

Industrial Review
The Haddington Road Agreement 2013-2016 applies
to members in the Non-Commercial State Agencies,
with the exception of the Houses of the Oireachtas. In-
dustrial activity continues to be governed by the HRA,
the previous Croke Park Agreement and the Govern-
ment moratorium on recruitment and promotions.

We continue to face proposals to outsource service
delivery in a number of areas due to staff shortages,
despite internal delivery being a better, and often
cheaper, option.

There has been a very small easing of the moratorium
for very specific "mission critical" posts in some agen-
cies and we are continually pressing managements to
submit business cases where it can be demonstrated
that direct provision is the better option.

While we were represented on both the Civil Service
Implementation Body and the Non-Commercial Semi-
State Bodies Implementation Body under the Croke
Park Agreement, we only have full membership of the
Non-Commercial State Agencies Oversight Body under
the HRA, with observer status on the Civil Service
Oversight Body.

We submitted a claim under the auspices of the Over-
sight Body that the additional leave granted to craft
workers under the HRA should be applied to general
operatives, who have a direct relativity to the craft
workers. As the issue also affects general operatives
in Local Authorities, it was agreed that SIPTU Repre-
sentatives on the Local Authorities Oversight Body
would lead on this claim.

We continue to see mergers of agencies, and agencies
being subsumed into the Civil Service. Where our
members have been transferred we have been unable
to continue representing them due to SIPTU not having
recognition rights for Collective Bargaining for grades
other than State Industrial grades. This has led to a
large loss of membership. 
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Cork Youth Worker Sinead Wilson stands
up against budget cuts, June 2014. 
Photo: Trevor Quinn.
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Croke Park 2

The result of the State Related Sector Workplace Ballot
on the proposals was:

52.7%  In Favour
47.3%  Against

LRC Proposals for an Extension of the Public Service
Agreement – Haddington Road Agreement:

The Sector voted in favour of the HRA by 64%. A num-
ber of employers agreed to establish joint working
groups to discuss the implementation of additional
hours, with a view to retaining work/life balance insofar
as it is possible. This was accomplished in many or-
ganisations.

Voluntary severance schemes were introduced in Fáilte
Ireland, Teagasc and the Railway Procurement Agency
(RPA).

Specific areas where major negotiations have taken
place are:

Solas/Education & Training Boards
SOLAS and the Education and Training Boards were es-
tablished in 2013 as a result of the abolition of FÁS
and the decision to merge and reduce the number of
VECs in the country from 33 to 16.

Following intensive negotiations, terms were agreed
for the transfer of our members to the Education and
Training Boards on their existing terms and conditions
of employment, rather than being seconded as origi-
nally proposed. The Department of Education & Skills
agreed that SIPTU would continue to represent mem-
bers at local and national discussions with both the
employer and the Department.

The second phase of transfers to the ETBs occurred
on 1st July 2014, meaning the full break up of FÁS is
now complete.

SIPTU made a comprehensive submission to the Re-
view Body on Apprenticeships. When the report was
published most of the union's proposals had been in-
corporated into the recommendations. SIPTU has been
given a seat as of right on the new Apprenticeship
Council, as have the Craft Group of Unions. Patricia
King, Vice President was appointed as the SIPTU rep-
resentative.

Housing & Sustainable Communities Agency
A pay dispute in relation to members who transferred
from the National Building Agency to the HSCA (Hous-
ing and Sustainable Communities Agency) and other
state bodies continued. No progress could be made

locally or at the LRC on the correct salary due to our
members. The Labour Court found in favour of the
union’s claim that the so-called “Bonus” of 7% paid in
the National Building Agency was in fact part of basic
salary and should be paid post transfer. The Court fur-
ther instructed the parties to discuss implementation.
Discussions on this took place with DPER, under the
auspices of the LRC on the advice of the Oversight
Body.

Legal Aid Board
The Board received exceptional sanction to employ an
additional 12 solicitors during 2013. The Minister for
Justice and Equality re-designated the solicitors as civil
servants from 1st June 2014, despite submissions
from both SIPTU and UNITE raising a number of issues
important to our members. We met with the Board to
discuss various practical and technical matters related
to this change in status. We have been informed that
within the civil service IMPACT is the union recognised
for negotiating purposes for these grades and that
SIPTU (and UNITE) will not be recognised for collective
bargaining purposes. 

Teagasc
Disputes remain unresolved in relation to pension
added years for Advisors; pension calculation for for-
mer Private College Technicians; and a gap in pension-
able service for Rural Environment Protection Scheme
(REPS) Advisors, who achieved permanency following
a Labour Court recommendation.  All have been the
subject of conciliation conferences in the LRC. In the
case of the Advisors’ pension added years, the Labour
Court decided that it did not have jurisdiction in the
area as the Pension Scheme is governed by statute. A
case is being prepared for submission to the Ombuds-
man.

A dispute in relation to changes in payroll frequency
was resolved locally. However, a further issue regard-
ing the calculator used for fortnightly pay is still unre-
solved.

A Joint Review of Farm Operations is ongoing.
Sanction was received to fill 18 permanent and 5 tem-
porary posts of responsibility in the Advisory Section.
These had their origin in the Programme for Competi-
tiveness and Work's productivity clause and carry an
allowance of approximately €5,500 p.a. A subsequent
dispute arose as management admitted persons to
the competitions that were not eligible under the
agreed criteria.

Sanction for payment of the PCW 1% productivity al-
lowance to Clerical/Admin Grades 5 and 6, with retro-
spection to 2011, was received. These allowances
were paid on the basis of seniority. A further “merit”
allowance became available for filling in late 2014.
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Shannon Development
A facilitation process, under the chairmanship of Bren-
dan Duffy, was agreed between the parties to resolve
outstanding matters relating to the break-up of the
company, transfer of members to other state agencies,
and to the new Airport Company, in addition to the im-
plementation of the Labour Court recommendation on
regularisation of grades.

The agreed outcome was that staff would transfer to
the new Airport Company on a three year secondment
and then would either become employees of that com-
pany or return to the public service and obtain posi-
tions through the re-deployment panel. Employees
transferring remain members of the Public Service Pen-
sion Scheme. Those transferring to other public serv-
ice bodies will become members of pension schemes
operated by their new employer retaining the benefits
of the Shannon Development Pension Scheme.

It was agreed that positions vacated by people opting
for early retirement, or voluntary redundancy, would be
back filled on a lateral transfer basis.

The administration of the Shannon Development Pen-
sion Scheme, including payment of Supplementary
Pensions and post-retirement increases, will be taken
over by the Department of Jobs, Enterprise and Inno-
vation.
In November 2013, the facilitator (Brendan Duffy)
presided over a final meeting to identify outstanding
problems and agree a resolution mechanism. At the
end of this lengthy process he drew up an addendum
to the original agreement which was agreed by all par-
ties. This gave members a number of improvements in
relation to their continued involvement in the public
service pension scheme, and in public service terms
and conditions, unless promoted within the new Shan-
non Commercial Enterprise company.

The Voluntary Severance Scheme was then re-opened
for expressions of interest.

Railway Procurement Agency
We have continued to organise RPA staff and our num-
bers have steadily increased.

The RPA, which is a commercial semi-state body is to
be merged with the National Roads Authority, a non-
commercial semi-state body.

The RPA was exempt from the earlier FEMPI Acts but
was included in the 2013 legislation and our members
were affected by the cuts it has imposed. With the as-
sistance of the ICTU we reached agreement with the
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform (DPER)
that staff would be covered by the Haddington Road
Agreement and protected from compulsory redun-
dancy.

Negotiations on the merger continued throughout
2014.

Forfás
The legislation providing for the dissolution of Forfás
and the integration of its functions into the Department
of Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation was published in
December 2013.

The legislation provided that existing subsidiary com-
panies (IDA, Enterprise Ireland, and Science Founda-
tion Ireland) became employers in their own right.

Agreement was reached between ICTU and DPER on
the wording of the paragraphs dealing with terms and
conditions of employment and pensions that would be
in the legislation dissolving Forfás and dividing its re-
sponsibilities among other state bodies. This wording
will form the generic formula to be inserted in all future
legislation regarding mergers of state bodies/transfers
of functions.

North South Pension Scheme
The British Government tasked a former MP, Lord Hutton,
with a review of the British Civil and Public Service. His
report included a number of proposals  to  increase pen-
sion contributions and reduce benefits by imposing career
averaging on existing scheme members. The North South
Pension Scheme operates under the rules of the Northern
Ireland Civil Service Scheme and therefore we were in-
formed that the proposals in the Hutton Report would be
implemented. The Chief Executive's Group which acts as
the Pensions Committee, wrote to the Minister Brendan
Howlin, stating they believed the proposals contravened
the HRA. Mr Howlin's private secretary responded that
the changes would not contravene the HRA.

Negotiations with DPER on behalf of the Southern
members resulted in a postponement of the increase
in contributions until April 2015. In addition, members
in the Republic were to be given the option to revert
back to their original scheme (or the scheme that
would have applied for those who joined after the
North South Scheme was introduced) on a once-off
basis.

Office of Public Works
A small number of promotional posts have been filled
on an exceptional basis in the past couple of years.
However, large gaps remain in the organisation which
creates difficulties for members, who have taken on
additional duties and responsibilities without compen-
sation.

Sanction to take on 20 apprentices from September
2014 was received. They are in the areas of Stone Ma-
sonry, Stone Cutting and Carpentry and a number of
Adult Apprenticeships have been facilitated. This will
continue in coming years as the programmes develop.
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Environmental Protection Agency
On legal advice two separate ballots were held on man-
agement’s proposals to integrate the Technician
grades A, B, and C into the main EPA grades. The ballot
results were:

                                            For         Against
Former AFF Staff                      2              8
Non AFF Staff                         12              0

Following further discussions at the LRC Management
agreed the proposal could be implemented for the
group which had voted in favour. The matter is 
currently with the Department of the Environment and
Local Government and the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform.

The EPA has taken over the functions of the Radiolog-
ical Protection Institute of Ireland which has been dis-
solved and the merger resulted in the establishment
of a fourth directorate entitled Radiological Protection
(RPII).

Discussions with management on the merger took
place to ensure no adverse effects would result for our
members. EPA terms and conditions will apply, except
in a small number of cases where the RPII has slightly
better arrangements (e.g. flexitime) in which case the
RPII terms were adopted. SIPTU has sole negotiating
rights in the EPA; employees of the RPII are members
of IMPACT. We are in discussions with IMPACT regard-
ing the transfer of members to SIPTU, in the same way
as SIPTU has had to transfer its members to other
unions in similar situations.

Fáilte Ireland
This agency closed its Belfast office at the end of No-
vember 2013. Discussions took place in relation to the
possibility of redeployment. However, opportunities for
this were virtually non-existent and our members de-
cided to accept a redundancy package.

A wider voluntary severance scheme was then intro-
duced and 43 people were approved to exit. The ma-
jority finished on 31st March, 2014, with a small
number remaining until June to carry out specific du-
ties.

National Gallery of Ireland
On foot of a Labour Court recommendation which
would have resulted in changes in work practices and
loss of leave and earnings without compensation, bal-
lots took place with the outcome in favour of both in-
dustrial action and strike action. Sanction was given
for a series of one day stoppages. The first took place
on 5th June 2014 and the picket was respected by all
union members, including those not involved in the dis-
pute. The construction crew, working on the redevelop-
ment, also refused to pass the picket. Further

stoppages were planned for 7th and 21st July. An in-
tervention by the chairperson of the Internal IR Forum,
resulted in a proposal for settlement which was re-
jected in a ballot of the members.

Management requested a further meeting on 4th July
and, following lengthy negotiations, a proposal
emerged which involved management suspending any
attempt to implement the Labour Court Recommenda-
tion; the union suspending its strike action; and an
agreement to enter into intense negotiations over
three weeks on changes to the roster system, (which
would include a number of the days the Court had
found should be abolished), being restored.

The dispute was satisfactorily resolved with the settle-
ment proposals including a new roster and method of
working as well as compensation for loss of annual
leave as per the HRA formula. The final proposals were
adopted overwhelmingly by ballot.

Organising
The non-replacement of members who retire or leave
means this is an extremely difficult task in the State
Related sector. However, our local committees are con-
stantly active in trying to organise those on temporary
or fixed-term contracts.

The Sector Committee established a sub-committee
on organising to examine where there is potential to
increase our membership. In the main, this will focus
on density building as options to organise new agen-
cies are virtually non-existent.

The OPW Committees have adopted a strategy of or-
ganising seasonal staff by one-to-one approaches.
The OPW newsletter, published four times per year,
has proven to be a very useful tool in this task.

Campaigns
The main area of activity is to increase public aware-
ness of the value of the work done by our members in
the public sector and the need for adequate funding to
provide a service to the citizen. To this end we have
continued to meet and brief politicians, and the media,
where appropriate.
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SIPTU members in Dublin Fire Brigade marching 
to save their ambulance service in Dublin on Monday, 
7th April 2014. Photo: Scott Millar.
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Local Authority Sector

Industrial Review
SIPTU represents over 12,000 members in the Local 
Authority Sector in the Republic and in Northern Ireland.

Our members have been engaged with management
under the terms of the Public Service Agreement
(Haddington Road Agreement) since the last confer-
ence. These members have delivered on-going flexibil-
ity and efficiencies to maintain services within an
environment of continuing reductions in staffing in the
Sector.

Staffing reductions in the Local Authority Sector, which
has seen overall staffing reduce by over 20% since
2008, have now reached a critical point where it is be-
coming extremely difficult to maintain services to the
public.

The rationalisation and amalgamation of Local Author-
ities under the Efficiency Review and Public Sector Re-
form Programme has presented challenges for the
Sector, including significant restructuring and sharing
of services, the effects of which we have dealt with at
local level. 

Union Organisation
Union density is high in the Sector and work is ongoing
to ensure there is a functioning and active union com-
mittee within each Local Authority. The Sector Commit-
tee meets on a regular basis and is supported by a
number of sub-committees and vocational committees
representing Water Services, Supervisors, Wardens,
Fire Services and Procurement.

Shop Steward and Activist training is conducted regularly
and members are encouraged to attend this training.

Haddington Road Agreement
The issue of removal of allowances has been a major
issue in the Sector. The union has opposed their re-
moval where practical. We have been successful on a
number of occasions, invoking Labour Court proce-
dures where necessary.

We have submitted a claim to extend craft workers’ 25
days annual leave under the HRA to all Outdoor grades
represented by SIPTU and restore the traditional link
in respect of annual leave within the Local Authority
sector. The result is an average increase of two days
per year for members. The union has been seeking the
consolidation of allowances in the nature of pay, in-
cluding the Rent Allowance for firefighters.

A number of councils have had to deal with the removal
of cheque cashing arrangements, which have been ne-
gotiated at local level. 

Water Services Campaign
SIPTU represents over 4,000 members in Water Serv-
ices throughout the Local Authority Sector. Since the
last Conference, the union has negotiated a Service
Level Agreement which provides for water services to
be operated by Irish Water using direct employment
provided by the Local Authorities. This Service Level
Agreement (SLA) was constructed to try and offset the
significant attempts to privatise the service and pro-
vide a basis for the retention of the service in public
ownership, as well as to protect our members working
in the Water Services. The Irish Water Consultative
Forum has been established, where the union repre-
sents members working in the Water Sector nationally.

Agreement has been reached under the SLA for en-
gagement between the parties in respect of the Annual
Service Plan headcount, which obliges the employers
to consult with the union in respect of the planned
staffing requirements for the forthcoming year. 

The last year has seen the Energy Regulator (CER) im-
pose budgetary restrictions on Irish Water which have
brought significant pressures to reduce staffing. The
Regulator has sought cost reductions of some 15%
over two years. This has brought pressure to bear on
reducing numbers to meet the Regulators demand,
which SIPTU has been consistently challenging and re-
sisting.

There are significant and ongoing attempts to have pri-
vate contractors carry out major works within the Water
Services such as leak detection and fixing which we
are challenging. We believe this is part of an overall
strategy to privatise the service in Ireland by reducing
and then removing entirely the public sector workforce
from the service. 

The campaign for a National Referendum to seek an
amendment to the Constitution to provide for the re-
tention of water and sanitation services within public
ownership continues. We are continuing our involve-
ment with the European Right 2 Water campaign.

Fire/Emergency Services Campaigns
SIPTU represents the vast majority of both full-time and
Retained firefighters throughout the country. Since the
last conference, our members have been challenging
the attempts to reduce the crewing numbers and re-
sources deployed for emergencies as proposed under
the ‘Keeping Communities Safe’ document issued in
2013. Our members have been running a successful
‘Section 26’ campaign in which they have persuaded
Local Authority elected councillors not to ratify their
Fire Safety plans until they are satisfied they do not
compromise firefighter and public safety. 



89SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

On foot of this campaign, along with a national demon-
stration by both full-time and Retained firefighters, at
the time of compiling this report a Forum has now
been established under the auspices of the Minister
to seek an agreed settlement of this dispute.

In Dublin, our members have been resisting attempts
by management to remove the ambulance service from
Dublin Fire Brigade. On foot of a sustained campaign
by our members, which included Dublin Firefighters tak-
ing to the streets to protest, an independently chaired
forum has been established to seek an agreed settle-
ment to the dispute. Our members in DFB have also
successfully overturned a decision by management to
reduce the number of appliances dispatched to emer-
gencies in Kildare.

Workforce Planning
The Sector has been engaged in seeking the Workforce
Plans for each Local Authority to ascertain the staffing
and resources required over the next number of years
in order to carry out their services to the public. The
plans are to include identification of expected retire-
ments and make provision for the required staffing lev-
els. We have campaigned for renewed recruitment in
this Sector particularly in light of the excessive reduc-
tion in staffing that has occurred in the Local Authori-
ties over the period of the economic crisis. In addition,
we have sought the regularisation of long term acting
positions to be included as part of the Workforce Plans
for each county. A number of counties have now tabled
their Workforce Plans, which include the recommence-
ment of recruitment to fill required vacancies for the
first time since the economic crisis began.

Gateway
Following the establishment of the Gateway activation
scheme within the Local Authorities sector, which has
provision for 3,000 participants, we have campaigned
for the removal of the compulsory element of the
scheme which we view as unnecessary. We have also
campaigned for future recruitment in the LA sector to
include Gateway participants and for this to be pro-
vided within the Workforce Plans for each county, which
a number of councils have now agreed.

Outsourcing
This issue remains a significant concern for the Sector
as Local Authorities continue seeking to outsource
work due to the ongoing effects of the Public Service
Moratorium. This has lowered staffing to critical levels.
The Sector has established a Procurement subgroup
to review the contents of the Haddington Road Agree-
ment and the Procurement agenda, including the es-
tablishment of the Office of Government Procurement
(OGP). We have also promoted the establishment of
local procurement groups in each county to monitor
contractor activity and to engage with the County Pro-

curement Officer as part of our campaign against out-
sourcing. 

Members in LAPO have produced a paper which iden-
tifies the causes and processes behind outsourcing in
the Sector. This has been adopted to form the basis
of the union’s strategy to resist privatisation of Public
Services in the Local Authorities.

School Warden Campaign
The Sector has commenced a new campaign to recruit
and organise School Wardens into the union. A number
of campaigning issues have been identified, including
terms and conditions as well as welfare and safety is-
sues. 

Community Sector

Industrial Review
Alignment process: Local Development, Partnership
and LEADER Companies (LDC’s).

There are 50 LDC’s operating throughout the country,
administering programmes on behalf of the Govern-
ment. The main programmes are funded through
POBAL and the RDP, which is funded through LEADER
funds from Europe.

In 2014 the Rural Transport Programme transferred to
the National Roads Authority. There were a number of
voluntary redundancies with a package of 3 weeks’ pay
per year of service, exclusive of statutory entitlements,
and a cap of 2 years pay.

The Government went ahead with the Alignment
Process and established a number of LCDC’s across
the country. They proceeded to tender out the SICAP
Programme. At the time of compiling this report five
companies where we have members did not secure
contracts. The union is at present arguing that TUPE
legislation applies and therefore the companies that
lost out should effectively transfer staff to those that
won the tender.

POBAL has issued a redundancy package of 1.5
weeks’ pay per year of service on top of statutory en-
titlements. However, the total package cannot exceed
€40,000. This is completely unacceptable to the
unions.

LEADER funding is reduced by up to 70% in some
areas. When the detail of this is worked out, the con-
sequences for workers could be disastrous.
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Community Employment Supervisors
The practice for Community Employment Supervisors
up to 2008 was that cases were taken against Com-
munity Employment Schemes to the point where
Labour Court recommendations issued. At that stage,
funding was sought from FÁS and the Department to
honour the awards

In 2008, the Labour Court recommended that a Pen-
sion Scheme be established for CE Supervisors and
that funding be sought from FÁS and the Department
as per normal. There ensued significant discussions
between the unions, FÁS and department officials and
it was agreed to fund a scheme based on a model de-
veloped for Home Helps.

In 2010, it became obvious this claim had been put
on the back burner and SIPTU discovered that a deci-
sion had been taken at Government level not to pro-
ceed. This was never communicated to SIPTU until we
demanded answers as to the status of the claim. In
2013, the union produced a comprehensive report
recording the facts of the case from serving the claim
to the point where it was agreed to establish a scheme
based on that applying to Home Helps. This report
showed that answers given in the Daíl by various gov-
ernment ministers were a complete misrepresentation
of the facts.

Unfortunately at this stage, the Government decided
not to concede the introduction of a Pension Scheme.
Its misrepresentation of the facts will continue to be
challenged by SIPTU.

The Department of Social Protection has tried to in-
clude an amendment to the agreement of 2002
whereby it will not pay the enhanced redundancy pay-
ments to CE Supervisors when sponsors make the de-
cision to close a scheme. This has been challenged
successfully by SIPTU and the amendment no longer
applies.

Community Training Centres
There are approximately 30 Training Centres around
the country serving disadvantaged teenagers and
young adults. They have heretofore been governed by
FÁS and an agreement was signed off in 1999 with the
Department of Enterprise Trade and Employment on a
number of issues, including an enhanced redundancy
agreement and a method for dealing with issues rela-
tion to terms and conditions of employment, i.e. col-
lective bargaining.

Since 2012, SOLAS (previously FÁS) has not been ho-
nouring this agreement, even though the Labour Court
has upheld the agreement in its entirety. We have re-
ceived confirmation from the Minister for Education
and Skills, Jan O’Sullivan T.D. that the enhanced re-

dundancy payments will be in accordance with the
agreement of 1999. However, the refusal to honour
the collective bargaining elements continues to be a
problem and the transfer of control to the Education
and Training Boards is proving problematic.

RSS/TÚS
These national committees are actively pursuing a
proper pay scale and terms and conditions of employ-
ment.

Adapt Kerry Women’s’ Refuge
We have had to take limited industrial action against
this company. We are now in procedures and awaiting
a Labour Court hearing to deal with the consequences
for night staff resulting from the elimination of the
night shift.

Education Sector

Industrial Review
Membership in the Education Sector has increased by
8% in the 2013/14 period. There was a considerable
amount of industrial activity which is outlined in brief
below:
•   The establishment of the Education Oversight Body
•   The establishment of the Expert Group to examine

casualisation of third level academic staff
•   The commencement of discussions to finalise

meaningful contracts for members working as Tu-
tors in the ETB sector

•   Implementation of the Labour Court recommenda-
tion on SNA hours

•   Implementation of the Panel System for Special
Needs Assistants

During this time the Vocational Education Committees
were dissolved and the Education and Training Boards
established. This amalgamation meant a significant
amount of negotiated change for our members as well
as the expansion of the remit of the ETB structure to
include FÁS and SOLAS. The Sector also represented
the CEO’s of the VECs on amalgamation issues.

Industrial action was sanctioned in several employ-
ments including:

•  Tyndall National Institute (UCC)
•  Student Exams & Records (UCC)
•  St. Joseph’s NS 
•  National College of Ireland
•  St Leo’s College 
•  Cluain Aire Creche
•  Carlow Kilkenny ETB (Ballot)

All of the above disputes have been settled to the sat-
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isfaction of our members (except for those at St. Leo’s
College and the Tyndall National Institute).
The union has also taken cases to the Labour Court /
LRC on a number of issues including:

•   Standardisation of annual leave in the sector
•   Introduction of contractors (TCD)
•   Rates of Pay for Associate Professors (NUIG)
•   Academic promotions (UCD)
•   Merging of FETAC / HETAC / IUQB / NQAI 
•   Application of HRA to Household staff (TCD)
•   Removal of the Christmas Bonus (TCD Shop)
•   Proposal to introduce paid parking in UCD
•   Proposal to reduce regular rostered overtime (Bio-

medical Facility UCD)
•   Internal Benchmarking Pay Increases for 4 staff

(UCC)
•   Pay inequity (Tyndall, UCC)
•   Re-introduction of Regrading Scheme for Admin

Staff (UCC)
•   Job Sharing Policy for Special Needs Assistants

As well as the industrial work above the union also rep-
resented a member who was the victim of online ho-
mophobic bullying in the workplace by students. This
raised awareness of this issue in the national media
and right across the sector.

Union Organising
Despite the moratorium in the public sector member-
ship increased in this period. This is due to extensive
work by our activists who undertake housekeeping in
their sections and also to the increase in the use of
the online joining facility. We have also organised in
some new locations such as Private Language Schools
and national schools. 

Campaigns
The campaign to raise awareness of the work of the
union in beginning the fight for meaningful contracts
for Tutors is underway. This will continue in parallel
with the LRC discussions with the Department of Edu-
cation.

The ‘Defend the University’ campaign was founded in
DCU and is the brainchild of the SIPTU / DCU Section
Committee. It was subsequently joined by both IFUT
and the USI. With the assistance of SIPTU’s Commu-
nications Department we achieved over 1,000 signa-
tories to the Charter on www.defendtheuniversity.ie
from Ireland and abroad. 

We also collaborated with USI on their ‘Education as a
Public Good’ campaign – the research of the Nevin In-
stitute formed the cornerstone of this campaign.

Training/Seminars
We organised information sessions on the Rights of

Part-Time Workers with the assistance of the MISC
which were very well received. We also organised spe-
cific work place training for new activists and basic
training for newly appointed shop stewards.

Technological University
With the assistance of the President of our Sector we
made a submission on the Draft General Scheme of a
Technological Universities Bill. This was requested by
the Joint Oirechtas Committee on Education and Social
Protection and will form the basis of our oral presen-
tation when this is heard.

Special Needs Assistants
• Job Sharing Policy

Efforts to agree a national Job Sharing Policy for
SNAs encountered significant resistance from the
Department of Education and Skills and from the
various Boards of Management Bodies. The matter
was referred to the LRC by SIPTU and IMPACT and
thereafter to the Labour Court. 

• Panel System
Emanating from the Labour Court case and the
Haddington Road Agreement a panel system was
put in place for SNAs who lose their jobs. The sys-
tem sees the SNA having an option to go on a
panel for up two years from which s/he will get pref-
erence for vacancies which arise in his/her area.
The SNA retains the option of redundancy pay at all
times. 

Summary of some issues which

arose in 2013/14

UCD
Car parking – efforts by UCD management to introduce
paid car parking have been resisted successfully to
date. The matter is in dispute and we have attended
several LRC conciliation conferences on this issue.

BioMedical Facility – retention of overtime
Senior Lecturer Promotions – the Labour Court found
in favour of the union’s claim and the method of ap-
peals for unsuccessful candidates has been agreed
and includes a reference to third parties if needed.

Annual Leave (Lyons Estate)
We were successful in our claim to have annual leave
owed to members paid to them.

TCD
Household staff – the claim for wrongful application of
measures under the HRA was successfully concluded
with the assistance of the LRC.
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Grounds-staff – the regrading claim for general opera-
tives has been launched.

Academic Registry – the establishment of the new of-
fice was the subject of several meetings and discus-
sions resulted in securing additional facilities for
members as well as the extension of flexi-time to work-
ers not previously covered by it.

START / FIS – the roll out of these projects has been
the subject of discussions but a referral to a third party
may be needed.

National College of Ireland
Following industrial action we reached agreement at
the LRC on the reinstatement of the pension scheme
and the restoration of pay cuts/freezes. However, the
issue of increments is still under discussion.

DCU
Contracts of Indefinite Duration – remain an ongoing
source of dispute for members. The college was forced
to row back on a decision to move a lecturer from full-
time hours to hourly paid work following a general
meeting and the lodging of a complaint by the union.

Workload Allocation Model –there has been some
progress on agreeing a WAM. The pilot in place will be
reviewed.

St. Joseph’s NS Donnybrook
Following a ballot for industrial action, the union was
recognised. Contracts were agreed and members em-
ployed as cleaners were awarded compensation for
holidays not paid previously.

UCC
Admin Regrading Scheme: SIPTU took a case to the
Labour Court for the re-introduction of regrading for
Admin Staff following the re-introduction of promotion
for Academic Staff. The Court recommended that as
the Admin Grades are not disadvantaged vis-à-vis other
Grades in UCC (mainly Academic and Technical), the
union should engage in the internal UCC review of the
regrading system which had been initiated by Manage-
ment.

Dispute over the use of student help in the Library.

Industrial Action in Student Exams and Records over
outsourcing threat.

Industrial Action including picketing at Tyndall Institute,
UCC due to a gross pay inequity.

Institutes of Technology (Principally, WIT, CIT,
and LIT) 
The employer is threatening to use contract labour to
replace Caretakers, Porters, Cleaners and Attendants.
Potential for Industrial Action on this matter.

Newtown School Waterford
Redundancies: Following five voluntary redundancies
the employer sought to apply two compulsory redun-
dancies, offering only statutory redundancy payment.
SIPTU balloted for Industrial Action and following a
Labour Court hearing enhanced redundancy terms
were agreed.

Sick Pay Scheme: None existed at this employment.
SIPTU negotiated the introduction of the equivalent of
the public sector sick pay scheme.

Monkstown CBC
We resisted the attempts to close this school and
make our members redundant. We negotiated a trans-
fer to new management and the retention of terms and
conditions of employment.

Froebel College
This college transferred to the public sector (NUI
Maynooth) from Blackrock College of Education. We 
negotiated favourable transfer terms for members in
the library, academic and administrative grades which
included “disturbance” money. We also negotiated 
redundancy (6 weeks per year of service), plus a lump
sum for members who did not wish to transfer.

De La Salle College, Waterford
Comprehensive Contracts of Employment were agreed
at this school. A pension scheme with employer con-
tributions was negotiated. A Sick Pay Scheme was also
put in place.

St. Enda’s Community School, Limerick
This school is to close in 2015. Agreement has been
reached with the Department of Education and Skills
on the option of redeployment to a nearby school or
payment of the current public sector voluntary redun-
dancy package.

St. Leo’s College, Carlow
A ballot for Industrial Action was held at this school
due to unilateral changes to members’ terms and con-
ditions of employment. Management has entered talks
and significant progress has been recorded to date.
Negotiations are on-going.

Mountmellick Community School
Back-payment on overtime rates was negotiated in this
employment.

St. Enda’s Sports Centre
SIPTU represented three members who had outstand-
ing pay due to them. 
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Services Division

Services Divisional Committee

Christy Waters (President)
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance Sector

Margaret Coffey (Vice President)
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Gary Ronaghan
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance Sector

Padraig Murray
Arts & Culture Sector

Shirley Bradshaw
Arts & Culture Sector

Tim Herlihy
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Vincent Tynan
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Mary McBride
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance Sector

Sean McNamara
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance Sector

Edel O’Neill
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Maureen Stewart
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Eddie Reid
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Trevor Skelton
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Ethel Woods
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Brendan McNamee
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Mary O’Sullivan
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance Sector

Standing Orders Committee
The following were elected at the 2014 Services 
Division Conference:

John Fitzgerald
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Teresa Thompson
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance 
Sector

Ian Black
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance 
Sector

Ann Russell
Arts & Culture Sector

Olivia Hallinan
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Substitute Delegates
Ciaran Lumsden
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

John Keegan
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

National Executive Council – Services Division
Ethel Woods
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Christy Waters
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance 
Sector

Margaret Egan
Wholesale Retail and Distribution Sector

Bernie Casey
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

NEC Sub Committee on Equality
Vincent Tynan
Hotels, Catering Leisure, Print & Media Sector

Shirley Bradshaw
Arts and Culture Sector

Mary Van Gelder
Security Contract Cleaning, 
Insurance & Finance Sector

The Services Division represents workers in sectors such as tourism, retailing, contract cleaning, security, the
arts and media who have been among those most exposed to the economic crisis. SIPTU activists and staff have
played a leading role in mitigating its worst aspects on pay and conditions not alone of members, but all those
working in these sectors. Modest gains were made in 2014 as economic recovery began. The following were
elected to the Services Division Executive:
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NEC Trustee – Services Division
Tim Daly
Security Contract Cleaning, 
Insurance & Finance Sector

Sector Committees 
The Services Division is made 
up of Four Sectors as follows:

Arts & Culture Sector
Padraig Murray (Sector President)
Anne Russell
John Arkins
John Quilty
Liam Kennedy

Security Contract Cleaning, 
Insurance & Finance Sector
Tim Daly (Sector President)
Mary O’Sullivan (Sector Vice President)
Garret O’Brien
Fiona Byrne
Mary Murray
Jason Owens
Gary Ronaghan
Sean McNamara
Lillian Gunning
Teresa Thompson
Tanya Daniels
Mary McBride
Valerie Chambers
Michael Whyte
Martin Vanecek
Malcolm Moran
Gary Smith
Tony Prior
Ian Black
Eugene Ryan
Robbie Quinn

Hotels, Catering Leisure Print & Media Sector
Margaret Coffey (Sector President)
Ethel Woods (Sector Vice President)
Gerard Gill
Tony Kelly
John McGrane
Brendan McNamee
Bernie Casey
Margaret Coffey
Patrick Fox
Patrick Fox
Mary Golden
Timothy Herlihy
Olivia Hallahan
Vincent Tynan

Wholesale Retail & Distribution Sector
Trevor Skelton (Sector President)
Gerard Markey (Sector Vice President)
Liam Ahern
Noel Durack
John Finn
John Fitzgerald
Christy Hughes
Eamonn Murtagh
Catherine Smith
James Dunphy
Patrick Sweeney
Ciaran Lumsden
Simon Keating
Gordon Dempsey
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Workers supported by SIPTU organisers and local political activists protest outside
St. Colmcilles's Credit Union in Kells, County Meath, on Friday, 28th June 2013.

Delegates at the Services Division 
conference in Liberty Hall on 
9th October 2014. Photo: Dan O’Neill
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Financial Membership by Sector at year end
2013:
Arts & Culture 1,773
Wholesale Retail & Distribution 9,504
Hotels, Catering, Leisure, Print & Media 6,477
Security Contract Cleaning,
Insurance & Finance 13,424

Total 31,178

Financial Membership by Sector at year end
2014:

Arts and Culture 1,816
Wholesale Retail & Distribution 9,247
Hotels, Catering, Leisure, Print & Media 7,295
Security Contract Cleaning,
Insurance & Finance 12,301

Total 30,659

Services Divisional Conference 2014
The Divisional Conference took place on the 6th & 7th
October 2014 in Liberty Hall with a total of 188 Dele-
gates entitled to attend from the Division, Sectors, Re-
tired Members and Equality Committees.

Sector                                                          No of
                                                                                     Delegates

Arts & Culture                                                  11 
Security Contract Cleaning, Insurance & Finance 70
Hotels, Catering Leisure Print & Media               35
Wholesale Retail & Distribution                         50
Divisional Committee                                        18
Equality Committee                                            2
Retired Members                                               2

The Conference addressed by a number of speakers
including;
•  Jack O’Connor, SIPTU General President
•  Joe O’Flynn, SIPTU General Secretary
•  Patricia King, SIPTU Vice President
•  John King, SIPTU Divisional Organiser
•  Jack McGinley, Cuba Forum
•  Kate Nolan, Clean Clothes Campaign
•  Scott Courtney, SEIU ‘Fight for $15’
•  Orlagh Fawl, Strategic Organising Department

In addition to the invited speakers, many delegates 
addressed the Conference on the subject matters of
the motions submitted by the Division, Sectors and the
Retired Members Committee.

Key Conference Themes
The key conference theme was ‘The Challenge Ahead’.
The Conference broke up into workshops for delegates
to debate and consider the key issues which are 
confronting members of the Division and workers
across the economy:

Workshop No. 1 – Developments in Employment 
Legislation
Chaired by Diane Jackson, Sector Organiser
Facilitator: Tom O’Driscoll, Head of Legal Rights Unit

Workshop No. 2 – Activist Development
Chaired by Teresa Hannick, Sector Organiser
Facilitator: Sylvester Cronin, Acting Head, SIPTU 
College

Workshop No. 3 – A Campaigning and Organising Tool
Chaired by Karan O’Loughlin, Sector Organiser
Facilitators: Dan O’Neill, Ethel Buckley, National 
Campaigns & Equality.

During the Conference, the Hotels, Catering, Leisure,
Print and Media Sector organised a press conference
calling on the Irish Hotels Federation and Restaurant
Association of Ireland to enter into discussions on the
establishment of a Joint Labour Committee for these
industries.

During the press conference, SIPTU called on the Gov-
ernment to withdraw the 9% favourable VAT given to
these industries at a cost of some €350 million to the
exchequer.

The Division presented research that showed the Ho-
tels and Restaurants Sector had been in recovery
since 2011; that employers were availing of a very
beneficial set of circumstances with increased revenue
from growth in tourism, higher profits and favourable
VAT rates, whileworkers’ wages and conditions of em-
ployment were continuing to decline.

Industrial Issues
The key issues confronting members across the sec-
tors of the economy in which the Services Division or-
ganises workers continued to be affected by the
collapse in the economy, the attack on working condi-
tions by employers and the refusal by employers in the
Hotels, Restaurants and Retail sectors to engage in
talks on the establishment of Joint Labour Commit-
tees.

During the period under review, there was evidence of
recovery in some parts of the Division. This presented
opportunities for Officials and Representatives to pur-
sue pay increases and restore conditions lost over the
last number of years.
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During this period, the Services Division sectors and
our representatives were to the fore in developing and
leading campaigns to protect and advance the rights
of workers through political lobbying on issues such as
Transfer of Undertakings (TUPE), Collective Bargaining,
Re-establishment of the JLC system and Zero Hour
contracts.

The Division and sectors continued to work with other
trade unions, NGOs and civil society groups to fight for
the rights of low-paid and precarious workers.

Organising and Recruitment
During the period under review, the Division and the
sectors continued to focus on building SIPTU in the in-
dustries and employments where it organises workers.

In collaboration with the Strategic Organising Depart-
ment specific campaigns are run in Contract Cleaning
and Credit Unions.

Joiners                                                                
                                                     2013      2014
Arts & Culture                                  212        204
Wholesale Retail & Distribution          971     1,010
Hotels, Catering Leisure,
Print & Media                                 1,272     1,218
Security Contract Cleaning,
Insurance & Finance                       2,041     2,223
                                                                           
                                                   4,496    4,655

Activist Training and Development
As part of the building of the Divisions’ capacity to rep-
resent our members training was provided to Shop
Stewards and Activists as follows:

Number of Activists trained:            2013      2014
                                                       150        130

Employer co-operation with release continued to be an
issue and represents a significant challenge to be
overcome.

The Division has identified 220 representatives who
have expressed an interest in undergoing Training and
Development and these will be offered over the
medium term.

The courses undertaken by Activists include; Basic
Shop Steward, Advanced Shop Steward, Labour Law
Course, Health and Safety, and Refresher Courses.

In addition, 36 Activists were provided with Leadership
Training by the Strategic Organising Department on tar-
geted sites in the Contract Cleaning Campaign.

Security Contract Cleaning,

Insurance and Finance Sector

The period under review, 2013 and 2014, continued
to be extremely challenging for members employed in
the industries represented by the Sector.

Low-paid workers and precarious working conditions in
this sector continued to suffer the effects of economic
crisis and the resulting impact of the domestic crisis
on expenditure and demand for services.

The collapse of the Joint Labour Committee system as
a result of the John Grace (Kentucky Fried Chicken)
High Court Decision in 2011, continued to present
enormous challenges for members in the Contract
Cleaning and Security industries.

The lack of legally enforceable mechanisms for setting
pay and conditions of employment has facilitated low
cost and unscrupulous employers entering the market
and securing work at the expense of union negotiated
labour rates.

This has led to members facing unemployment and
having their conditions and hours of work reduced as
clients demanded cost reductions for short-term gain,
with no consideration given to the human cost.

The Sector worked with unionised employers to make
agreements and shore up existing arrangements to the
greatest possible extent.

Over the period under review the sector engaged with
employer representatives from the Security and Con-
tract Cleaning Industries to negotiate a new Joint
Labour Committee/Employment Regulation Order
based on the Government’s proposed legislation to
overcome the High Court decision.

It is expected that these new Employment Regulation
Orders will be introduced and should help the sector
to not only protect members but also regain lost
ground for Contract Cleaners and Security Workers.

In 2014, the sector also commenced engagement with
employers in the Cash in Transit Industry under the
auspices of the Labour Relations Commission for the
purpose of concluding a Sectoral Order for this seg-
ment of the security industry. This will assist in efforts
to protect the terms and conditions of employment of
unionised workers in this industry which has seen a
number of low-cost operators enter the market.

In the Insurance and Finance sectors our members
continued to face the same challenges, including re-
structuring, rationalisation, outsourcing, redundancies



98 SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

SIPTU Fair Deal for Cleaners Campaign mark 
International Justice Day for Cleaners on Monday 17th
June 2013 at the Jim Larkin statue on O’Connell Street
in Dublin. Photo: Photocall
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and the driving down of pay, pensions and conditions
of employment.

Workers in this sector of the economy remain uncer-
tain over how the volatility of the industry will leave
them. This is particularly the case in the Credit Union
sector where there is an ongoing process of mergers,
rationalisations, restructurings and redundancies tak-
ing place.

Sector Campaigns and Initiatives
The sector continued to develop campaigns to in-
crease membership and union power so as to protect
the interests of members:
•    Contract Cleaning Campaign – in collaboration with

the Strategic Organising Department
•    Credit Unions Sector Campaign – in collaboration

with the Strategic Organising Department
•    TUPE – developing strategies to protect the inter-

ests of members when contractors change and
our members face displacement and dismissal.

The sector has taken strike action to protect members
and has developed a political campaign calling on the
Government to protect workers’ rights.

The sector continues to work and engage with the Pri-
vate Security Authority in both the Static Guarding and
Cash In Transit areas. The engagement with employers
as a key stakeholder in the industry has enabled the
union to ensure the licensing regime, standards and
training are of benefit to workers.

Uni Global / Uni Europa
The Sector continued to be active at a European and
Global level through the
Contract Cleaning Social Dialogue
Security Social Dialogue
ISS UNI Network
G4S EWC
AXA Insurance EWC
Ericsson EWC
ISS EWC
Securitas EWC
Property Services Steering committee

Arts and Culture Report 

The Arts and Culture sector was established in 2013
and incorporates Irish Equity, Theatre and Cinema, the
Musicians Union of Ireland (MUI), Film and Entertain-
ment, and Broadcasting. The sector functions as part
of the Services Division and is focused on four key ob-
jectives.
1.   Rebuilding the union presence within each 
     industry
2.   Professionalising and raising our image
3.   Planning a Programme of Work 
4.   Developing activists 

In 2013, the Sector organised 212 workers into the
union 

Rebuilding union presence in the sector within
each industry
The sector supports the ICTU complaint to the Inter-
national Labour Organisation (ILO) over the Competi-
tion Authority’s prohibition on collective bargaining for
certain categories of workers such as voice-over
artists and musicians. ICTU has retained a London bar-
rister, John Hendy QC, to pursue this complaint. The
Sector also engaged with the former Minister for the
Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht, Jimmy Deenihan, on
this matter at a meeting on November 7th, 2013, with
a view to finding a national solution.

The sector has engaged with the Department of Social
Protection on issues affecting workers in precarious
and intermittent employment. 

The sector collaborated with Screen Training Ireland to
offer four courses to members in the Film and Enter-
tainment Sector covering manual handling and
Safepass. Courses are planned for members em-
ployed in hair and makeup focused on prosthetics in
January 2015. The Sector participates in the Film In-
dustry Consultative Forum through the Film Board.

Professionalising and Raising our Image
Both the Equity and MUI websites have been upgraded
and new professional cards issued to members. There
is a strong focus on improving communications and ac-
tive involvement with Arts and Culture organisations,
and schools. The Sector is active with the Association
of Artists Representative Organisations (AARO) on mat-
ters of common interest such as copyright and the
competition issue. The sector is now represented on
the European Social Dialogue committees covering the
live performance and audio visual sectors. This partic-
ipation allows SIPTU to keep abreast of European de-
velopments on current issues such as the
Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP),
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copyright, the European Charter On Work-Life Balance
in the Audio-Visual and Live Performance Sectors, and
changing working relationships in the industry and pri-
vate copying levies.

Planning a Programme of Work
The Programme of Work for the component parts of
the sector is specific and ongoing as follows:

Irish Equity
Interaction and consultation with members has im-
proved significantly since the establishment of the sec-
tor. The website has been rebranded and re-launched
and a number of general meetings have taken place
over the past year, including an open meeting for all
actors. The Sector finalised a two year agreement for
members employed on Fair City for the continued ex-
ploitation of their work via iPlayer. This involved a 25%
pay increase.

A co-operation initiative between Irish Equity and Equity
UK has been established and has been working well
in monitoring co-productions and other issues of com-
mon interest. During 2013, the group formalised a re-
ciprocal agreement for the representation of actors.
Irish Equity also reached agreement with Screen Pro-
ducers Ireland (SPI) that all-Ireland, UK co-productions
would be covered by the Equity Pact Agreement. This
is a significant development as the contract allows for
the payment of royalties and usages fees not catered
for in the indigenous contacts.

A Labour Court hearing took place in November 2014
between Equity and Screen Producers Ireland. The
union was successful in getting the Film and TV Agree-
ments separated for negotiation purposes. The Court
recommended that negotiations conclude within four
months and that a provision for royalties and usage
payments should be included.

The Sector remained engaged at European level with
the EU Social Dialogue Committees for Live Perform-
ance and Audio Visual work.

Equity Workshops
Equity held four workshops on contracts in November
2014 in conjunction with Equity UK and also held the
annual and very popular actor/director speed dating
event.

Musicians Union of Ireland
The MUI Executive reached agreement with SIPTU for
use of facilities in Liberty Hall for rehearsals. The web-
site has been rebranded and the Executive is currently
working on a ‘Fair Play for Musicians’ initiative which
involves discounted pricing for members. MUI 

continues to affiliate with the Federation of Interna-
tional Musicians and was represented at the Interna-
tional Orchestral Conference in Oslo in February of
2014.

Film and Entertainment 
In order to re-engage with members on the ground the
sector re-established the practice of visiting sets and
distributing information. Communication has also been
improved with the development of our sector data base
on a grade basis for bulk delivery of information. 

The sector has established a shooting crew committee
to further engage with and consult members. This com-
mittee will take a lead in determining the direction of
the union within the industry.

Broadcasting
The sector, in conjunction with the Trade Union Group
within RTE, concluded the restructuring agreement
known as Guiding Principles during 2013. This ensured
RTE emerged from a very serious financial deficit. The
process was not without issues but matters were dealt
with on the ground by very competent representatives.

Theatre & Cinema
The sector continues to engage with the National The-
atre, the Abbey, on restructuring and funding issues.
The sector committee has put a sub-committee to-
gether to develop an organising strategy for theatre
that was rolled out in 2014. 

Developing Activists 
The Sector has focused on training to develop its ac-
tivist base. A number of shop steward courses, com-
bined with guidance from our lead activists in
broadcasting, have improved our structures within RTE.
Film and entertainment safety training has been an im-
portant vehicle in this process and we are supporting
a number of participants on the FETAC training course
QQI (Quality and Qualifications Ireland). This is a part
time course on trade union and business matters that
runs in modules over two years. The course is run by
SIPTU College and is QQI accredited.

The sector engaged with Screen Training Ireland for
Non-Qualified Grades, with a focus on the status of
trainees and grades that do not yet carry a qualifica-
tion in the industry. This is a long term project to pro-
vide for an industry recognised qualification based on
prior learning and current experience that will be a pre-
requisite for a job. In tandem with this, the sector
wants to create a log book type entry and control sys-
tem at trainee level to monitor the number of trainees
employed by the industry and to nurture their profes-
sional development. Our initial engagement with
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Screen Training Ireland has been positive and it is cur-
rently collating information for our next engagement.

Hotels Catering, Leisure and

Print and Media Sector

The period under review was a difficult one for mem-
bers and workers in general across the sector, who
continued to suffer from the relentless offensive to
drive down and keep down pay and conditions of em-
ployment.

This was despite the fact that within the Hotels,
Restaurant and Hospitality sector growth was evident
across all the key indicators for a number of years.

Over the years under review international and domestic
tourism has increased by over 10% and 5% respec-
tively. Spending by tourists has also increased by over
18% and Bord Fáilte research confirms that over 80%
of employers in this Sector predict further growth.

The employers represented by the Irish Hotels Federa-
tion and the Restaurants Association of Ireland re-
fused to engage in the Joint Labour Committee system
to enable discussions on setting proper pay rates,
hours of work and conditions of employment for work-
ers in these industries.

The Print Industry continued to suffer from the turbu-
lent rationalisation process that followed the economic
crisis. Falling advertising revenues for newspapers and
the changing habits of the public in accessing news
and books from online platforms continued to impact
negatively.

These factors will remain challenging factors for our
members. They continue to suffer from the loss of the
Dublin Print Industry Registered Agreement.

The improvement in the Hospitality sector is not evi-
dent in the Leisure and Golf Club sectors, where the
fall in discretionary spending severely reduced rev-
enues and many members continue to be placed on
lay off, short-time and reduced hours.

The Contract Catering sector continued to go through
a period of contraction and rationalisation as a result
of client demands for price reductions and/or cuts to
the service provided. This has resulted in many mem-
bers facing redundancy and reductions in hours of work
and conditions of employment.

In 2014, the sector commenced a process of engaging
with members to develop a campaign with them to pur-
sue improvements in pay and conditions of employ-
ment.

Sector Campaigns and Initiatives

Fair Hotels
The sector continued to utilise and develop the Fair Ho-
tels campaign as a means of concluding collective bar-
gaining agreements, and thereby improving the terms
and conditions of employment for workers in hotels
using the Fair Hotels brand.

The Goals of the Campaign remain to:
•        Stem the tide of de-unionisation by employers
•        Incentivise hotels to recognise unions for col-

lective bargaining purposes
•        Make unionisation more attractive for non-union

hotels. 

Wholesale Retail Distribution

Sector

The Wholesale Retail Distribution sector comprises of
a wide range of employments across very diverse seg-
ments of the economy.

Activity and growth in the sector are heavily influenced
by the level of discretionary spending by the public, as
well as by various firms and organisations.

Not surprisingly, our members suffered greatly over the
last number of years. Redundancies, rationalisations,
restructurings, cuts in wages and conditions of employ-
ment were a common feature for them across the sec-
tor.

The sector also suffered as a result of the loss of the
Joint Labour Committee system in 2011, following the
John Grace (Kentucky Fried Chicken) High Court case.
It further facilitated the attack underway on members’
pay and conditions.

Concession agreements were necessary across a
number of industries such as Retail, Oil Distribution
and Wholesale. In many of these situations redundan-
cies were also implemented. These concession agree-
ments affected members’ pay and their conditions of
employment, including Defined Benefit Pension
Schemes due to significant funding issues and the re-
quirements of minimum funding standards. 

Despite the continuing need for such agreements,
where circumstances were favourable, there were sig-
nificant opportunities to begin securing pay increases
and the restoration of conditions in employment.
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Sector Campaigns and Initiatives

Stobart
The sector continues to pursue Stobart over the con-
tinued refusal of the employer to recognise the union
and engage with us on behalf of all the driver members
on site in Ballymun.

The sector continued with its strategy of pursuing indi-
vidual rights cases, lobbying of the client company and
pursuing improvements in pay and conditions of em-
ployment to the Labour Court.

During the period under review the sector secured a
number of significant outcomes for our members:

• 33 cases were taken and won under the Organ-
isation of Working Time Act. Compensation was
between €3,000 and €5,000.

• Two cases under the Unfair Dismissal Act won
– reinstatement awarded.

• TUPE case won by the union on Appeal from the
Rights Commissioner service, giving full legal
protection to 19 members who transferred by
Agreement.

• Labour Court – union won reinstatement of
bonus payments

• Labour Court – union won claim in respect of
calculation of payment to be made in respect of
Public Holiday entitlement 

The union also made a complaint about TESCO to the
Ethical Trading Initiative over its inability to ensure that
its supplier, Stobart, conceded employees’ rights to
engage in collective bargaining. This process is ongo-
ing.

Uniphar Retail Services
The sector undertook a significant organising cam-
paign at 60 individually privately owned pharmacies
around the country.

The campaign was initiated following unilateral cuts in
worker’s pay and conditions of employment. It was
protest led and involved the balloting of members for
industrial and strike action.

The outcome was an agreement around restoration of
conditions and recognition of the workers right to be
represented by SIPTU for collective bargaining pur-
poses.

Pay and Conditions of 

Employment Improvements

UPC
In the years 2013 and 2014, a 2% basic pay increase
was secured for our members.

RTE Credit Union
In 2014 the Labour Court awarded our members a 2%
pay increase with 12 months retrospection.

Ballymun Credit Union
In 2013, following protracted negotiations agreement
was secured to address pay and conditions of employ-
ment. The agreement provided for an increase in basic
pay of 17%, two additional annual leave days, and the
introduction of a sick pay scheme of six weeks in one
year.

In 2013, agreement was secured for a 2% basic pay
increase for our members. Agreement was secured
that provided for an amount equivalent to 4% for our
members in Athlone and amount equivalent to 1.6%
for our members in Dublin for 2014.

Bank of Ireland
The bank’s proposals on a new career and reward sys-
tem was accepted by an overwhelming majority of our
members (porters, security and output production) in
November, 2014.

The proposals set out a new career structure which will
open up opportunities for our members to transfer
across different grades within the bank. Under the pro-
posals, pay for performance will be the new model of
pay adjustment and in doing so the bank proposed to
buy out previous incremental pay scales. The offer in-
cluded a lump sum payment of 5% of salary. In addi-
tion, the offer contains a 1.75% pay increase effective
from 1st July, 2014 and a further 2% from the 1st Jan-
uary, 2015. The pay for performance mechanism will
then apply from the 1st January, 2016.

Naas Credit Union
In 2014 agreement was reached with this employer on
a pay performance model. Agreement was also se-
cured in relation to the introduction of a Defined Con-
tribution Scheme, to which the employer contribution
rate will be 11% - 13% and the employee contribution
rate will be 6% - 8% of basic pay.

In 2014 agreement was secured for a further lump
sum equal to 1% of basic salary, plus 2% on basic pay,
plus a voucher for €250.00 to be issued in January
2015 plus an additional day’s annual leave.
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Bar Council
In 2013 agreement was secured on a lump sum pay-
ment equivalent to 1.5% of salary and an additional
day’s annual leave entitlement for Admin and Clerical
staff.

TNT
In 2013, agreement was secured to pay our members
a 2% basic pay increase. In 2014 agreement was se-
cured to pay our members a 1.5% basic pay increase.

Killorglin Credit Union
Following lengthy discussions in 2013, on changes to
the employee handbook, agreement was secured
which will provide for enhanced maternity leave entitle-
ments.

IRMS Security
Our members accepted a Labour Court recommenda-
tion which provided for improvements in our member’s
service pay and holiday pay. 

Micronclean
Agreement secured in 2013 on the payment of annual
Christmas bonus of €250.00

Supervalue – Ballinasloe
A Labour Relations Commission proposal regarding the
payment of the agreement on Christmas bonus out-
standing for the years 2011, 2012 and 2013 was ac-
cepted by our members. The agreement provided for
payment of half the value outstanding with the matter

to be reviewed in 2014.

Donnycarney Credit Union
In 2014 agreement was secured on the reinstatement
of our member’s annual increments.

Dublin Street Parking Services
In 2014, following the serving of notice of intent to
take industrial and strike action, agreement was se-
cured with this company on the payment of an out-
standing 2.5% pay increase.

DHL
Agreement in 2014 was secured following protracted
negotiations in relation to the following categories:

• Artic Drivers hourly rate to €13.00 (from
€12.50) plus an increase of €1.00 an hour meal
allowance.

• Rigid Drivers additional €0.50 an hour meal 
allowance.

• 2% increase for employees on Labour Pool 
contracts

• 2% increase for employees on contracts Kraft,
BAP, ABP, Citywest, HP and Cork

Penneys
In 2014, agreement was secured on a 3% pay increase
for our members.

Athlone IT
Agreement was secured on a 3% basic increase for our
members employed in the Catering Section.

FAI
In 2014 following negotiations management agreed to
restore 10% to our member’s pay that had been uni-
laterally cut in 2012.

Shannon Heritage
In 2014 following negotiations our members had an
imposed 10% cut to their salary reinstated in full.

Tesco
In 2014 our members accepted a 2% pay increase ef-
fective with 1% from 1st March 2014 and 1% on 1st
September 2014.

AXA Insurance
In 2014, following extensive negotiations, agreement
was secured providing our members with an increase
in salary of up to 3%, plus the restoration of an addi-
tional annual leave day.

Fair City – Equity
An increase of 2.5% on the payment for the IPlayer was
accepted by our members.

Arnotts
In 2014 agreement was secured on the payment of a
2% basic pay increase for our members.

Calor Gas
Following lengthy negotiations our members accepted
the following pay proposal. The agreement runs for 18
months:
     1st April 2014 increases in the range 2% - 4%
     1st October 2014 increases in the range 2% - 4%
     €250.00 vouched paid 1st April 2014
     €250.00 vouched to be paid paid 1st January 
     2015
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Restructuring, Restoration

ACC Bank
The union engaged in a lengthy campaign and talks
process both politically and directly with this employer
following its decision, announced in 2013, to hand
their banking license back to the Department of Fi-
nance in 2014.

The union dealt with all issues relating to the redun-
dancy selection process, outsourcing, severance
terms, and early retirement options.

Ulster Bank
The porter grade was included by the bank in a review
of its operations. Arrangements for redeployment were
explored with the employer via the Independent Facili-
tator. 

The redundancy package agreed for employees wishing
to avail of the exit package was four weeks per year of
service, inclusive of statutory employment. The bank
has yet to honour a Labour Court recommendation re-
garding the inclusion of overtime in the redundancy
package.

Bank of Ireland
Agreement was secured in relation to the Defined Ben-
efit Pension Scheme as a result of a significant €10
million deficit.

A new hybrid scheme will see the existing scheme con-
tinue for future accrual with future pay increases being
subject to the new hybrid format.

Allied Irish Bank
Agreement was secured with this employer in relation
to the Defined Pension Scheme and the introduction
of a hybrid scheme.

The Defined Benefit Scheme is closed for future serv-
ice with past service being preserved.

Agreement was also secured with this company in re-
lation to its decision to outsource its internal support
services to the Noonan Service Group.

Credit Union Sector
There is considerable volatility and uncertainty in this
Sector. Over the period under review this Sector was
active in the following employments

Ballybunion Credit Union        Cost Reductions

Killorglin Credit Union             Review of Terms and
Conditions

Caherciveen Credit Union       Cost Reductions

Donnycarney Credit Union       Changes to Handbook

East Meath Credit Union        Merger Issues

St. Jarlath’s Credit Union        Changes to Terms and
Conditions

Naomh Padraig Credit Union   Merger Issues

Newbridge Credit Union          Restructuring/
Redundancy

St. Bernadette’s Credit Union   Redundancy and
change

Roscrea Credit Union             Redundancy and
change

Berehaven Credit Union          Redundancy and
change

Macroom Credit Union            Restructuring

Charleville Credit Union          Changes to Terms and
Conditions

Rathfarnham Credit Union      Changes to Working
Hours

Cork Community Credit Union    Changes to Terms and
Conditions/Mergers

Kilcloon Credit Union              Changes to Terms and
Conditions/Mergers

Kells Credit Union                 On-going dispute in 
relation this this 
employer’s refusal to
engage in Collective
Bargaining on our
members pay and 
conditions of 
employment.

G4S CIT
For the second time over the last number of years our
members in this Company, through their representa-
tives found themselves engaging in talks on a survival
plan.

G4S Static Guarding
A Labour Court recommendation was secured for our
members awarding twice the annual loss where
changes are sought to established conditions.

ISS
Restructuring and rationalisation were agreed with the
company across a number of sites.

Cleaning – Irish Rail sites – Changes to breaks, travel
scheme and the introduction of a new entrant hourly
rate of €12.00 was agreed.
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Resource Cleaners
On the Beaumont Hospital contract site an agreement
was secured, following the taking of strike action by
our members on compensation arrangements arising
out of the company’s implementation of changes to
the Sunday Premium.

Automobile Association
Agreement was secured in relation to changes to the
Defined Benefit Scheme arising out of shortfall in
meeting the minimum funding standards.

Noonan Service Group
Restructuring and rationalisation arrangements were
agreed across a number of sites and locations.
• University of Limerick – Issue regarding retirement

age
• St Vincent’s Hospital – Issues around unpaid 

overtime and public holiday payment arrears 
resolved to our members satisfaction

• St Luke’s Hospital – Allocation of overtime hours
agreed

• UCD Residence – Payment of wages arrears 
resolved to our members satisfaction

Grosvenor Cleaning
Agreement secured on the payment of compensation
in lieu of reduction sought in the rate of Sunday Pre-

mium.

Independent Newspapers
Changes were implemented to the Defined Benefit
Pension Scheme in this Company as required to meet
the minimum funding standards.

Marks and Spencer
The Company announced it planned to close the De-
fined Benefit Pension Scheme, in addition to seeking
redundancies, along with changes to Saturday, Sunday
and Overtime premiums. The Company also wished to
abolish the Christmas Bonus payment of four weeks’
pay or 10% of pay after 25 years.

Following extensive negotiations with the assistance
of the Labour Relations Commission and the Labour
Court, and the taking of strike action by SIPTU and
Mandate, agreement was secured which provided for:

• Closure of Defined Benefit Scheme to future ac-
crual but with provision for enhanced benefits in
wind down to help offset changeover. 

• In return for changes to premium rates, public hol-
iday rates and Christmas Bonus (voluntary) the
compensation buy out will be twice the value of the
loss.

Eason’s
For the second time over the last few years our mem-
bers in this employment were confronted with survival
plan proposals.

The company was seeking changes to members’ terms
and conditions of employment

Following an extensive and lengthy talks process, 
including the use of Independent Financial Assessors,
the assistance of the Labour Relations Commission
and the Labour Court agreement was secured which
provided for;

•    Christmas Bonus week would be deferred in 2013
and paid in the first quarter of 2014

•    Changes in relation to basic pay, freezing of 
increments, annual leave and premium payments
are temporary in nature and the union is not 
precluded from seeking the referrals of these cuts
depending on the trading circumstances.

Imperial Hotel
Following a lengthy talks process, including the assis-
tance of the Labour Relations Commission and the
Labour Court agreement was secured on a revised sick
pay scheme entitlement.

RTE Sports & Social Club
Following a significant fall in the club’s membership
and revenues over the last number of years, our mem-
bers accepted a reduction in working hours and to the
outsourcing of the catering facility.

Short Time / Lay Off

Multiprint 
In 2013 in order to save employment, our members in
the Print area agreed to work a week on and week off,
which lasted for a number of months.

Marchmount Packaging
In 2013, our members went on short-time for a period
of six weeks.

Arklow Golf Club
Staff continued to be placed on short time for the 
winter months.

Kenmare Golf Club
Staff continued to be placed on short time for the 
winter months.
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ALSAA
Staff continued to be on a 3 day week, arising from
the fall in the club’s membership and fall in use of the
facility.

Dundalk Golf Club
Members were on short time over the winter months
in the period under review due to the fall in member-
ship and fall in demand for use of the course.

Slane Valley Golf Club
Members were on short time over the winter months
in the period under review due to the fall in member-
ship and demand for use of the course.

Kendworth Clondalkin Group
Members on short time working for six months.

Clerys
In July 2013 following severe weather, the roof of the
Clery’s Store collapsed causing extensive damage,
which resulted in over 90 SIPTU members being laid
off for almost six months.

Agreement was secured that a number of SIPTU mem-
bers employed in the back room would be retained,
plus a guarantee that all those laid off would be called
back.

McKenna’s Hardware
Over the period under review the majority of our mem-
bers remained on a three-day week. Two drivers were
returned to full time working.

Texoil Galway
Our members were placed on a three day week over
the summer months of 2014.

Topaz
Our members were placed on a 3 day week over the
summer months of 2014.

Irish Equity, SIPTU and Equity UK met in Liberty Hall on Tuesday, 21st May,
2013 and debated the challenges confronting actors who live and work in the 
Republic of Ireland and international actors who come to work in Ireland. 
Photo: William Hederman

Fair Hotel workers pictured in July 2013.



Redundancies

Employer                                              Number                           Package

Ericsson (Athlone)                                     25 Compulsory                   Statutory entitlement plus 5.5 weeks 
per year of service

AIB                                                          120 voluntary                     Statutory entitlement plus 3 week’s 
pay per year of service 

                                                                                                        or 

                                                                                                        four week’s pay per year of service including
statutory entitlement. 

                                                                                                        A cap of the lesser of two years annualised
salary, including all pensionable elements, 
or €225,000 applied.

Ulster Bank                                              10 Voluntary                        Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service
subsequent recommendation regarding the 
inclusion of regular and fostered overtime 
in the calculation of the enhanced terms. 
Refused to be implemented by Bank 

Valero                                                      Voluntary                            Statutory plus 3 weeks per year of service

Eason’s (Drogheda)                                  7 Compulsory                      Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service

Eason’s (Warehouse)                                17 Compulsory                    Statutory plus 1.5 weeks per year of service

Eason’s Managers                                   3 Voluntary                          Statutory plus 3 weeks per year of service

Northgate Arinso                                      3 Compulsory                      Statutory

Berehaven Credit Union                             5 Compulsory                      Statutory

IMC Projectionists                                     5 Compulsory                      Statutory plus 2.5 weeks per year of service

Print & Display                                          3 Voluntary                          Statutory

Chubb CIT                                                30 Compulsory                    Statutory plus 4 weeks per year of service

Cavat Taverns                                           7 Voluntary                          Statutory

Old Darnley Lodge                                     9 Compulsory                      Statutory

Killarney Golf Club                                    17 Voluntary                        Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service

Rathfarnham Credit Union                         3 Voluntary                          Statutory plus 2.5 weeks per year of service

Mitie FM (Diageo Site)                               40 Compulsory                    Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service

Antiquarian Bookbinding                            2 Voluntary                          Statutory

Marks & Spencer                                      3 Compulsory                      Statutory plus 3 weeks per year of service

Fexco                                                       20 Voluntary                        Statutory plus 3 weeks per year of service

Gresham Hotel                                         9 Compulsory                      Statutory plus 1.5 weeks per year of service

Green Isle Hotel                                        7 Compulsory                      Statutory

Q Café                                                     5 Compulsory                      Statutory

CWS Boca                                                7 Voluntary                          Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service

Grosvenor Cleaning                                   6 Compulsory                      Statutory

Resource                                                 2 Compulsory                      Statutory

Hodges Figgis                                           3 Compulsory                      Statutory

Arklow Golf Club                                       2 Voluntary                          Statutory

St Bernadette’s Credit Union                     4 Voluntary                          Statutory plus €3,000

ISS Payroll                                                2 Compulsory                      Statutory plus 2 weeks per year of service

Wincanton (Superquinn)                            65 Voluntary                        Statutory

OCS Canon                                              3 Voluntary                          Statutory

ACC Bank                                                 180 Compulsory                  Statutory plus 3 weeks per year of service
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SIPTU Greyhound Recycling protest march from Liberty Hall to
City Hall where a contingent of Greyhound Recycling employees
and union representaives met with Dublin City Council members,
on 7th July 2014. Photo: Photocall Ireland
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Utilities and Construction 

Division

Utilities and Construction Divisional Committee 
The following were elected to serve on the Utilities and
Construction Divisional Committee. Tommy Wynne
(Transport Sector) is the elected Divisional President,
and Philip Casey (Energy Sector) Divisional Vice 
President. The current Divisional Committee took 
office following the Inaugural Divisional Conference
held in November 2010. The Committee held five
meetings in each year 2013 and 2014. 

Sector Name
Aviation Willie Hynes

Mary McCabe

Dorothy Prendergast1/
Bredeen Sharkey

Conor Swords

Construction Noel Coughlan

Greg Walsh

Michael Lambe 

Dick McGlew

Daniel O’Connell

William O’Shaughnessy jnr2/
Eddie Gunnery

Energy Philip Casey 
(Vice President)

Marcus MacMahon

Tony Merriman

Transport Kevin Brown

Pat Hartnett

Stephan Hannan

Ann Ryan

Tommy Wynne (President)

Retired Member Tom Donnelly 

1Dorothy Prendergast replaced by Bredeen Sharkey
(December 2013)
2William O’Shaughnessy replaced by Eddie Gunnery
(December 2013)

Divisional Standing Orders Committee

Richard Dignam, Stephen Hannan (Vice President),
Teresa Murphy (President), Kathleen O’Toole and
David Traynor

National Executive Council

Jack Dempsey, Ann Ryan and Anthony Blake 

National Trustee

Anton McCabe

Rules Revision Committee

Tony Merriman

Equality Committee

Amanda Kavanagh, Leonard Simpson and Ann Ryan 

National Standing Orders Committee

David Traynor 

Divisional Staff

Divisional Office:
Divisional Organiser: Christy McQuillan2/ 

Owen Reidy1

Administrative Assistant: Susan Dwan 

Aviation Sector
Sector Organisers: Teresa Hannick3/

Greg Ennis
Industrial Organisers: Tony Carroll and 

Jason Palmer4/
Karl Byrne/Neil McGovern5

Administrative Assistant: Anne Lindsay 
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Constructon Sector
Sector Organiser: Martin Meere

Industrial Organisers: David Lane, John Regan 
James Coughlan 
Pat McGrath 
Mary McElligott
Henry O’Shea
Jim Sheridan
Stephen Lewis6

and Denis Farrell7

Administrative Assistant: Rhona Alford 

Energy Sector
Sector Organiser: Greg Ennis/Adrian Kane8

Industrial Organiser: Oliver McDonagh
Administrative Assistant: Rosemary Gillespie

Transport Sector
Sector Organiser: Willie Noone
Industrial Organiser: Paul Cullen

John Murphy/
Michael Whelan9

Administrative Assistant: Miriam Smith 
and Lorraine Murphy/
Annette Quigney10

1Owen Reidy joined the Division from the Services Divi-
sion as Divisional Organiser in August 2013 and in No-
vember 2013, 2Christy McQuillan retired from the staff
of the union.

3Teresa Hannick transferred from the Aviation Sector of
the Division into the Services Division in November 2013
and was replaced by Greg Ennis,who transferred from
the Energy Sector of the Division. (Note: Greg did not
transfer until January 2014).

4Jason Palmer transferred from the Aviation Sector of the
Division to the Public Administration & Community Divi-
sion in June 2013 and was replaced by Karl Byrne who
transferred from the Manufacturing Division.

5Neil McGowan transferred from the Services Division to
the Aviation Sector of the Division in May 2014.

6Stephen Lewis transferred from the Organising Depart-
ment to the Construction Sector of the Division in July
2013.

7Denis Farrell transferred from BATU into the Construc-
tion Sector of the Division in October 2013 (Retired
2014).

8Adrian Kane transferred from the Services Division to
the Energy Sector of the Division in January 2014.

9Michael Whelan transferred from the Organising Unit to
the Transport Sector of the Division with particular 
responsibility for the Port and Docks Section in February
2014.

10Annette Quigney transferred from the Membership 
Information and Support Centre into the Utilities and
Construction Division in February 2014.

Sector Committee members 2013 and 2014

The following were elected to the Sector Committees:

Aviation Sector Committee

Richard Dignam
Dominic Harris
Willie Hynes
Kevin McCarthy (Chair)
Tony O’Connell
Kathleen O’Toole
Dorothy Prendergast (Vice Chair)
Catherine Prior 
Mary McCabe

Construction Sector Committee

2013 2014
Anthony Blake Anthony Blake
John Chandler John Chandler
Sean Clarke Sean Clarke
Noel Coughlan Noel Coughlan
Jack Dempsey Brendan Delaney
Steve Garvey Jack Dempsey
Eddie Gunnery (Vice Chair) Paul Farrell
Michael Lambe EddieGunnery (Vice Chair)
Sean McCarthy Michael Lambe
Dick McGlew Dick McGlew
Billy Memery Billy Memery 
(Chair) (Chair)
Daniel O’Connell Daniel O’Connell
William O’Shaughnessy (jnr) William O’Shaughnessy
(jnr) 
Patrick Peoples Patrick Peoples
Fergal Roche Fergal Roche
David Traynor David Traynor
Greg Walsh Greg Walsh
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Energy Sector Committee

2013                                2014
Philip Casey (Chair)            Philip Casey (Chair)
Marcus MacMahon            Owen Kilmurray
Malachy McMenamin          Marcus MacMahon
Tony Merriman                   Yvonne McGrath
Eugene Murphy                  Eugene Murphy 
                                        (Vice Chair)
Teresa Murphy (Vice Chair)  Teresa Murphy
Kieran Rigney                     Patrick Sheridan

Transport Sector Committee

2013                                2014
Kevin Brown                      Kevin Brown
Joseph Carrick                  Joseph Carrick
Pearse Cullinan                 Pearse Cullinan
Vincent Green                   Vincent Green
Stephen Hannan                  Stephen Hannan 
(Vice Chair)                          (Vice Chair)
Patrick Hartnett                 Patrick Hartnett
Shane Hovells                   Shane Hovells
David Keating                    David Keating
Mary Lonergan                  Mary Lonergan
William McCamley              William McCamley
Peter O’Toole                     Peter O’Toole
Tommy Wynne (Chair)         Tommy Wynne (Chair)

Membership & Organisation 

The Financial Membership of the Division for 2013 and
2014 was as follows: 

                                                                     
                                   2013                 2014

Aviation Sector              5,086                5,111

Construction Sector       7,375                7,036

Energy Sector                2,196                2,615

Transport Sector           5,680                6,251

                                 20,337              21,013

Training & Development

As part of our commitment to the ongoing development
and education of our workplace representatives, SIPTU
College provided training courses throughout the Divi-
sion for the period in question as follows:

Divisional Training

One Day Divisional Staff Training – Time Management
– 8th November, 2013

Aviation Sector

Three Day Advanced Activists’ Training – 
28-30 May 2013

Two Day Anti-Bullying & Harassment Training – 
17-18 June 2013 

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
30 January - 1 February 2013 

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
16-18 April 2013 

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
22-24 October 2013 

One Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
6 December 2013

Three Day Effective Meetings & Communication – 
25-27 September 2013

Four Day Health & Safety FETAC – 
18-21 February 2013 

Four Day Health & Safety FETAC Shannon – 
29 April -2 May 2013 

Four Day Health & Safety FETAC –
1-4 October 2013

One Day Sector Training – Knock Airport – 
9 December 2013 

Construction Sector

Three Day Advanced Activists’ Training – 
28-30 May 2013

Three Day Advanced Activists’ Training – 
20-22 November 2013 

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training –
22-24 October 2013 

One Day District Committee Training/Chairperson
Course – 21 August 2013 

One Day District Committee Training – 
24 June 2013

One Day District Committee Training – 
17 July 2013
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One Day District Committee Training – 
23 July 2013

One Day District Committee Training – 
21 August 2013 

Four Day Health & Safety FETAC – 
2-5 April 2013

Energy Sector

Two Day Anti-Bullying & Harassment Training – 
17-18 June 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
16-18 April 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
22-24 October 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
6-8 November 2013

Transport Sector

Three Day Advanced Activists’ Training Dublin Port
Company – 9-11 April 2013 

Three Day Advanced Activists’ Training – 
28-30 May 2013

Two Day Anti-Bullying & Harassment Training - 
17-18 June 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
16-18 April 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
22-24 October 2013

Three Day Basic Activists’ Training – 
6-8 November 2013

Two Day Effective Meetings & Communication – 
27-28 February 2013 

Three Day Effective Meetings & Communication – 
25-27 September 2013

Four Day Health & Safety FETAC – 
18-21 February 2013 

At the start of 2014 the Division decided to centralise
the training of stewards and activists. We decided to
plan a range of courses from January 2014 to July
2014 and then from September 2014 to December
2014. We put an additional 180 representatives
through a range of training courses including, basic
and advanced activists, health and safety, employment
law, committee building, media skills, bullying and ha-

rassment courses, among others. Courses took place
in a range of venues including, Dublin, Cork, Galway,
Shannon and Knock. The centralisation of the training
was supported by each of the four sectors and proved
a success.

Scholarship Winners 2013 

Gaeltacht

Aviation: Colm Grant, Charles Grant (Aer Lingus)

Construction: Glen Monaghan Hanlon, Paul Hanlon
(Redbro Manufacturing)

Transport: Liam Cummins, Michael Cummins 
(Dublin Bus)

Transport: Stephen Martin, Tony Martin 
(Dublin Bus) 

Transport: Anna Treacy, Joe Treacy (Dublin Bus)

2L (Second Level) 

Energy          Darragh O’Neill, Kenneth O’Neill 
(Inland Fisheries Ltd.)

3L (Third Level)

Transport      Owen McCormack*, Owen McCormack
(Dublin Bus)

*This Scholarship is awarded to the member himself 

Scholarship Winners 2014

Gaeltacht

Aviation:    
Niamh Goodman, Bredeen Sharkey (Aer Lingus)

Construction:
Áine McQuaid, Siobhán McQuaid (HSG Zander)

2L (Second Level)

Construction:
Áine Mc Quaid, Siobhán McQuaid (HSG Zander)
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Anne Scargill (left) and Betty Cook of Women Against Pit Closures
with locked-out workers at the Greyhound depot on Crag Avenue,
Dublin on 6th August 2014. Picture: Jimmy ompson
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Aviation Sector

2013 and 2014 continued to be a challenging time for
the Aviation Sector with the economic recession con-
tinuing to impact on our members. Restructurings and
cost containment along with significant pension related
issues were key themes within the Aviation Sector dur-
ing the period covered by the report.

The Dublin Airport Authority

Cost Recovery Programme (CRP)
The ‘Return on Equity’ targets contained within the
CRP Agreement of February 2010 continued to be as-
sessed throughout 2013 and 2014. While the target
level required for the return of temporary pay contribu-
tions by our members under the CRP was not
achieved, other matters have progressed. The issues
of Pay Progression for New Entrants, Anomalies/Unin-
tended Pay contributions and Gain/Profit Share enti-
tlements were referred to the Labour Relations
Commission (LRC) following protracted but unproduc-
tive local level talks throughout 2013. In 2014 these
matters were explored in conciliation and the substan-
tive matter of pay is expected to be ultimately decided
by way of a Labour Court recommendation.

Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme (IASS)
The protracted process for dealing with this most com-
plex and important of issues for members in Aer Lin-
gus, DAA and the Shannon Airport Authority, resulted
in multiple Conciliation Conferences at the LRC in
2012 and three Labour Court hearings in January and
May 2013. Although the Labour Court recommenda-
tions were not to our members’ satisfaction, interac-
tions between ICTU and the three main employers
continued thereafter. In 2014, the matter became the
subject of consideration by a government appointed
“expert panel.” The expert panel issued its report and
further to subsequent clarification the matter was fi-
nalised and accepted through ballots within both com-
panies. 

Commission for Aviation Regulation (CAR)
While the CAR featured intermittently in the media for
multiple reasons during 2013 and 2014, the next draft
determination in its five year cycle was due in mid-
2014. The union made a comprehensive submission
and notes that the draft determination is of critical im-
portance, not just for future terms and conditions of
employment but also for the growth and development
potential for facilities at Ireland’s national airport.

DAA – Separation of Shannon Airport – 1st
January 2013
Following protracted engagement with the DAA and the
Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport, the sep-
aration of Shannon Airport into a stand-alone airport

company, Shannon Airport Authority (SAA), took place
on 1st January 2013 with plans to merge the property
portfolio of Shannon Development and to merge Shan-
non Heritage Ltd into one entity. The union addressed
the Joint Oireachtas Committee on Transport and Com-
munications on the matter.

DAA Shared Services Centre (SSC)
The DAA SSC is based at Shannon Airport and we con-
tinue to represent our DAA members here on such is-
sues as resolution of their participation in the Clerical
Attendance Incentive Scheme and the ongoing issue
of their Performance Related Pay (PRP).

DAA Cork Airport
A major restructuring of the operational areas of Cork
Airport took place in 2013, involving a voluntary redun-
dancy programme, along with roster restructuring and
work re-organisation involving the Car Parks, Informa-
tion Desk/ ID, Office/Airport, Police/Fire, Service/Avi-
ation and Search Unit/Management. Up to 50 staff
exited the company in Cork under the voluntary sever-
ance scheme.

Shannon Airport Authority (SAA)
Following the establishment of the SAA, discussions
involved “bedding down” many issues and some out-
standing matters were referred to the LRC and the
Labour Court.

Servisair/Swissport, Cork and Shannon
In the period under review issues such as reduced
hours were introduced during the winter schedule to
avoid lay-offs.

In Shannon, the company made nine members com-
pulsorily redundant on a statutory only basis. We
brought a claim to the Labour Court, which recom-
mended in LCR 20505 that the affected members
should be given two weeks per year of service in addi-
tion to their statutory entitlements. The company re-
jected the recommendation and after protracted
discussions and the threat of industrial action we se-
cured the implementation of the recommendation for
members.

OCS
Following negotiations with OCS at the LRC, we se-
cured a 3% pay increase backdated to 1st September
2013 and a further 0.5% payable in 2016. OCS staff
at Shannon Airport transferred under TUPE regulations
to ICTS on 31st December 2013 as the PRM (People
with Reduced Mobility) Contract was awarded to ICTS
in Shannon.

Shannon Aerospace Ltd (SAL)
Management sought to re-locate its Line Maintenance
Group back to the SAL facility rather than in Shannon
Airport and this involved a change in working practices,
incurring a loss of earnings to the nine members in-
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volved. A resolution resulted in compensation for
Group 1 of €17,700, Group 2 €13,000 and Group 3
€12,200. 

Management at SAL sought discussions with the Shop
Stewards’ Committee regarding the establishment of
a defined contribution pension scheme (DC Scheme).
Members in SAL rejected the proposal. Management
threatened to close the defined benefit scheme (DB
Scheme) and SIPTU balloted its members on industrial
action and/or strike action as a result. The matter was
referred to the LRC and ultimately to the Labour Court
which recommended that some alternative to the DB
Scheme be looked at. However, members rejected this
recommendation, and notice of industrial action and
strike action was served on the company. An interven-
tion by the LRC averted industrial action and discus-
sions under the auspices of the LRC culminated in a
proposal with a cash injection into the DB fund, a dis-
tribution of the fund using the SORP (Statement of Rea-
sonable Projections – this is a fairer and more realistic
calculation than the MFS, Minimum Funding Standard)
model and a cash injection into DC accounts, as well
as a compensatory element which could be taken in
cash or invested in the DC fund.

Hamilton Sundstrand, Shannon
Improvements in terms and conditions included alter-
ations to the bonus scheme whereby members failing
to achieve the bonus target can carry it over to the
next period in order to catch up and make the bonus.
Pay increases were secured of 2.5% and an increase
in the bankable number of hours at 1.5 times and at
2 times to 24 hours. Overtime will be payable after 24
hours.

LTTS
Lufthansa began discussions with the union on trans-
ferring its defined benefit pension scheme to a defined
contribution scheme during 2013. In 2014, we se-
cured an identical agreement to the one achieved in
SAL. Ongoing issues such as internal transfer of staff
remained under review. 

Transaero Ireland Ltd (TEI)
Following the takeover of this aircraft maintenance fa-
cility by the Russian Transaero Airline, ongoing discus-
sions have taken place on re-organising the operation
of maintenance in the plant. A proposal by the man-
agement to roster staff on a six day week for two
weeks and five days for one week with no shift pre-
mium was rejected by members and a new proposal is
being drawn up by management.

SR Technic, Cork
Improvements were negotiated with the company to
the Key Performance Indicators (KPI) bonus scheme,
along with improvements to the grievances and disci-
plinary procedures. A pay increase of 2% was secured,

improvements were made to the attendance scheme,
which management had wanted to eliminate.

Kerry Airport
Following the withdrawal of the Public Service Obliga-
tion (PSO) Kerry to Dublin route, staff were reduced
from two shifts per day to one shift. Subsequently,
after 12 months the PSO route was reinstated but
within shorter daily working hours involving a morn-
ing/afternoon shift and a day shift. Management paid
shift pay of 16% to the morning/afternoon shift and no
shift pay for the day shift. (There is no difference in
the hours worked but there is a difference in the value
of the premium i.e. 8% versus 16%.) Members sought
the reintroduction of the 16% for both shifts. The
Labour Court recommended 8% for the day shift which
was accepted by members. 

PWAI
It was announced in October 2013 that the plant would
close over the following 18 months and meetings took
place with regard to agreeing an exit package and an
orderly wind-down. Final agreement on the matter was
secured in 2014.

Aer Lingus
Numerous meetings took place on the automated ros-
ter system (INFORM) in 2013. Introduction was agreed
as part of the Greenfield Agreement. Issues arose
from the inability of the system to handle all of the
local agreements in Dublin Station. This system also
heralded the introduction of new technology such as
iPads and Fobs for vehicles.

We had raised issues including outsourcing, grading
specialist contracts, training, resource pool and non-
agreed rates of pay with the company for staff who are
not covered by the Aer Lingus Registered Employment
Agreement. The sector has finalised and concluded a
number of legacy issues to the advantage of members
in 2014. We continue to “work” our collective agree-
ments strategically in Aer Lingus. Speculation regard-
ing the possible sale of the governments’ 25.1% stake
arose in late 2014.

Airport Services Consolidated Ltd – T2
The Internal Disputes Body (IDB) determination on pay
progression was announced. This gives certainty on
appraisals and grading into the future. A number of ap-
peals on appraisal awards were lodged.

Lufthansa Airmotive
This employer announced the closure of the Plant and
the Labour Court recommendation that issued an in-
ferior redundancy package for members than hereto-
fore which was subsequently accepted in a ballot of
members. All staff will exit the plant by May 2014.
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Construction Sector

The years of 2013/14 saw an increasing decline in
Construction activity across the economy as a result
of the economic collapse that had occurred in
2008/2009. At the peak of the boom the industry em-
ployed over 250,000 workers by the last quarter of
2013 that figure was just 103,600. At the height of
this unsustainable boom the industry accounted for
over 12% of total employment across the economy; by
the end of the period under review it was 5.6%. 

There are 40,500 construction related firms today,
which is 34% less than in 2006, and 96.7% of con-
struction related firms employ less than 10 people,
hence the real challenge for SIPTU is gaining access
to and organising members in the industry appropriate
to our category and grades. It is clear that our mem-
bers have been the largest casualty of the economic
crash, the results of which we are still dealing with on
a daily basis.

The REA
As per our last report in 2012, the CIF and associated
employers looked for draconian cuts of up to 20% in
the terms and conditions within the REA in 2010, and
the Labour Court recommended cuts of 7.5%. This was
seen as a derogation from the REA to be reviewed in
2012. In 2012 the employers sought further cuts to
the REA with the Court recommending a further reduc-
tion of 2.5% and a new starter rate of €12 per hour.
This recommendation, unlike the previous one, was
not put to ballot nor was it acceptable to SIPTU and its
members. Subsequently, in May 2013, the Supreme
Court struck down the REA legislation and made all ex-
isting REAs (as legal instruments) invalid. Our position
has been and has remained that the terms within the
REA constitute a collective agreement between the
parties and form the terms and conditions of employ-
ees who were employed prior to the collapse of the
REA. Obviously, in the current economic climate this
position is a difficult and challenging one to sustain.
Our sector and union (in conjunction with other Unions
in the Congress CIC – Construction Industry Congress)
have lobbied, demonstrated and advocated for the
restoration of robust and clear legislation which takes
account of the views and opinions expressed by the
Supreme Court, but also facilitates the making of
agreements that can be registered and legally upheld
between the parties in our industry. At the time of
going to print Heads of a Bill for such legislation has
been drafted and published and we hope this critical
piece of collective bargaining infrastructure for the Con-
struction Sector, and indeed other sectors of the econ-
omy, can be passed into law as soon as possible.

Union Organising
The sector has placed a significant emphasis on main-
taining our existing membership and also seeking to
grow our membership in 2013/14. We have been
working collaboratively and in partnership with our 
colleagues in the Strategic Organising Department to
organise construction workers proper to our category.
This work is paying off:

   Joiners      Joiners        Joiners        Joiners
    2011         2012           2013          2014
     1014         1668            2863          3,903
         
This incremental trajectory of growth in new members
organised and recruited into our industry by our Sector
Staff, the Strategic Organising Staff and crucially by
our existing activists and membership outpaces any
slight upturn in the growth of employment within the
construction industry.

Roadstone 
The Agreement in Roadstone regarding cost cutting
measures continued during the years covered in this
report. The findings of the Independent Assessor re-
garding the finances of the Company suggested that
cuts to the extent of €6m per annum were required. A
number of meetings and LRC Hearings took place at
which the union side contended that the savings iden-
tified by the Assessor had been reached due to redun-
dancies and cost cutting measures implemented by
the company. However, Roadstone disagreed with this
position and in the autumn of 2012 implemented sav-
age cuts to the workers’ Bonus Scheme paying only
11% of the sum due. 

Negotiations continued in different forums during
2013 and the unions provided back up information
showing that the company had achieved its savings as
identified by the Independent Assessor. However,
again the company cut the workers’ bonus by a similar
figure at the end of 2013. In 2014, members voted for
strike on the outstanding matter. Subsequent to this
strike, which lasted a number of weeks, the parties en-
gaged with the Labour Court and both sides accepted
the subsequent recommendation with clarifications.
Parallel to the above discussions, negotiations on the
pension scheme took place. 

John Sisk & Son Holdings Ltd
This Company has struggled to win meaningful con-
tracts since our last Biennial Conference and as a re-
sult our ever diminishing permanent workforce remains
under threat from redundancy and lay off. The com-
pany has also suffered major losses due to contracts
it took on abroad. It has introduced a new Managing
Director to the company. 
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Tara Mines New Boliden
Towards the back end of 2012 the full workforce in
Tara Mines was placed on protective notice by the man-
agement in order to leverage a new agreement which
would contain pay cuts of between 10% and 17% in ad-
dition to not honouring pay elements in the agreement
at the time.

In January 2013, with the assistance of the LRC, we
secured an agreement that prevented the company
from any further unilateral action while we were engaged
in intensive discussions with the LRC. This ultimately
concluded with a Labour Court recommendation denying
the company pay cuts and recommending that it
should go with the union plan to improve efficiencies
and operational change.

Protective notice was lifted on our members’ 
acceptance of a new agreement which reinstated the-
pay elements of the previous agreement. Manpower in
the mine fell by 50 through normal retirements, early
retirements and natural terminations.

BBCLG
Following the merger under TUPE of the companies
(CLG, Emerald Gas and GMC LTD) in BBCLG, a new
agreement was secured reducing the company’s claim
for 76 redundancies to 65. The redundancy terms were
4.5 weeks per year of service inclusive of statutory en-
titlements plus pay in lieu of notice, plus allowances
of €1,500 for two to seven years’ service, €2,000 for
seven to 12 years’ service, €2,500 for 12 to 17 years’
service and €3,500 for more than 17 years. 

Members with less than one years’ service got
€2,500 and members with less than two years’ 
service got €5,000.

Lagan Brick
Following a very protracted and dirty strike this dis-
pute was resolved with the terms of the agreement
and its closure being confidential to the parties.
When the strike ended it took a further six months to
secure the final payments to the 25 members in-
volved. This was due to the company frustrating the
process in every way it could.     

Greyhound
In early 2014 industrial relations continued to deteri-
orate in this company with the employer continuously
seeking additional productivity, restructurings and
pay cuts of up to 35%. The union and employer en-
gaged extensively with the LRC and subsequently the
Labour Court in the first 5 months of 2014. In the
summer of 2014, the employer contrary to the collec-
tive agreement unilaterally altered members’ condi-
tions of employment and misrepresented the terms

of a Labour Court recommendation. We balloted our
members’ for strike action in the event that the em-
ployer cut their pay. Before we could serve the appro-
priate notice Greyhound locked our members out of
work and the lockout began. Straight away the image
of a Lockout in 2014 caught the public imagination
and our dispute garnered support from other unions
in Ireland and abroad, from progressive political
groupings and NGOs, and from ordinary Irish citizens,
and indeed some progressive artists including
Christy Moore and Don Baker. A Greyhound workers’
solidarity fund was set up and received contributions
that sustained the members during the lockout.
Members and their supporters picketed and
protested and lobbied politicians on the core issues
that led to the dispute, i.e., the complete lack of reg-
ulation in the waste industry and the ridiculous and
unusual practice of competition in the market rather
than competition for the market. The union sought to
expose the cowboy practices in the industry and mo-
bilise civic society in support of the Greyhound work-
ers and their families. Many community groups also
gave significant practical support to the workers who
were locked out. The company sought to injunct
some workers over allegations of non-peaceful pick-
eting. The LRC was engaged several weeks into the
lockout but little progress was made. Ultimately, the
union and company’s legal teams, with the support
of officials from the Construction sector and the
workers’ committee reached an agreement on a re-
turn to work for those that wished to do so and an
acceptable redundancy package for those who
wished to leave. Of the 25% of workers who sought
to return half did so on their previous conditions of
employment. The other half agreed to cuts of 15%-
20% with an agreed lump sum buy out. The lockout
and dispute ended in October 2014.

Energy & Natural Resources

Sector

We have now experienced over 20 years of liberalisa-
tion in the energy markets across Europe. The conse-
quences have been profound. Many countries who
were in the first wave of the privatisation of energy mar-
kets have suffered chronic under-investment in infra-
structure because of the imperative of maximising
immediate profits over long-term investment. In the
UK, for example, the margin of surplus energy capacity
over demand has shrunk to the most dangerously nar-
row levels since electricity became universally available
in the 1930s. The task of investment in infrastructure
in a largely privatised utility market is made all the
harder because of the intense pressure created by
shareholders to deliver extraordinarily high financial
rates of return. If liberalisation of energy markets was
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e Dublin Council of Trade Unions and Community Groups took part in a
march in Dublin city centre on 12th October, 2013 to demonstrate opposition
to the Government’s austerity policies. Photo: Photocall Ireland.
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to achieve one thing it was surely cheaper energy
prices for the consumer. In Ireland electricity prices ac-
tually had to be increased in order to allow private in-
terests compete in electricity generation. 

The Programme for Government, if implemented in full,
would have delivered significant elements of our public
utilities into private hands. SIPTU and the ICTU lobbied
at every turn against the sale of state assets and we
have been successful to a large degree given the huge
economic crisis that the country faced. The Govern-
ment policy on the transfer of ESB assets to Eirgrid
was reversed, so too was the sale of harvesting rights
in Coillte. More recently the decision to sell the ESB
peat-burning stations has been over-turned. Regret-
tably, it was not possible to reverse the sale of Bord
Gais Energy which took place at the end of 2013.

We need to continue challenging the neo-liberal ortho-
doxies that state that competition and choice will lower
energy prices for the consumer and therefore are good
for society at large. The history of liberalisation in the
energy markets has shown that the imperative to de-
liver short-term profit to shareholders leads to chronic
under-investment which is neither good for society, nor
indeed the consumer in the long run. We need to con-
tinue to argue for publicly owned utility companies that
prioritise investment over profit, provide consumers’
energy at a reasonable cost and ensure that workers
receive a decent standard of living.

Organising
The Energy Sector was re-titled the Energy & Natural
Resources Sector at the end of 2013. A number of
new employments transferred into the Sector including
New Boliden (Tara Mines), Priority Drilling, Lisheen
Mines, Phillips 66 and Irish Water. BOC Gas and Calor
Gas have been transferred to the Services Division. 

After the restructuring of the union took place in 2010,
the union’s Vice-President led a campaign to ensure
that we have an accurate database which reflects the
state of union organisation on an employment by em-
ployment basis. The Energy and Natural Resources
Sector density levels tend to be very high and we have
also very good union organisation at section level, but
we need to ensure that we are vigilant and maximise
union density in each of our respective employments.

The key area we need to target are Irish Water and the
newly privatised element of what was Bord Gais Energy
i.e., Centrica. The Group of Unions at the ESB are also
progressing plans to increase density in the ESB sub-
companies. 

Bord Gáis
Sale of Energy Division
The decision to sell Bord Gáis Energy after a period of
on/off negotiations, finally took place at the end of
2013. Bord Gais Energy has now been sold to Centrica
(formally British Gas) and Brookfield, a North American
gas and energy utility company. 

The proposals concerning the sale brokered through
the LRC provided for:

- The application of TUPE
- The continuation of the Collective Agreement

R2000 (including the provision which ensures
there will be no compulsory redundancies)

- Employees may still opt for redeployment within
Bord Gais and Irish Water and will be accommo-
dated where possible

- The establishment of a defined benefit pension
scheme, replicating the scheme in place in Bord 
Gáis

- The establishment of a ‘wrap around’ mechanism
which ensures that pensions will be in line with
final salary

- Compensation ranging from €2,000 – €8,000
linked to service.

ESOP
As a result of the sale of Bord Gáis Energy an agree-
ment was reached with Bord Gáis to buy the ESOP
shares. This resulted, on average, in a pay-out of
€58,000 for members of the ESOT. Recognition
should be given to Ollie McDonagh and Eugene Murphy
and all of the Negotiating Committee who secured a
very impressive deal for members in Bord Gáis. 

New Pay Model
In 2013, a new Pay Model Agreement provided for the
introduction of a performance related pay system. It
was introduced against a back-drop of a Regulator
seeking to reduce payroll costs in the company by
€9.6 million. The Payment Model had been previously
rejected by members. The proposals will affect new en-
trants only. Existing members will only be affected if
they apply for promotion. However, existing employees
may opt into the Scheme on a voluntary basis if they
desire. The Scheme also provides an opportunity for a
bonus at the end of the year based on individual per-
formance, business unit performance and corporate
performance. Although extremely dubious about per-
formance related pay schemes, SIPTU welcomed the
fact that there will be no job losses and no decrease
in the earnings of our present members.

The union also secured permanent contracts for 58
workers who were engaged on fixed-term contracts in
the context of an overall settlement. The proposals
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were accepted by a 60 - 40 majority. An additional one-
off payment of €1,000 per person was paid on accept-
ance.

Bord Na Móna
There was a serious deterioration in the industrial re-
lations climate in 2013/14 in Bord na Móna. This de-
terioration occurred against a backdrop of declining
peat reserves and a disastrous harvest in 2012.
These difficulties in the normal course of events are,
however, manageable and both the Group of Unions
and Bord na Móna management have steered the com-
pany through rougher waters. Regrettably, the key rea-
son for the deterioration has resulted from
management ditching the partnership approach that
typified industrial relations at the company since the
late 1980s.

Pay Claim
The Group of Unions at Bord na Móna had sought to
have the terms of a Labour Court hearing implemented
following its recommendation in April 2011 which sup-
ported the Group of Union’s claim for the application
of the 3.5% pay award outstanding from the Towards
2016 Agreement. There then followed an intervention
by the LRC and subsequent initiative by the Chair of
Bord na Móna. The proposals which emerged from this
initiative provided for an increase of 1.75% on basic
pay (non-pensionable) and a 1.75% target related pay-
ment. 

These proposals were rejected 57% to 43% in May
2012. Workers then commenced a series of one-day
strikes. This action was discontinued towards the end
of the summer as the scale of the emerging harvest
crisis began to emerge. The poor harvest coupled with
a vindictive management attitude resulted in wide-
spread lay-offs and significant losses in income for the
majority of our members. There has been a stand-off
in relation to the substantive issue which still remains
unresolved. 

Continuing Industrial Unrest
January 2013 began with unofficial industrial action in
the Transport Section in Horticulture as a result of
management’s engagement of contractors. The year
ended as it began with further industrial unrest as
members of the Stores Staff in Boora Works, Blue Ball,
Co Offaly, were locked out as a result of the company’s
attempts to force through unilateral change. This issue
was temporarily resolved through the intervention of
the LRC. Management also sought to reduce the earn-
ings of our members who lay rail lines for the narrow
gauge railway system used for transporting peat. This
issue remains unresolved and may be the subject of
future industrial action.
Pension (GESS Scheme)

An earlier proposal in mid-2012 to address critical dif-
ficulties within the Scheme was overwhelmingly re-
jected in a GOU (Group Of Unions) ballot. The rejection
of the proposal by union members led management to
report to the trustees that it had no solution to the is-
sues put forward by the unions. The trustees sought
meetings with all parties concerned, the GOU, the non-
union lower management members of the scheme and
the company. Subsequently, a working document of is-
sues was put together by the trustees and an inde-
pendent facilitating company pension and investments
experts Attain was engaged. A long series of meetings
with Attain began in October 2012 and in February
2013 a proposal was put by the independent chair to
both management and unions. The proposal involved
increasing the retirement age from 60 to 65 plus a one
year pay freeze on pensionable salary. In addition,
management was to put a total of €50m into the
scheme over a ten year period ending in 2022.

The union and non-union group were willing to run with
the proposal. However, management returned with a
position stating that that it would contribute only
€48.5m and the ten years from bridging the deficit
would run from 2013 to 2023. Further negotiations
took place and a final proposal which was acceptable
to all sides now awaits Departmental approval.

AES (BNM Subsidiary)
AES is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bord na Móna. It
is comprised of a number of smaller waste providers
which were acquired by AES. Issues relating to the
standardisation and harmonisation of terms and con-
ditions across the company dominated the IR agenda
in 2013 and 2014. The company has made significant
losses since its acquisition by Bord na Móna due to
the highly competitive nature of the waste and recy-
cling sectors. The dispute in Greyhound also in 2014
highlighted the need for an ERO in the Waste business.
This is the only effective way to ensure we do not con-
tinue the race to the bottom.

Edenderry Power (BNM Subsidiary)
The issue of management insisting on a no strike
clause in the Company/Union Agreement was referred
to the LRC on the 15th October 2013 and agreement
was reached. The no strike clause has been withdrawn
and new wording put forward by SIPTU was accepted.

Coillte Worker Director Success
Following a ballot of all SIPTU members, Thomas 
O’Malley was elected to serve out the current term as
Worker Director on the Board of Coillte. The term 
alternates on a historically agreed basis between 
IMPACT and SIPTU. 
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Closure of Dundrum Sawmills
In January 2013 Coillte announced its decision to
close Dundrum Sawmills. Intensive negotiations took
place, initially at local level and subsequently at the
LRC. The proposals, which were accepted by our mem-
bers, provided for the following:

- Redeployment for all five members or an 
enhanced exit package for all five members

- Relocation compensation
- Red-circling of existing rates

Restructuring
In March 2012, Coillte announced a major restructur-
ing programme entitled ‘Destination 2012’ project. The
proposals provided for the reduction of staff from
1,008 to 800 through a combination of voluntary sev-
erance/early retirements and the non-filling of vacan-
cies created by natural attrition in 2012 & 2013.
Business Area Units (BAU) would replace the old dis-
trict/regional structures and a new position of ‘Forest
Technician’ would be available to our members in the
industrial grades.

Intensive negotiations took place over a six month pe-
riod. Settlement proposals were concluded at the LRC
in late August. The proposals were subsequently put
to a ballot of our members in September and were ac-
cepted. 

The agreement encompasses: a new Business Area
Unit structure, the mapping of all existing Area Fore-
man posts to that of Forest Technician, the payment
of overdue Perfomance Management Employee Devel-
opment (PMED) payments for 2011, additional annual
leave for next three years, minimal co-operation
voucher payments and floor-numbers for Forest Oper-
ations. The agreement thus ensures we retain a pres-
ence within Coillte after years of diminishing
permanent positions, following years of contractor en-
croachment. All existing terms and conditions are pro-
tected ncluding pay-structure mechanisms, weekly pay,
and locational centre point.

Reversal of Sale of Harvesting Rights
The Government reversed its decision in relation to
leasing of harvesting rights in Coillte forests. This was
as a result of the widespread revulsion of the proposal
throughout all of society. SIPTU and IMPACT lobbied ex-
tensively together with other progressive groups and
the timber industry.

ESB
Pension
The Pension deficit/liability issue dominated industrial
relations in ESB throughout the latter part of 2012 and
2013. The defined benefit pension scheme has had

funding issues similar to many DB schemes in opera-
tion in the state. The origins of the dispute, which was
ultimately resolved through the intervention of the LRC
in December 2013, related to a decision by ESB man-
agement to change the description of the pension
scheme in its 2010 annual reports. In so doing the
company absolved itself of all future deficits.

The response from the Group of Unions at the ESB was
to engage in a long campaign which involved political
lobbying, legal and industrial action. A Special Dele-
gate Conference of all ESB Shop Stewards took place
on 21st September 2013 in Liberty Hall at which a mo-
tion for industrial action and strike action was unani-
mously passed. The subsequent ballot for strike action
was overwhelmingly endorsed by the wider member-
ship.

The strike was called off in December 2013 following
the intervention of the LRC. Its proposals, which were
accepted by both sides, ensured that the defined ben-
efit scheme would be described as such in the com-
pany’s accounts. 

Sale of Assets
As part of the deal entered into by the Government the
ESB was obliged to dispose of €400 million of Power
Generation assets. The ESB sold Marchwood Power
Station in England for €161 million and had proposed
the sale of Lough Ree and Shannonbridge Power Sta-
tions. The proposed sale of the peat-burning stations
would have involved the ESB continuing to operate and
maintain the power stations directly. The decision to
sell the peat burning stations was ultimately reversed
and the Government received an increased dividend in
lieu of the proposed sale.

Cost Reductions-Interlock Process
The ESB presented proposals to the Group of Unions
seeking to reduce the cost base in the company by
€140 million by 2015. These proposals provided for
the loss of annual lump-sum payments, capped profit
share payments, overtime/after-hours pay reductions,
mileage/ subsistence and car allowance cuts, a pay
pause for a further 27 months, loss of station payment
agreements, 700 voluntary redundancies and 300 va-
cancies created by national attrition not being filled in
the next two years. Negotiations took place across the
five different business units on cost cutting measures. 

Targeted redundancy numbers were achieved across
all business units except Power Generation, where the
targeted number of redundancies was not achieved
and resulted in a shortfall of €5.3 million; this resulted
in Power Generation workers suffering reductions in
pay.
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Following a sequence of 12 general meetings of over
5,000 staff held in March/April of 2012 to explain pro-
posals to cut ESB’s cost base by €140m by 2015,
based on the 2010 pay roll costs, the proposals were
accepted by a ratio of 2:1 in a recent ballot of all GOU
members.

Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI)
Restructuring
The cutbacks in public spending, coupled with the im-
positions of the Haddington Road Agreement, have im-
pacted negatively on our members in IFI. The
Government’s Employment Control Framework reduced
the numbers employed in IFI to slightly over three hun-
dred. This was from a service which historically em-
ployed in excess of 500 employees. Government policy
necessitated a restructuring of the service in order to
maximise performance. As part of this restructuring
process SIPTU insisted on up-skilling and a claim was
submitted for the regrading of General Operative to
Fishery Officer. The regrading and up-skilling of this co-
hort of our membership had been a longstanding goal
of the union. IFI finally agreed to the terms of the re-
grading in December 2013. The agreement provided
for the General Operatives assimilation to the Fishery
Officers’ pay scale, accompanied by concessions in in-
cremental credit.

Our members in IFI, however, as with their colleagues
across the public service, have struggled to maintain
a service which was starved of resources over a long
number of years. The restructuring proposals, inter
alia, attempted to alter longstanding and effective re-
porting relationships, staff reductions, base rationali-
sation, centralisation of certain functions, a new Staff
Scheme and revised Environmental Structures. The re-
structuring proposals resulted in further voluntary re-
dundancies which saw between 10 and 15 members
leave the organisation at the end of 2013. 

The Haddington Road Proposals, following a well-at-
tended General Meeting of IFI members, were ac-
cepted by over 90% of members.

Relocation of Head Office
Inland Fisheries informed SIPTU of its intention to re-
locate its Head Office to Citywest from Swords in Jan-
uary 2013. The proposed new location in South West
Dublin caused significant inconvenience to our mem-
bers, not only through additional mileage but also as
a result of the additional toll charges on the M50. The
issues were the subject of lengthy negotiations at the
LRC. The negotiations proved all the more difficult be-
cause the Haddington Road Agreement provided for re-
deployment with no compensation up to a distance of
45Km. We were successful, however, in achieving a
series of measures to mitigate the hardship caused by
the move. These proposals, brokered through the in-
tervention of the LRC, were accepted by members.

Transport Sector

Overall, the period 2013/14 was one of retrenchment
for members working in the Transport Sector, in par-
ticular in the CIE companies. The majority of compa-
nies introduced cost cutting measures which eroded
conditions of employment and it was a continuous bat-
tle to maintain as much as possible of the core pay
and conditions. 

In circumstances where this was not possible the pri-
ority was to get dates agreed where the conditions
would be restored. We have also had to contend with
reductions in staffing levels and year on year cuts to
subventions. This, combined with the general eco-
nomic downturn and higher unemployment, led to re-
ductions in passenger numbers using public transport
during this period which severely impacted on public
transport companies and their workers. Notwithstand-
ing all of this we maintained a stable union member-
ship in spite of aggressive rivalry from another union
and we engaged in official industrial action and strike
action in the furtherance of our members’ conditions
of employment, when required.

Bus Éireann
In March 2012 Bus Éireann announced that it was
going to completely review all of its expressway routes
to either attain a 25% increase in revenue or a 20%
decrease in costs over the next two years, and break
even financially. This was because of cuts in Govern-
ment subventions as well as a fall in the number of
passengers using services. In July 2012, the company
cost cutting plan was announced and its contents were
the most severe of all those proposed in the CIE Group
of Companies. It contained cuts across all payments
received by members, the elimination of overtime pre-
miums and any that remained to be paid at flat rate.
The proposals went so far as to state that all shift pay-
ments will cease and all company contributions to in-
come continuance schemes will be discontinued. A
general proposal that all staff be redeployed to any lo-
cation and do any function within their competency
without compensation was also included, as was a pro-
posal that the concept of outsourcing any work must
be accepted.

The cost cutting plan which had been the subject of a
rejected Labour Court recommendation in 2012 dom-
inated 2013. As no agreement was reached the com-
pany wrote to all the Unions stating that it intended to
implement the proposals from the 16th September
2012. This date subsequently changed to the 13th
January 2013. The measures included items such as
reducing shift payments from 1/6 to 1/8, reducing
sick benefits and self-certified days, reducing overtime
rates, reducing expenses and allowances rates, reduc-
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Workers on strike at the Shanganagh Waste Water Treatment
Plant in Co. Dublin, in May 2013. Photo: SIPTU Library.
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ing premium payments payable on Public Holidays/Rest
days and reducing annual leave entitlements. Some
items such as the company stating it would not be
making safe driving payments due for 2012 were not
even mentioned to the trade unions previously. SIPTU
balloted for strike action and members responded with
91% in favour. Seven days’ notice of the action was
served on the company and the LRC intervened. Fol-
lowing conciliation at the LRC on Friday 11th January
2013, where a number of items were clarified including
which allowances and expenses were being reduced,
it was agreed to refer the issues to the Labour Court.
LCR 20643 emerged and was balloted on by all cate-
gories of SIPTU. The union’s all category committees
recommended a rejection of the recommendation. The
company, after inviting unions to discussions following
the rejection of the Labour Court recommendation by
members, announced it was implementing the recom-
mendation as and from the 12th May 2013. This union
immediately gave seven days’ notice of a strike ballot
which commenced on the 7th May 2013 and which
was to be counted on the 16th May 2013. However,
the NBRU commenced a ballot on the recommendation
which was counted on the 9th May and then an-
nounced that it would be taking strike action from the
12th May. A strike commenced on the 12th May 2013
which was supported by SIPTU members and the LRC
intervened on the 14th when the strike was sus-
pended.

Proposals that emerged were subsequently agreed by
all unions, except the TSSA. The ballot for strike action
by SIPTU was counted and as it was in favour of strike
a payment equivalent to strike pay was granted to the
members involved. The content of the proposals ex-
pired in December 2014 but it is expected that the
company's financial position will still be precarious at
that date and our members are expecting that either
another cost cutting plan will be presented or an ex-
tension of the expiry date of the current proposals will
be sought.

School Bus Drivers
In 2013 ongoing efforts were made to fully implement
the contents of LCR 19747, which afforded school bus
drivers access to GPs under the welfare scheme and
entry to the CIE pension scheme. Agreement was
reached regarding a gratuity payment for drivers who
could not access the pension scheme. (Attempts to in-
clude members who had left Bus Éireann during the
long years of trying to get access to the pension were
unsuccessful). Despite massive efforts on the part of
the national committee to conclude these items they
have not been successful and they are currently sub-
ject to discussions in the LRC. These matters have
now been concluded and agreed in principle subject to
the correct calculations on back dating pension contri-
butions being agreed.

School Bus Drivers – Galway
Following a positive ballot for industrial action notice
of stoppages on the 22nd February, 1st March and 7th
and 8th March 2013 was given to the company in re-
lation to an issue that arose in the Galway area affect-
ing 35 Drivers. The issue was about the company’s
decision to cut the hours of three existing school bus
drivers and use private contractors instead. The issue
had been through all internal procedures, the LCR and
Labour Court and remained unresolved. 

The company scheduled a meeting for the 20th Febru-
ary and a little progress was made. The stoppage on
22nd February was suspended to allow for a further
meeting on 25th February 2013. At this meeting the
union succeeded in getting agreement that the hours
cut from the drivers involved would be restored to their
satisfaction. This resolved the issue.

SIPTU was successful in keeping the school bus driv-
ers apart from the cost cutting measures that affected
other Bus Éireann employees during the final six
months of 2013 and continued to do so until the end
of 2014.

Aircoach
During 2013 and 2014 no real engagement with the
company occurred on collective issues. Any engage-
ment with it was confined to dealing with Individual dis-
ciplinary cases that arose.

Although members did not receive any pay increases
nor did they suffer the effects of cost cutting that was
rampant in other Bus Companies.  

Irish Rail
EU Compliance Project
In October 2012, the Minister for Transport announced
that he would not seek to extend the existing deroga-
tion when it expired in March 2013. This resulted in
dividing the company into an Infrastructure Manage-
ment (IM) and a Railway Undertaking (RU). The IM is
fully accountable and independent in its decision-mak-
ing in maintaining infrastructure while the RU is prima-
rily responsible for the provision of rail services. This
brought about significant organisational changes in re-
spect of financing and managerial roles within Irish
Rail. The net effect is to allow access from other oper-
ators of rail services. 

In early February 2013, there was a change to the
Train Host grade in the form of a lump sum payment
in return for taking payments from passengers on up-
grades in first class. In the Locomotive Drivers grade,
SIPTU was critical of lack of consultation in respect of
safety standards being introduced without discussion.
Consultations began on finding a new provider and a
reduction of premiums in relation to the Loco Drivers’
disability scheme.



126 SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

With continued wage restraint and a freeze in regrad-
ings, industrial relations issues arose as a result of
staff reductions and it soon emerged that the worsen-
ing financial position of the CIE group once again
meant the threat of further payroll costs reductions. It
also emerged that pressure had been brought to bear
by Government on the voluntary severance terms. This
resulted in pension top ups being discontinued. This
was a clear breach of agreements in respect of Cost
Containment 1. The emergence of proposals in June
2013, which had impacted directly on pay with a step
back in increments and further cuts in night al-
lowances and overtime rates, had met strong resist-
ance across all of the grades. These proposals
represented a 45 month agreement which resulted in
continued extensive discussions. Such proposals
against the backdrop of wage constraint suffered by
staff in Irish Rail since 2009 would not be accepted
by the membership in Irish Rail in cases where they
contained pay cuts. 

Trust and commitment had been a feature of such pro-
posals as contained in Cost Containment 1 and based
on savings up to 2016. It also emerged that consider-
able savings could be achieved in non-payroll areas.
The emergence of proposals known as the Lansdowne
Road proposals had been overwhelmingly rejected by
the membership in August 2013 (by 92%) and with on-
going industrial unrest in the bus companies Irish rail
management continued with retrenchment measures.
However it was not until November 2013 that further
discussions took place at the LRC on amended pro-
posals.  These discussions broke down in December
2013. Subsequent to this a Labour Court recommen-
dation (while improving the LRC proposals somewhat)
was issued and also rejected. As in other CIE compa-
nies the employer advised the unions that they would
proceed with the unilateral implementation of cuts. To
avoid industrial unrest all parties agreed to engage for-
mer LRC official, John Fallon, to broker an agreement.
After a week of intense talks the Wynnes proposals
emerged. These made minor alterations in the Labour
Court recommendation, such as reducing the duration
of any cuts. These proposals and a ballot for strike ac-
tion were rejected by a small margin. However, mem-
bers did vote for forms of industrial action in the event
that the employer proceeded unilaterally. A two day
stoppage occurred in the summer of 2014 and subse-
quently the LRC intervened with fresh proposals which
secured the support of SIPTU members. 

Dublin Bus
In Dublin Bus, mindful of the above factors, SIPTU and
our representatives attempted to minimise, as much
as possible, retrenchment as it applied to direct cost
saving measures from our members. Where possible
we built into any retrenchments specific dates/time-
frames for reinstatement of current terms and condi-
tions.

All Grades
In June 2012 the company announced to the various
unions cost reduction plans which, if agreed, would re-
sult in a projected saving of approximately €12m. It
argued this was needed due to the dire financial situ-
ation. While all unions were prepared to engage with
the company, SIPTU identified from the start that some
cost reduction issues proposed would not be accept-
able to our members under any circumstances and we
argued that workers were being asked to finance the
shortfall in subvention through payroll deductions.

As SIPTU is the only trade union within Dublin Bus that
represents members in each of the seven grades (Traf-
fic, Traffic Supervisors, Clerical, Executive, Engineering
Supervisors, Engineering Operatives and Craft), we
were directly involved in all discussions and negotia-
tions. Intensive local engagement took place between
management and the unions on a grade-by-grade
basis. While we were successful in reducing some of
the proposed cost reductions in local engagements,
the issues were eventually referred to the LRC.

SIPTU was also successful in reducing some of the
proposals at that juncture but ultimately the issues
were referred to the Labour Court. The Court issued a
recommendation (LCR 20544) in June 2013 which de-
tailed cost reductions for six of the seven grades in-
volved (Executive members had agreed measures
locally). These measures included reductions for all
grades under rest day and overtime working, incentive
schemes, self-certified leave etc, but also included in-
dividual grade reductions.

SIPTU balloted all grades separately and each of the
six grades rejected the recommendation. The company
announced it would unilaterally implement the terms
of the Court recommendation on 4th August 2013 and
SIPTU balloted all grades for strike action. All voted in
favour of strike and a dispute commenced on the 4th
August 2013.

After 48 hours of strike action the parties were invited
by the chairman of the Labour Court, Kevin Duffy, to
attend talks. Dublin Bus reversed the decision to im-
plement the Court recommendation at that stage. Aris-
ing from these talks a clarification document was
issued on the 9th August 2013 by the Chairman which
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reduced some of the cost reduction measures and
gave detailed assurances on the restoration of some
conditions of employment after 19 months. This was
balloted on by all grades and accepted, with the excep-
tion of the Traffic Grade (both SIPTU & NBRU Traffic
members) on the 9th August 2013. 

On foot of the rejection by the traffic grade of the pro-
posals a Government task force was established to in-
vestigate the reasons. This appointed Noel Dowling
and Ultan Courtney to carry out the said investigation.
Both trade unions and Dublin Bus engaged extensively
with them and a further, more detailed, report was is-
sued. Both unions balloted their members involved.
The NBRU accepted the report but SIPTU members
narrowly rejected it.

While SIPTU’s previous ballot in favour of strike action
by the traffic grade was still relevant, the traffic com-
mittee, in conjunction with SIPTU, took the view that in
light of the changing circumstances (ie all other
Grades’ acceptance and the NBRU traffic grades’ ac-
ceptance) that another ballot on the question of strike
action should be taken. The result of this ballot was
over 70% rejection of such strike action. On foot of this
decision the Dublin Bus cost reduction plan was imple-
mented across all seven grades in November 2013.

While this was the overriding main industrial relations
issue affecting Dublin Bus in 2013-2014, the Sector
also dealt with other collective, grade by grade and in-
dividual problems during that period. These included
proposed changes to welfare and pension schemes,
restructuring of various grades, schedule changes and
individual claims/appeals.

Bus tendering
The National Transport Authority announced in Novem-
ber 2013 its intention to tender out 10% of current
Dublin Bus/Bus Éireann routes by 2016. SIPTU has
opposed this development from the start and we con-
tinue to do so because, if implemented, it will have a
significant impact, not just on our members’ job secu-
rity and terms and conditions but also on the future of
public bus services. SIPTU contends that a full and
open public debate on this matter needs to happen
and we will, with the support of members and hopefully
the wider public, oppose and reverse this flawed, ide-
ologically driven, decision. The sector lobbied politi-
cians on the matter and engaged in talks with the NTA,
the bus companies and the Department of Transport,
Tourism and Sport under the auspices of the LRC from
the summer of 2014 onwards. By the end of 2014 the
union had paused its participation in the talks as no
progress had been made. It sought and was given a
face to face meeting with the Minister in December
2014.

TRANSDEV
The period between 2013 and 2014 saw major devel-
opments within this employment. The company, for-
merly Veolia, initially sold off various elements of its
worldwide subsidiaries including the LUAS operations.
Transdev took over the LUAS operation and while local
management remained in place, this development re-
sulted in changes to international management and
changes to the European Works Council.

Driver Grade 
Prior to 2013 and on foot of the 2009 SIPTU/Veolia
Collective Agreement changes in driver rosters (Roster
Review) were being investigated and negotiated. The
driver grade, through local representatives and SIPTU
had sought roster improvements such as reductions
in shift duration, reductions in maximum drive time,
additional rest days and, under the 2011 “interim re-
view”, improvements in pay and conditions of employ-
ment. 

In 2012 the above issues were at various stages of
the agreed negotiation and problem solving proce-
dures. On foot of a full Labour Court hearing, Janet
Hughes was appointed in order to investigate the var-
ious claims and assist the parties in resolving the is-
sues at hand. During this process, the company stated
it was prepared to put resources into resolving our out-
standing claims and sought direction from SIPTU and
the representatives as to where such resources should
be best utilised. We identified additional rest days and
improved rosters as the most appropriate areas to ad-
dress.

Unfortunately, the proposals that emerged from the
process failed to address our members’ concerns sat-
isfactorily and were overwhelmingly rejected. Members
decided, by secret ballot, to pursue industrial action,
including 24/48 hour strikes, in furtherance of our
claim. Notice was issued to Transdev management.

Under the agreed collective agreement, where notice
of strike and/or industrial action is issued, there is an
agreed step whereby SIPTU and representatives would
meet a European director of the company during the
notice period. This meeting took place and a full and
frank discussion took place on the issues and also on
the culture that existed in the LUAS. Management
agreed to consider the points raised and a further
meeting was agreed. This meeting resulted in im-
proved proposals which included additional rest days
above and beyond those rejected in the Janet Hughes
report and significant commitments to improve the cul-
ture within the company. These proposals were over-
whelmingly accepted by our Driver members and the
notice of industrial action was withdrawn.
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Traffic Supervisor Grade
This grade had registered its objections to the collec-
tive bargaining process at the very start of negotia-
tions, contending that the terms of the agreement and
particularly the remuneration involved fell far short of
what should apply. Members maintained that as the
smallest grade numerically within the wider collective
process they would be outvoted in a ballot and there-
fore did not have the opportunity to decide their own
terms and conditions. 

During 2013 this claim was processed through the var-
ious stages outlined in the collective agreement. (LRC,
in-house tribunal, LRC and Labour Court.) The Labour
Court recommendation of the 30th August 2012 (ref
no: LCR 20359) which did not concede any increase
in remuneration, was rejected by the grade. A ballot for
industrial action was conducted and members voted in
favour. Subsequently the NEC did not sanction this dis-
pute. The General President, Jack O’Connor, met with
the Shop Stewards to outline the reasons. He ex-
plained that the Labour Court had stated in its recom-
mendation that this grade was attempting to breach
the agreed terms of a collective agreement. In other
employments, where companies were attempting to
breach an agreed collective agreement, the Court
would not give them a favourable recommendation.
SIPTU’s NEC and Officers did commit to supporting
such a claim when the present collective agreement
expired.

In 2013, a pay claim by this grade under the interim
review was resolved and a 3% increase was applied.
The company, during the processing of this interim re-
view claim, highlighted a need for a change in respon-
sibilities for traffic supervisors. These responsibilities
were accepted by the grade and a shift leader duty was
put in place which warrants an allowance for the indi-
vidual who undertakes this duty.

Revenue Protection Supervisors (RPS) 
A claim, under the Interim Review clause, was lodged
for an increase in remuneration/improved rosters in
2012. This claim was referred to the LRC for concilia-
tion by the parties as no local agreement could be
reached.

On foot of the resolution of the Drivers’ claim in late
2012, the company met with the RPS representatives
and stated similar resources to that afforded to Drivers
could be provided to settle any claim for that grade.
Meetings took place in early to mid-2013 and agree-
ment was reached on roster changes, which included
additional rest days. These improvements were ac-
cepted by the RPS Grade.

All Grades
While the above report for each grade outlines the
main IR issues processed in the 2013 to 2014 period,
others dealt with include interval medical screening,
tacho downloading, CCTV, safety cases, changes to in-
dividual grades’ conditions and duties, and numerous
individual claims, grievances and appeals. Some of
these matters are ongoing.

Transport in Northern Ireland
Northern Ireland Railways
The Works Committee continues to meet monthly to
strategise, co-ordinate action and respond to live is-
sues. An extensive training programme has been put
in place to ensure our members secure the best rep-
resentation possible. The commitment and profession-
alism of our representatives has been rewarded with
a growth in membership of 7% during this period. Dur-
ing this period our representatives have secured 100%
success in protecting members facing gross miscon-
duct changes for dismissal.

Funding from the Stormont Assembly continues to de-
cline, with the associated risks for our membership.
Notwithstanding this fact, following extensive and long
drawn out wage negotiations, a productivity pay agree-
ment was secured for members. This agreement, while
delivering increases of 6.25% over three years, also
contained many significant cost saving measures for
the employer. 

The negotiations were extremely protracted, taking
place over a twelve month period, and the final con-
cessions agreed by our members were significantly
better than those originally proposed by the employer.
The final package also provided members with im-
proved sick pay entitlement and attendance bonuses.
Members with good attendance records have secured
100% sick pay for the first time. 

Our Committee were able to secure a compensation
package and ongoing employer commitments following
consolidation of the six permanent way bases into
three. These commitments included the provision of
vans to assist our members facing longer commutes.

First NI
This section was organised in 2013, with trade union
recognition secured without dispute. 

A service related pay agreement secured increases
over this period of 9.4% for workers with two years’
service or more. Our membership has also secured
greatly enhanced rest facilities, and a vastly improved
worker designed roster schedule, which affords a bet-
ter work life balance. 
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Ports & Docks Section
Warrenpoint Harbour
Negotiations commenced on revision of pay and re-
lated terms following the expiry of the one year agree-
ment covering the period 2011. Following talks, a
proposal for a 1.5% pay increase with effect from 1st
January 2012 and 1.5% pay increase from 1st January
2013, was accepted following a general meeting and
secret ballot vote by members. Also a part of the pro-
posal provides for one extra day’s holiday in lieu of the
Queen’s Diamond Jubilee.

Stena Line
In September 2013 management announced its inten-
tion to relocate the Finance Department from Dun
Laoghaire to Holyhead and Stockholm. Meetings were
held with management in Dun Laoghaire, where the
union side put forward a proposal to retain the function
in Dun Laoghaire. As this position was not acceptable
to management, and following discussion with the
members affected, redundancy terms based on the
severance package from 2012 were accepted by the
members involved.

Dun Laoghaire Harbour Company
Our members in the Harbour Police rejected a Labour
Court recommendation in that a reduction from a nine
person Harbour Police crew to a seven person crew
cannot be achieved without a sufficient voluntary re-
dundancy package and the potential of volunteers for
same. 

Management proposed a number of changes to the
current terms and conditions not associated with the
recommendation. It was agreed that our members
would work the new roster under protest on the basis
that the unresolved issues were referred to the LRC.
The issues in dispute included a new roster
system/flexible start and finish times, the removal of
bank time (45 minutes), payment for public holidays,
removal of clocking in grace time and removal of time
off for attending religious services.

Members received correspondence regarding funding
difficulties with their pension scheme. The pension
scheme in this company is a DB scheme and is in
deficit. The company commenced a consultation
process and a proposal was to be made to the Pen-
sions Board for approval. 

Celtic Tugs
Pay Restoration 
A pay reduction of 8% implemented in 2009 was re-
turned to our members in 2013. This was achieved on
the basis of 4% returned retrospective to 1st January
2011 and the remaining 4% returned retrospective to
1st September 2011. The agreement also provided for
terms for a new contract for work secured by the com-

pany off the Cork coastline. It provided greater job se-
curity and earning opportunities, and a potential for
extra union organised jobs.

Port of Cork
Meetings between Management/SIPTU/TEEU/IMPACT
were held to discuss the issues involving the issue of
the deficit in the DB pension scheme. Local discus-
sions were on-going over the company proposal to cap
pensionable pay in the DB Scheme, with the promo-
tional element being subject to a DC scheme. 

A ballot was held on an LRC proposal to cap salary at
€54,000 for pension purposes on promotion, where
the promotional increase will be a DC contribution at
a rate of 10% from both the employer and the em-
ployee. This was accepted by an aggregate ballot of
the membership of SIPTU, TEEU, Ports, Docks and Har-
bour section.

Cork Boatmen
The issue of Cork Moorings Ltd coming into the Port
of Cork to tie up ships, as opposed to Anthony Kelly &
Company, who have been performing the work for the
past 25 years, was a contentious issue and was pro-
gressed by SIPTU. 

Burke Shipping Group
Negotiations were sought with this Shipping Group op-
erating at Dublin Port for a comprehensive review of
the pay, terms and conditions of employment.

Commission of Irish Lights 
Discussions are ongoing regarding a breach of the Ma-
rine Services Agreement – specifically the removal of
one Electrical Technical Officer. Following two meetings
of the parties there had been no resolution of the
issue. 

On 18th October, 2012, management presented pro-
posals to both union officials and representatives
which included a demand to cut pay with effect from
1st January 2013. The driving force behind this pro-
posal were the changes that are due to take place
from April 2015 when funding will no longer come from
Trinity House London/Light House Fund, and will have
to be generated by way of direct Government funding
and commercial income. 

Mr. Kevin Foley of the LRC requested a meeting of all
the principals involved in the issues under dispute in
July 2013. Subsequent to this and further to the as-
sistance of the LRC an agreement on pay was reached
in late 2013/early 2014
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Dublin Port Company 

Following acceptance of the new General Operative
grade agreement, a number of issues arose including
overtime payment in case of emergencies. It was
agreed that members who receive notice prior to 3.00
p.m. on the day will receive overtime at a rate of time
and a half. Members who receive notice after 3.00
p.m. will be guaranteed two hours minimum. This issue
was resolved.

A SIPTU Section Committee was established made up
of all the various grades within the company - Clerical,
Marine, Maintenance and Security. All Shop Stewards
received the basic Shop Stewards’ training.

Foynes Pay Office
Company proposals to buy out the current system of
dockers’ loading/unloading ships at Foynes Port was
convincingly rejected by our members in a secret ballot
vote and management was notified of same.

Marine Terminals Ltd.
The hearing of Payment of Wages Act cases by the
Rights Commissioners Service for our members in MTL
were completed through MISC.

New management personnel were put in place within
the Peel Ports Group of which MTL is part. A meeting
with the new Director responsible for MTL took place
as well as further engagement on the industrial rela-
tions climate and other matters. 

Fenit Dockers
A pay increase of between 3% - 5% was achieved for
2013.
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Construction

Organising in the Construction sector has continued
successfully, in spite of the McGowan Judgement
which undermined the legal basis of the Registered
Employment Agreements (REAs) in terms of pay, pen-
sions, sick pay and life assurance

In 2014 just over 2,979 workers were organised in the
sector. However 3,453 workers left membership, re-
flecting the continued challenging environment in the
industry. This highlights the enormous effort that it re-
quires to organise members and maintain density lev-
els in the sector. This is a continuation of trends in
2011, 2012 and 2013. Indications are now more pos-
itive than at any time since the beginning of the reces-
sion — employment in the sector in 2014 rose by
13,000. However, this is from a very depressed base.
2015 will show if strong growth can continue. Upcom-
ing projects are concentrated in the Dublin/Leinster
area, with some exceptions such as the DOES (Depart-
ment of Education and Skills) school sites and the
NRA’s Gort to Tuam Motorway.

In 2014, the focus of the Strategic Organising Division
(SOD) team has been on ensuring all major construc-
tion projects are visited, that canteen meetings with
members include all workers on site and take place on
a regular basis. These are followed up by meetings
with the contractors (employers) in respect of issues
raised by current and newly organised members, and
in some particularly difficult situations, the client com-
panies for whom the projects are being built.

The SOD focus on the Department of Education and
Skills schools building programme was particularly hit
by the effects of the McGowan judgement and SIPTU
in conjunction with the ICTU Construction Unions em-
barked on a series of site visits and, in particular, iden-
tified contractors whose rates and terms were
considerably less than the terms arising from the
REAs. Protests took place at St Patrick’s, Drumcondra,
CityWest and the Department HQ in Marlborough St,
Dublin. While some success was achieved, the lack of
the framework provided by the REA and the decision
by craft workers to enter a dispute at the DOES project
at Lucan mitigated against achieving higher member-
ship returns.

The campaign targeted sites where trade union mem-
bership agreements are in situ covering contractors,
such as the ESB and Bord Gáis, to maximise our den-
sity and increase union visibility.

The SOD also targeted NRA funded projects, in partic-
ular Newlands Cross and the N11, and successfully 
recruited on these sites. The visits also proved to be
critical in observing employment trends within the sec-
tor. What is pronounced is the ever increasing switch
from firms engaging direct labour to the use of agency
labour, with the resultant undermining of pay and con-
ditions for members. The presence of Organisers on a
regular basis ensured that agency workers engaged on
these projects were spared the worst excesses of
wage depression.

The loss of the REA terms has particularly affected the
issue of pension and sick pay coverage; an aspect of
the Campaign that was particularly successful in terms
of organising members and ensuring coverage. De-
spite an increase in employment in the Construction
Sector in 2014, the number of construction workers in
the Construction Workers Pension Scheme, adminis-
tered by the CIF and the Construction Unions,declined.

There is a greater level of cohesion between the ICTU
Construction Unions as evidenced by the combined ac-
tions which took place in 2014. The commitment by
this group to approach the Grangegorman project in
2015 to organise the workers reflects that.

Our current information leaflets and posters are direct
in message. They include information on the gross
loss to workers who are paid less than the REA rates,
as well as loss of protections in relation to pensions
and sick pay. The clear message is that unorganised
labour is exploited labour. All leaflets and posters are
backed with direct debit application forms affording
workers an immediate mechanism to join

What will be crucial to the Campaign is the Industrial
Relations Amendment Bill 2015, which will include
mechanisms to set sector pay rates and pension pro-
visions, and to negotiate and register employment
agreements. This will open up opportunities to assist
workers in regaining confidence and in organising to
ensure rates of pay and conditions are attained and
improved into the future.

Strategic Organising 

Campaigns
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Contract Cleaning - Fair Deal for Cleaners

Contract Cleaners continue to contribute to our society
in many ways that are not often visible to the wider
public. Building on previous organising initiatives, con-
tract cleaners have mobilised through their union to in-
crease their visibility and voice, thus building worker
power and influence throughout the sector.

SIPTU’s Fair Deal for Cleaners campaign has continued
to bring cleaners out of the shadows with what has
often been a colourful, vibrant and newsworthy style
of organising and campaigning, both locally and nation-
ally.

In 2013 and 2014 extensive industry research was
undertaken, mapping contract cleaning services
across Ireland in health, education, transport and re-
tail. This research was crucial in identifying individual
cleaning contractors’ market share, while enabling
SIPTU to identify and track procurement trends
throughout an industry that employs an estimated
20,000 workers.

As a result of this a number of strategic sites across
the health, public transport and higher education sec-
tors were identified as organising targets. Joint meet-
ings between the SIPTU’s Organising Team and the
Sector Industrial Team were used to develop an organ-
ising and industrial agenda that would be pursued to
seek improvements for contract cleaners. Issue based
organising campaigns were undertaken on 67 sites
across the three targeted sectors. As a direct result
of this activity, new workplace committees sprang up
across the country, union membership grew and
cleaner’s issues could no longer be disregarded by
contractors. The campaign built solid, sustainable
union structures on all of the targeted sites. The num-
ber of shop stewards, workplace leaders and commit-
tees rose steadily. Density continued to build and an
overall average of 60% density achieved. In some lo-
cations union density was as high as 95% with sus-
tainable union structures having been developed and
implemented.

The workplace committees and leaders were ordinary
women and men doing extraordinary things for their
colleagues and their industry. A leadership and organ-
ising training programme was developed and delivered
to activists, many of whom had never previously been
involved in a union education programme. This training
provided a knowledge bridge that equipped activists
with the necessary tools to build density and progress
issue-based organising at local level. While the main
focus of the campaign remained workplace based, the
worker leaders participated in the broader union
agenda by attending the Cleaning Sub Sector meet-
ings. This forum, developed in 2014, enables activists
from a range of contract cleaning employers and loca-

tions to discuss their workplace issues while facilitat-
ing interaction among cleaners from a cross section
of the sector, thus influencing overall policy and direc-
tion.

All of this was achieved in spite of the abolition of the
interim Contract Cleaning REA in the summer of 2013.
Although this development did not exclusively affect
contract cleaners it did result in the adjustment of the
Organising Strategy. Localised density building and
leadership development became the focus of all activ-
ity, thus ensuring that the pre-existing terms and con-
ditions of cleaners in a number of key sites were not
undermined by the striking down of the REA. Building
organising focused agreements with specific industry
employers was crucial to this strategy. The ISS Re-
sponsible Contractors Agreement continued to be im-
plemented throughout 2013 with the Division and the
Strategic Organising Department jointly negotiating a
robust agreement with the UK and Irish based 
contractor, Resource*. Additionally a streamlined 
organising and industrial approach was adopted with
some of the largest industry players such as Noonan,
which enabled leaders and worker to organise and
progress their issues in the workplace. 

Internationally, the SIPTU Fair Deal for Cleaners Cam-
paign participated in a number of UNI Europa and UNI
Global Cleaning Sector Forums, ensuring that chal-
lenges faced by Irish contract cleaners had a European
platform. This forum was instrumental in constructing
‘The Cleaners Charter’, a protocol that ensures pro-
curers of contracted cleaning services are responsible
for ensuring that the contractors recognise cleaners’
right to organise. This initiative will be rolled out
throughout Europe in 2015 with organised cleaners
being pivotal to its success. Additionally SIPTU, the
campaign’s cleaning activists and the sector continued
to commemorate International Justice Day for Cleaners
in a commemorative and celebratory fashion. As 2014
came to a close the Fair Deal for Cleaners Campaign
was asked to lead 30 international unions that organ-
ise cleaners and 2,000 delegates in calling for a world-
wide pay rise at the Uni Global World conference, in
Cape Town, South Africa in December 2014.  

2013 and 2014 were turbulent years for workers cov-
ered by the JLC system. Hundreds of thousands were
left without legal protection for their terms and condi-
tions of employment due to the decisions of the two
highest courts in the land. Despite this, efforts to re-
instate the Cleaning JLC began towards the end of
2014, involving cleaning activists whose overall objec-
tive was the establishment of an ERO for the Sector.

None of the achievements in the campaign over the
last two years could have been realised without the
commitment of workplace leaders, committees and
members who have taken a stand in their own work-



133SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

Activists from the SIPTU Fair Deal for Cleaners Campaign held 
a series of colourful events to mark International Justice Day for
Cleaners in Dublin, Cork and Galway on Monday, 16th June
2014. Pictured at the event in Connolly Station in Dublin were
from left to right: Galyna Korytko, Jay Esteron and Carmen
Maria Villanueva. Photo: Darragh O’Connor.
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places and beyond. The collaborative approach devel-
oped by Organisers from Strategic Organising and the
Cleaning and Security Sector also played a pivotal role
in realising campaign goals. Moreover, contract clean-
ers who embraced the organising agenda have contin-
ued to build union density, structure and worker power.
They are most certainly no longer invisible. 

*Resource Ltd., ceased to trade in Ireland in the final
quarter of 2014. Noonan Cleaning took over the relevant
contracts.

Dublin Hospitals Support Grades Campaign

The Support Grades Sector includes Health Care As-
sistants (HCAs), those caring for the intellectually dis-
abled and all grades of hospital support staff. These
include catering staff, porters, maintenance workers
and household departments. In 2013, a strategic de-
cision was taken to resource an organising initiative
within this vital sector of our health service.

Launched in the summer of 2013, this density and in-
fill campaign was designed to identify and address the
organising potential of support grade health workers
in hospital locations throughout Dublin. Initially re-
sourced with two Organisers, the organising strategy
was to engage with workers and shop stewards in tar-
geted locations, assess union density levels and de-
sign an organising campaign from there. A simple
concept but not without its challenges. 

Organisers commenced their activity by seeking to map
the various grades, identify areas for membership
growth and address union leadership deficits where
appropriate. By late 2014 the Organising team, which
had now increased to three, was directly interacting
with support grade workers from 30 different Dublin
based hospitals. 

Specific campaign messaging was developed, and
thousands of one to one conversations with Support
Grade workers were conducted by Organisers who en-
gaged with both members and non- members. Activity
took place on each site with the Organisers working
through every hospital corridor and each section of
each location, engaging with HCAs, Porters, Catering
and Household Staff, Lab Aides and Interns on the role
and function of their union. This work was further sup-
ported by the introduction of grade and location spe-
cific surveys inviting all workers to express their views
on matters of concern to them. These surveys were
distributed and collected by activists and Organisers
with an average completion and return rate of 65% in
locations where the survey was run. After the surveys
were completed, a grade specific “YOUR RESULTS ARE
IN” newsletter was circulated. Such activities res-
onated with members and non-members, resulting in

workers from a cross section of the grades, not only
becoming members of the union but, in some cases,
becoming active members of the union. Increased
communication per section and leadership develop-
ment then became the focus of activity, which 
ultimately led to the successful formation of workplace
committees in a large number of locations.

To enhance this growth, specific leadership and organ-
ising training courses were developed and delivered to
65 new activists across a wide range of grades and 
locations focusing on the practical application of 
organising skills and issue based organising within
their respective workplaces.

This foundation was further strengthened by the Indus-
trial and Organising Teams working together on a num-
ber of key locations, guiding and supporting
committees and newer activists through the progres-
sion of issues at a local level. This continued team-
working proved critical during the various ballots over
the period of this report.

As the campaign developed it emerged that in a num-
ber of key locations Interns hadn’t yet, for various rea-
sons, availed of the opportunity to become members
of the union. It was communicated to Organisers that
despite local efforts they didn’t feel that they had an
entitlement to be part of the union or play a role in it.
However, by engaging directly with the Interns on their
concerns, Organisers and workplace leaders not only
assisted in building confidence in the union among this
grade but promoted the ideal of building “One Big
union”.

Despite numerous challenges, Support Grade Workers
across a range of Dublin Hospitals have chosen to or-
ganise. In excess of 1,700 Dublin based HCAs, In-
terns, Lab Aides, Catering Assistants, Household
Assistants and Porters have chosen to join, complete
workplace surveys for and become active in SIPTU.
Density has substantially increased in each location
and newly organised sections have sprung up, some
having been organised from scratch, thus enabling
Support Grade Workers to build their strength and
power. By the close of 2014 the average density
across a range of support grades is a healthy 72% and
growing. Activist figures have increased from 40 sup-
port grade activists to an inspiring 127 and this too
continues to grow.

Such promising growth and worker engagement would
not have been possible without the commitment and
activism of all members, as well as the various leaders
who work tirelessly in an already overburdened system.
Their professionalism and contribution within their own
workplaces and their belief and support for an organ-
ised voice bodes well for all of our futures and for 
our health service.
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As this campaign enters 2015, it is intended to build
on this successful initiative by continuing organising
activity at a number of the Dublin Hospitals, building
support grade networks while transferring some organ-
ising resources and skills to the Intellectual Disability
Sector.
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Young Workers’ Network member Anthony 
Burrowes with a clear message for the 
establishment at the May Day march in Dublin 
in 2013. (Photo: John Moran)
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The National Equality Committee is the primary body
within the union with responsibility for promoting equal-
ity and for considering equality related matters. Under
union rules, the Equality Committee is charged with:

•  promoting equality, considering equality issues and
making such recommendations as it considers ap-
propriate to the National Executive Council;

•  promoting the development of women leaders and
leaders of non-Irish nationals in the community; and

• assisting with organising workers into membership
of the union.

It is a standing sub-committee of the National Execu-
tive Council. The Committee serves a two-year term of
office and meets bi-monthly. The term of office of one
committee ended and another began within the time-
frame of this report.

Membership of the National Equality 
Committee 2013
Emma Billane (replaced Noelle Dillon)
Shirley Bradshaw
Bridget Burrows
Rachel Byrne
Seamus Califf
Bernadette Casey
Elizabeth Cunningham
Monika Grad
Suzanna Griffin
Amanda Kavanagh
Jack McGinley
Bridin McIntyre
Ineta Millere
Helen Murphy
Sally Rock
Ann Ryan
Leonard Simpson
Vincent Tynan
Ann Wilkinson (replaced Esther Cowan)

Membership of the National Equality 
Committee 2014
Bridget Burrows
David Connolly
Ernie Devlin
Mary Durkin
Margaret Egan
Suzanna Griffin
Donatas Juraitis
Amanda Kavanagh
Jemma Mackey
Anton McCabe
Helen Murphy
Ann Ryan
Maureen Ryan
Ann Russell
Leonard Simpson
Vincent Tynan
Mary Van Gelder

The majority of the work programme of the Equality
Committee within the timeframe of the report com-
prises six strands: women workers, young workers, mi-
grant workers, LGBT workers, education and learning,
and policy and legislation.

Women Workers

SIPTU Equality decided to play a lead role in ensuring
that women’s participation in the 1913 Lockout and
in the Irish Citizen Army was commemorated and cele-
brated in the centenary years of 2013 and 2014. 

While the women of the Irish Women Workers Union
(IWWU) were significant players in our social and polit-
ical history in the years around the Lockout, no public
memorial had acknowledged their considerable
achievements. This changed in 2013. The Irish Women
Workers Union Commemorative Committee, which had
come together a number of years previously with the pur-
pose of commemorating the IWWU, unveiled a SIPTU-
sponsored plaque commemorating the foundation and
legacy of the IWWU on Liberty Hall on International
Women’s Day 2013. The ceramic plaque by artist Jackie
McKenna was launched by SIPTU General President Jack
O’Connor, celebrated historian Margaret Mac Curtain
and and the IWWU’s last serving General Secretary

Equality and Campaigns 

2013-2014
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Padraigín Ní Mhurchú. The event was attended by former
members of the IWWU, trade unionists, feminists and
those interested in labour history. The launch event was
followed by a pop-up soup kitchen in the Social Hall to
commemorate the soup kitchen run by Countess
Markievicz and Delia Larkin in the basement of Liberty
Hall during the 1913 Lockout.

SIPTU hosted the Irish Congress of Trade Unions Joint
Women’s Committee Seminar in Liberty Hall in 2013 en-
titled ‘Building on the Legacy of 1913 – Facing up to
Modern Challenges’.

SIPTU Equality hosted a major two-day conference and
hedge school in Liberty Hall over the weekend of Inter-
national Women’s Day in March 2013. ‘One Struggle’
was one of the first major events of the year of Lockout
centenary celebrations. It featured lectures by eminent
academics and historians on some of the founding moth-
ers of our union, including Louie Bennett, Helena
Moloney and Delia Larkin, as well as on the Irish Women
Workers Union, the role of women in the Irish Citizen
Army and the current struggles of working women for de-
cent jobs and equality.

In 2014 we marked International Women’s Day with a
walking tour entitled the ‘Obstreperous Lassies Walking
Tour – the Rebellious Women of 1913 to 1916.’ In the
evening we celebrated the recent decision to name
Dublin’s newest bridge after union activist Rosie Hackett
with the ‘A Bridge for Rosie’ social in Liberty Hall a night
of music and spoken word.

On the eve of the opening of the new Rosie Hackett
Bridge over the River Liffey in Dublin, in May 2014,
SIPTU, in association with the Irish Labour History Soci-
ety, held a well-attended ‘Celebration of the Life of Rosie
Hackett’ featuring a lecture with new images and infor-
mation on the union activist delivered by Dr James Curry.

A commemoration of the centenary of the fatal wound-
ing of Lockout martyr Alicia Brady was the union’s first
event in 2014. A graveside oration by the General Pres-
ident, Jack O’Connor, in Glasnevin Cemetery attracted
hundreds of people. The oration was followed by a spe-
cially-commissioned dramatic piece from ANU Produc-
tions that had everyone spellbound in the Glasnevin
Museum. The Brady family were centrally involved in
the event. In December 2014, we commemorated the
101st anniversary of Alicia Brady’s death with a wreath
laying ceremony at St. Mark’s Church, Pearse Street
where Alicia was shot. Afterwards, in the Pearse Cen-
tre, historian Dr Brian Hanley presented a paper on Ali-
cia and the involvement of young workers in the events
leading up to, during and after the Lockout, and artist
Robert Ballagh spoke about the Alicia Brady panel in
the Lockout Tapesty. 

Members of the Committee stitched the ‘Dora Monte-
fiore’ panel in the 1913 Lockout Tapestry. The Equality

Committee also collaborated with the 1913 committee
in one of the 1913 Lockout Tapestry workshops in the
Social Hall, Liberty Hall in March 2013. This provided
union members and the public with an opportunity to
see work on the tapestry in progress, and to talk with
volunteers and artists about this unique narrative his-
tory artwork.

A Glasnevin Cemetery guided tour of the graves of
women activists by leading historian, the late Shane
Mac Thomais, was a particular highlight of the Equality
Committee’s activities in 2013.

SIPTU Equality added its voice to the call for justice for
survivors of the Magdalene Laundries. In February
2013, on the publication of the interdepartmental re-
port on state involvement with these institutions,
SIPTU called for full financial compensation of the sur-
vivors of the Magdalene Laundries and their families
for the forced labour that these women endured, both
from Religious Orders and the private businesses that
profited from their labour. The union participated in a
vigil at Dáil Éireann as a debate regarding the State's
involvement in the running of the Magdalene Laundries
took place inside the Dail. In September 2013, SIPTU
Equality hosted a Public Symposium on Magdalene In-
stitutions in Liberty Hall in collaboration with UCD
Women’s Studies and the National Women’s Council
of Ireland. All of those who attended on the day could
not but be moved by the harrowing accounts of institu-
tional abuse and the inspirational stories of women’s
survival.

SIPTU Equality continued through 2013 and 2014, our
campaign to highlight the gap in earnings between men
and women. On Equal Pay Day in 2013 and 2014 we
highlighted in the media the gender pay gap and pen-
sions pay gap, as well as the ways in which collective
bargaining contributes to eliminating pay discrimina-
tion between women and men performing the same
job or a job of equal value.

Young Workers

Although they did least to cause the financial crash
and subsequent recession, young people have borne
some of its worst consequences. The economic crisis
and ensuing austerity measures deprived the country
of close to 10% of its young population, with more than
33,000 18-24 year olds emigrating in 2013 alone. 

Youth unemployment remained scandalously high.
Across Europe, unemployment among those between
the ages of 15 and 24 has risen steadily, from approx-
imately 16% in 2007 to 23.5% in September 2013. Ire-
land witnessed a sharper increase over this period,
rising from approximately 9% in 2007 to 28% in Sep-
tember 2013. While 28% unemployment is compara-
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tively high, the OECD has said that in reality Ireland’s
youth unemployment rate was closer to 45% if involun-
tary part-time work and workers marginally attached to
the labour market were taken into account.

The ‘scarring’ effect of youth unemployment on lifelong
employment outcomes has been well documented.
Taken together, unemployment and emigration has in-
voked fears of a ‘lost generation’ of Irish workers.

Along with the creeping trend of casualisation and un-
deremployment, unpaid internships and labour market
activation schemes such as ‘JobBridge’ were particular
features of the labour market for young people. For
those young workers who do manage to find employ-
ment at home, many are trapped in low-paid, casual
work far below their skill level.

Young workers currently face very particular challenges
relating to unemployment, underemployment, casuali-
sation and deteriorating working conditions. In addi-
tion, young workers face very low levels of workplace
organisation and trade union participation. 

Trade union membership and involvement among
young workers is perilously low. In the EU, young peo-
ple under 35 currently constitute only 14% of trade
union membership. The figure is likely to be even lower
in Ireland due to recession, unemployment, recruit-
ment embargos and emigration. Young people are also
less likely than middle aged and older workers to ac-
tively participate in a union.

In response to the unique challenges facing young
workers, SIPTU decided to establish a new campaign-
ing infrastructure tailored to the needs of young peo-
ple. On May Day 2013 we launched the Young Workers
Network at a well-attended public meeting in Liberty
Hall. Afterwards a large contingent of young workers
formed a youth bloc on the Dublin May Day march. 

Involvement in the Young Workers’ Network is open to
under 35 years olds working full-time, part-time, casual
or unemployed who are interested in taking action for
better jobs and strong unions. Relevant employees
working in organisations supporting young people are
also welcome to become involved in the Network. The
objective of the Young Workers Network is to educate
and organise young workers around issues relevant to
them and to encourage young people to join and be-
come active in trade unions. The goal is to do so by
collaborating with other unions, youth organisations
and NGOs interested in working together to address
the issues that young people face.

Since its foundation, the YWN has been involved in nu-
merous campaigns. It has been one of the leading
groups calling for the reversal of dole cuts to those
under-26 and has organised two pre-budget protests

outside Leinster House in 2013 and 2014, respec-
tively. Activists from the YWN travelled to Denmark on
a work experience and study visit in 2013 to see first-
hand how the Danish trade union movement operates
its successful ‘Job Patrol’ scheme for young workers.

The YWN encourages young people to adopt an inter-
national perspective and connect with workers strug-
gling for decent jobs and trade union rights. The
Network developed strong links with the Fight For $15
movement in the USA holding simultaneous actions at
McDonalds fast food outlets in Belfast, Cork and
Dublin in May 2014 in solidarity with striking fast food
workers in the USA.

In November 2013, the YWN hosted a national Young
People’s Assembly in Liberty Hall collaborating with a
number of other youth groups and organisations to
bring hundreds of young trade union members, precar-
ious workers, students and young unemployed to-
gether to draw up a youth charter articulating demands
to be placed on representative bodies, the state and
society. It articulated an alternative social vision to
austerity on behalf of young people. Young Workers
Network was launched in Cork in April 2014. With a
strong presence on social media, including a blog with
guest articles by prominent young organisers and ac-
tivists, the Young Workers Network has facilitated in-
volvement in the trade union movement of a new
generation of young people from all over the island.

Migrant Workers

SIPTU Equality recognises that migrant workers face
particular challenges in learning and vindicating their
employment rights, and in organising and participating
in union activities. For this reason the Equality Com-
mittee established a migrant worker sub-committee to
scope out the challenges and to make recommenda-
tions. Practical recommendations on how the union
could strengthen its capacity to organise and repre-
sent migrant workers were made to the NEC in 2013.

One of the recommendations related to union offices
and how they could be made to be more welcoming of
migrant members and potential members. On World
Cultural Diversity Day in May 2013 a new ‘We are
SIPTU’ poster for SIPTU offices and union noticeboards
was introduced welcoming workers to the union in a
multitude of languages and featuring members from a
diversity of national and ethnic backgrounds. The
poster which celebrates the cultural diversity of the
union was launched at an inter-cultural event in the
Dan Shaw Centre in Navan. 

The Equality Committee is very committed to deepen-
ing the union’s understanding of international best
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practice in relation to organising and servicing migrant
workers and promoting inter-culturalism in the union.
Members of the migrant workers’ sub-committee at-
tended two international conferences in 2013 run by
the European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC) on
‘Assistance for the Integration of Migrants’ Network-
ing.’ Later in the year, at the inaugural ETUC confer-
ence on ‘Trade Union Services for Migrant Workers’
held in Brussels in December 2013, SIPTU became
one of a small number of unions across the EU sign-
posted to migrants before leaving home as providing
services for migrant workers in the recipient country.
The ETUC held its ‘Assistance for Integration of Mi-
grants’ Training Workshop’ in Dublin in June 2014
which included a study visit to Liberty Hall to see first-
hand our work with migrant members.

Despite all of the challenges that we face, SIPTU’s ef-
forts to organise migrant workers and involve migrant
workers in union activities – particularly the decisions
to reserve seats for migrant members on the National
Equality Committee and employ migrant Organisers -
were held up as best practice by the German DGB and
Friedrich Ebert Stiftung at their ‘European Internal Mi-
gration – New Developments and Trade Union Ideas on
Providing Advice to Mobile Workers in Europe’ report
delivered at their conference in Berlin in November
2014. 

In the run up to UN Anti-Racism Day in March 2014
SIPTU teamed up with the Communications Workers’
Union to run a joint anti-racism campaign under the
title ‘Stamp Out Racism in Our Workplaces.’ SIPTU had
a large delegation on the anti-racism march in Dublin
that day and a union speaker addressed the crowd on
why racism and sectarianism divides us as workers
and should not be tolerated by trade unionists.

The Equality Committee made a successful bid for funding
to the new Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission
for funding for our ‘Face Up To Racism in the Workplace’
project. The project is run in collaboration with the Euro-
pean Network Against Racism and the Congress Centres.
The purpose of the project is to promote an understanding
among Shop Stewards and union staff that racism and
sectarianism in the workplace weakens the union, and
that we are stronger when all nationalities and ethnicities
are organised together. The Equality Committee piloted
an anti-racism training course in November 2014 that
will be mainstreamed across SIPTU education and
training courses for Shop Stewards. Members of the
Equality Committee, along with SIPTU migrant and eth-
nic minority members from the Divisions undertook the
course. Their insights and feedback on how the course
could be fine-tuned was incorporated into the finalised
modules, which will be delivered across the Sectors
and Divisions. SIPTU became the first trade union in
Ireland to affiliate to the European Network Against
Racism in 2014.

SIPTU members are now drawn from more than 40 dif-
ferent nationalities. Polish members make up the
largest non-English speaking migrant group in the
union. For this reason the union decided to establish
a Polish Members’ Network which was launched in
September 2014.  Establishment of the Network arose
out of the ICTU’s participation in an international proj-
ect supported by the Polish government and Polish
trade unions entitled ‘Trade Unions Supporting Poles
Abroad’. A little bit of history was made on the day of
the Polish Network launch when SIPTU’s communica-
tions on social media were in Polish. Establishment of
the Network was welcomed publicly by the Polish Em-
bassy, leaders of the Polish community in Ireland, ac-
ademics and Minister of State with Responsibility for
New Communities Aodhán Ó Ríordáin TD. 

Lesbian Gay Bisexual and 
Transgender Workers

The single most important issue for LGBT people in
Ireland is discrimination in the workplace. The largest
attitudinal survey of LGBT people conducted in Ireland
was undertaken by the National Gay and Lesbian Fed-
eration with support for publication of the ‘Burning Is-
sues’ report provided by SIPTU, the Equality Authority
and the EU. 1,100 people were surveyed. The survey
found that the single most important issue for all of
those surveyed was equal rights at work. The issue
being the ability to work in a workplace where LGBT
people can be fully open about their sexuality without
fear of discrimination. On a scale where 1 was least
important and 10 most, equality in the workplace re-
ceived an overall importance rating of 8.3.

The Equality Committee identified LGBT workers’ rights
as a fundamental issue for the union and it was de-
cided that we should commit to strengthening the ca-
pacity of SIPTU to organise and represent LGBT
workers. With an estimated 12,000 LGBT-identifying
members, it was decided that a major job of work was
needed to identify the issues of concern to our LGBT
members and develop policy responses; to identify and
develop LGBT worker leaders and to collaborate with
other trade unions with LGBT groups and progressive
NGOs in the sector.

During September and October of 2013 we brought to-
gether a number of LGBT members and activists and
decided to establish an activist network drawn from
members of the five divisions. In November 2013 we
advertised the first Network meeting to members. In
January 2014 we established a dedicated social and
traditional media platform to bring members together
and to advertise meetings and events. At the end of
February 2014 we held the public launch of SIPTU
LGBTQ Network. The launch comprised a day-long se-
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1) SIPTU delegates at ICTU Women’s Conference in 
Wexford on 6th and 7th March 2014. 
Photo: Kevin Cooper.

2) SIPTU activists at the We Are SIPTU poster launch 
in Navan on Monday 20th May, 2013.

3) Photo left to right: ICTU Equality and Global 
Solidarity Officer David Joyce, SIPTU National 
Campaigns and Equality Organiser, Ethel Buckley, 
GLEN Policy Director, Tiernan Brady and NUJ Irish 
Secretary, Seamus Dooley at the launch of the 
Register to Vote Yes Equality campaign in Liberty 
Hall on 17th October, 2014.
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ries of events including a roundtable discussion with
NGOs such as GLEN, Marriage Equality, TENI and Be-
longTo as well as the Equality Authority and trade
unions interested in or already organising LGBT mem-
bers. That evening, in the Liberty Hall Auditorium, the
‘Did They Notice Us’ event which included a film
screening and a panel discussion on LGBT visibility in
Irish society with panellists Rory O’Neill (aka Panti),
journalist Una Mulally, academic Dr Katherine O’Don-
nell and trade unionist Seamus Dooley attracted over
250 members of the LGBT community. For the majority,
it was their first time at a union event.

Since its establishment, members of the LGBTQ Net-
work have been involved in many public events that
have raised SIPTU’s profile. On International Day
Against Homophobia and Transphobia in May 2014
SIPTU LGBTQ Network organised a night of art exhibi-
tions, music, per formance and spoken word on the
theme ‘Freedom of Expression’ in the Liberty Hall Au-
ditorium. 

The Network participated in Pride marches in Belfast,
Cork and Dublin in 2014 and the national March for
Marriage in August 2014 where SIPTU led the first-ever
trade union bloc on the march. SIPTU also enjoyed a
lot of positive media and public reaction when we had
the eye-catching spectacle of the roof of Liberty Hall
lit up in the rainbow colours for Pride Week in 2014.
The lighting up event on the new Rosie Hackett Bridge
at 11 o’clock at night attracted much interest from the
LGBT community and good publicity in general for the
union. Network activists have also appeared on radio
and television, and have been invited to speak at var-
ious conferences and events on behalf of SIPTU.

In the winter of 2014 the LGBTQ Network held stalls
at each of the five Division Conferences and in Novem-
ber the Equality Committee launched its Yes Equality
campaign in support of a yes vote in a referendum on
marriage equality due to take place the following year.
The Yes Equality ground campaign commenced with a
voter registration drive in collaboration with the Union
of Students in Ireland and the LGBT NGOs.

Education and learning

In conjunction with the Legal Rights Unit, SIPTU College
and the Membership Information and Support Centre,
the Equality Committee ran a day-long tailored educa-
tion and training course on LGBT issues in the work-
place in April 2014. Presentations were delivered by
experts in the area of LGBT rights including legal and
sociological experts from UCD and experts on trans-
gender issues from TENI (Transgender Equality Net-
work Ireland). The goal of the training was to raise
awareness and build frontline staffs’ capacity to deal
with issues that may arise for LGBT members. We in-

vited experts in the field of LGBT case law and equality
case handling from academia, the legal profession and
NGO’s to come and train us on best practice in the
handling and taking of individual cases. 29 SIPTU staff
participated.

The Equality Unit recognised a need for specialist ed-
ucation and learning for young activists delivered in a
format that would resonate with them. In conjunction
with the Young Workers Network the concept of ‘Ac-
tivist Academy’ was formulated.  More than 65 young
activists have participated in the Activist Academy,
learning a broad range of practical skills from how to
make a banner, how to organise a protest and how to
advertise an event on social media, to an eight week
intensive introduction to political economy, sociology
and research methodology.

The Equality Unit also ran the successful inaugural
young trade unionists summer camp. The theme was,
‘Activism and the Connection between Progressive So-
cial Movements and Organised Labour.’ The Carling-
ford Summer School was a joint initiative of the Young
Workers Network, Nevin Economic Research Institute
and Trademark. In the summer of 2014, 25 young peo-
ple from north and south of the border came together
for a weekend to discuss the issues affecting young
workers on the island and how to campaign for better
jobs and working conditions for young workers.

Policy and Legislation

SIPTU Equality lobbied and campaigned on various
equality-related issues in 2013 and 2014, which in-
cluded the following:

We lobbied extensively to oppose changes to maternity
benefit. The introduction of a standard maternity ben-
efit rate resulted in a cut in maternity benefit payable
to the majority of women. The reduction in the payment
to the majority of new mothers came on the back of a
decision to tax maternity benefit for the first time from
the summer of 2013.

We called on the Government to commit to the earliest
possible deadline for the publication of legislation to
give effect to the Supreme Court decision in the X
Case and to facilitate its early passage through the
Oireachtas in the wake of the public and political out-
cry following the death of Savita Halapannavar. The
union participated in the Action on X campaign in
2013.  On publication of the Protection of Life During
Pregnancy Act we welcomed the fact that after 21
years of inaction on the part of successive govern-
ments progress was being made. However, we raised
concern about certain aspects of the legislation, in-
cluding the proposal that, in the case of a suicidal
pregnant woman, three doctors would be required to
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assess the danger to a woman’s life. We also raised
concerns over the creation of an offence for any per-
son obtaining an abortion in Ireland outside of the very
limited boundaries of the Act. We argued that this
would act as a serious deterrent for women who re-
quire medical treatment following a decision to self-
abort due to the lack of abortion services in the State,
or who travelled outside the jurisdiction for an abor-
tion. The fear of 14 years imprisonment will be enough
to prevent women from seeking treatment. There is no
comparable impediment on males in this country
procuring the medical services that they require.

We also campaigned vigorously for the deletion of Sec-
tion 37(1) of the Employment Equality Act (EEA) which
provides for specific exemptions from discrimination
protections for religious, educational or medical insti-
tutions under the direction or control of a religious
body, or whose objectives include the provision of serv-
ices in an environment which promotes certain reli-
gious values. The particular exemptions allow these
institutions to:

a) Give more favourable treatment, on religious
grounds, to an employee or a prospective employee
where it is reasonable to do so in order to maintain
the religious ethos of the institution, or

b) Take action which is reasonably necessary to pre-
vent an employee or a prospective employee from
undermining the religious ethos of the institution.

The potential application of the exemptions contained
in section 37(1) are particularly problematic given that
more than 93% of primary schools and more than half
of all post-primary schools in Ireland have a religious
patron, and that many hospitals in Ireland are run by
religious bodies. Many of these schools and hospitals
are funded by the State to a large extent.

Given the potential broad reach of the exemption
SIPTU Equality is concerned that the fundamental pur-
pose of the Employment Equality legislation to promote
‘equality between employed persons across nine
grounds’ is seriously undermined, in particular in rela-
tion to the employment and workplace opportunities
for LGBT people. In 2014 SIPTU joined an alliance of
trade unions calling for repeal of Section 37.1 of the
Employment Equality Act.

The Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission was
established at the end of 2014 with a broad remit to
protect and promote equality and human rights in Ire-
land. It was established out of a merger of the former
Equality Authority and the Irish Human Rights Commis-
sion. The basis for the new Irish Human Rights and
Equality Commission has its origins in the Good Friday
Agreement and is a requirement north and south of
the island of Ireland.

Though historically Congress would have held a seat
on the board of the Equality Authority, the new Com-
mission does not include a trade union representative.
This is a disturbing break from the long established
practice of ensuring balanced representation from so-
cial partners. It is also worth noting that all of the
equal treatment directives – gender, race, and frame-
work – under the heading of Social Dialogue require
the member states 'in accordance with their national
traditions and practice' to take adequate measures to
promote dialogue between the social partners with a
view to fostering equal treatment. They cite how this
can be done, including: monitoring of work place prac-
tices, collective agreements, codes of conduct, re-
search or exchange of experience and good practices.
The restructuring of the equality infrastructure would
appear to be one place where the promotion of dia-
logue between the social partners would be crucial. It
remains a source of much dismay to us that a Com-
mission that would have as one of its objectives the
promotion of workplace equality and the combatting of
workplace discrimination does not include trade union
representation. 

SIPTU lobbied the Minister for Justice on this issue ar-
guing that the absence of a trade union representative
runs contrary to the very principles underlying the Com-
mission and leaves it inevitably deficient in its compo-
sition. If it is to fulfil its mandate to workplace equality
it must not exclude the voice of workers and the
largest civil society organisation on the island. 

Quality childcare and the capacity to balance work and
life responsibilities is a cornerstone of workplace
equality. The problem in Ireland is that we have chron-
ically underfunded public childcare provision and com-
paratively poor leave entitlements for parents. At the
moment, the only paid leave for parents is 6 months
maternity leave. There is no paternity leave for fathers
and no paid parental leave. 

In regard to supporting working families with young
children, Ireland does not compare favourably with our
European counterparts. In most other countries, ma-
ternity leave can be combined with paid parental leave
and other forms of paid family leave. Of the 26 Euro-
pean countries, Ireland has the 4th shortest period of
paid leave that parents can take. Maternity leave in Ire-
land is extremely poorly paid. In fact we are second
worst in the league of EU countries for the rate of ma-
ternity pay. Ireland has no paid paternity leave – the
leave that fathers can take around the time of the birth
of their child. Most fathers across Europe have the
right to paid paternity leave, typically 2 weeks. And we
have the crazy situation where the right to take breaks
at work for breastfeeding lasts only until a child is 6
months old while maternity leave itself lasts 6 months.
Women in most European countries have protective
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breaks to maintain breastfeeding for at least 12
months. 

But for all of our so-called family values in this country,
our employment legislation patently does not value
families. SIPTU has campaigned and lobbied to de-
mand stronger family leave entitlements including im-
proved maternity pay, 2 weeks paid paternity leave,
between 6 and 12 months paid parental leave and ex-
tended protective breastfeeding breaks. 

SIPTU LGBTQ Members Network launch in Liberty Hall on Wednesday 26th, February, 2014. Pictured
left to right: Rachel Matthews-Mckay, Jennifer O’Leary, Richie Keane, Ethel Buckley (SIPTU National
Campaigns and Equality Organiser) and Padraig McLoughlin.

Irish Women Workers’ Union plaque which was unveiled
outside Liberty Hall, Dublin, on Friday 8th March 2013.
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Staff

Head of Department: Frank Connolly
Journalist: Scott Millar
Graphic Design: Sonia Slevin
Communications Assistant: Deidre Price 
Administrative Assistant: Karen Hackett

The work of the Communications Department focuses
on two areas:

1) Internal communications: Aimed at keeping mem-
bers informed of news related to SIPTU and devel-
opments in union policy. In pursuing this aim the
Department works closely with the union’s national
officers, Divisions and Campaigns Department.

2) External communications: Seeks to relay the
union’s message and agenda to the wider public.
In pursuit of this function the Department is in daily
contact with national and local media.

Over the two-year period of this report the output and
reach of the Department has been advanced and re-
fined. 

Internal Communications

The core responsibility of the Department is to inform
the union’s membership of matters of interest to their
working lives and of union activities. This is done
through published and, increasingly, electronic media.

1. Published media

Production of traditional forms of printed communica-
tion still constitutes the majority of the Communication
Department’s work.

• Liberty newspaper

The 32-page tabloid newspaper is published ten
times a year with on average 35,000 copies dis-
tributed to members in workplaces across the is-
land. The main focus of Liberty is the on-going
industrial activities of the union and interviews with
members in their workplaces. The newspaper also
provides extensive reports and analysis of political
and economic affairs, culture, sport and other mat-
ters of interest to members. Contributors range
from members and staff of the union, and other

unions, to specialist writers, freelance contributors
and on occasion, elected representatives. The ed-
itorial policy is to highlight the role and participation
of members across the union’s divisions while pro-
viding readers with analysis and reports from a pro-
gressive political perspective, which is increasingly
lacking across the mainstream media in Ireland. 

The production, values and design quality of Liberty
continue to improve. The current standard of the
publication, in terms of content and design, sees
it leading the way for trade union publications in Ire-
land and is comparable to the best of similar pub-
lications internationally. An Post and union
organisers distribute Liberty directly to members in
their workplaces. Liberty is free for members but it
can also be purchased at Eason’s stores across
the country.

• Newsletters

A number of regular newsletters are produced for
various sections of the union’s membership. These
are produced in co-operation with the relevant or-
ganisers. These newsletters include:

• Sound Post (Musicians Union of Ireland)

• The Teller, newsletter for members in Credit 
Unions (Insurance and Finance Sector)

• Claidheamh na h’Oibrithe – the Workers’ 
Sword (Energy and Natural Resources Sector) 

• Youth Workers (SIPTU Community Sector)

• SIPTU Home Helps (SIPTU Organising 
Department) 

2. Electronic Media 

• Website

The www.siptu.ie website serves as both the main 
information portal for the public seeking informa-
tion on the union and a news site for members. It pro-
vides information on workers’ rights, including the
services of the Workers Rights Centre, and an easy
link to join the union online.

The website contains all press releases issued by
the union. It is regularly updated with short news
articles on matters of interest to members, video
reports, publications and recent speeches. On av-
erage the website receives over 800 unique visitors
on each working day. 

Communications 

Department
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The main areas of interest for visitors to the site 
include the live stream from the webcam on the
roof of Liberty Hall, workers’ rights information and
the news reports and video links on the front page
of the website. The website is estimated to be the
most active and regularly updated of any trade
union or other civic society organisation in the
country. 

• Liberty Online 

The E-zine of news, comment and analysis was
published nine times during 2013 and ten times
during 2014. Each edition was emailed on average
to approximately 35,000 subscribing union mem-
bers. It consists of industrial news and coverage of
political, economic and cultural issues of relevance
to members. Refining of the SIPTU email list (re-
moving inactive email addresses etc.) and improve-
ments to the publication has resulted in the Liberty
Online opening rate rising from below 10% to over
18% of subscribers during the period of this report.
Subscribers and reader trends and choices can be
tracked through the Newsweaver service.

• E-bulletins and messages 

The Communications Department regularly issues
E-bulletins and messages to the full list of SIPTU
email subscribers or smaller sections of the mem-
bership. During 2013 and 2014 the topic of these
communications with members included reporting
on events during the 1913 Lockout commemora-
tions, the General President’s responses to na-
tional budgets and other policy issues and
information on the Young People’s Assembly held
in Liberty Hall in November 2013.

• Text messages

Messages of up to 160 characters are regularly
sent out to various mobile phone number lists of
members through the Neon system. These mes-
sages reach several thousand members at a time,
informing them of upcoming union activities. In
total, the Communications Department sent out
291,210 text messages during 2013-2014 to over
80,000 unique mobile phone numbers on its sys-
tem. 

SIPTU Biennial Delegate Conference 2013 

For the SIPTU Biennial Delegate Conference 2013,
held in the Mansion House, Dublin, in October, a very
large (approximately 5m by 30m) backdrop featuring
personalities and events from the union’s past includ-
ing the Lockout, was designed and produced by the
Communications Department. The Department also

oversaw the production of the Conference Clár, Bien-
nial report and other materials. 

Biennial Divisional Conferences 2014 

For the five Biennial Divisional Conferences in 2014
the Department produced an eight-minute video. The
film “Organising the Future” featured activists from all
Divisions and was produced in conjunction with
Gansee Films. A short version of the film was released
on the SIPTU Video YouTube channel. The Department
also oversaw the production of banners and informa-
tion materials for these conferences. 

External media

The Department relays the positions and policies of
the union to the public both directly and through other
media. During the period of this report the significant
impact of the dissemination of news and comment
through social media has become more evident in Irish
public life and politics. This is an important new av-
enue of direct connection with the public that the Com-
munications Department, in conjunction with the
Campaigns Department, has been eager to develop. 

Press Releases 

The Department issued 267 press releases in 2013
and 228 in 2014. These covered the full range of in-
dustrial relations issues across all divisions. Gener-
ated at the request of industrial officials, the news
releases are prepared by the Communications Depart-
ment and sent to a list of over 300 media contacts
across the country. These press releases are crucial
in bringing the union’s position to the wider public.
They generated numerous articles in national and local
newspapers as well as many interviews with officials
on radio and television.

News clipping service

The Department also distributes to all staff and mem-
bers of the National Executive Council, on a daily
basis, all articles concerning the union published
across online and print media. This service is provided
by the Dublin based company, News Access. 

International Media

The Department has frequent contact with the interna-
tional media and with the European and global trade
union movement particularly in relation to the economy
and the union’s campaign against the one-sided 
austerity policies of the Governmentand the EU. The 
Department has also supported union campaigns of
international solidarity with the peoples of Palestine,
Cuba, Colombia and other countries. The Department
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frequently facilitated visits to Liberty Hall by delegates
from unions across Europe, the US and other coun-
tries.

Social Media

The Communications Department was responsible for
the initial set up and updating of the union’s Facebook
page and Twitter account. These functions became the
responsibility the Campaigns Department in January
2014 with the establishment of a SIPTU Social Media
Campaigner position. The Communications Depart-
ment played a key role in defining the need, role and
responsibilities of this new position. Since his appoint-
ment in January 2014 the SIPTU Social Media Cam-
paigner, Dan O’Neill, has worked closely with the
Communications Department on the social media out-
put of the union.

During 2013, the main SIPTU Facebook page reached
over 2,000 likes (which means over 2,000 Facebook
users were directly receiving information posted on the
page) and the Twitter account reached over 1,000 fol-
lowers. Both social media platforms carried all SIPTU
press releases as well as other information on union
activities. 

During 2013, the Department was also involved in the
establishment and maintenance of a number of other
Facebook pages associated with union campaigns in-
cluding SIPTU Home Helps and Supporting Quality. 

Videos 

The Communications Department produces its own
videos for upload to the union’s YouTube channel (SIP-
TUVideo). It also commissions freelance filmmakers to
produce videos for union campaigns. During 2014, the
Department, in conjunction with the Campaigns De-
partment, moved towards a greater degree of special-
isation in video production with the creation of SIPTU
Digital. This development saw Campaigns Department
member, Paddy Cole, work with the Communications
Department on the production of higher quality videos.
During 2014, the Department has also developed its
relationship with Gansee Films, which has produced a
number of short videos for the union. SIPTU is also an
affiliate of union Solidarity International and has used
videos of protests produced by this group.

Campaigns material

For every SIPTU industrial and organising campaign the
Communications Department produces supporting ma-
terial such as flyers, leaflets and banners. During the
period of this report large banners were produced for
the Greyhound Workers, Save Our Service (Dublin Fire
Brigade Ambulance Service) and SIPTU Ireland-Pales-
tine Solidarity campaigns. 

Published reports

The Department produced a number of reports outlin-
ing aspects of union policy during 2013 and 2014.
These reports included:

• The SIPTU submission to the Apprenticeship 
ReviewGroup on Apprenticeship Training in Ireland.

• Discussion Paper on Ireland's Housing Crisis.

• Dublin District Council - A Vision for Dublin 2020 - 
Improving Our City.

The reports were published in booklet form and are
also available for download on the SIPTU.ie website.

Books

The Making of the Great 1913 Lockout Tapestry Book
-1,000 copies of this 100-page book were
printed.

The Department also assisted in the distribution of
“James Connolly and the Re-Conquest of Ireland” by
John Callow and published in 2014 by the British trade
unions, GMB and RMT. 

Major campaigns 

The Communications Department was responsible for
assisting a number of major campaigns by the union 
during 2013 and 2014. In this capacity, the Depart-
ment produced publicity material and sought to com-
municate the union’s position through other media.
Some of the main campaigns the Department was in-
volved in are listed below.

1913 Lockout Centenary Commemoration

The 1913 Lockout was the defining event of the early
years of our union’s existence. During 2013, the union
embarked on a major and highly successful calendar
of events to commemorate the centenary of the Lock-
out. The Communications Department was centrally in-
volved in the running of these events in association
with our colleagues in Congress. The events were pro-
moted through press releases and direct communica-
tions with members. A special issue of Liberty
newspaper was produced in October 2013 containing
articles on the history and impact of the Lockout. The
Department was involved in two visits to Liberty Hall
by President Michael D Higgins during the centenary
commemorations, including one for the unveiling of the
completed Great Dublin Lockout Tapestry in Septem-
ber 2013.
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Greyhound Dispute 

The protracted lockout of workers by Greyhound Recy-
cling and Recovery in Dublin lasted from June to Sep-
tember 2013. During this period, the Communications
Department produced over 40,000 leaflets that were
distributed across the city by the workers and mem-
bers of the Dublin District Council. The Department
was involved in assisting the Campaigns Department
in organising protest marches and lobbying politicians
on behalf of the workers. It also organised a sell-out
concert in support of the workers by Christy Moore,
Don Baker and Eric Fleming in Liberty Hall in August
2013.

Croke Park and Haddington Road Agreements

The Department produced a 28-page booklet in March
2013 containing the Labour Relations Commission
Proposals for the Public Service that comprised the
second Croke Park agreement. Over 40,000 of these
booklets were distributed to union members along with
other material explaining the proposals. In May 2013,
a further 40,000, 48 page booklets were produced
and distributed explaining the proposals that com-
prised the Haddington Road Agreement. A smaller
booklet on this Agreement was produced for the SIPTU
Health Division. 

OTHER ACTIVITIES 

Training Days 

The Department organised and conducted a number
of media training days for union organisers and 
activists. These included two-day courses held in
SIPTU College and shorter seminars in venues around
the country.

Congress Communications

The Department has continued to play an active role
in joint communications projects and the development
of Congress campaigns. During 2014 Congress began
developing a shared Internet portal that will aggregate
affiliated unions press releases and other news arti-
cles. 

Musicians Christy Moore, Don Baker and Eric Fleming
performed a concert in support of the workers in Liberty
Hall on Saturday, 16th August 2014. Pictured above are
Greyhound Shop Stewards, Jesse Hughes (centre) and
omas Cummins (right) who joined Christy Moore on
stage for a rendition of the union ballad Connolly.
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Retired Section activists always make themselves available to assist with wider union 
campaigns and were very much involved in showing solidarity with colleagues who were in
dispute with Greyhound Recycling during the summer of 2014, leafletting the rail stations
in and around Dublin. Photo taken February 2014 in Liberty Hall by Dan O’Neill.
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The National Retired Members Section has been very
active over the period 2013 and 2014 at both regional
and national level. The members of the National 
Committee during the period were:

Peter Campbell
Tomas O'Faolan
Jerry Browne
Sean Roche
Harry Byrne

Anthony Gilligan
John James McLoughlin

Martin O'Neill
Billy Doyle
Jimmy Lynch

Seamus Rodgers
Mary Traynor

Christine O'Flynn
Esther Cowan
Finbarr Foley
Pat Harrington
Seamus Murray
Margaret Cooney
Mairead Hayes
John Walsh

Padraig Browne
Larry Duggan

Manus O'Donnell
Jerry O'Callaghan
Paddy Moran

The Section participated fully in the 2013 biennial del-
egate conference. Both of the Section’s motions – one
on the Household Benefits Package for older people
and one on the State Pension (composited) were well
received and passed at conference. 

SIPTU General President, Jack O’Connor, led a delega-
tion of retired members along with Ethel Buckley, Na-
tional Campaigns & Equality Organiser, Loraine
Mulligan Researcher and Rachael Ryan SIPTU Pension
Official to meet with the Minister for Social Protection,
Joan Burton. The meeting discussed a number of is-
sues of concern to older people already retired and
also those coming up to retirement. There was a long
and frank exchange of views about the increase in pen-
sionable age and changes to the transition pension.
The General President was forceful in his condemna-
tion of the Minister and her staff on this subject ac-
cusing them of sitting on their hands on this issue for
three years. The Minister conceded that her Depart-
ment would not be checking on people of that age
group to see if they were or were not actively seeking
employment.

The Section, led by Ethel Buckley, embarked on a new
comprehensive campaign strategy entitled ‘Secure Re-
tirement - because we have earned it’. When deciding
the issues to campaign on, the Section consulted
widely with retired members from across the island.
Members did not want to presume to know all the 
issues confronting older people. The five Regional
Committees were asked to engage in a consultative
process with members in the region. The outcomes
were then brought back to a day-long national 
campaign strategy meeting at the start of 2014. 

Secure retirement has two main goals: a) to campaign
around the key demands of the Retired Members 
Section and b) to raise awareness of the Section
among the general membership so more members will
stay on as active members of the union in retirement. 

The campaign was launched in Liberty Hall in April
2014 by General Secretary, Joe O’Flynn. Tom Jordan,
long standing union activist with Irish Actors Equity and
union representative on the Fair City production since
its television debut over 25 years ago, endorsed the
campaign at its launch. Tom plays the role of Charlie
in Fair City. The launch saw the debut of a short docu-
mentary which charted the work, life and activists’ 
journey of some of the spokespersons of the Secure
Retirement campaign; along with a short promotional
film for conferences and union meetings.

The Section is very much involved on the Executive of
the Irish Senior Citizens Parliament (ISCP) and suc-
ceeded in having one of our National Committee Mem-
bers, John Walsh, elected to the position of President
in 2014. The ISCP organised a national demonstration
against the Budget 2014 outside the Dail. SIPTU 
Retired Members were to the fore in mobilising older
and retired people and in speaking from the platform
on the day. The main issue was about was the removal
of the telephone allowance from the Household 
Benefits Package.

Other involvements included policy meetings with the
General President Jack O’Connor and the General Sec-
retary, Joe O’Flynn, on the Project 2015 Strategy, and
engagement with staff in the Health Division in support
of the ‘Better Healthcare Better Jobs campaign’. 
Members of the Section also played active roles in
some of the District Councils around the country.

Section activists always make themselves available to
assist with wider union campaigns and were very much
involved in showing solidarity with colleagues who were
in dispute with Greyhound during the summer of 2014,
leafletting all the rail stations in and around Dublin. 

Retired Members
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Over five thousand people protested against
cuts affecting the elderly at Leinster House 
on Tuesday 22nd October, 2013. 
Photo: William Hederman
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Pensions

The Perfect Pension Partners Programme 
(The 4P’s)

In the winter of 2012, nearly two years into the crisis
of the Irish Airlines (General Employees) Superannua-
tion Scheme (IASS), a Pensions Business Committee
(PBC) was established from workplace representatives
in Aer Lingus, the DAA and the Shannon Airport Author-
ity. In all, 32 people were selected to participate in the
PBC.

Understandable frustration and confusion prevailed in
the three airports as thousands of pensioners faced
ruin. As a consequence the PBC began a comprehen-
sive process to;

• Understand Pension Computation Methodologies
• Recognise Yield Accumulation
• Identify Pension Partners.

The Committee’s key objective was;
‘Finding Retirement Saving Solutions Which Meet
the Members’ Income Needs and Goals at and 
Beyond Retirement’.

An initial survey of just over 1,000 staff who were
members of the IASS produced the following pension
perceptions:

• Poor Value
• Inadequate Communications
• Weak Transparency
• Flawed Rules
• Restrictive Regulatory Regime
• Member Isolation

In March 2013, following a three day workshop the
PBC declared that their investigations had concluded
that, while acknowledging the potential certainty of 
Defined Benefit Schemes, there was reasonable 
probability of greater financial outcomes in properly
managed defined contribution schemes particularly for
the lower paid in the unique circumstances prevailing.

The Committee participated in a comprehensive pen-
sion education syllabus which was necessary as a new
scheme was inevitable and therefore the Committee
wanted it to be the “right one.” From their research the
PBC then set out to identify pension investment 
management companies for any new scheme and to
this end they developed 5 identification objectives;

1. Member Buy-In through Simple Solutions for 
Members to Understand

2. Partners who Actively Manage, Diversify and 
have Proven Ability

3. Excellent Accessibility and Communication 
Standards

4. Transparency and Trust
5. Fair Costs – Value for Money – 

Not Cheap and Cheerful
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It is the opinion of the Committee that, unlike tradi-
tional DC schemes that have usually just one default
mechanism until a member is 58 years of age, the key
to successful pensions is effective default strategies
throughout its life cycle. This in turn led to the PBC cre-
ating the “Successful Pension Flight Path – Effective
Default Strategies” which embraced the following prin-
ciples:

• Risk and Return Profile Which Changes as a 
Member Ages

• Same Profile for Every Member until 5 years 
Prior to Retirement

• 5 Year Pre-Retirement – 2 Glide Paths; ARF 
or Annuity

• Simple, Tailored, Diversified Active Management
• No More than 2 Carefully Chosen Investment 

Managers Following Rigorous Scrutiny
• Standard Life Investments and Merrion 

Investment Managers
• Ongoing Running Costs kept to a Minimum

With their chosen pension partners Standard Life In-
vestments and Merrion Investment Managers, the Pen-
sions Business Committee made formal presentations
to senior management of Aer Lingus, DAA and the
Shannon Airport Authority in late 2014. 

Age range 18-30 31-50 51-60 61-65 61-65

Flight Path Take Off Cruise Descent Landing-ARF Landing - Annuity

Member High risk Slightly lower Balanced Structured Structured
Profile exposure given risk exposure attitude reduction in reduction in

long time to given towards risk risk to allow risk as build-
retirement maturing as retirement build-up of up matching
and need to portfolio but approaches 25% cash and assets for
maximise still long term balanced annuity
return to retirement portfolio purchase



155SIPTU • Annual Report 2013/2014

The Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme
(IASS)

The Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme (IASS) was
the mandatory pension scheme for all employees of
Aer Lingus, the Dublin Airport Authority (DAA), the
Shannon Airport Authority (SAA) and some employees
of Bunratty Castle.

On 25th July 2011, the difficulties that existed in the
IASS came into sharp focus when the Chairman of the
Trustees provided a memorandum that cited the very
many problems that currently existed. He opined, inter
alia, ‘The position is both critical and urgent’. In short,
the deficit in the scheme at this time was €370 mil-
lion and would eventually climb to over €780 million
in 2014.

Numerous local engagements failed to resolve the
many anomalies and complexities that existed in this
multi-employer scheme. Final talks broke down with
Aer Lingus only offering approximately €40 million to
compensate active employees while the DAA offered
slightly more at €43 million for its active employees.

Accordingly the Irish Congress of Trade Unions (ICTU)
wrote to the Chief Executive of Aer Lingus, Mr
Christoph Mueller on the 30th August 2011 advising
that, ‘Given that the Scheme is a Defined Benefit
Scheme, the responsibility for the deficit rests with the
employers’.

On 9th December 2011, the Labour Relations Com-
mission facilitated an extensive round of formal con-
ciliation engagements with all the relevant parties. The
considerable efforts of the LRC concluded on the 28th
November 2012 by way of the ‘Report on the IASS Ne-
gotiations’, which was authored by Mr Kieran Mulvey,
Chief Executive, LRC.

A Labour Court hearing was held on the 17th Decem-
ber 2012 in relation to the Aer Lingus strand, followed
by another Labour Court hearing to consider the DAA
element on Friday 8th March 2013. There was a final
hearing with Aer Lingus on Monday 11th March 2014.
This process resulted in three Labour Court Recom-
mendations; LCR 20440 and LCR 20527 (Aer Lingus)
and LCR 20523 (DAA and SAA). The latter two were
published on May 24th 2014. 

Aer Lingus Key Recommendations – LCR
20440 and LCR 20527

Cash Injection
Once-off lump sum in the amount of €110 
million for Aer Lingus active IASS members.

Lost Stabilisation
Increments to be frozen
Pay Inflation – no inflationary increases 
before 31st December 2014.
Stabilisation Payments (Continued)

I. Defined Contribution Levels
Employer 10%
Employee 4.5% and Upwards.

1. DAA and SAA Key Recommendations – 
LCR 20523

I. Pension expectations – Once-off capital lump 
sum sufficient to secure 65% of the 
uncoordinated element.

II. Defined Contribution Rates

Payment Date Stabilisation Payment

September 2013 €250

September 2014 €2,000

September 2015 €1,800

September 2016 €1,800

5% 7%

6% 8%

7% 9%

8+% 10%

Employee Employer
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III. Wind-Up of the Aer Rianta Supplemental 
Superannuation Scheme – 100% Transfer 
value plus €750,000.

IV. Legal Sureties for Shannon Airport Authority 
Staff.

V. Loss of Ill Health Provision.

VI. Proposals to change retirement ages and 
introduction of medical/fitness testing for Airport 
Police and Fire Service.

VII.Freeze on Pensionable Pay – 5 years.

The Trustees Proposals – 14th February 2014
Freeze and De-risk the IASS.

Pensions in payment reduced by maximum permitted
by recent legislative changes.

The restoration of the impact of coordination.

The removal of revaluation.

A reduction of 20% in the accrued benefits of active
and deferred members.

The cessation of future accrual and contributions for
current active members.

In the winter of 2013 our members strongly rejected
proposals and on 1st March 2014 over 90% of the
membership balloted in favour of taking industrial 
action over the pension issue. The industrial action
committees met and decided that there would be a 
4 hour stoppage on Friday 14th March 2014.

In early March 2014 the Government announced that
it was establishing an ‘Expert Panel’ to carry out an
urgent investigation of how a final resolution of the
industrial relations issues relating to the IASS can
be secured.

On the 11th and 12th of March the DAA, SAA and
Ryanair sought and were granted an injunction
against the proposed industrial action. Separately,
on the 12th March 2014 Aer Lingus started legal ac-
tions against the union and the Pension Policy Advi-
sor personally.

On 16 June 2014, the Expert Panel presented its
final proposals for the resolution of the industrial re-
lations issues in The Irish Aviation Superannuation
Scheme (“The IASS”) dispute to the Department of
Transport, Tourism and Sport, the Department of
Jobs, Enterprise and Employment, Ibec and Con-
gress.

The Panel examined the complex industrial relations
issues that remained to be resolved arising from the
Labour Court recommendations of 2013 and the
terms and impact of the IASS Trustee proposal
which issued on February 14th, 2014, on those
Labour Court recommendations. The Panel recom-
mended the design of separate solutions for each of
the principal employments, while recognising the di-
verse positions of the employers, unions and views
of other stakeholders, including deferred and active
pensioners, as well as the IASS Trustee.

Summary of Recommendations
The Panel recommended increases in the capital
sums payable by both employers in respect of active
members.

The capital sum recommended in respect of Aer 
Lingus was an all-inclusive €146.7 million.
The capital sum recommended in respect of the DAA
was an all-inclusive €57.3 million.
The Panel also recommended some alterations to
the Labour Court Recommendations to reflect:

Aer Lingus
1. Lower contributions by lower paid active 

members;
2. A once-off employer pension contribution to take 

account of some elements of pay which are 
currently non-pensionable;

3. An increase in Stabilisation Payments to €2,000 
p.a. in 2015 and 2016 on a pensionable basis;

4. An amendment to certain technical assumptions.

DAA
1  Lower contributions by lower paid active 

members;
2  The proposed capital sum had the potential to 

provide 65% of the difference between the 
co-ordinated and unco-ordinated pension in each 
case;

3  There was the potential to achieve a minimum of 
the accrued coordinated IASS pension;

4  There was provision for revaluation of 1.5% 
following an initial five-year freeze period 
recommended by the Labour Court.

Following a lengthy series of clarifications the Aer 
Lingus members accepted the new proposals on the
5th November 2014. However our members in the
State airports rejected the proposals. On the 2nd
December 2014 the secretary generals of the de-
partments of Transport, Tourism and Sport and
Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation wrote to the ‘Expert
Panel’ requesting them to make themselves avail-
able ‘as an exceptional measure’.

At the end of 2014 the dispute remained 
unresolved.
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SIPTU Membership Services is a coordinated service
which provides members and their families with dis-
counts and benefits across a wide range of products
and services. These include car, home and travel In-
surance, income protection plans on both an individual
and group scheme basis, and a tax refund service.

JLT Ireland, one of the world’s largest providers of in-
surance, reinsurance and employee benefits, has been
appointed by SIPTU to coordinate Membership Serv-
ices. Each year Membership Services devises and car-
ries out a sustained marketing plan to actively promote
the services throughout the membership. Components
of the campaign include regular mailshots to Divisions,
Shop Stewards and Officials. Merchandise including
posters for workplace noticeboards and flyers for dis-

tribution are sent to work places. Membership Serv-
ices also undertakes site visits to work places, pre-
sentations to various committees and has information
stands at the annual conferences

In addition, Membership Services issues a quarterly
ezine and have regular ads, articles and updates in
Liberty and Liberty on Line. Updated information and
details on how to access the services are also avail-
able on www.siptu.ie via the web button for ‘SIPTU
Membership Services’ on the home page. 

SIPTU Membership 

Services
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Services Industrial 
Professional and Technical
Union Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities for the year
ended 31 December 2014
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the An-
nual Report and the financial statements in accor-
dance with applicable Trade Union law,
Miscellaneous Technical Statement 28, Annual Finan-
cial Statements of Trade Unions, and generally ac-
cepted accounting practice in Ireland.

The Trustees are required to prepare financial state-
ments for each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the union and of
the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing
those   financial statements the Trustees are re-
quired to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• Prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the union will continue in operation.

The Trustees confirm that they have complied with
the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements.

The Trustees are also required to state whether 
applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures being disclosed
and explained in the financial statements.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper
books of account, which disclose with reasonable ac-
curacy at any time the financial position of the union
and to enable them to ensure that the financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with accounting
standards generally accepted in Ireland. The
Trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the union and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the organisational information in-
cluded on the union’s website.

Signed on behalf of the Trustees:

Annette Donlon, Tim Daly

Date: 21 May 2015

Appendix 1: 

Financial Statements
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General Fund
Revenue Account for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
Members’ Contributions 32,497,271 32,679,030 

Rents 167,994 280,552 

Sundry Income 1 612,240 744,998 

33,277,505 33,704,580

Expenditure

Finance and Administration 2 5,330,220 5,043,987 

Industrial Services 3 6,865,647 7,123,600 

Industrial Engineering 4 177,932 217,389 

Property 5 3,655,728 3,547,234 

Utilities and Construction 6 2,362,888 2,195,430 

Manufacturing 7 2,875,411 2,880,157 

Health 8 2,403,454 2,341,041 

PA and Communities 9 2,427,088 2,433,233 

Services 10 2,295,567 2,201,969 

Research 12 411,831 419,671 

Publications 13 738,562 743,553 

General Services 14 2,047,930 2,308,713 

Dispute Benefit 416,629 261,316

Depreciation 15 749,223 851,877 

32,758,110 32,569,170

Surplus for year 519,395 1,135,410

Pension Scheme Payments - (1,089,214)

Goverment Pension Levy - (1,149,370) 

Surplus on Disposal of Fixed Assets 2,250 14,339 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 521,645 (1,088,835)

Transfer to Provident and Educational Fund - (1,000,000)

Transfer from Industrial Contingency Fund 166,589 211,276

Surplus/(Deficit) after transfers to other funds 688,234 (1,877,559)

Balance in Fund at beginning of Year 19,010,873 20,888,432 

Balance in Fund at end of year 19,699,107 19,010,873
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Provident and Educational Fund
Revenue Account for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
Bank and Other Interest 228,560 269,845 

Grants 127,166 127,166 

355,726 397,011 

Expenditure
Staff Costs 803,059 838,700 

Education and Training 11 298,451 408,850 

Retirement Benefit 147,010 148,683 

Mortality Benefit 59,437 78,739 

Superannuation and Grants 8,074 15,617

1,316,031 1,490,589

(Deficit) for year (960,305) (1,093,578)
Transfer from General Fund - 1,000,000 
Balance in Fund at beginning of year (3,764,179) (3,670,601)
Balance in Fund at end of year (4,724,484) (3,764,179)

Industrial Contingency Fund
Revenue Account for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
General Fund - -

Expenditure - -

ITUT Grant - - 

Surplus for year - - 

Transfer (to) General Fund (166,589) (211,276) 

Balance in Fund at beginning of year 19,735,335 19,946,611 
Balance in Fund at end of year 19,568,746 19,735,335

Political Fund
Revenue Account for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
Income € €
Members’ Contributions 85,562 86,093 

85,562 86,093 
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Expenditure
Affiliation Fees 2,500 2,500 

Political Grants and Donations 20,490 1,143

Conference Expenses - 11,443

22,990 15,086

Surplus for the year 62,572 71,007

Balance in Fund at beginning of year 117,368 46,361 

Balance in Fund at end of year 179,940 117,368 

Provident Pension and General Purposes Fund (IPG)
Revenue Account for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
Members’ Contributions 22,388 45,474 

22,388 45,474

Expenditure
Claims and Allowances 39,282 32,973 

Payment to Superannuitants 12,216 13,040 

51,498 46,013

(Deficit) for year (29,110) (539)
Balance in Fund at beginning of year 1,585,416 1,585,955 
Balance in Fund at end of year 1,556,306 1,585,416 

Income Continuance Fund
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
Members’ Subscriptions - - 

- - 

Expenditure
Claims and Allowances 67,353 44,421

67,353 44,421 

Deficit for the year (67,353) (44,421)
Balance in Fund at beginning of year 962,433 1,006,854 
Balance in Fund at end of year 895,080 962,433 
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Liberty Hall Modernisation Fund
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Schedule 2014 2013
€ €

Income
General Fund - - 

Expenditure
Surplus for year - -

Balance in Fund at beginning of year 7, 670.066 7, 670.066
Balance in Fund at end of year 7, 670.066 7, 670.066

Consolidated Revenue Account
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 2014 2013
€ €

Income
Members’ Contributions 32,605,221 32,810,597 

Rents 167,994 280,552 

Bank & Other Interest 228,560 269,845 

Grants 127,166 127,166 

Other Income 612,240 744,998

33,741,181 34,233,158 

Expenditure
Staff Costs 23,245,826 22,522,077 

Honorary Secretaries Commission 281,225 360,302 

Administration 1,257,198 1,430,537 

Promotional 327,327 250,912 

National/ Divisional & Industrial Conferences 459,788 731,229 

Travel, Subsistence and Transport Costs 1,854,943 1,785,316 

Computer and Equipment Maintenance 220,732 202,192 

Publishing Costs 186,414 192,548 

Legal and Professional Fees 539,261 684,463 

Divisional Development and Campaign Fund 27,216 57,338 

Strategic Development Activities 44,956 33,585 

Establishment 2,049,224 2,100,358 

Organisational Unit Expenses 337,982 370,291 

Dispute Benefit 416,629 261,316 

Depreciation 4 749,223 851,877 

Provident & Educational Fund 1,316,031 1,490,589 

Political Fund 22,990 15,086 

Income Continuance Fund 67,353 44,421 

IPG Fund 51,498 46,013 

Affiliation Fees 739,640 736,817 
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Bank Charges 79,188 56,674 

Amortisation of Capital Grant 10 (58,662) (58,662)

Total Operating Expenditure 34,215,982 34,165,279 

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year before exceptional items (474,801) (67,879) 

Surplus on Disposal of Fixed Assets 2,250 14,339 
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (472,551) 82,218 

Pension Scheme Payments - (1,089,214)
Government Pensions Levy - (1,149,370)

Balance brought forward 45,317,312 47,473,678

Balance carried forward 44,844,761 45,317,312 

Represented by:

General Fund 19,699,107 19,010,873

Liberty Hall Modernisation Fund 7,670,066 7,670,066 

Income Continuance Fund 895,080 962,433 

Provident and Educational Fund (4,724,484) (3,764,179)

Industrial Contingency Fund 19,568,746 19,735,335

Political Fund 179,940 117,368 

Provident, Pension and General Purposes Fund (IPG) 1,556,306 1,585,416

A statement of total recognised gains or losses has not been prepared as there were no gains or 

losses recognised other than as stated above.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 2014 2013

€ €
Income
Fixed Assets 4 15,350,072 15,796,947

Heritage Asset 5 266,771 266,771 

Financial Assets

Investment Portfolio 2,329,161 2,329,161 

Other Investments 18,812 18,812 

6 2,347,973 2,347,973 

Current Assets
Larcon Centre Stock 7 2,630 1,546 

Sundry Debtors and Prepayments 14,830,323 13,650,478 

Cash in Hand 18,714,096 20,106,630 

33,547,049 33,758,654 
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Current Liabilities
Sundry Creditors and deferred income 8 (5,096,597) (5,223,864)

Net Current Assets 28,450,452 28,534,790 

Long Term Liabilities
Grants received – Liberty Hall Centre for the Arts (1,518,095) (1,576,757)

Deferred Income- Belfast premises (52,412) (52,412)
Total Long Term Liabilities 9 (1,570,507) (1,629,169)

Net Assets 44,844,761 45,317,312
Represented by:

Accumulated Balances

General Fund 19,699,107 19,010,873 

Liberty Hall Modernisation Fund 7,670,066 7,670,066 

Income Continuance Fund 895,080 962,433 

Provident and Educational Fund (4,724,484) (3,764,179)

Industrial Contingency Fund 19,568,746 19,735,335 

Political Fund 179,940 117,368 

Provident, Pension and General Purposes Fund (IPG) 1,556,306 1,585,416 

44,844,761 45,317,312

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013

€ €
Surplus for year
General Fund 521,645 (1,088,835) 

Provident & Educational Fund (960,305) (1,093,578)

Political Fund 62,572 71,007

Income Continuance Fund (67,353) (44,421)

Provident, Pension & General Purpose Fund (IPG) (29,110) (539)

(472,551) (2,156,366) 

Depreciation 749,226 851,877 
Surplus on Disposal of Fixed Assets (2,250) (14,339)
Grant Amortisation (58,662) (58,662)
(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors (1,179,845) (888,270)
(Increase)/Decrease in Stock (1,084) 300
(Decrease) in Creditors (127,267) (816,754) 

Net Cash flow from Operations (1,092,436) (1,305,674) 

Net Cash Inflows
Sale of Tangible Fixed Assets 231,770 178,678 
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Investment Activities
Purchase of Tangible Fixed Assets (531,868) (765,701)

(1,392,534) (1,892,697) 

Financing:
(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,392,534) (1,892,697) 

(1,392,534) (1,892,697) 

Notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Accounting Policies
(a) The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with 

Miscellaneous Technical Statement 28, Annual Financial Statements of Trade Unions, and accounting 
standards generally accepted in Ireland. 

(b) Members’ Contributions are accounted for on the basis of contributions remitted in respect of the 
accounting period and include remittances received after the year end.

(c) Grant Income
Grant income is accounted for on an accruals basis. Capital grants are credited to the Revenue account 
on a basis consistent with the depreciation of related capital assets.

(d) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
All tangible fixed assets are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided on the fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of the assets less any 
residual value over their expected useful lives as follows: -

Premises 2% Reducing Balance

Motor Cars 25% Straight Line

Furniture and Fittings 10% Reducing Balance

Computers & Office Equipment 25% Straight Line

(e) Heritage assets
Heritage assets are recorded in the balance sheet at historical cost. The asset included on the balance 
sheet is deemed to have an indefinite life and the Trustees do not therefore consider it appropriate to 
charge depreciation. The carrying amount of the asset will be reviewed for evidence of impairment on 
an annual basis and any such impairment will be dealt with in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement requirements of FRS 11 ‘Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill’.

(f) Investments
On initial recognition investments are recorded in the accounts at cost. At each balance sheet date this 
original cost is compared to market value on an asset by asset basis. Where there is an indication that there
has been a permanent diminution in value below original cost the asset is written down and an impairment 
is recognised in the profit and loss account in that year.

(g) Stocks and work in progress
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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(h) Pension
The union operates a defined benefit pension scheme. Contributions are made to the scheme in 
accordance with recommendations of independent actuaries. Such contributions are charged on an accruals 
basis. An independent actuarial valuation is carried out every 3 years. The last actuarial valuation was 
on 1 January 2013 (Note 13 to the accounts provides information in respect of the pension scheme). 

(i) Political Fund
The union administers a Political Fund to which Section 3 of the Trade Union Act 1913 applies.

(j) Contingencies
In the normal course of events, the union becomes involved in various legal disputes relating to its 
representation of members. The policy of the union in terms of the financial impact of such disputes is to 
provide for expenditure arising from legal cases only where it is probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will result. Any contingencies arising from such cases are disclosed unless the possibility of a 
transfer of economic benefits is remote.

(k) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the union has a constructive or legal obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(l) Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates of exchange 
at the balance sheet date. 

2. Employee numbers
The average number of persons employed by the union during the year was as follows:

2014 2013
313 317

3. Member numbers
The number of members at the beginning and end of the year was as follows:

2014 2013
Number of members at the beginning of the year 205,770 214,376

Number of members admitted during the year 18,629 18,755

Number of members who ceased during the year (19,930) (27,361)

204,469 205,770

4. Fixed Assets Premises Motor Cars Computers Furniture Total
& Office & Fittings
Equipment

€ € € € €
Cost/Valuation 
At 1.1.2014 20,425,251 1,344,541 4,565,533 4,869,874 31,205,199

Additions 4,881 358,633 151,475 16,879 531,868 

Disposals - (511,270) (200) - (511,470)

At 31.12.2014 20,430,132 1,191,904 4,716,808 4,886,753 31,225,597 
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Accumulated Depreciation
At 1.1. 2014 5,953,294 804,310 4,538,382 4,112,266 15,408,252 

Charge for year 289,537 297,976 114,700 47,010 749,223 

Disposals - (281,950) - - (281,950)

At 31.12.2014 6,242,831 820,336 4,653,082 4,159,276 15,875,525 

Net Book Value
At 31.12.2014 14,187,301 371,568 63,726 727,477 15,350,072

Net Book Value
At 31.12 2013 14,471,957 540,231 27,151 757,608 15,796,947 

5. Heritage Assets
2014 2013
€ €

Opening Cost 266,771 266,771 

Additions - - 

Disposals - - 

266,771 266,771 

During 2010, SIPTU purchased an original copy of the 1916 Proclamation. As this item meets the definition of a
heritage asset as defined under FRS 30 “Heritage Assets” it has been accounted for in accordance with this
standard.

6. Financial Assets Investment Other Total
Portfolio Investments

€ € €

Cost at 01.01.2014 2,329,161 18,812 2,347,973

Sale of Investments - - -

Purchase of Investments - - - 

Capital Gain reinvested - - - 

Impairment of Investments - - - 

Carrying value at 31.12.2014 2,329,161 18,812 2,347,973 

The Union Investment Portfolio is analysed as follows:
2014 2013
€ €

Ireland Fixed Interest 95,148 95,424 

Irish Equity fund 778,426 741,264 

Eurozone Cash & Equity fund 1,455,587 1,492,473 

2,329,161 2,329,161 
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2014 2013
€ €

Other Investments at Cost
€3,127 9.75% National Development Loan 3,127 3,127 

Prize Bonds 1,079 1,079 

Other Investments 1,175 1,175 

5,381 5,381 

Cash Retained by the Accountant

Courts of Justice 13,431 13,431 

18,812 18,812 

The investment portfolios are managed by J&E Davy.

The investment portfolio is stated at the lower of cost and market value where a reduction in market value
below cost is considered to be of a permanent nature. The union’s investment strategy is to hold the portfolio
for the long term with some movements being made by the Investment Managers into or out of funds in order to
optimise return or limit loss. 

The total market value of the investment portfolio is €2,849,001 (Cost: €2,329,161) at 31 December 2014. 
The market value of ‘Other Investments’ held by the union is not materially different than the cost.

7. Sundry Debtors and Prepayments
2014 2013
€ €

Contributions 2,746,413 3,566,458 

Salaries in Advance 878,438 835,014 

Other Prepayments 285,057 291,625 

Other Debtors 10,920,415 8,957,381

14,830,323 13,650,478 

8. Creditors falling due within one year
2014 2013
€ €

Creditors 1,104,249 658,305 

PAYE/PRSI 885,527 970,949 

Accruals 3,106,821 3,594,610 

5,096,597 5,223,864 

9. Creditors falling due after one year
2014 2013
€ €

Deferred Income - Belfast premises 52,412 52,412 

Deferred Income - Capital Grants (Note 10) 1,518,095 1,576,757 

1,570,507 1,629,169 
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10. Deferred Income - Capital Grants
2014 2013
€ €

At beginning of year 1,576,757 1,635,419 

Amortisation during the year (58,662) (58,662)

At end of year 1,518,095 1,576,757 

11. Capital Commitments and Contingencies

In 2012, the plan put forward to redevelop the Liberty Hall site was rejected by the planning authorities, An
Bord Pleanála. The union remains committed to the Liberty Hall site which has been the home of the union
since 1912. Accordingly the union is examining options which will permit an appropriate modernisation of the fa-
cilities. At the year end 31 December 2014, this review is ongoing and in this respect the union in 2012 pro-
vided for the modernisation through the creation of a separate Liberty Hall Modernisation Fund.

The union has a commitment to provide the Economic Intelligence Unit established by ICTU with €100,000 per
annum over a period of five years. In this regard, at 31 December 2014 an amount of €100,000 is provided in
respect of 2014.

At 31 December 2014 a number of legal cases to which the union is a party are ongoing. An estimate has been
made of the expected costs to the union associated with these cases and a provision is included in the ac-
counts in this regard.

12. Related Parties

IDEAS Limited is a company limited by guarantee carrying on a range of training and educational activities. The
members of IDEAS Limited are appointed by SIPTU. The union continues to support the activities of IDEAS Lim-
ited. During the year, IDEAS provided SIPTU with services amounting to €70,000 (2013: €nil). The amount out-
standing at the end of the year to IDEAS was nil (2013: €nil).

ITUT is a company limited by guarantee with the objective of promoting social solidarity in Ireland. Included in
debtors at 31 December 2014 are amounts due by ITUT to SIPTU of €100,325 (2013: €68,943). The union
has continued to support the activities of ITUT.

Larcon Cultural Services Limited is a limited company established to operate the Liberty Hall Centre for the
Arts. The Trustees of SIPTU are the shareholders of Larcon. During the year Larcon Cultural Services Limited in-
curred license fees and charges and purchased goods in the amount of €44,588 (2013: €52,522) from SIPTU.
Included in debtors at 31 December 2014 are amounts due by Larcon Cultural Services Limited to SIPTU of
€94,921 (2013: €80,725). The union has continued to support the activities of Larcon Cultural Services Lim-
ited. 

13. Pensions

The union operates a defined benefit pension scheme for staff employed by the union. Contributions are made
to the scheme in accordance with recommendations of an independent actuary. Such contributions are charged
on an accruals basis. An actuarial valuation was carried out at 1 January 2013. Using the aggregated method of
funding which has traditionally been used, the results of the valuation showed that the Fund was in deficit under
the Minimum Funding Standard at 1 January 2013 in the amount of €130 million. The union is committed to
supporting the continuation of the Pension Scheme, in conjunction with staff and Pension Trustees. This com-
mitment extends, at the discretion of the NEC, to the provision of supplementary funds if required. During the
year SIPTU and the Pension Scheme Trustees submitted the Section 50 application to the Pensions Board and
this application was subsequently approved by the Pensions Board.

The union has considered the implications of Financial Reporting Standard 17 (FRS 17), Retirement Benefits,
and has decided not to comply with the requirements of the standard in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2014. FRS 17 provides for the presentation of information regarding the costs of providing
the pension benefits earned by employees during the year and of the value of the benefits that the union has
committed to providing in respect of service up to the year-end. 
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It is the union’s position that the provisions of FRS 17 are not in the best interests of members of defined bene-
fit pension schemes and are contrary to the union’s objective of supporting the continued provision of defined
benefit schemes by employers to their employees. The basis of valuation provided for in the FRS differs from
the basis of preparation of the funding standard provided for in the Pensions Act 1990. The union is, as de-
scribed above, taking appropriate steps under Pensions legislation to protect the interests of the members of
the scheme and to address the deficit in the scheme.

The information required under FRS 17 does not, in the view of the union, reflect the liabilities currently or likely
to fall payable by the union in respect of the Pension Scheme in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the union is
satisfied that the information required under FRS 17 has no impact on the ability of the union to continue to op-
erate on a financially viable basis.

If the union had complied with the requirements of FRS 17 the effect would have been to reduce net assets by
€80,348 million. This compares with a figure of €128,493 million for 2013. 

Pension Scheme amounts were settled during 2013. These include pension scheme payments of €1,089,214
and government pension levies of €1,149,370.

14. The Trustees approved the accounts on 21 May 2015.

Schedules to the accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013

Schedule 1 € €
Sundry Income

Income from Services to Provident Fund 84,092 84,092 

Other income 528,148 660,906 

612,240 744,998 

2014 2013
Schedule 2 € €
Finance and Administration

Staff Costs 4,558,476 4,178,439 

Administration 444,050 555,561 

Equipment & Computer Maintenance 76,960 60,192 

Travel and Subsistence 2,113 15,503

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 6,929 11,049

- Car Maintenance 3,528 1,743 

- Tax and Insurance 4,414 3,967

Official’s Transport Policy 22,353 13,367 

Legal and Professional Fees 132,209 149,850 

Bank Charges 79,188 54,316 

5,330,220 5,043,987 
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2014 2013
Schedule 3 € €
Industrial Services

Staff Costs 6,481,856 6,598,114 

Administration 97,043 116,259 

Legal & Professional Fees 73,367 219,380 

Official’s Transport Policy 164,889 143,302

Travel and Subsistence 30,385 28,640 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 10,324 8,539 

- Car Maintenance 3,285 3,405 

- Tax and Insurance 4,498 5,961 

6,865,647 7,123,600 

2014 2013
Schedule 4 € €
Industrial Engineering

Staff Costs 160,520 199,317 

Travel and Subsistence 3,436 3,905

Official’s Transport Policy 13,976 14,167 

177,932 217,389 

2014 2013
Schedule 5 € €
Property

Staff Costs 1,176,396 1,120,900 

Administration 200,350 106,719 

Legal and Professional Fees 71,819 66,502 

Equipment and Maintenance 139,840 138,087 

Travel and Subsistence - 1,172 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 1,487 2,737 

- Car Maintenance 2,295 551 

- Tax and Insurance 942 964

Official’s Transport Policy 13,375 9,245

Rent, Rates and Insurance 973,923 1,031,441 

Heat, Light and Cleaning 725,689 689,189 

Maintenance and Refurbishment 349,612 379,727

3,655,728 3,547,234
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2014 2013
Schedule 6 € €
Utilities and Construction

Staff Costs 1,897,363 1,821,690

Divisional Development - 3,348 

Administration 64,728 75,251 

Travel and Subsistence 253,227 174,922 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 15,525 14,838

- Car Maintenance 3,115 5,819 

- Tax and Insurance 3,858 5,228

Official’s Transport Policy 108,774 94,334 

Legal and Professional Fees 16,298 -

2,362,888 2,195,430

2014 2013
Schedule 7 € €
Manufacturing

Staff Costs 2,393,479 2,368,637 

Divisional Development 18,577 29,087 

Honorary Secretaries Commission 33,809 57,000 

Administration 86,831 115,770 

Legal and Professional Fees 8,487 - 

Travel and Subsistence 154,618 158,700 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 13,886 6,014 

- Car Maintenance 6,604 5,611

- Tax and Insurance 5,236 6,623 

Official’s Transport Policy 153,884 132,715 

2,875,411 2,880,157 

2014 2013
Schedule 8 € €
Health

Staff Costs 1,834,171 1,669,500 

Divisional Development 6,041 16,231 

Honorary Secretaries Commission 177,230 225,379 

Administration 100,581 131,815 

Legal and Professional Fees 3,275 32 

Travel and Subsistence 134,968 165,097 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 8,486 15,946 

- Car Maintenance 1,551 3,449 

- Tax and Insurance 3,794 4,279 

Official’s Transport Policy 133,345 109,313

Equipment and Computer Maintenance 12 - 

2,403,454 2,341,041 
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2014 2013
Schedule 9 € €
Public Administration and Community

Staff Costs 1,909,767 1,869,812 

Divisional Development 836 3,959 

Honorary Secretaries Commission 68,105 74,342 

Administration 95,093 112,496

Legal and Professional Fees 14,350 6,519

Travel and Subsistence 196,243 202,938 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 14,499 28,650 

- Car Maintenance 2,023 5,456 

- Tax and Insurance 4,781 5,482 

Official’s Transport Policy 121,391 123,579 

2,427,088 2,433,233 

2014 2013
Schedule 10 € €
Services

Staff Costs 2,001,663 1,857,514 

Divisional Development 1,762 4,713 

Honorary Secretaries Commission 2,081 3,581 

Administration 69,712 97,349 

Travel and Subsistence 82,382 98,896 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 16,767 29,069

- Car Maintenance 2,569 4,179 

- Tax and Insurance 5,245 8,763 

Official’s Transport Policy 107,543 97,905

Legal and Professional Fees 5,843 - 

2,295,567 2,201,969

2014 2013
Schedule 11 € €
Education and Training

Administration 8,853 17,481 

Equipment Maintenance 325 - 

Travel and Subsistence 10,612 12,985 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 7,201 8,531

- Car Maintenance 2,900 2,980 

- Tax and Insurance 3,237 5,815 

Rent, Rates and Insurance 21,722 90,583 

Repairs and Renewals 7,646 201 

Course Expenses 133,410 161,576 

Staff Education and Development Grants 42,655 34,880 

Official’s Transport Policy 18,138 15,968 

Scholarship Grant /Law Course Expenditure 41,752 57,850 

298,451 408,850
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2014 2013
Schedule 12 € €
Research

Staff Costs 382,155 391,235 

Administration 23,638 24,695 

Equipment Maintenance - -

Travel and Subsistence 246 266 

Transport Costs - Car Fuel 2,040 2,524 

- Car Maintenance 190 190 

Official’s Transport Policy 3,453 761

Retirement Membership Expenses 109 - 

411,831 419,671 

2014 2013
Schedule 13 € €
Publications

Staff Costs 449,980 446,919 

Administration 75,172 94,622 

Equipment Maintenance 3,920 3,913 

Travel and Subsistence 211 941 

Official’s Transport Policy 6,260 4,610 

Publishing Costs 186,414 192,548

Legal and Professional Fees 16,605 - 

738,562 743,553 

2014 2013
Schedule 14 € €
General Services

Divisional/Biennial Delegate Conference 144,044 309,533 

ICTU Biennial Conference 500 40,982 

Other Conferences 12,482 5,052 

ICTU Affiliation Fee 598,413 597,766 

Affiliation fees 19,067 25,399 

Other Affiliation Fees 122,160 113,652 

Grants and Charitable Donations 13,950 450 

N.E.C. Costs 275,355 256,358 

Promotional Expenses 297,521 232,904 

Overseas 44,956 33,585 

Divisional Executive Committee 25,434 26,846 

Organisation Unit Expenses 337,982 370,291 
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Legal & Professional Fees 197,008 244,539 

Retired Members Expenses 15,747 17,560 

Ballot Expenses 1,973 92,458

Amortisation of Grant (58,662) (58,662)

2,047,930 2,308,713

2014 2013
Schedule 15 € €
Depreciation
Premises 289,537 295,346 

Motor Cars 297,976 336,134 

Furniture and Fittings 47,010 84,178 

Computer & Office Equipment 114,700 136,219

749,223 851,877
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Appendix 2:

Staff Salaries

The following were the annual salaries paid to staff at 
the top of the salary scales at the 31st December 2014
which, were the same as of the 31st December 2013.

Grade:                       Annual Salary

National Executive Officer  €108,384

Divisional Organiser/Head of Department €84,142

Sector Organiser  €66,290 
plus an allowance of €5,604

Industrial Organiser  €66,290

Assistant Industrial Organiser  €54,601

Location Based Organiser  €49,075

Maintenance Supervisor €49,075

Administrative Assistant  €39,034

Porter/Maintenance  €36,986

The National Executive Officers salary was reduced to
€108,384 following the Haddington Road Agreement
(HRA) when the Officers voluntarily applied the terms 
of the Agreement to their salaries. 

SIPTU staff pension benefit receivable at retirement 
was reduced by 20% and the provision for any element
of pension increases was removed, following the issuing
of a Section 50 Order by the Pensions Authority.

Subsistence Allowances

The following schedule of allowances – approved by 
the Office of the Inspector of Taxes was agreed by
the National Executive Council applied to members, 
activists and staff while undertaking union business.

Dec 2013 Dec 2014
For absences of 5 
hours but less than 10 €13.71 €13.71

For absences of 10 
hours or more €33.61 €33.61

Where overnight stay 
is required (maximum – 
subject to production 
of receipt) €89.25 €89.25
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Introduction
The Lockout is of major significance to the trade union
movement not just because it saw the bir th of the
modern labour movement and the defeat of the most
determined attempt by employers ever undertaken in
this country to crush mass trade unionism but 
because it is a reminder of what is still to be achieved,
the right to collective bargaining, to organise and to
represent people in their place of work. 

This remains a matter of concern for working people
and for society in general: apart from taxation, collec-
tive bargaining is the most effective means of redis-
tributing wealth. When this right is eroded, or denied,
the risk of inequality increases. Erosion of incomes af-
fects long term life choices and a lowering of aspirations
for the general working population, as well as causing
immediate cuts in living standards.

The richer those at the top of society become the greater
their capacity to deny workers a fair share in the wealth
that they have created. The individualisation and com-
mercialisation of workers’ rights suit the agenda of the
wealthy elite who manipulate the media, mould public
opinion, intimidate governments and do whatever is nec-
essary to frustrate workers’ organisations fighting for
their rights.

The centenary anniversary of the Lockout provided a cru-
cial opportunity to address those issues outstanding for
the last one hundred years and to advance and promote
our vision of an equitable and just society.

It was the shared view of the National Executive Council
of SIPTU that the Lockout commemoration should be an
inclusive, participative, ambitious and memorable tribute
to the men and women of 1913, which should have last-
ing impacts with communities in 2013 and beyond. To
this end an extensive programme of activities and events
were planned in conjunction with the Irish Congress of
Trade Unions. 

Besides being fully involved in the ICTU programme SIPTU
organised or sponsored a number of other major events.

Jim Larkin Commemoration

30th January 2013 

A commemoration was held at the graveside of Jim Larkin
in Glasnevin Cemetery to mark the beginning of the 1913
Lockout Centenary. The oration was given by SIPTU Gen-
eral President Jack O’Connor. He said the commemora-
tion was to remember and reaffirm the continuing
relevance Larkin’s gospel today – that trade unions serve
their members and the wider community best when they
champion social and economic justice for all.

National Tapestry Project
The Lockout Tapestry Project was launched on 18th
September, 2012 by President Michael D Higgins 
in Liberty Hall. The Tapestry was completed and 
unveiled by the President on 18th September, 2013.
It was commissioned by SIPTU and the National 
College of Art and Design (NCAD), designed by
artists Cathy Henderson and Robert Ballagh, and 

Appendix 3: 1913 Lockout 

Centenary Programme

Overview Report of SIPTU events to mark 1913 Centenary Lockout

President of Ireland, Michael D. Higgins, at the launch of the 1913 
Lockout Tapestry in Liberty Hall on 18th September, 2013. 
Photo: Tommy Clancy

Photo left to right: Stella Larkin McConnon with James Connolly Heron 
Photo: Tommy Clancy 
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executed by 200 adult volunteers and over 60 school
children. It has been on display in the National 
Museum, Collins Barracks, the NCAD. It was also
displayed at various locations across the country*. 

Cork studies in the Irish Revolution

1st – 2nd March 2013

University College Cork organised a Conference on 
Friday 1st and Saturday 2nd March 2013 entitled
“Cork Studies and the Revolution” - the Cause of
Labour - 1913 and beyond”.

Over thir ty speakers addressed themes including
labour and women, land agitation, the civil war, the
Irish Labour Party and revolution, the conscription cri-
sis, class struggle outside Dublin, responses to the
Lockout in Britain and America, Irish feminism and
Labour before the Lockout.  

Reflecting on a decade of war and revolution 
in Ireland 1912 - 1923: The cause of Labour 

15th June 2013 Liberty Hall

This Joint Irish Universities Irish Times conference was
the premier historical academic event of the year. The
keynote address was given by President Michael D Hig-
gins and speakers located the Lockout in its broader
historical context, nationally and internationally. Con-
tributors included Dr John Cunningham, NUI Galway,
Professor Ralph Darlington of Salford University, John
Grey, Linenhall Library, Belfast, Professor Karen Hunt,
Keele University, Dr Ferghal McGarry, Queen’s Univer-
sity, Dr Emmet O’Connor, University of Ulster, Frances
O’Grady General Secretary of the TUC, Professor
Gearoid Ó Tuathaigh, NUI Galway, Dr Jacinta Prunty,
NUI Maynooth, Dr Fionnula Waldon, St Patrick’s 
College, Drumcondra and Padraig Yeates of the 1913
Committee.

The Story of the Lockout: Liberty Hall Installation

August 2013 – February 2014

Dublin City Council approved an ambitious plan to wrap
Liberty Hall to provide a unique focal point for the 
Commemorative Year by depicting the story of the
Lockout in an innovative way. 

Three sides of Liberty Hall were wrapped in a spectac-
ular depiction of the Lockout story on the west, south
and east elevations of the building. The Lockout
‘graphic novel’ captured the public imagination and
was the focal point for the Lockout commemoration,
raising awareness of the Centenary across the country
and internationally.

The spirit of Mother Jones Festival’ Cork

30th July – 1st August 2013

The 2013 Spirit of Mother Jones Festival in Cork focused
on the Lockout. Speakers and artists came from Britain
and the United States to discuss issues of social justice,
labour history and trade union struggle with local experts.

Padraig Yeates, author of “Lockout” gave the Centenary
lecture. Contributions were also made by Joe O’Flynn,
chair of the 1913 Committee, Ken Fleming of the Interna-
tional Transport Workers Federation, actor Jer O’Leary and
the Cork Singers Club, which performed labour and trade
union songs.

Liberty Hall with the 1913 Lockout commemorative wrap in 2013.

*Cathy Henderson died shortly after the launch of the Tapestry. Despite being terminally ill she continued to design panels and mentor volunteers until the project was completed.
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‘Citizens’ radio documentary wins Gold Award

From 10th August until 14th September, 2013 RTE,
ran an outstanding six part documentary series enti-
tled 'Citizens: Lockout 1913-2013'.The series, pro-
duced by Athena Media won the Gold Award for Best
History Documentary at the New York Festivals Radio
Awards in Manhattan. The company acknowledged the
input of the 1913 Committee without which, it said,
the series would not have been possible. Therese
McIntyre accepted the Award on behalf of the Com-
pany.

Alicia Brady  

Another 1913 Lockout martyr was commemorated in
Glasnevin Cemetery on Saturday 4th January 2014. 

A member of the Irish Women Workers’ Union, Alicia
was among the last people to die as a result of the 
social conflict surrounding the 1913 Lockout after
being hit by a ricochet from a revolver fired by a strike
breaker on 18th December 1913 during a confronta-
tion in Mark Street, Dublin. Alicia was a 16 year old
worker in Jacob’s Biscuits factory who was locked out
with over 300 other women and 600 men, because of
their stand in support of workers on strike at the
Dublin United Tramway Company. 

Thousands attended her funeral on 4th January 1914,
where orations were delivered by Jim Larkin and James
Connolly. In his graveside oration Connolly said: “Every
scab and every employer of scab labour in Dublin is
morally responsible for the death of the young girl we
have just buried”.

Glasnevin Cemetery is the final resting place for 
almost all of the key figures that took part in the 
Lockout. The history of the labour movement in Ireland
can be traced across the paths linking the graves of
the main protagonists in the cemetery.

erese McIntyre accepting the Gold Award.

Photos above: Volunteers dressed in period costume collect food packages 
from the SS Hare on Saturday, 5th October, 2013. Photos: Photocall Ireland.
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e arrival of the SS Hare into Dublin was re-enacted on Saturday, 5th October, 2013 on City Quay. Following its one-day voyage from Liverpool, the ship was
met on the Sir John Rogerson Quay by volunteers re-enacting the role of the workers and their families to whom the original SS Hare brought food packages
during the 1913 Lockout. Photo: Photocall Ireland.
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President Higgins and Sabina Higgins pictured with SIPTU officials, the Tapestry designers and the some of the volunteers who created the artwork at the unveiling of the 
1913 Lockout Tapestry in Liberty Hall on 18th September, 2013. Photo: Derek Speirs.

President Michael D Higgins aboard a vintage tram at an event 
commemorating the 1913 Lockout in Áras an Uachtaráin on ursday,
10th July 2013. e President spoke to several hundred trade union 
activists about the significance of that great industrial dispute. He 
concluded by paying tribute to those present for their “painstaking efforts 
to create a society defined by solidarity and equality for all its citizens.”
Photo: Courtesy of www.president.ie.

ousands watched the re-enactment of the 1913 Dublin Metropolitan Police baton charge on
striking workers at the State Commemoration of the Lockout on Saturday, 31st August, 2013
on O’Connell Street, Dublin – 100 years precisely to the day of Bloody Sunday 1913.
Picture: Photocall Ireland.
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